
  

 
 

 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 

Fire and Rescue Authority - Meeting of the Authority 
 
Date: Friday, 26 February 2021 Time:  10.30 am 
 
Venue: To be held remotely and streamed to 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCt4VuYp8JJJvXCLRmSRJ1mw/featured  
 
Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place 
and date mentioned to transact the following business 

 
Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

 
Agenda 

 
 Pages 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Of the meeting held on 27 November 2020 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 12 

4  CHAIRS' ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 

5  PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR CAPITAL FINANCE 2021/22  
Joint Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority and Chief Fire Officer 
 

13 - 26 

6  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2021/22  
Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

27 - 58 

7  FINAL ACCOUNTS 2019/20  
Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

59 - 190 

8  BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND OPTIONS 
FOR COUNCIL TAX 2021/22  
Joint report of the Chief Fire Officer and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 

191 - 216 

Public Document Pack



9  EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REPORT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE 2019/20  
Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

217 - 282 

10  STRATEGIC PLAN - YEAR THREE STRATEGIC ACTIONS  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

283 - 288 

11  THE SERVICE'S RESPONSE TO COVID - INSPECTION REPORT 
AND UPDATE  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

289 - 308 

12  EMERGENCY SERVICES NETWORK UPDATE  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

309 - 314 

13  EVALUATION OF THE CENTRAL FIRE STATION RELOCATION TO 
LONDON ROAD  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

315 - 346 

14  IMPLEMENTATION REVIEW OF THE 'SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 
FOR 2020'  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

347 - 386 

15  COMMITTEE OUTCOMES  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

387 - 408 

16  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (under Schedule 12A, Part 1) on the basis that, 
having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information  
 

 

17  PERMANENT CHANGES TO THE ESTABLISHMENT  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

409 - 414 

 
Any councillor who is unable to attend the meeting and wishes to submit apologies 
should do so via the Personal Assistant to the Chief Fire Officer at Fire Services 
Headquarters on 0115 8388900 
 
If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item above, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown on this agenda, if possible before the day of the 
meeting.  
 
Governance Officer:  Catherine Ziane-Pryor      0115 8764298 
 catherine.pryor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Agenda, reports and minutes for all public meetings can be viewed online at:- 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=224&Year=0 

 

If you would like British Sign Language interpretation at the meeting, please contact the 
Service at least 2 weeks in advance to book this, either by emailing enquiries@notts-

fire.gov.uk or by text on SMS: 0115 824 0400 

mailto:enquiries@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1 

 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held remotely and streamed to YouTube on 27 November 2020 
from 10.35 am - 12.18 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair) 
Councillor Toby Neal (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Andrew Brown 
Councillor John Clarke 
Councillor Sybil Fielding 
Councillor Stephen Garner 
Councillor Vaughan Hopewell 
Councillor Jawaid Khalil 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan  
Councillor John Longdon 
Councillor Salma Mumtaz 
Councillor Mike Quigley MBE 
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos 
Councillor Nick Raine 
Councillor Parry Tsimbiridis 
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler 
 

Councillor Jason Zadrozny 
Councillor Sue Saddington 
 

Also in attendance: Paddy Tipping, Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance: 
John Buckley -  Chief Fire Officer 
Craig Parkin - Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
Candida Brudenell -  Assistant Chief Fire Officer  
Malcolm Townroe -  Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Fire Authority 
Becky Smeathers  -  Head of Finance  
Charlotte Radford - Treasurer to the Authority  
Gavin Harris - Head of Digital Transformation 
Damien West - Area Manager for Prevention and Protection 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor -  Governance Officer 
 
 

 

11  Apologies for Absence 
 

Councillor Sue Saddington – health reasons 
Councillor Jason Zadrozny – health reasons 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

2 

 
12  Declarations of Interest 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, declared a direct personal interest in agenda item 10, 
Appointment of Treasurer to the Authority (minute 20) and would withdraw from the meeting for 
the duration of the item. 
 
 
13  Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2020 were confirmed as a true record and 
will be signed by the Chair. 
 
 
14  Chair's Announcements 

 
As Chair of the Authority, Councillor Michael Payne made the following announcements: 
 
a) best wishes are sent to Councillor Sue Saddington for a swift recovery from her 

operation; 
 

b) congratulations to Councillor Salma Mumtaz who has been awarded ‘Covid-19 Hero’ at 
the LGIU (Local Government Information Unit) 11th Annual Councillor Awards for her 
work with food banks in Hyson Green, Direct Disability in Basford, and volunteering for 
front line services at the Queens Medical Centre, alongside continuing her work as a City 
Councillor.  She is an inspiration, especially as a new Councillor; 
 

c) it is disappointing that the final account audit is not complete and available for formal sign 
off by the statutory deadline of 30 November. This is wholly due to slippage in the 
auditors timelines and is in no way a reflection of the quality of accounting by the Fire 
Service. The issue has been discussed at great length and the Chair, Vice-Chair and 
Lead Opposition member are to send a letter to the auditors to express extreme concern. 
It is anticipated that the final audit will be submitted to the February 2021 meeting of the 
Authority; 
 

d) the Service continues to respond positively to Covid-19 within the constraints of the 
pandemic. Staff absence is at a tolerable level, strong operational resilience is in place 
and prevention and protection activity continues on a risk based approach. The Service 
continues to support partners, including where possible, East Midlands Ambulance 
Service; 
 

e) firefighter recruitment is continuing with 14 staff having been brought in through transfers 
and on-call migration, with further predicted to follow in the New Year. The financial 
position of the Service is strong, as can be seen in the agenda. Further to the 
Chancellor’s recent spending review, more  information will be provided in due course;   
 

f) particular thanks are given to staff for their ongoing commitment and superb work, along 
with partner colleagues such as the Police; 
 

g) there have been two recent fire related fatalities, one in the City during  October and the 
other in Rushcliffe during November, bringing the total of deaths by fire to 4 during this 
year. Our thoughts and condolences are with those who died, but also family and friends 
and those attending and affected by these tragic incidents. These incidents remind us all 

Page 4



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

3 

of our role in not only responding to incidents but also in prevention and protection 
activity. My thanks are extended to those who attended the incidents with 
professionalism and commitment; 
 

h) in the New Year the meeting schedule will be reinstated, with meetings taking place via 
Zoom until further notice. It is important that all members attend the strategic inclusion 
board following this meeting. 

 
 
15  Final Accounts 2019/20 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, introduced the item and stated that at this stage of the 
year, the Authority would normally be asked to consider approving the audited accounts. 
However, the auditors are working to the revised code of audit practice which requires more in-
depth consideration and are yet to complete their work, being approximately halfway through 
the process. This delay in completing the audit is a national issue. The provisional outcome was 
presented to the Policy and Strategy Committee in July, since then, two minor adjustments have 
been made totalling a £16,000 difference relating to a correction of the creditors figure and 
adjustment to government grants, as outlined within the report. Authority members are invited to 
scrutinise the accounts. 
 
Members of the Authority commented as followings: 
 
a) whilst the quality of the Service’s accounts is not doubted, for which thanks are given to 

Becky Smeathers and the Finance Team, it is neither appropriate or acceptable for the 
Authority to approve unaudited accounts;  
 

b) members are frustrated and support a letter of extreme concern to the auditors regarding 
their management and resourcing of the audit process; 
 

c) if clearly identified as such, it is acceptable to approve the publishing of the un-audited 
accounts (to ensure transparency to citizens), but the audited accounts will need to be 
submitted for approval at a future Authority meeting; 
 

d) this delay is costing Councils £900 per day so Central Government needs to resolve this 
problem. 
 

Following discussion and the advice of the Clerk and Monitoring Officer, the recommendation 
was amended. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1) in the spirit of transparency, to approve the publishing of the unaudited statement 
of accounts for 2019/20, which are noted; 

 
2) for the audited accounts to be presented for approval to a future meeting of the 

Authority; 
 

3) to note the financial results for the 2019/20 year for Nottinghamshire Fire Safety 
Limited, as attached to the report. 

 
  

Page 5



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

4 

 
16  Treasury Management Annual Report 2019/20 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report which provides an update on the 
2019/20 Treasury Management activity which has been completed in line with the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  
 
Points highlighted included: 
 

a) there had been some activity in preparation of potential COVID-19 related issues, but 
these issues did not materialise; 
 

b) investment income was lower than predicted and some investments were transferred to 
short-term investments to ensure cash was available if there were significant issues with 
regard to potential cash flow issues arising from the inability to collect Council Tax due to 
COVID-19; 
 

c) with regard to borrowing, two loans totalling £3m were entered into during March 2020 to 
take advantage of the particularly beneficial interest rates and protect the Service against 
potential cash flow issues. As a result, it is predicted that the Service will not need to 
borrow as much as anticipated during this financial year. 

 
Resolved to note the update on Treasury Management Activity during the 2019/20 
financial year, as required under the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
 
17  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Budget 

Guidelines 2021/22 
 

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, delivered a presentation to accompany the report which 
requests approval of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
 
The report outlines how COVID-19 has impacted financially on the economy and the Service 
funding streams to date and how proposed amendments to the reserves strategy will assist with 
future budgeting, along with presenting scenarios for setting of the Council Tax. 
 
Points highlighted included: 
 
a) the report had been issued prior to the  Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review 

which was announced earlier this week; 
 
b) with a 11.3% contraction in the economy expected for 2020 which it is hoped will recover 

by the end of 2021 (calendar years, not financial), Central Government agreed to fund 
75% of irrecoverable Council Tax and Business Rate losses so the Service is likely to 
recover £375,000 by the end of the year; 

 
c) the Central Government supported a Public Sector pay freeze, however it needs to be 

recognised that both support staff and firefighter pay is set independently by the relevant 
National Joint Council; 

 
d) a marginal Fire and Rescue Sector funding increase of 4.5% is predicted next year but 

this includes the grants previously mentioned and the pension grant is expected to be 
built into the base line grant, so in effect the increase is minimal;  

Page 6



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

5 

 
e) reserves have been reviewed and amendments are proposed to the strategy including 

utilising reserves to help pick up activity during the recovery stage;  
 
f) the national economic impact of COVID-19 includes a drop by 20% of GDP for Quarter 2; 

 
g) interest rates are predicted to remain stable at 0.1% which is beneficial for the funds 

borrowed, but not loaned; 
 

h) there is uncertainty regarding the period after March 2021 as currently there is a cliff-
edge for when the business rate holiday and furlough schemes end and no details of any 
further support measures have been announced; 

 
i) there are significant financial risks related to Brexit, but it is not yet known to what extent 

and how large an impact there will be; 
 
j) although the worst case scenario of a 5% cut in base grant is not now expected, there is 

however a possible budget deficit this year of £1,227,00 which is likely to decrease in 
future years as council tax collection improves;  

 
k) a more detailed report will be submitted to the Finance and Resources Committee in 

January, including actual grant figures, whereas it is currently only possible to predict 
government grants at this point in the year; 

 
l)  the revenue budget is predicted to be tight for several years to come. 

 
The Chair of the Authority, Councillor Michael Payne, was joined by the Lead Opposition 
Member, Councillor Andrew Brown, in thanking Becky Smeathers and the Finance Team for 
their thorough work and comprehensive explanation, along with the members of the Finance 
and Resources Committee and a good cross-party relationship for helping steer the Service 
through a very difficult period and ensuring that the Service was in a good position last year, 
prior to the current pressures. 
 
Resolved 
 
1) to approve the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as set out in 

Appendix A to the report; 
 
2) to approve the Capital Strategy and Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

Strategy contained within the MTFS; 
 
3) to approve the Reserves Strategy contained within the MTFS;  
 
4) to approve the proposed minimum level of general fund reserves of £4.5m 

as set out in the Reserves Strategy; 
 
5) to approve the re-allocation of the Capital Earmarked Reserve as detailed in 

the Reserves strategy and set out in the table below: 
 

Earmarked Reserve £ 

Capital Reserve (1,038,419) 

Covid Recovery Reserve 600,000 

Community Fire Safety Innovation 24,279 

Page 7



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

6 

Fund 

Transformation and Collaboration 413,140 

 
6) to task the Finance and Resources Committee with providing guidance to 

the Fire Authority in February in respect of:  
 

i. the options for Council Tax limited to either a Council Tax freeze or an 
increase in Council Tax within the referendum limit; 

 
ii. the options for addressing any budget deficit to enable the Fire 

Authority to approve a balanced budget, as required by law. 
 
 
18  Revenue, Capital and Prudential Code Monitoring Report to 30 

September 2020 
 

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report which updates members on the 
financial performance of the Service in the year 2020/21 to the end of September 2020, and 
provides a Treasury Management mid-year review. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 
a) there have been some delays to recruitment due to the Services’ response to and impact 

of COVID-19,  but excluding the impact of this, the overall  budget has been fairly 
accurate; 

 
b) whole-time recruitment has been delayed until April 2021, and whilst this has resulted in 

one-off savings of nearly £1.3m, it has been necessary to request that some on-call staff 
move to whole-time posts, but this creates other issues including  the potential for the 
Service to be short staffed by the end of the year; 

 
c) to try and protect operational staff, there have been changes and watches now work 

within ‘bubbles’, but this does have additional impact on availability and the ability to 
request overtime to cover staff vacancies; 

 
d) an underspend of £241,000 is showing on the government’s COVID-19 grant but this has 

been allocated with some to be spent in the next financial year; 
 

e) any underspend will be moved across to general fund at the year-end and used for 
resilience for future years until council tax collection rates pick up. In addition, an element 
of the underspend will also be used for maintenance and equipment, as outlined in the 
report. 

 
Members welcomed the position of the budget at this stage in the year and acknowledged the 
work of staff in ensuring that the Service is and remains in a financially stable position. 
 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, reassured members that with regard to staffing numbers and 
the resulting underspend, that absence levels are within tolerance (even lower than usual) and 
on-call availability remains good. Trade unions have been involved with the temporary staffing 
re-structure discussions and in these exceptional circumstances, crews of 4 are operating 
whereas usually appliances are crewed with 5. This is being carefully monitored and mitigating 
measures put in place where necessary. 
 

Page 8



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

7 

Resolved to 
 
1) note the report; 

 
2) approve £255,000 temporary virements from wholetime pay to: 

 
i. the reactive maintenance budget (£100k) and the planned maintenance 

budget (£100k); 
 
ii. equipment to cover the costs of replacement hose inflation equipment (£20k) 

and Red Kite scanners (£35k). 
 

 
19  Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the Annual Governance Statement, which is to 
be included within the Authority’s Annual Statement of Accounts, and if approved by the 
Authority will be signed by the Chair and Chief Fire Officer. 
 
The report looks at the 2019/20 governance, during which the Business Continuity Management 
arrangements were thoroughly tested and proved robust although they will be reviewed and 
updated.  
 
Her Majesty Inspectorate’s ‘State of the Nation Review’ requires a new code of ethics for all Fire 
and Rescue Services, so next year’s report will look very different. 
 
Resolved to approve the Annual Governance Statement for 2019/20. 
 
 
20  Appointment of Treasurer to the Authority 

 
Prior to consideration of this item, Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, withdrew from the 
meeting for the duration of the item, having declared a direct personal interest in the item under 
minute 12. 
 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which seeks approval to cease the 
Service Level Agreement with the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner as of 31 December 
2020, and to appoint Becky Smeathers as Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
with effect from 1 January 2021. It is noted that there is neither costs nor savings attached to 
this recommendation. 
 
On behalf of the Authority and also on a personal level, the Chair expressed heartfelt thanks to 
the out-going Treasurer, Charlotte Radford for her service to the Fire Authority and support at a 
difficult time, adding that her experience and advice had been much appreciated. Thanks were 
also extended to the Police Crime Commissioner in supporting the Authority by enabling 
Charlotte to take on the role of Treasurer. 
 
Charlotte Radford responded that Becky Smeathers had easily demonstrated that she was 
more than capable of taking on the role, adding that members could be assured that Becky 
provided them with the level of information needed to make informed decisions. Charlotte 
thanked Becky and the Finance Team for their work and making her role as Treasurer easier. 
 

Page 9



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

8 

Councillor John Clarke, Chair of the Finance and Resources Committee, also thanked Charlotte 
for her work with the Authority and fully endorsed the recommendation to appoint Becky 
Smeathers as Treasurer. 
 
Resolved to 
 
1) agree to cease the Service Level Agreement on 31 December 2020 and thank the 

current Treasurer, Charlotte Radford, and the OPCC for their support of the Fire 
Authority; 

 
2) appoint Becky Smeathers as the Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire 

Authority with effect from 01 January 2021. 
 

 
21  Pay Policy 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report and Pay Policy Statement which is 
required to be published annually to comply with the Localism Act 2011. The main changes are 
identified in paragraph 2.12 of the report, and the Pay Policy 2020-21 document is attached as 
appendix A to the report. 
 
Resolved to approve the Statement of Pay Policy 2021-21 as attached to the report. 
 
 
22  Proposed Changes to the Permanent Establishment 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which seeks approval to changes 
to the permanent establishment to include the establishment of a Digital Systems Learning 
Officer post. It is noted budget to fund the post has been in place since 2017 and therefore 
there will be no further financial strain. 
 
The Chair noted that it is crucial for the Service to have the support of this post. 
 
Members of the Authority, made the following comments: 
 
a) it is stated that the business case for establishing this post was presented to the 

leadership team, but it should also have been presented to members of the Authority 
either prior to, or with the report, which was not the case; 
 

b) it is a point of good business and a matter of good governance for decision makers to 
have full access to all information prior to making a decision, and this has not been 
possible; 
 

c) prior to the reduced meeting arrangements due to COVID-19, the Human Resources 
Committee would normally have received the report prior to its presentation at Full 
Authority, but as the Human Resources Committee has not met, this is not been 
possible. However, informal discussions on the recommendation have been held 
informally at the Political Group Leaders Meeting. The point raised is considered relevant 
and fair and supporting information such as the business case, can be provided for future 
reports; 
 

d) the business case should have been included with the report to ensure members are 
able to make an informed decision and not wholly rely on the recommendation of officers. 

Page 10



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

9 

Governance remains important and members want to ensure that the Authority is not left 
open to challenge. 
 

Resolved 
 
1) to establish the post of Digital Systems Learning Officer with effect from 01 

January 2021; 
 

2) for the business case which supports the recommendation to be circulated to 
members of the Authority and that in future, such information is provided to 
members. 
 

On the basis that Councillor Mike Quigley had not received and had the opportunity to consider 
the business case for the recommendation, he abstained from voting.   
 
 
23  Review of the Statement of Intent 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report which presents the reviewed 
health and safety at work statement of intent, which sits within the Written Safety Policy, which 
will be signed by the Chair if approved by the Authority. 
 
Resolved to endorse the content of the updated Written Safety Policy to reaffirm the 
commitment of the Authority to effective health and safety risk management, employees 
and others who are affected by the Service’s activities. 
 
 
24  Environment and Sustainability Policy Statement 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which presents the annually 
reviewed written environment and sustainability policy statement. 
 
Resolved to endorse the Policy Statement to reaffirm the Authority’s commitment to 
matters relating to environment and sustainability. 
 
 
25  Annual Report of Information Governance 

 
Candida Brudenell, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which provides Authority 
members with an update on the performance of Information Governance of the Nottinghamshire 
Fire and Rescue Service for the year 2019/20. It is noted that there have been no major issues. 
 
Resolved to note the report. 
 
 
26  Joint Fire Control Collaboration Project: Closure Report 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates the Authority on the Joint 
Fire Control Collaboration Project with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service which went live in 
July 2018. 
 

Page 11



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 27.11.20 

10 

Although savings have been achieved, some unforeseen but small on-costs have emerged and 
some elements of the collaboration project could have been better handled, particularly 
regarding the staff impact and the human element, from which lessons have been learned. 
 
The Joint Fire Control is working well with seamless borders and the Service’s resilience was 
tested with the Whaley Bridge dam incident, which proved the capability of the Joint Fire Control 
Centre. 
 
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos, as Chair of the Human Resources Committee, acknowledged 
that there had been a lot of anxiety amongst affected staff and thanked John Buckley and his 
team in enabling the transition and providing staff assurance. 
 
Resolved to note the report. 
 
 
27  Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the remaining 
item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, under Schedule 
12A, Part 1, Paragraph 3, on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining an exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing 
the information. 
 
 
28  Area Manager Secondment 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report. 
 
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the report. 
 

Page 12



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR 
CAPITAL FINANCE 2021/22 
 

Joint Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority        
and Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 
Date: 26 February 2021 

 
Purpose of Report: 
 
To inform Members of the Authority’s obligations under the CIPFA Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance.  
 
To seek the approval of Members to the proposed capital plans, prudential limits, 
and monitoring processes set out in the report. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Members approve the Prudential Limits for 2021/22 (see Section 10 for 
details). 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name: 
Becky Smeathers 
Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
(0115) 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 set out a framework for the financing of 

capital investments in local authorities which came into operation from April 
2004. Alongside this, the Prudential Code was developed by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as a professional code of 
practice to support local authorities’ decision making in the areas of capital 
investment and financing. Authorities are required by regulation to have regard 
to the Prudential Code.  

 
1.2 CIPFA released an updated version of the Prudential Code in December 2017. 

The revised code includes a requirement for authorities to produce a Capital 
Strategy. The 2021/22 Capital Strategy formed part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy which was approved by Fire Authority on 27 November 
2020. 

 
1.3 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that the capital investment 

plans of authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional 
practice. In exceptional cases, the Code should provide a framework which will 
demonstrate where the objectives may not be ensured, so that timely remedial 
action can be taken. 

 
1.4 The Prudential Code sets out a number of indicators which authorities must 

use to support decision making. These are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators. In addition, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice and guidance notes sets out a series of treasury indicators. The 
prudential and treasury indicators should be considered in parallel and they 
are therefore included together in this report.  

 
1.5 In addition to the indicators that are required by the Prudential Code and the 

Treasury Management Code of Practice, this report proposes the adoption of a 
local indicator for internal borrowing and investment benchmarks which will 
help the Authority to more effectively manage the risks involved with certain 
elements of treasury management activity. 

 
1.6 This report sets out the proposed prudential and treasury limits for the 

Authority for the 2021/22 financial year along with the implications of the 
proposed Capital Programme, which will be presented with the budget report 
also on the agenda. 

 
1.7 Reports which monitor the Authority’s performance against these indicators will 

be presented to the Finance and Resources Committee throughout the year. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
 
 

2. REPORT 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR AFFORDABILITY 

 

2.1 Estimates of the Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream  
 

 2019/20 
Actual 
£000s 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£000s 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£000s 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£000s 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£000s 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£000s 

Total         
Revenue Costs 

2,252 2,487 2,499 2,787 3,196 3,468 

Net Revenue 
Stream 

44,746 46,729 46,217 47,485 48,747 50,047 

 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

Ratio 5.0% 5.3% 5.4% 5.9% 6.6% 6.9% 

 

2.2 On 24 October 2008 the Finance and Resources Committee set a maximum 
limit of 8% for this ratio in order to meet the Prudential Code requirements of 
affordability and sustainability (as part of the Sustainable Capital Plans 
report).  This is periodically reviewed by Treasury staff and it is still felt to be 
appropriate. This ratio is expected to rise over the coming years from 5.0% in 
2019/20 to 6.9% in 2024/25. Financing costs include minimum revenue 
provision (MRP) costs, plus interest payable and interest receivable. The 
MRP cost is driven by the level of capital expenditure in the previous financial 
year and the useful life of the assets purchased. Financing costs are 
expected to increase year-on-year to reflect the increase in borrowing 
required to fund the ongoing capital programme (see section 2.4). The net 
revenue stream (comprised of council tax, national domestic rates and non-
specific government grants) is expected to increase at a slower rate, hence 
the increase in the ratio. 
 

2.3 The estimated ratios for 2021/22 onwards assume an annual council tax 
increase of 1.95%.  

Page 15



 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND              
EXTERNAL DEBT  

 
2.4 Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure  
 

 2019/20 
Actual 
£000s 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£000s 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£000s 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£000s 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£000s 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£000s 

Capital 
Expenditure 

1,858 4,107 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

Funded by:   

Borrowing 280 1,751 4,201 2,372 2,513 2,790 

Revenue / 
Reserves 

22 

 

162 0 0 0 0 

MRP Re-
investment 

1,541 1,674 1,624 1,869 2,143 2,481 

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Capital 
Receipts 

15 520 10 1,010 10 360 

Total 1,843 4,107 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

 
2.5 The estimates for 2021/22 to 2024/25 form part of the budget report on this 

agenda 
 
2.6 The Capital Programme is funded from a mixture of borrowing, capital 

receipts and reserves.  This combination will be reviewed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure the best long-term options are achieved for the Authority.  
This will include consideration of borrowing rates, reserve levels and revenue 
and capital receipt availability.  

 
2.7 “MRP re-investment” in the above table refers to the use of the minimum 

revenue provision which is used to reduce the borrowing need rather than for 
the repayment of debt due to the Authority’s loans being payable on maturity. 
“Borrowing” refers to the shortfall in funding after other funding sources have 
been applied. This borrowing may not necessarily take place externally. The 
Authority may judge it prudent to make use of the cash that it has already 
invested for long-term purposes. In doing this, the Authority does not reduce 
the magnitude of the funds it is holding for these long-term purposes but 
simply adopts an efficient and effective treasury management strategy. This 
practice, known as “internal borrowing”, is common in local authorities and 
means there is no immediate link between the need to borrow for capital 
spending and the level of external borrowing. 

 

Page 16



2.8 Capital Financing Requirement  

31/03/20 
Actual 
£000s 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£000s 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£000s 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£000s 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£000s 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£000s 

Capital Financing Requirement 

26,019 27,770 31,971 34,343 36,856 39,646 

 
2.9 The Capital Financing Requirement is the amount required from external 

sources to fund Capital Expenditure and represents the Authority’s underlying 
need to borrow for capital purposes. It will therefore be the aggregate of all 
capital expenditure, less any revenue contributions, capital grants or capital 
receipts. The above table shows that the Capital Financing Requirement 
increases year on year between 2019/20 and 2024/25 as annual capital 
expenditure exceeds the funding available from capital receipts, government 
grants and revenue sources.  
 

2.10 The Sustainable Capital Plans report referred to in paragraph 2.2 also 
concluded that in order to meet the Prudential Code requirements of 
affordability and sustainability, the capital financing requirement in future 
years should not exceed £40m. Based on current estimates the capital 
financing requirement will remain within this limit within the medium term, 
although it is approaching £40m by the end of 2024/25. A review of this 
indicator is underway with the Authority’s treasury advisors to explore ways to 
avoid a potential future breach beyond 2024/25.  The service’s Fire Cover 
Review is due to be undertaken shortly and this may provide opportunity for 
reducing capital investment or reviewing the timing of the programme.  Other 
options include using revenue or reserves to fund some capital expenditure or 
to repay debt if required. 

 
Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit for External Debt 
 

2.11 The Operational Boundary is the Authority’s estimate of its total external debt, 
including other long-term liabilities (such as finance leases) which are 
separately identified. This is to reflect the most likely scenario and not the 
worst case. It is possible for the operational boundary to be temporarily 
breached to take account of unusual movements in cash flow, but this should 
not be a regular occurrence. A variation from the operational boundary is 
permissible but will be reported to the Fire Authority. 

 
2.12 The operational boundary includes allowances to borrow to fund the capital 

programme, replace maturing debt and to allow for any short term borrowing 
that may be needed to cover the cashflow of the authority. 

 

2.13 The Authorised Limit is essentially the same as the Operational Boundary but 
allows headroom over and above it to take account of unusual movements in 
cash flow and therefore should be the maximum amount of external debt that 
the Authority is exposed to at any given time. Any proposed variation from 
the Authorised Limit must be authorised by the Fire Authority.  

Page 17



2.14 Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit 
  

 2020/21 
£000s 

2021/22 
£000s 

2022/23 
£000s 

2023/24 
£000s 

2024/25 
£000s 

 Operational Boundary 

Borrowing 31,850 33,959 36,307 41,801 41,301 

Other long-term 
liabilities 

0 0 100 100 100 

Total External Debt 31,850 33,959 36,407 41,901 41,401 

 Authorised Limit 

Borrowing 34,035 37,255 39,948 45,991 45,441 

Other long-term 
liabilities 

1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total External Debt 34,035 38,255 40,948 46,991 46,441 

 
2.15. The new leasing standard IFRS 16 Leases will be incorporated into the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting with effect from 1 April 
2022. IFRS 16 removes the operating lease categorisation for lessees. With 

the exception of short-term leases and leases of low value assets, a lessee 
will be required to recognise a right of use asset and an associated lease 
liability. This effectively moves all material long-term leases “on balance 
sheet”. The potential impact of this requirement on the prudential indicators is 
unknown at this point, but it is not expected to be significant. If necessary, the 
indicators will be reviewed, and any required changes will be reported to 
members. 

 
2.16 Actual External Debt as at 31/03/20 
 

 2019/20 

£000s 

Actual borrowing 28,512 

Actual other long-term liabilities 0 

Total – Actual External Debt 28,512 

Operational Boundary 30,600 

Authorised Limit 33,660 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR PRUDENCE 

 
Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 
2.17 In order to ensure that over the medium term gross debt will only be for 

capital purposes, this indicator requires that external debt does not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement (CFR) in 

Page 18



the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the three 
subsequent financial years. Performance against this indicator will be 
monitored throughout the year. At the end of 2024/25, Gross Debt is 
expected to be in the region of £39m, with the Capital Financing Requirement 
estimated at £40m. This shows that this indicator is realistic. 
 

INDICATORS FOR TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
2.18 The Service carries out its own treasury management in accordance with the 

CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management, which was revised in 
2017. The Authority has adopted a low risk approach to treasury 
management, which seeks to ensure that investments are secure and that 
there is sufficient liquidity of funds to enable the Authority to carry out its 
business. 

 
Gross and Net Debt 
 
2.19 The actual amount of external long term borrowing as at 31 March 20 was 

£26,958k, with short term borrowing totalling £1,554k. There were no other 
long-term liabilities at the same date. At the same date, the amount of 
investments was £10,647k, giving a net debt position of £17,865k. 

 
2.20 The Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 report, also on this agenda, 

outlines the proposal to borrow over the next three years to finance the 
capital programme and to replace maturing loans.  The decision about when 
to borrow will depend upon interest rate forecasts. For the purposes of setting 
indicators, assumptions have been made about when borrowing may take 
place – the reality of this will be determined by Officers in conjunction with the 
Authority’s treasury advisers.  

 
2.21 The proportion of net debt to gross debt can highlight where an Authority is 

borrowing in advance of need, as it shows the extent to which funds have 
been borrowed and then invested. Whilst the Authority is permitted to borrow 
in advance to finance the capital programme, where borrowing rates are 
higher than investment rates this creates a “cost of carry”. Therefore, when 
investment interest rates are low, as they currently are, this cost is reduced 
by keeping the proportion of net debt to gross debt as high as is practicable. 
For information, the proportion of net debt to gross debt as at 31 March 2020 
was 63%, and it is forecast to be 73% at the end of the current financial year. 
It is proposed that the Authority sets the following limits for the proportion of 
net debt to gross debt: 

 
2.22 Proportion of Net to Gross Debt 
  

 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Lower limit for proportion of net 
debt to gross debt 

50% 50% 50% 50% 

Upper limit for proportion of net 
debt to gross debt 

85% 85% 85% 85% 

 

Page 19



 
Interest Rate Risk Exposure 

 
2.23 In terms of borrowing, it has been considered prudent to use Public Works 

Loans Board (PWLB) fixed interest loans on most occasions. This is because 
the PWLB generally offers rates which cannot be obtained elsewhere in the 
marketplace. In October 2019 the PWLB announced an increase in the 
margin over gilt yields of 100 basis points on top of the previous margin of 80 
basis points, which made their rates less attractive. However, following 
consultation the rates reverted back to gilt yields plus 80 basis points in 
November 2020. Unlike lending, borrowing is a low risk activity so future 
borrowing arrangements will be entered into on the basis of what is most 
advantageous for the Authority at the time. Any proposals to borrow from 
alternative sources to the PWLB will be discussed with the Authority’s 
treasury advisors. 

 
2.24 Borrowing in the past has been at fixed interest rates although variable rates 

are not ruled out should they be considered financially advantageous at the 
time of financing. A maximum limit of 30% of borrowing from variable rate 
sources is proposed.  

 
2.25 The total value of lending is not expected to exceed £14m, which is likely to 

peak around July and August 2021. However, it is difficult to assess what the 
likely investment profile might be as this depends upon capital expenditure 
timings as well as the level of pension top up grant received from the 
Government, and the timing of borrowing. All investments are made in line 
with the Treasury Management Strategy.  

 
2.26 Limits for Interest Rate Exposures 
 

 Benchmark 
% 

2020/21 
% 

2021/22 
% 

2022/23 
% 

2023/24 
% 

2024/25 
% 

Interest Rate Exposures 

Upper Limit 
for fixed rate 

exposures 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Upper Limit 
for variable 

rate 
exposures 

30% 30% 30% 30% 30% 30% 

  
2.27 In addition to the upper limit for variable rate exposures in relation to external 

debt, the Authority has adopted a local indicator which sets a limit for the 
acceptable level of internal borrowing. This is because the use of internal 
borrowing exposes the Authority to interest rate risk, as there is a chance that 
cash balances may need to be replenished at a time when interest rates are 
higher. In this respect, internal borrowing is effectively variable rate debt. The 
level of internal borrowing is calculated as follows: 

 
 
 

Page 20



Capital Financing Requirement – External Borrowing = Internal Borrowing 
 
2.28 At 31 March 2020 the Authority was over-borrowed by £2,493k, which means 

that the level of external borrowing exceeded the capital financing 
requirement. This over-borrowed position came as a result of the Authority 
opting to take additional external borrowing at the end of the financial year in 
order to take advantage of low PWLB rates and mitigate the cash flow risks 
created by the economic upheaval caused by the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 
2.29 It is proposed that the Authority sets the following limits for internal borrowing: 
 

 2021/22 
% 

2022/23 
% 

2023/24 
% 

2024/25 
% 

Upper Limit for internal 
borrowing as a % of the 
Capital Financing 
Requirement 

20% 20% 20% 20% 

 

Investment Benchmarking 

2.30 The Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22, which is also on this agenda, 
sets out the following local benchmarks to assess the security, liquidity and 
yield of its investments: 

 

 Security: a risk benchmark of 0.08% historic default when compared to 
the whole investment portfolio. 
 

 Liquidity: a “Weighted Average Life of investments” benchmark of 
approximately 3 months, with an upper limit of 0.40 years. 

 

 Yield: internal returns to be above a benchmark of the 3-month London 
Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID). 

 
2.31 Further details of these benchmarks can be found in the Treasury 

Management Strategy 2021/22. 
 

Loan Maturity 

2.32 The code of practice and CIPFA guidelines state that there should be no 

direct linkage between the assets financed and the term of loans taken out. 
Upper limits in terms of loan maturity are set to ensure that the Authority is 
not exposed to the risk of having to repay loans and then re-borrow in the 
short term when interest rates might be high.  

 
2.33 It is recommended that the maturity structure limits remain unchanged for 

2021/22. The Authority holds a loan of £4m which is structured as a “Lender 
Option Borrower Option” (LOBO) loan. Whilst the end date of the loan is 
March 2078 there are options every five years for the lender to revise the 
interest rate. The Authority may choose to repay the loan without penalty if 

Page 21



the amended rate is not advantageous. The next opportunity for the revision 
of the interest rate is 7 March 2023.  The limits for these years will be kept 
under review to reflect that the investment may mature on these dates.  
However, as the risk of the LOBO rate increasing during the medium term is 
low due to downward pressures on interest rates, the re-financing risk arising 
from the loan maturing within 5 years is currently considered to be low.  

 
2.34 Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

 Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 20% 0% 

12 months to 5 years 30% 0% 

5 years to 10 years 75% 0% 

10 years to 20 years 100% 0% 

Over 20 years 100% 30% 

 
Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 Days 
 

2.35 Investments arising from borrowing to support the capital programme are 
unlikely to exceed one year in duration, however for surplus cash which 
supports reserves it may be desirable to invest monies for a slightly longer 
period to achieve a level of certainty around interest receipts and perhaps 
beneficial interest rates. Such decisions will be influenced by market 
conditions at the time and the liquidity of funds will be of paramount 
importance. It is proposed that Officers should be able to invest monies for 
longer than a year if this appears to be an advantageous strategy, but that a 
maximum limit of £2m be applied to any such investments. This will contain 
the Authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss arising from having to seek 
early repayment of investments. 

 

2.36 Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 Days 
 

2021/22 

£000s 

2022/23 

£000s 

2023/24 

£000s 

2024/25  

£000s 

Prudential Limits for Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 Days 

2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications of this report are set out in full within the body of the 
report. 
 

Page 22



 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
This is not a new policy or service, so no initial assessment has been completed. A 
previous assessment has shown that there are no specific equality impacts which 
arise directly from the Prudential Code. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no specific crime and disorder implications which arise directly from this 
report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Local Government Act 2003 imposes an obligation on the Authority to agree 
and monitor its prudential indicators.  
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The risk exposures in this report relate primarily to three areas: 

 

 The risk of over exposure of the Authority to interest rate fluctuations; 
 

 The risk that the Authority has an unmanageable or unaffordable level of 
borrowing; 

 

 The risk of tying up investments, thereby reducing liquidity and exposing the 
Authority to possible losses arising from early repayment of investments. 

 
This paper serves to set out those risks and ensure that they are managed.  
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 

Page 23



 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members approve the Prudential Limits for 2021/22 as follows: 

 

Maximum ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 

8% 

Estimated Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 

5.4% 

Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure to be 
Incurred 

£5,835,000 

Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement £31,971,000 

Operational Boundary £33,959,000 

Authorised Limit £38,255,000 

Upper limit for fixed rate interest exposures 100% 

Upper limit for variable rate interest exposures 30% 

Loan Maturity: Limits: 

Under 12 months Upper 20%   Lower 0%      

12 months to 5 years Upper 30%   Lower 0%      

5 years to 10 years Upper 75%   Lower 0%      

Over 10 years Upper 100% Lower 0%      

Over 20 years Upper 100% Lower 30%      

Upper Limit for Principal Sums Invested for 
Periods Longer than 365 Days 

£2,000,000 

 

That Members approve the following local indicators for 2021/22: 
 

Upper limit for internal borrowing as a % of the 
Capital Financing Requirement 

20% 

Limit for proportion of net debt to gross debt Upper 85% Lower 50% 

Investment security benchmark: maximum historic 
default risk of investment portfolio  

0.08% 

Investment liquidity benchmark: maximum 
weighted average life of investment portfolio 

0.40 years 

Investment yield benchmark Internal returns to be above 
3-month LIBID rate 

 

Page 24



 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley     Becky Smeathers CPFA 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY 2021/22 
 

Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 

  
Date: 26 February 2021 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To seek the approval of Members for the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 
for 2021/22, and to seek approval of the Authority’s Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy for 2021/22. 
 
Recommendations: 
 

 That Members approve the Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22. 

 That Members approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2021/22. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Becky Smeathers 
Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 

Tel : 0115 968 0880 

Email : becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Corporate Communications Team 
(0115) 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6

mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to set out its treasury 

strategy for borrowing and to prepare an annual investment strategy; this sets 
out the Authority’s policies for borrowing, for managing its investments and 
for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. 
 

1.2 The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means 
that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately 
planned, with cash being available when needed. Surplus monies are 
invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Authority’s low risk appetite, ensuring adequate security and liquidity before 
considering investment return.  
 

1.3 The second main function of the treasury management operation is the 
funding of the Authority’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to 
the borrowing need of the Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow 
planning, to ensure that the Authority can meet its capital spending 
obligations. The management of longer term cash may involve arranging long 
or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses.  

 
1.4 Treasury management is defined by CIPFA as “the management of the local 

authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” The treasury management function makes an important 
contribution to the Authority, as the balance of debt and investment 
operations ensures the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall 
due, either on day-to-day revenue or on larger capital projects. The treasury 
operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment 
income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash 
balances generally result from reserves, it is paramount to ensure the 
adequate security of sums invested, as the loss of principal will in effect result 
in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 

 
1.5 The Authority adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public 

Services Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2009 (the 
Code) on 9 April 2010. The Treasury Management Code of Practice was 
updated in December 2017 and it now reflects developments arising from the 
Localism Act 2011, namely the use of non-treasury related investments. It 
also includes some minor changes around risk management practices. The 
primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

 
1. The creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy 

Statement which sets out the policies and objectives of the Authority’s 
treasury management activities (see appendix A). 
 

Page 28



2. The creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which 
set out the manner in which the Authority will seek to achieve those 
policies and objectives. 

 
3. Receipt by the Fire Authority of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement for the year ahead, a mid-year review report and an annual 
report covering activities during the previous year. 

 
4. Delegation by the Authority of responsibilities for implementing and 

monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions. This 
Authority delegates the role of scrutinising the treasury management 
strategy and policies to the Finance and Resources Committee. 

 
1.6 A report on the Prudential Code for Capital Accounting is also on this 

agenda. This report sets out the prudential indicators for 2021/22, which are 
designed to ensure that the Authority’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable and are in accordance with CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code. The Prudential Code was revised in 2017, and now includes 
the requirement to prepare a Capital Strategy – this was approved as part of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy by Fire Authority on 27 November 2020. 
 

1.7 This Treasury Management Strategy report is complementary to the 
Prudential Code report and the proposed prudential and treasury limits for 
2021/22 are included in both reports for completeness. 

 
1.8 This report also sets out the Authority’s Minimum Revenue Provision policy 

for 2021/22 for approval by Members in paragraphs 2.54 to 2.57. 
 
1.9 The Authority has appointed Link Asset Services as its external treasury 

management adviser. Link Asset Services has provided the Authority with its 
view on the economic outlook and on anticipated interest rates for the 
forthcoming year. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR 2021/22 
 
2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations 

requires the Authority to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and 
Treasury Indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Authority’s 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.   

 
2.2 The Act therefore requires the Authority to set out its treasury strategy for 

borrowing and to prepare an annual investment strategy: this sets out the 
Authority’s policies for managing its investments and for giving priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments.  

 

Page 29



2.3 The suggested strategy for 2021/22 in respect of the following aspects of the 
treasury management function is based upon Officers’ views on interest 
rates, supplemented with leading market forecasts provided by the 
Authority’s treasury adviser, Link Asset Services.   

 
2.4 The strategy covers: 
 

 Prudential and treasury indicators; 

 The borrowing requirement; 

 Prospects for interest rates; 

 The borrowing strategy; 

 Policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 Debt rescheduling; 

 The investment strategy; 

 Creditworthiness policy; 

 Policy on use of external service providers; 

 The Minimum Revenue Provision policy; 

 Training of Officers and Members. 
 
2.5 The Authority recognises that whilst there is value in employing external 

providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to 
specialist skills and resources, responsibility for treasury management 
decisions remains with the organisation at all times. The Authority will 
therefore ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external service 
providers.  

 
BALANCED BUDGET REQUIREMENT 
 
2.6 It is a statutory requirement under Section 32 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 for the Authority to produce a balanced budget. A local 
authority must calculate its budget requirement for each financial year to 
include the revenue costs that flow from capital financing decisions. This 
includes a statutory requirement to make a prudent provision for an annual 
contribution from its revenue budget towards the reduction in its overall 
borrowing requirement. This charge is known as the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). This means that increases in capital expenditure must be 
limited to a level whereby increases in the following charges to revenue 
remain affordable within the projected income of the Authority for the 
foreseeable future: 

 

 Increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance 
additional capital expenditure; 

 

 Any increases in running costs from new capital projects, and 
 

 Any increases in the Minimum Revenue Provision. 
 

 

Page 30



ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 
 
2.7 The Covid-19 outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to 

economies around the world. UK GDP fell by 21.8% in the first half of 2020, 
which was one of the largest falls in output of any developed nation. This 
reflects the fact that the UK economy is heavily skewed towards consumer-
facing services, which were heavily impacted by the initial lockdown.  

 
2.8 Overall, the pace of economic recovery is not expected to be in the form of a 

rapid V shape, but more elongated and prolonged. The initial recovery was 
sharp after quarter 1 with growth at -3.0%, followed by -18.8% in quarter 2 
and then an upswing of +16.0% in quarter 3. This still left the economy 8.6% 
smaller than in Q4 2019. While the one month second national lockdown that 
started on 5th November caused a further contraction of 5.7% month on 
month in November, this was much better than had been feared and showed 
that the economy is adapting to new ways of working. This left the economy 
‘only’ 8.6% below the pre-crisis level. 

 
2.9 The approval and rollout of vaccines has radically improved the economic 

outlook. It is thought that it may now be possible for the economy to recover 
to pre-pandemic levels as early as Q1 2022. With the household saving rate 
having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March there is 
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for when life 
begins to return to normal.  

 
2.10 As widely expected, the Bank of England December Monetary Policy 

Committee meeting left policy unchanged, with Bank Rate remaining at 
0.10%. The Bank based its December forecasts on the UK and EU achieving 
a Brexit trade deal agreement, but cited that the outlook for the economy 
remains unusually uncertain. The recovery of the economy depends very 
much on the progression of the COVID-19 pandemic and the success of the 
vaccination programme, and also on Brexit developments as the trade deal is 
implemented. The initial agreement with the EU only covers trade so there is 
further work to be done on a permanent deal that covers the services sector. 

 
2.11 In November the Office for Budget Responsibility forecast that public 

borrowing would reach £394bn in the current financial year, which is 
equivalent to 19% of GDP. In normal economic times, such an increase in 
total gilt debt would lead to a rise in gilt yields (and also PWLB loan rates). 
However, the quantitative easing done by the Bank of England has 
depressed gilt yields to historically low levels. This means that new UK debt 
being issued is locking in these historic low levels until maturity. In addition, 
the UK’s debt portfolio has one of the longest average maturity profiles of any 
country in the world. Overall, this means that the total interest bill paid by the 
Government is manageable despite the huge increase in overall debt. 

 
2.12 The Authority’s treasury adviser has provided a more in depth analysis of the 

economic backdrop to this report, which can be found at Appendix B. 

Page 31



 
2.13 Link Asset Services has provided a forecast on the bank interest rate, which 

draws on current City forecasts: 
 

Link Asset Services Bank Rate Forecasts  

As at 31 March 2021 0.10% 

As at 31 March 2022 0.10% 

As at 31 March 2023 0.10% 

As at 31 March 2024 0.10% 

 

2.14 After the Bank of England took emergency action in March to cut Bank Rate 
to 0.25%, and then to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent 
meetings to 16th December. Some forecasters had suggested that a cut into 
negative territory could happen, however the Governor of the Bank of 
England has made it clear that he currently thinks that such a move would do 
more damage than good. More quantitative easing is the favoured tool of the 
Bank of England if further action becomes necessary. As shown in the 
forecast table above, no increase in Bank Rate is expected in the near-term 
as economic recovery is expected to be only gradual and, therefore, 
prolonged.  

 
MANAGEMENT OF CASH RESOURCES 
 

2.15 The Authority uses a main current account, an investment account and a 
number of local petty cash accounts. All of these accounts are held with 
Barclays Bank PLC and are managed online. This system allows the 
Authority to make transfers to and from accounts in real time and thus allows 
the current account balance to be maintained at a minimum level. All surplus 
funds are held either in the investment account for short periods or are lent to 
institutional borrowers over longer periods. 

 
2.16 The bank overdraft level is £200,000 and this is usually sufficient. There are 

occasions when the overdraft exceeds £200,000 and temporary 
arrangements are made with the bank to increase the limit to £500,000. The 
Prudential Code report included an overdraft limit of £500,000 within the 
authorised limit to allow for such instances. It is proposed that the day to day 
overdraft facility remains at a level of £200,000. 
 

2.17 Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that cash flows are 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. A 3 year 
cash flow projection is prepared together with a 3 month rolling cash flow 
forecast. The 3 month forecast is updated regularly and this process reveals 
when cash surpluses or shortages are likely to arise.  

  
2.18 Cash management processes have been examined by internal auditors and 

have been shown to be robust.  
 
 

Page 32



BORROWING STRATEGY 
 
2.19 The prudential indicators for borrowing are set out in Appendix C. 

Background information relating to these indicators is contained within the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2021/22 report which is elsewhere on 
this agenda. 

 
2.20 The capital financing requirement is the sum of money required from external 

sources to fund capital expenditure i.e. the Authority’s underlying need to 
borrow or lease. For 2021/22 this figure is estimated at £31.971m. This figure 
is comprised of capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that 
has yet to be financed plus estimated capital expenditure and capital 
financing for 2020/21 and 2021/22.  

 
2.21 The Authority’s strategy in the past has been to borrow funds from the Public 

Works Loan Board (with the exception of a £4m bank loan which was taken in 
2007/08). The PWLB is an agent of HM Treasury and its function is to lend 
money from the National Loans Fund to local authorities and other prescribed 
bodies. PWLB rates were temporarily increased to a margin of 180 basis 
points over gilt yields during the period from October 2019 to November 
2020, however they have now reverted to the previous margin of 80 basis 
points. Officers will work with treasury advisors to carefully consider all 
funding options before undertaking any further long term borrowing. The 
Authority will consider fixed rate market borrowing when rates are lower than 
PWLB rates. The Authority may also consider loans from the UK’s Municipal 
Bond Agency and other local authorities. 

 
2.22 The bank loan of £4m referred to in paragraph 2.21 is structured as a “Lender 

Option Borrower Option (LOBO)” loan. This means that on 7 March 2013 and 
on that anniversary every five years, the lender may revise the interest rate, 
which is currently 4.13%. The Authority may choose to repay the loan without 
penalty if the amended interest rate is not advantageous. If the lender does 
exercise the option to revise the interest rate, the strategy will be to either 
agree to continue the loan with the revised interest rate or to repay the loan 
and replace it with new, long term debt at a lower rate depending on which is 
the most advantageous option for the Authority.  The next opportunity for a 
revision of the interest rate is 7 March 2023.  

 
2.23 Over the next four years, it is anticipated that the Authority will need to borrow 

up to £14.5m to finance the capital programme and to replace £3m of 
maturing loans. 

 
2.24 Link Asset Services’ view on future PWLB interest rates is: 
 

 Mar 21 Jun 21 Sep 21 Dec 21 Mar 22 Mar 23 Mar 24 

5 yr PWLB 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.90% 0.90% 1.00% 

10 yr PWLB 1.10% 1.10% 1.10% 1.10% 1.20% 1.20% 1.30% 

25 yr PWLB 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 

50 yr PWLB 1.30% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40% 1.50% 1.60% 

 

Page 33



 The table above has been adjusted for the PWLB certainty rate, which is a 20 
basis points reduction in the interest rate for Authorities such as this one 
which have applied for it.  
 

2.25 Economic forecasting is particularly difficult at this time. Gilt yields, and 
therefore PWLB rates, are influenced by geopolitical developments as well as 
developments in financial markets.  These include: 

 

 The continuing impact of the COVID pandemic, including uncertainties 
about the effect of any virus mutations and the effectiveness and 
availability of vaccines. 
 

 The impact on the economy of the post-Brexit trade deal. It is too early to 
assess the impact of the deal, however it is possible that Brexit may 
reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long run. However, 
much of that drag could be offset by an acceleration in productivity growth 
triggered by the increase in the use of digital technologies brought about 
by the COVID crisis. 

 

 There seems to relatively little risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate 
or significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. However, unexpected 
developments in the UK or other major economies could create safe 
haven cash flows which could impact gilt yields, and therefore PWLB 
yields, in the UK. 

 

 The UK government could act too quickly or too severely to raise taxation 
or introduce austerity measures to reduce the deficit, and this could 
depress demand and the pace of recovery of the economy. Alternatively, 
a stronger than expected recovery in the UK economy following a 
successful rollout of vaccinations could create significant inflationary 
pressures. 

 

 The Bank of England could act too quickly or too far to raise Bank Rate, 
which could cause economic growth and increases in inflation to be 
weaker that currently anticipated. On the other hand, if the Bank of 
England is too slow to act then inflationary pressures could build up too 
strongly in the economy, which necessitates a rapid series of Bank Rate 
increases to stifle inflation. 

 

 Financial pressures caused by the cost of the virus pandemic could lead 
to a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. Weaker economies 
in the EU such as Italy are particularly vulnerable, as the markets may 
come to view their level of debt as unsupportable. 

  

 Credit losses resulting from the pandemic could expose the weak 
capitalisation of some European banks. 

 

 Germany will have a new leader when Angela Merkel steps down as 
Chancellor following the general election in 2021. This leaves a question 
mark over who the major guiding hand and driver of EU unity will be when 

Page 34



she is replaced. EU unity could be further unsettled by a strongly anti-
immigration bloc consisting of Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and 
Hungary, plus a rise in anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and 
France. 

 

 Geopolitical risks in China, North Korea, Iran or other Middle Eastern 
countries could lead to increasing safe haven cash flows. 

 
2.26 In view of the above forecast the Authority’s borrowing strategy will be based 

upon the following information. 
 

 A combination of capital receipts, internal funds and borrowing will be 
used to finance capital expenditure in 2021/22 and beyond. 

 

 One PWLB loan will mature in the medium term (£3m in 2023/24). This 
will need to be refinanced.  It is estimated that total new borrowing in the 
period 2021/22 to 2024/25 will be in the region of £11.5m. 

 

 Link Asset Services’ view is that interest rates are likely to rise over the 
next three years, albeit slowly. It may therefore be advantageous to take 
out new loans earlier in the period, as this will have a lesser impact on the 
revenue budget for the periods of the loans. However, if this is in advance 
of the need to spend, there will be a cost of capital impact as referred to in 
paragraph 2.30 below. 

 

 Whilst the PWLB will remain the main source of borrowing, consideration 
will also be given to sourcing funding from local authorities, financial 
institutions and the Municipal Bonds Agency. 

 

 PWLB rates on loans of less than ten years duration are expected to be 
lower than longer term PWLB rates. However, the existing debt maturity 
profile of the Authority will also be taken into account when decisions are 
made regarding the duration of new borrowing. The Authority will strive to 
seek a balance between securing the most advantageous rate whilst 
ensuring that it is not unduly exposed to re-financing risk. 

 

 Maturity loans will continue to be taken if the overall cost of such loans is 
less than the equivalent Annuity or EIP (equal instalments of principal) 
loans. If this strategy results in a short term breach of the Gross 
Borrowing and Capital Financing Requirement indicator, then the reasons 
for this will be explained to members of the Authority.  
 

2.27 As at 31 March 2020 the Authority was maintaining an over-borrowed position. 
This means that external borrowing exceeded the capital financing 
requirement (CFR). This position arose because of a decision to bring forward 
planned borrowing from the PWLB in order to take advantage of low PWLB 
rates and mitigate the cash flow risks caused by the onset of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Ordinarily the Authority would seek to keep its level of external 
borrowing in line with its CFR, or to maintain an under-borrowed position 
where the CFR has not been fully funded by external debt. In an under-
borrowed position the Authority uses the cash supporting its reserves and 

Page 35



balances to temporarily finance capital expenditure. The use of cash balances 
in this way is known as “internal borrowing”, and this strategy is prudent as 
investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to 
be considered. However, it is recognised that internal borrowing brings a 
different kind of risk, as there is a chance that balances may need to be 
replenished at a time when interest rates are higher. In this respect, internal 
borrowing is effectively variable rate debt. For this reason, the Authority has a 
local indicator that limits the level of internal borrowing to 20% of the 
underlying borrowing requirement. 
 

2.28 Officers, in conjunction with treasury advisors, will continually monitor both the 
prevailing interest rates and market forecasts, adopting the following 
responses to a change in position: 
 
 if it were felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 

short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term borrowing will be considered. 

 

 if it were felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in long 
and short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, 
then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action that 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they 
are projected to be in the next few years. 

 
2.29 The Authority’s gross debt position is projected to be £27.9m by the end of 

2020/21, whilst investments of approximately £7.5m are expected to be in 
place at 31 March 2021, giving a net debt position of £20.4m. This projected 
level of external debt is broadly in line with the projected capital financing 
requirement (£27.8m), meaning that capital expenditure is expected to be 
fully funded by the end of the financial year.  However, the Authority 
recognises that there will be a requirement to borrow in the medium term in 
order to fund new capital expenditure. Interest rates are forecast to rise 
slowly over the next three years, and the Authority will monitor rate changes 
closely when determining when the time is right to borrow. 

 
2.30 The Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in 

order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed, although this 
scenario is unlikely anyway given that current borrowing rates are higher than 
current investment interest rates, creating a cost of capital impact. Any 
decision to borrow in advance will be considered carefully to ensure value for 
money can be demonstrated and that the Authority can ensure the security of 
funds invested.  In determining whether borrowing will be undertaken in 
advance of need the Authority will: 

 

 Ensure that borrowing is only undertaken to finance the capital 
programme approved within the current Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 

Page 36



 Ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the 
future plans and budgets have been considered; 

 

 Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the 
manner and timing of any decision to borrow; 

 

 Consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most 
appropriate periods to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

 
2.31 Where the Authority has made a decision to defer long term borrowing either 

in order to benefit from a forecasted reduction in interest rates or to avoid 
unnecessary carrying costs, it may undertake short term borrowing to alleviate 
temporary cash shortages caused by internally borrowing cash balances to 
support capital expenditure. 

 
2.32 The rescheduling of debt involves the early repayment of existing borrowings 

and their replacement with new loans. As short term borrowing rates will be 
cheaper than longer term fixed interest rates, this would indicate a potential to 
generate savings by switching from long to short term debt. However, a 
premium would be payable which may negate the savings, and the loan 
maturity profile of the Authority indicates that this would increase exposure to 
interest rate risk. It is therefore unlikely that rescheduling of debt will take 
place in 2021/22 although this will be kept under review should 
circumstances change. Rescheduling will be considered for the following 
reasons: 

 

 The generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
 

 Enhancing the balance of the portfolio by amending the maturity profile.  
 

Any rescheduling of debt will be reported to Members at the earliest meeting 
following its action. 

 
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
Investment policy – Management of Risk 
 
2.33 The Authority will have regard to MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government 

Investments, the Audit Commission’s report on Icelandic investments and the 
2017 revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of 
Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes. The Authority’s investment 
priorities are:  

 
(a)   the security of capital and  
(b)   the liquidity of its investments.  

 

The Authority will also aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. The risk appetite of 
this Authority is low in order to give priority to security of its investments. The 
borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful 
and this Authority will not engage in such activity. 

Page 37



 
2.34 The guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 

management of risk. The Authority has adopted a prudent approach to 
managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: 
 
1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list 

of highly creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and 
thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor the 
counterparties are the short term and long term ratings. 
 

2. Other information: ratings are not the sole determinant of the quality of 
an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial 
sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic 
and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment 
will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To achieve this consideration the Authority will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default 
swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. Other 
information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to 
establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties. 
 

3. MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments groups 
investments into one of four categories: 
 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
are subject to a maturity limit of one year. 

 Loans are made to local enterprises, local charities, wholly owned 
companies and joint ventures as part of a wider strategic goal. Such 
loans might not be seen as prudent if adopting a narrow definition of 
prioritising security or liquidity, but may be acceptable in the wider 
context of the Authority’s strategic aims. 

 Non-specified investments are those with a relatively lower level of 
credit quality, or may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are 
more complex instruments which require greater consideration by 
officers and members before being authorised for use. 

 Non-financial investments are assets that an organisation holds 
primarily or partially to generate a profit. Where an organisation holds 
a non-financial investment, it will normally have a physical asset that 
can be realised to recoup the capital invested. 

 
This Authority will not invest in financial instruments that are categorised 
as “non-specified”, with the exception of instruments with a maturity of 
more than one year that would otherwise meet the criteria of a “specified” 
investment. The Authority will not purchase non-financial investments. 
The Authority’s criteria for specified investments can be found in appendix 
D, and the policy regarding loans is detailed in paragraph 2.49. 

 
4. Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set in 

accordance with the guidelines detailed in appendix D. 

Page 38



 
5. The Authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are 

invested for longer than 365 days (see paragraph 2.43). 
 

6. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a 
specified minimum sovereign rating (see paragraph 2.41). 
 

7. The Authority has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.9) to 
provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of 
security, liquidity and yield in the context of the expected level of cash 
balances and the need through liquidity throughout the year, given the 
Authority’s risk appetite. 
 

8. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 
 

9. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under 
International Financial Reporting Standard 9, the Authority will 
consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in 
an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant 
charges at the end of the year to the general fund (the government has 
introduced a five year statutory override to accounting changes to pooled 
investments commencing 01/04/18). 

   

2.35 The Authority will pursue value for money in its treasury management activity 
and will monitor yield from investment income against appropriate 
benchmarks for investment performance (see paragraphs 2.50 to 2.53). 
Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the 
year.  

 
Creditworthiness Policy 
 
2.36 The Authority applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 

Services. This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach with credit 
ratings from all three rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and Standard and Poors 
forming the core element.  It is recognised that ratings should not be the sole 
determinant of the quality of an institution, and Link’s creditworthiness service 
does not rely solely on the current credit ratings of counterparties but also 
uses the following as overlays:   

 

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 
 

 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely 
changes in credit ratings; 

 

 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries; 

 
2.37 The modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches, and credit 

outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an 
overlay of CDS spreads. The end product is a series of colour code bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties and enable 

Page 39



diversification in investments. These colour codes are used by the Authority 
to determine both the credit-worthiness of institutions and the duration for 
investments. It is regarded as an essential tool, which the Authority would not 
be able to replicate using in-house resources.  

 
2.38 The selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness will be 

achieved by selection of institutions down to a minimum durational band within 
Link’s weekly credit list of potential counterparties. The Authority will therefore 
use counterparties within the following durational bands:  
 

 24 months 

 12 months 

 6 months  

 100 days  
 
2.39 The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of 

information other than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk 
weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just once 
agency’s ratings. Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Authority 
use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or equivalent) of F1 and a Long Term 
rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one 
rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used. In 
these instances, consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings 
available, or other topical information, to support their use. 

 
2.40 The Authority is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies through its 

use of the Link Assets Services’ creditworthiness service. If a downgrade 
results in the counterparty or investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Authority’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be 
withdrawn immediately and consideration will be given to withdrawing any 
amounts held in notice accounts. In addition to the use of Credit Ratings the 
Authority will be advised of information in movements in Credit Default Swap 
against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or 
removal from the Authority’s lending list. 
 

Country Limits 
 

2.41 The Authority has previously determined that it will only use approved 
counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA 
from Fitch Ratings (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not 
provide). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the 
date of this report are shown in Appendix E. This list will be added to or 
deducted from by Officers should ratings change in accordance with this 
policy. An exception to this policy is made for the UK, which is currently rated 
as AA-.  The Authority continues to use counterparties from the UK, subject 
to the creditworthiness criteria outlined in paragraph 2.36. 
 

Page 40



Investment Strategy 
 

2.42 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements of the Authority, and the outlook for short term interest rates 
(i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually 
obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are 
required in order to manage fluctuations in cash flow, it may sometimes be 
possible to identify cash sums that could be invested for longer periods. 
Should this be the case, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed. 
 

 If it is thought that the Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the 
time horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping 
most investments as being short term or at variable rates. 

 

 Conversely, if it is thought that the Bank Rate is likely to fall within that 
time period, consideration will be given to locking in the higher rates 
currently obtainable, for longer periods. 

 
2.43 Bank Rate is forecast to remain at 0.10% at least until March 2024. In the 

current financial climate no term deposit investments will be made for more a 
period greater than one year without the prior approval of the Head of 
Finance and Treasurer to the Authority. The Authority will avoid locking into 
longer term deals while investment rates are at such low levels unless 
exceptionally attractive rates are available which make longer terms deals 
worthwhile. The proposed upper limit for principal sums invested for periods 
longer than 365 days is £2m (see the Prudential and Treasury Indicators in 
appendix C). 
 

2.44 The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (“MIFID I”) came into force in 
2007. “MIFID II” is a revision of the Directive which is effective from 3 
January 2018. Under the revised regulations, Local Authorities are 
categorised as “retail clients”. This categorisation limits both the financial 
instruments and providers available to authorities for treasury management 
purposes. However, authorities can opt up to become “elective professional 
clients” if certain criteria are satisfied. This Authority was able to satisfy the 
criteria, and so has opted up to elective professional status, and has 
therefore retained its access to a wider range of financial products. 

 
2.45 In accordance with its low risk appetite, the Authority may undertake the 

following types of “specified” investments:  
  

 Deposits with the Debt Management Office (Government); 
 

 Term deposits with Banks and Building Societies; 
 

 Call deposits with Banks and Building Societies; 
 

 Term Deposits with uncapped English and Welsh local authority bodies; 
 

 Triple-A rated Money Market Funds (CNAV and LVNAV); 

Page 41



 

 UK Treasury Bills; 
 

 Certificates of Deposit. 
  
2.46 The risks associated with investing will be reduced if investments are spread 

e.g. over counterparties or over countries. The Authority will therefore aim to 
limit its investment with any single counterparty to £2m where possible. 
However, where a lack of suitable counterparties renders this £2m limit 
unworkable a maximum of £4m per counterparty is permitted. Despite this 
Officers will, wherever possible, avoid the concentration of investments with 
one counterparty or group.  
 

2.47 The Authority currently accesses counterparties directly or via a broker, and 
officers also have the option to access counterparties via Link’s Agency 
Treasury Service. The Agency Treasury Service pools investments from 
Link’s clients and places them with counterparties.  
 

2.48 A summary of the criteria for specified investments is shown in Appendix D. 
The same criteria shall apply to non-specified investments with the exception 
of the maximum maturity period, which may exceed 12 months. 

 
2.49 In addition to specified investments, the Authority may choose to make loans 

to local enterprises, local charities, wholly owned companies and joint 
ventures if doing so would contribute to its wider strategic goals. Before 
making such a loan the Authority would seek approval from the Finance and 
Resources Committee, having demonstrated the following: 
 

 The total financial exposure to the loan is proportionate; 
 

 An allowed “expected credit loss” model for loans and receivables as set 
out in International Financial Reporting Standard 9 can be applied to 
measure the credit risk of the loan portfolio; and 

 

 Appropriate credit control arrangements are in place to recover overdue 
payments. 

 
Investment risk benchmarking 

 
2.50 The Authority has adopted benchmarks to assess the security, liquidity and 

yield of its investments. These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum 
risk, so may be breached from time to time depending on movements in 
interest rates and counterparty criteria. Any breach will be reported with 
supporting reasons in the Treasury Management Mid-year or Annual Report. 
 

2.51 Security - security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit 
quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of the 
creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. Typically the 
minimum credit criteria used by the Authority equates to a long term rating of 
A- (Fitch or equivalent). This means that the average expectation of default is 
around 0.08% of the total investment (e.g. for a £1m investment the average 

Page 42



loss would be £800). This is only an average, and any specific counterparty 
loss is likely to be higher, however these figures can be used as a benchmark 
for the security of the investment portfolio. 
 

It is suggested that the Authority adopt a maximum security risk benchmark of 
0.08% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio. The 
Authority’s current historic of default is 0.005%. 
 

2.52 Liquidity - this is defined as “having adequate, though not excessive cash 
resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts and standby facilities to 
enable it at all times to have the level of funds available to it which are 
necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice). In respect of this area the Authority 
seeks to maintain: 
 

 A bank overdraft of £500k 

 Adequate liquid short term deposits available at a week’s notice 
 
 The availability of liquidity and the term risk in the portfolio can be 

benchmarked by the monitoring of the Weighted Average Life (WAL) of the 
portfolio. A shorter WAL would generally embody less risk. The current WAL 
of the Authority’s investments is approximately 39 days. This current WAL is 
shorter than in previous years as Officers have sought to keep a greater 
proportion of the Authority’s deposits highly liquid in order to mitigate the risk 
of short term cash flow problems that could be caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

 
 The WAL benchmark is approximately 3 months, with a recommended 

maximum limit of 0.40 years. 
 
2.53 Yield - the local measure of yield benchmark is: 

 
Investments – internal returns above the 3 month LIBID rate. 
 
However, the provision of LIBOR and associated LIBID rates is expected to 
cease at the end of 2021. Officers will work with the Authority’s advisors to 
determine a suitable replacement investment benchmark ahead of this 
cessation and will report back to members accordingly. 

 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY 2021/22 
 
2.54 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2008 came into force on 31 March 2008. These 
regulations were an amendment to the 2003 regulations and introduced 
several changes to the capital finance regime for local authorities (including 
fire authorities) in England. The most significant of these were provisions 
dealing with the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), which is 
the amount an authority charges to its revenue account in respect of the 
financing of capital expenditure. 

 

Page 43



2.55 Under the regulations, Authorities must make a “prudent provision” for MRP 
and guidance is given on the interpretation of this: “provision for the 
borrowing which financed the acquisition of an asset should be made over a 
period bearing some relation to that over which the asset continues to provide 
a service”. This guidance translates into the asset life method. Authorities are 
permitted to continue charging MRP calculated using the old method for 
borrowing and credit arrangements which funded capital expenditure incurred 
before 1 April 2007. This method calculates a charge of 4% of the capital 
financing requirement each year to revenue. 

 
2.56 The following policy on MRP is therefore recommended to members and 

budgetary provision for MRP has been made on this basis: 
 

 For all borrowing and credit arrangements to fund capital expenditure 
incurred before or during 2006/07, the minimum revenue provision applied 
in 2021/22 will continue to be calculated on the basis of the 4% CFR 
(capital financing requirement) method. This method will continue to be 
used in future years for capital expenditure incurred during or before 
2006/07. 

 

 For all borrowing and credit arrangements to fund capital expenditure 
incurred from 2007/08 onwards, the minimum revenue provision applied in 
2021/22 will be calculated on the basis of the Asset Life method. 

 
2.57 The regulations also allow for Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) charges to 

be made. A VRP charge would be in addition to the MRP charge, and would 
have the effect of reducing MRP charges in future years, resulting in revenue 
budget savings. If the situation arises in the year whereby Officers feel that a 
VRP charge would be advantageous (e.g. if there are revenue budget 
underspends), then a recommendation will be made to Finance and 
Resources Committee to approve a VRP charge during the year. 

 
TRAINING OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS 
 

2.58 Under the Code, good practice is defined as ensuring that all staff involved in 
treasury management are appropriately trained and experienced to 
undertake their duties. Employees within the Finance Department who carry 
out treasury management activities are suitably trained and experienced and 
routinely attend at least one treasury management update event each year to 
ensure that their knowledge keeps pace with changes. 

 
2.59 It is also suggested that those tasked with treasury management scrutiny 

responsibilities also have access to suitable training. A detailed treasury 
management on line training session was held for Members in September 
2020.  The needs for additional training for members will be kept under 
review and sessions held when considered necessary. 

Page 44



 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications of this report are set out in full within the body of the 
report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no equalities issues arising directly from this report. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report, other than the 
requirement to act within the Authority’s powers when undertaking treasury 
management borrowings and investments. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The investment of local authority funds cannot be achieved without some element of 
risk. Careful choice of borrowers using creditworthiness indices will minimise this 
risk. This prudent approach will undoubtedly result in some interest rate loss but the 
principles of security and liquidity are paramount. 

 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 

Page 45



 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
10.1 Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 as set out in this report.  
 
10.2 Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision policy 2021/22 as set out in 

paragraphs 2.54 to 2.57 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
Becky Smeathers 
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 

Page 46



APPENDIX A 
 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
1. The Authority defines its treasury management activities as: “The 

management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”. 

 
 

2. The Authority regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and 
reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation.  

 
 

3. The Authority acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management. 

 
 

 
 

Page 47



ECONOMIC BACKGROUND      APPENDIX B 
Source: Link Asset Services 20/01/2021 
 
 UK. The key quarterly meeting of the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee kept 

Bank Rate unchanged on 5.11.20. However, it revised its economic forecasts to take 
account of a second national lockdown from 5.11.20 to 2.12.20 which is obviously going 
to put back economic recovery and do further damage to the economy.  It therefore 
decided to do a further tranche of quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in 
January when the current programme of £300bn of QE, announced in March to June, 
runs out.  It did this so that “announcing further asset purchases now should support the 
economy and help to ensure the unavoidable near-term slowdown in activity was not 
amplified by a tightening in monetary conditions that could slow the return of inflation to 
the target”. 

 Its forecasts appeared, at that time, to be rather optimistic in terms of three areas:  

o The economy would recover to reach its pre-pandemic level in Q1 2022 

o The Bank also expected there to be excess demand in the economy by Q4 
2022. 

o CPI inflation was therefore projected to be a bit above its 2% target by the start 
of 2023 and the “inflation risks were judged to be balanced”. 

 Significantly, there was no mention of negative interest rates in the minutes or 
Monetary Policy Report, suggesting that the MPC remains some way from being 
persuaded of the case for such a policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, 
rather than saying that it “stands ready to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time 
said that it will take “whatever additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”. The 
latter seems stronger and wider and may indicate the Bank’s willingness to embrace 
new tools. 

 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August was a new phrase in the 
policy statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is 
clear evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and 
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if 
inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to 
raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be 
persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate. Link’s Bank Rate 
forecast currently shows no increase, (or decrease), through to quarter 1 2024 but there 
could well be no increase during the next five years as it will take some years to 
eliminate spare capacity in the economy, and therefore for inflationary pressures to rise 
to cause the MPC concern. Inflation is expected to briefly peak at just over 2% towards 
the end of 2021, but this is a temporary short lived factor due to base effects from twelve 
months ago falling out of the calculation, and so is not a concern. Looking further ahead, 
it is also unlikely to be a problem for some years as it will take a prolonged time for 
spare capacity in the economy, created by this downturn, to be used up. 

 

 Public borrowing was forecast in November by the Office for Budget Responsibility 
(the OBR) to reach £394bn in the current financial year, the highest ever peace time 
deficit and equivalent to 19% of GDP.  In normal times, such an increase in total gilt 
issuance would lead to a rise in gilt yields, and so PWLB rates. However, the QE done 
by the Bank of England has depressed gilt yields to historic low levels, (as has similarly 
occurred with QE and debt issued in the US, the EU and Japan). This means that new 
UK debt being issued, and this is being done across the whole yield curve in all 
maturities, is locking in those historic low levels through until maturity. In addition, the 
UK has one of the longest average maturities for its entire debt portfolio, of any country 

Page 48



in the world.  Overall, this means that the total interest bill paid by the Government is 
manageable despite the huge increase in the total amount of debt. The OBR was also 
forecasting that the government will still be running a budget deficit of £102bn (3.9% of 
GDP) by 2025/26.  However, initial impressions are that they have taken a pessimistic 
view of the impact that vaccines could make in the speed of economic recovery. 

 Overall, the pace of recovery was not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, 
but a more elongated and prolonged one. The initial recovery was sharp after quarter 1 
saw growth at -3.0% followed by -18.8% in quarter 2 and then an upswing of +16.0% in 
quarter 3; this still left the economy 8.6% smaller than in Q4 2019. While the one month 
second national lockdown that started on 5th November caused a further contraction of 
5.7% m/m in November, this was much better than had been feared and showed that 
the economy is adapting to new ways of working. This left the economy ‘only’ 8.6% 
below the pre-crisis level.   

 
  Vaccines – the game changer.  The Pfizer announcement on 9th November of a 

successful vaccine has been followed by approval of the Oxford University/AstraZeneca 
and Moderna vaccines. The Government has a set a target to vaccinate 14 million 
people in the most at risk sectors of the population by 15th February; as of mid-January, 
it has made good, and accelerating progress in hitting that target.  The aim is to 
vaccinate all adults by September.  This means that the national lockdown starting in 
early January, could be replaced by regional tiers of lighter restrictions, beginning 
possibly in Q2.  At that point, there would be less reason to fear that hospitals could 
become overwhelmed any more. Effective vaccines have radically improved the 
economic outlook so that it may now be possible for GDP to recover to its pre-virus level 
as early as Q1 2022. These vaccines have enormously boosted confidence that life 
could largely return to normal during the second half of 2021. With the household 
saving rate having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March, there is 
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for when life returns to 
normal. 

 
 Provided that both monetary and fiscal policy are kept loose for a few years yet, then it 

is still possible that in the second half of this decade, the economy may be no smaller 
than it would have been if COVID-19 never happened. The significant risk is if another 
mutation of COVID-19 appears that defeats the current batch of vaccines. However, 
now that science and technology have caught up with understanding this virus, new 
vaccines ought to be able to be developed more quickly to counter such a development, 
and vaccine production facilities are being ramped up around the world.  

 
 

                        

Page 49



Chart: Level of real GDP   (Q4 2019 = 100) 
 
 

 
This recovery of growth which eliminates the effects of the pandemic by about the 
middle of the decade, would have major repercussions for public finances as it would 
be consistent with the government deficit falling to around 2.5% of GDP without any tax 
increases.  This would be in line with the OBR’s most optimistic forecast in the graph 
below, rather than their current central scenario which predicts a 4% deficit due to 
assuming much slower growth.  However, Capital Economics forecasts assumed that 
politicians do not raise taxes or embark on major austerity measures and so, 
(perversely!), depress economic growth and recovery. 
 
                 Chart: Public Sector Net Borrowing (as a % of GDP) 
 

 
 

 

 There will still be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and 
travel by planes, trains and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for 
several years, or possibly ever, even if vaccines are fully successful in overcoming the 
current virus. There is also likely to be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has 
exposed how vulnerable long-distance supply chains are. On the other hand, digital 
services are one area that has already seen huge growth. 

 

 Brexit. The final agreement of a trade deal on 24.12.20 has eliminated a significant 
downside risk for the UK economy.  The initial agreement only covers trade so there is 
further work to be done on the services sector where temporary equivalence has been 
granted in both directions between the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on 
a permanent basis.   

 

Page 50



 Monetary Policy Committee meeting of 17 December.  All nine Committee members 
voted to keep interest rates on hold at +0.10% and the Quantitative Easing (QE) target 
at £895bn. The MPC commented that the successful rollout of vaccines had reduced the 
downsides risks to the economy that it had highlighted in November. But this was 
caveated by it saying, “Although all members agreed that this would reduce downside 
risks, they placed different weights on the degree to which this was also expected to 
lead to stronger GDP growth in the central case.” So, while vaccines are a positive 
development, in the eyes of the MPC at least, the economy is far from out of the woods 
in the shorter term. The MPC, therefore, voted to extend the availability of the Term 
Funding Scheme, (cheap borrowing), with additional incentives for small and medium 
size enterprises for six months from 30.4.21 until 31.10.21. (The MPC had assumed that 
a Brexit deal would be agreed.) 

 

 Fiscal policy. In the same week as the MPC meeting, the Chancellor made a series of 
announcements to provide further support to the economy: -  

 An extension of the COVID-19 loan schemes from the end of January 2021 to the 
end of March.  

 The furlough scheme was lengthened from the end of March to the end of April. 

 The Budget on 3.3.21 will lay out the “next phase of the plan to tackle the virus and 
protect jobs”. This does not sound like tax rises are imminent, (which could hold 
back the speed of economic recovery). 

 

 The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6.8.20 revised down their expected 
credit losses for the banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that in its 
assessment, “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses 
that are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for real 
stress in the sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the MPC’s 
projection, with unemployment rising to above 15%.  

 

 US. The Democrats gained the presidency and a majority in the House of 
Representatives in the November elections: after winning two key Senate seats in 
Georgia in elections in early January, they now also have a very slim majority in the 
Senate due to the vice president’s casting vote. President Biden will consequently have 
a much easier path to implement his election manifesto. However, he will not have a 
completely free hand as more radical Democrat plans may not be supported by all 
Democrat senators.  His initial radical plan for a fiscal stimulus of $1.9trn, (9% of GDP), 
is therefore likely to be toned down in order to get through both houses. 

 

 The economy had been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020 of 10.2% 
due to the pandemic with GDP only 3.5% below its pre-pandemic level and the 
unemployment rate dropping below 7%. However, the rise in new cases during quarter 
4, to the highest level since mid-August, suggests that the US could be in the early 
stages of a fourth wave. The latest upturn poses a threat that the recovery in the 
economy could stall. This is the single biggest downside risk to the shorter term 
outlook – a more widespread and severe wave of infections over the winter months, 
which is compounded by the impact of the regular flu season and, as a consequence, 
threatens to overwhelm health care facilities. Under those circumstances, individual 
states might feel it necessary to return to more draconian lockdowns. 

 

 The restrictions imposed to control the spread of the virus are once again weighing on 
the economy with employment growth slowing sharply in November and declining in 
December, and retail sales dropping back. The economy is set for further weakness into 
the spring. GDP growth is expected to rebound markedly from the second quarter of 
2021 onwards as vaccines are rolled out on a widespread basis and restrictions are 
loosened.  

Page 51



 
 After Chair Jerome Powell unveiled the Fed's adoption of a flexible average inflation 

target in his Jackson Hole speech in late August 2020, the mid-September meeting of 
the Fed agreed by a majority to a toned down version of the new inflation target in his 
speech - that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range until 
labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's 
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on track 
to moderately exceed 2% for some time." This change was aimed to provide more 
stimulus for economic growth and higher levels of employment and to avoid the danger 
of getting caught in a deflationary “trap” like Japan. It is to be noted that inflation has 
actually been under-shooting the 2% target significantly for most of the last decade, 
(and this year), so financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to 
be in the pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. The FOMC’s 
updated economic and rate projections in mid-September showed that officials expect to 
leave the fed funds rate at near-zero until at least end-2023 and probably for another 
year or two beyond that. There is now some expectation that where the Fed has led in 
changing its inflation target, other major central banks will follow. The increase in 
tension over the last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack of 
momentum in progressing the initial positive moves to agree a phase one trade deal.  

 
 The Fed’s meeting on 5 November was unremarkable - but at a politically sensitive time 

around the elections. At its 16 December meeting the Fed tweaked the guidance for its 
monthly asset quantitative easing purchases with the new language implying those 
purchases could continue for longer than previously believed. Nevertheless, with 
officials still projecting that inflation will only get back to 2.0% in 2023, the vast majority 
expect the Fed funds rate to be still at near-zero until 2024 or later. Furthermore, 
officials think the balance of risks surrounding that median inflation forecast are firmly 
skewed to the downside. The key message is still that policy will remain unusually 
accommodative – with near-zero rates and asset purchases – continuing for several 
more years. This is likely to result in keeping Treasury yields low – which will also have 
an influence on gilt yields in this country. 

 

 EU. In early December, the figures for Q3 GDP confirmed that the economy staged a 
rapid rebound from the first lockdowns. This provides grounds for optimism about 
growth prospects for next year. In Q2, GDP was 15% below its pre-pandemic level. But 
in Q3 the economy grew by 12.5% q/q leaving GDP down by “only” 4.4%. That was 
much better than had been expected earlier in the year. However, growth is likely to 
stagnate during Q4 and in Q1 of 2021, as a second wave of the virus has seriously 
affected many countries. The €750bn fiscal support package eventually agreed by the 
EU after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is unlikely to provide 
significant support, and quickly enough, to make an appreciable difference in the 
countries most affected by the first wave.  

 

 With inflation expected to be unlikely to get much above 1% over the next two years, 
the ECB has been struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target. It is currently unlikely 
that it will cut its central rate even further into negative territory from -0.5%, although the 
ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible tool to use. The ECB’s December 
meeting added a further €500bn to the PEPP scheme, (purchase of government and 
other bonds), and extended the duration of the programme to March 2022 and re-
investing maturities for an additional year until December 2023. Three additional 
tranches of TLTRO, (cheap loans to banks), were approved, indicating that support will 
last beyond the impact of the pandemic, implying indirect yield curve control for 
government bonds for some time ahead. The Bank’s forecast for a return to pre-virus 
activity levels was pushed back to the end of 2021, but stronger growth is projected in 
2022. The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn of QE which started in March 2020 is 
providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like Italy. There is 

Page 52



therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain this level of 
support. However, as in the UK and the US, the advent of highly effective vaccines will 
be a game changer, although growth will struggle before later in quarter 2 of 2021.  

 

 China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, economic 
recovery was strong in Q2 and then into Q3 and Q4; this has enabled China to recover 
all of the contraction in Q1. Policy makers have both quashed the virus and 
implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal support that has been particularly 
effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the same time, China’s economy has 
benefited from the shift towards online spending by consumers in developed markets. 
These factors help to explain its comparative outperformance compared to western 
economies. However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet 
more infrastructure spending. After years of growth having been focused on this same 
area, any further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic 
returns in the longer term. This could, therefore, lead to a further misallocation of 
resources which will weigh on growth in future years. 

 
 Japan. A third round of fiscal stimulus in early December took total fresh fiscal spending 

this year in response to the virus close to 12% of pre-virus GDP. That’s huge by past 
standards, and one of the largest national fiscal responses. The budget deficit is now 
likely to reach 16% of GDP this year. Coupled with Japan’s relative success in 
containing the virus without draconian measures so far, and the likelihood of effective 
vaccines being available in the coming months, the government’s latest fiscal effort 
should help ensure a strong recovery and to get back to pre-virus levels by Q3 2021 – 
around the same time as the US and much sooner than the Eurozone. 

 

 World growth. World growth has been in recession in 2020 and this is likely to continue 
into the first half of 2021 before recovery in the second half. Inflation is unlikely to be a 
problem for some years due to the creation of excess production capacity and 
depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis. 
 

 Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. 
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an 
economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world.  This has 
boosted worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed 
inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over the last thirty 
years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the world 
economy. The Chinese government has targeted achieving major world positions in 
specific key sectors and products, especially high tech areas and production of rare 
earth minerals used in high tech products.  It is achieving this by massive financial 
support, (i.e. subsidies), to state owned firms, government directions to other firms, 
technology theft, restrictions on market access by foreign firms and informal targets for 
the domestic market share of Chinese producers in the selected sectors. This is 
regarded as being unfair competition that is putting western firms at an unfair 
disadvantage or even putting some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on 
the political front as China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using 
economic and military power for political advantage. The current trade war between the 
US and China therefore needs to be seen against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely 
that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation 
and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply products.  
This is likely to produce a backdrop in the coming years of weak global growth and so 
weak inflation.   

 
 

Page 53



Summary 
 
Central banks are, therefore, likely to support growth by maintaining loose monetary 
policy through keeping rates very low for longer. Governments could also help a 
quicker recovery by providing more fiscal support for their economies at a time when 
total debt is affordable due to the very low rates of interest. They will also need to 
avoid significant increases in taxation or austerity measures that depress demand 
and the pace of recovery in their economies.  
 
If there is a huge surge in investor confidence as a result of successful vaccines 
which leads to a major switch out of government bonds into equities, which, in turn, 
causes government debt yields to rise, then there will be pressure on central banks 
to actively manage debt yields by further QE purchases of government debt; this 
would help to suppress the rise in debt yields and so keep the total interest bill on 
greatly expanded government debt portfolios within manageable parameters. It is 
also the main alternative to a programme of austerity. 
 
 
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 
 
Brexit. Brexit may reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long run. However, 
much of that drag is now likely to be offset by an acceleration of productivity growth 
triggered by the digital revolution brought about by the COVID crisis.  
 
The balance of risks to the UK 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now skewed 
to the upside, but is still subject to some uncertainty due to the virus and the effect of 
any mutations, and how quick vaccines are in enabling a relaxation of restrictions. 

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate and 
significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has effectively 
ruled out the use of negative interest rates in the near term and increases in Bank 
Rate are likely to be some years away given the underlying economic expectations. 
However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected domestic 
developments and those in other major economies, could impact gilt yields, (and so 
PWLB rates), in the UK. 

 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:  

 UK government takes too much action too quickly to raise taxation or introduce 
austerity measures that depress demand and the pace of recovery of the economy. 

 UK - Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years 
to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to 
be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. The ECB has taken 
monetary policy action to support the bonds of EU states, with the positive impact 
most likely for “weaker” countries. In addition, the EU agreed a €750bn fiscal support 
package.  These actions will help shield weaker economic regions for the next two 
or three years. However, in the case of Italy, the cost of the virus crisis has added to 
its already huge debt mountain and its slow economic growth will leave it vulnerable 
to markets returning to taking the view that its level of debt is unsupportable.  There 
remains a sharp divide between northern EU countries favouring low debt to GDP 
and annual balanced budgets and southern countries who want to see jointly issued 
Eurobonds to finance economic recovery. This divide could undermine the unity of 
the EU in time to come.   

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined further 
depending on extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic. 

Page 54



 German minority government & general election in 2021. In the German general 
election of September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of 
the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. Angela Merkel has stepped 
down from being the CDU party leader but she will remain as Chancellor until the 
general election in 2021. This then leaves a major question mark over who will be 
the major guiding hand and driver of EU unity when she steps down.   

 Other minority EU governments. Italy, Spain, Austria, Sweden, Portugal, 
Netherlands, Ireland and Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments 
dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile.  

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU, and they had threatened to derail the 7 year EU 
budget until a compromise was thrashed out in late 2020. There has also been a 
rise in anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and France. 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also in Europe 
and other Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.  

 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

 UK - a significant rise in inflationary pressures e.g.  caused by a stronger than 
currently expected recovery in the UK economy after effective vaccines are 
administered quickly to the UK population, leading to a rapid resumption of normal 
life and return to full economic activity across all sectors of the economy. 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank 
Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the 
UK economy, which then necessitates a rapid series of increases in Bank Rate to 
stifle inflation.  
 

 

Page 55



APPENDIX C 
 
 

PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS FOR 2021/22 

 

Estimate of Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue 
Stream 

 
5.4% 

Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure to be Incurred 
£5,835,000 

Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement 
£31,971,000 

Operational Boundary 
£33,959,000 

Authorised Limit 
£38,255,000 

Upper limit for fixed rate interest exposures 
100% 

Upper limit for variable rate interest exposures 
30% 

Loan Maturity: 
Limits: 

Under 12 months 
Upper 20%   Lower 0%      

12 months to 5 years 
Upper 30%   Lower 0%      

5 years to 10 years 
Upper 75%   Lower 0%      

Over 10 years 
Upper 100% Lower 0%      

Over 20 years 
Upper 100% Lower 30%      

Upper Limit for Principal Sums Invested for Periods 
Longer than 365 Days 

£2,000,000 

 

LOCAL INDICATORS FOR 2021/22 
 

Upper limit for internal borrowing as a % of the 
Capital Financing Requirement 

20% 

Lower limit for proportion of net debt to gross debt 50% 

Upper limit for proportion of net debt to gross debt 85% 

Investment security benchmark: maximum historic 
default risk of investment portfolio  

0.08% 

Investment liquidity benchmark: maximum 
weighted average life of investment portfolio 

0.40 years 

Investment yield benchmark Internal returns to be above 3 
month LIBID rate 

Page 56



APPENDIX D 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK 
 
Investment 
category 

Minimum credit criteria / colour 
band 

Sovereign credit 
rating 

Category as a % of 
total investments 

Total limit per 
institution* / fund 

Max. maturity period 

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies 

Blue (1 year – only applies to 
nationalised or semi nationalised UK 
banks) 
Orange (1 year) 
Red (6 months) 
Green (100 days) 

Fitch AA or 
equivalent 

100% £4m per institution As per durational 
banding, subject to limit 
of 12 months 

Notice accounts with 
banks and building 
societies 

Blue (1 year – only applies to 
nationalised or semi nationalised UK 
banks) 
Orange (1 year) 
Red (6 months) 
Green (100 days) 

Fitch AA or 
equivalent 

100% £4m per institution Minimum notice period 
to be as per durational 
banding (subject to limit 
of 12 months). The total 
period of investment 
may be greater than 12 
months 

Local authorities N/A N/A 100% £4m per institution 12 months 

Money Market Funds 
CNAV (government 
debt) 

AAA N/A 50% £4m per fund Liquid 

Money Market Funds 
LVNAV 

AAA N/A 50% £4m per fund Liquid 

UK Government 
Treasury Bills 

UK sovereign rating N/A 100% N/A 12 months 

Certificates of 
Deposit with banks 
and building 
societies 

Blue (1 year – only applies to 
nationalised or semi nationalised UK 
banks) 
Orange (1 year) 
Red (6 months) 
Green (100 days) 

Fitch AA or 
equivalent 

50% £4m per institution As per durational 
banding, subject to limit 
of 12 months 

Debt Management 
Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF) – 
UK Government 

N/A N/A 100% N/A 6 months 

* The institution limit applies across all categories, i.e. it is the total amount that may be invested in the institution at any point in time (excluding any amounts 
invested in that institution by money market funds). 

P
age 57



 
APPENDIX E 

 
 
 

APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENTS  
 
 

AAA AA+ AA 

Australia Canada Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

Denmark Finland France 

Germany USA  

Luxembourg   

Netherlands   

Norway   

Singapore   

Sweden   

Switzerland   

 
 

This list is correct as at 20/01/2021 
  

Page 58



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2019/20 
 

Report of the Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 
 
Date: 26 February 2021 

 
Purpose of Report: 
 
To present to Members the 2019/20 audited statement of accounts of the 
Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority. 
 
Recommendations: 
 

• That Members approve the audited Statement of Accounts for 2019/20, as 
attached at Appendix A. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name:  
 
Becky Smeathers 
Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
(0115) 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7

mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The audited accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, which 
is published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA). The full Fire Authority must approve the audited Statement of 
Accounts.  The unaudited accounts were considered by Fire Authority on 28 
November 2020. 
 

1.2 The deadline for approving the audited statement of accounts by Fire 
Authority has been extended from 31 July to 30 November 2020 due to 
Covid-19.  However, the audit of the accounts has been further delayed due 
to resourcing issues at Ernst Young LLP. The unaudited accounts have been 
available on the website since 31 August 2020.   
 

1.3 This report is issued as a covering paper to the audited final accounts which 
are appended in full as Appendix A.  

 

2. REPORT 

 
AMENDMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED ACCOUNTS 
 
2.1 Following the audit, there have been a number of small changes to the 

Statement of Accounts considered by Fire Authority in November 2020.  The 
most significant of these are detailed in 2.2 and 2.3 below. 

 
2.2 Capital expenditure for 2019/20 was reported to Policy and Strategy 

Committee on 24 July 2020 as part of the Revenue and Capital Outturn for 
2019/20.   In the report, £15k of capital receipts had been netted off against 
vehicle expenditure, thus understating expenditure for the near.  The revised 
2019/20 capital outturn is shown in the table below: 

 
2019/20 Capital Outturn Position 

Expenditure Capital 
Budget 
£’000 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

Vehicles 538 228 (310) 

Operational Equipment 1,335 839 (496) 

Property 3,895 594 (3,301) 

Information, Computer & Technology 831 197 (634) 

Total 6,559 1,858 (4,741) 

    

Funded by    

Borrowing 6,599 1,821 (4,778) 

Capital Receipts 0 15 15 

Earmarked Reserves  0 22 22 

Total 6,599 1,858 4,741 

 

Page 60



2.3 A £129k payment had been included in both pre-payments and in 
expenditure when in fact it related to a 2020/21 transaction and should have 
been in neither.  The net effect of this on the outturn position was zero. 

 
2.4 There were several other adjustments to the notes of the accounts which had 

no effect on the core statements in the accounts or the outturn position 
reported to Policy and Strategy Committee in July.  Details of these can be 
found in the External Audit report elsewhere on this agenda. 

 
THE CORE STATEMENTS IN THE ACCOUNTS 
 
2.5 There are four core statements in the Statement of Accounts, and these are 

on Pages 22 to 29 of the Accounts. The core statements show references to 
disclosure notes within the Accounts which give further information and 
explanations about the figures within the core statements. 

 
2.6 The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on 

the Authority’s various reserves, analysed into “usable” and “unusable” 
reserves. The usable reserves total £9.750m at 31 March 2020.  These 
comprise of the General Fund Reserve (£4.989m) and Earmarked Reserves 
(£4.761m) which are available to be spent by the Authority in the future.  

 
2.7 This statement also shows how the net deficit on the provision of services is 

adjusted in accordance with accounting regulations to give the net decrease 
in the General Fund Reserves of £587k for the year.  This reflects the use of 
reserves to support expenditure during the year.   

 
2.8 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows all of the 

items of income and expenditure which constitute the accounting cost in the 
year of providing services. Although this Statement shows a deficit of 
£14,029m, this does not represent the cost to taxpayers, as the deficit is 
adjusted in accordance with accounting regulations to give the net deficit of 
£587k, which is the required amount from General Fund Reserve to finance 
expenditure for the year.   

 
2.9 The Balance Sheet shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at 

31 March 2020. The Authority’s net assets are matched by the Authority’s 
reserves. 

 
2.10 On Pages 106 and 107 of the Accounts are the Pension Fund Statements 

which show the transactions in the year on fire-fighter pensions and the 
assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2020. 

 
2.11 The Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are unfunded, and the annual cost of 

benefits is paid for mainly by current employee contributions and employer 
contributions. The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
meets any annual shortfall – ie: if the contributions into the fund do not meet 
the cost of pensions paid in the year. The Authority is required to continue to 
show the liability in respect of the Firefighter Pension Schemes in its Balance 
Sheet and notes to the core financial statements. 

 

Page 61



2.12 The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash (and cash 
equivalents) during the year and shows how the Service’s activities generate 
and use cash. 

 
THE NARRATIVE STATEMENT 
 
2.13 The Narrative Statement gives a useful overview of both the Accounts 

themselves and the Authority’s activities during the year and beyond from a 
financial viewpoint. It sets the context for the Accounts and is therefore a 
useful starting point for someone reading the Authority’s accounts for the first 
time.  

 
AUDIT FEE 

 
2.14 The proposed annual audit fee for auditing the 2019/20 Statement of 

Accounts was £23,909.  The auditors have requested additional fees of 
£63,905.  These are currently under negotiation.   

   

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications of this report are set out in the body of the report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been carried out because this is a report of 
the Authority’s financial performance for the 2019/20 financial year rather than a 
new or amended policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The production of final accounts is fundamental in demonstrating a sound 

financial position for any organisation. The “snapshot” provided by annual 

Page 62



accounts which can be independently audited, provides both stakeholders 
and elected Members with a significant level of assurance in this area. 

 
8.2 The level of reserves, as shown in the accounts, will enable the position set 

out in the medium term financial strategy to be sustained. 
 
8.3 Detailed aspects of financial risk management are set out within the body of 

the report. 
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members approve the audited Statement of Accounts for 2019/20, as attached 
at Appendix A. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Becky Smeathers CPFA 
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 

Page 63



Statement of Accounts

2019/20 

Page 64



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

PAGE

Narrative Statement 2

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 17

Statement of Approval of the Statement of Accounts 18

Auditor's Report 19

 The Core Financial Statements 22

 - Introduction to Core Statements 22

 - Movement in Reserves Statement 25

 - Expenditure and Funding Analysis 26

 - Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement                                                       27

 - Balance Sheet 28

 - Cash Flow Statement 29

 - Index of Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 30

 - Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 31

The Pension Statements 106

 - Pension Fund Account 106

 - Pensions Net Assets Statement 107

 - Notes to the Pension Statement 108

Annual Governance Statement 111

Glossary of Terms 124

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page 65



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

NARRATIVE STATEMENT

2

Introduction

This Narrative Statement introduces the Statement of Accounts 2019/20 for the Nottinghamshire 
and City of Nottingham Fire Authority, which was formed as an independent body on 1st April 1998 
following local government reorganisation. I write it as the independent Treasurer to the Fire 
Authority and as the Officer designated under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972. My 
role is to act on behalf of the Authority in providing oversight and ensuring legal compliance and 
governance in respect of accounting and financial matters which affect the Authority.

This Statement contains a number of sections. It is intended to give the reader of these accounts a 
clear overview of the Authority’s financial performance in the year and also to put the Authority’s 
non-financial performance into the context of the financial results. I believe that readers of the 
accounts will be interested in the financial performance in the year, how this relates to the delivery 
of services to our communities and the impact of Covid-19 on the service. 

I also recognise that the accounts of the Authority can be quite daunting for readers, especially 
those who are unfamiliar with accounts in general and local government accounts in particular, so I 
hope that in taking the time to read my statement you will be able to better understand how these 
accounts are constructed and how best to read and interpret them. I will also explain more about 
what the core financial statements mean and explain how the notes to the accounts provide the 
reader with the detailed information to support those core statements which, by their nature, are 
summarised.

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, which is published by CIPFA.

Background

The County of Nottinghamshire covers 838 square miles with a mixture of urban and rural areas.  It 
has a population 1.15m, of which around half live in and around the City.

The Fire Authority has 24 Fire Stations, 8 of which are wholetime.  12 stations are crewed by on call 
staff and the remaining 4 have a mixture of wholetime and on call crews.

The Authority has a number of key plans and strategies which together enable the organisation to 
deliver its overall objective of creating safer communities.

The Strategic Plan 2019-2022 sets out the key priorities for the Authority for the three years
starting from 2019/20.  Included in the Plan is the Year 1 Action Plan for 2019/20.  Progress against 
the Plan can be found in the Annual Statement of Assurance which is presented to Fire Authority in 
September of each year.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy includes budgets for the next four years which support the 
delivery of services but within the context of financial sustainability. These plans are all available on 
our website www.notts-fire.gov.uk or by clicking on the links below. 

- Strategic Plan 2019 - 2022

- Medium Term Financial Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy and Reserves Strategy

Page 66



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Performance Data

Fires

Road 
Traffic 

Collisions

False 
Automated 
Fire Calls

Other 
Services

Total 
Incidents

2019/20 3,088 559 3,979 2,032 9,658
2018/19 4,192 542 4,475 2,026 11,235
2017/18 3,301 506 4,369 2,402 10,578

3

One of our strategic aims is to provide an engaged and motivated workforce.  Our people are at the 
heart of what we do, and ensuring their engagement and motivation strengthens the service that we 
provide to you. In 2019/20 we employed 821 people - 674 in operational roles and 147 in support 
roles.  This has decreased since 2018/19 when 886 people were employed - 742 in operational roles 
and 144 in Support roles.  The reduction in operational posts were due to changes in crewing models 
at Retford and Ashfield fire stations and the relocation of Control to Derbyshire Firecovid and Rescue 
Service.

Work continues on strengthening the sustainability of our on-call workforce.  Over a third of our 
operational staff are on-call firefighters working in primary employment and devoting time to keeping 
our communities safe.  It is our aim to improve the availability of our on-call appliances to an average 
of 85% with no station falling below 70%  In 2019/20 the average availability of on-call appliances was 
85.85%.

There has been a 14% decrease in the number of incidents in 2019/20, mostly due an increase in 
2018/19 incidents during the hot summer.  The number of attendances at false alarms has 
decreased due to a revised approach where appliances are only automatically dispatched to high 
risk premises.

The number of incidents does not necessarily relate to the cost of delivering a front-line response 
because the Fire and Rescue Service is based on risk, with Wholetime Duty System employees 
ready to respond regardless of the actual numbers of incidents. An incident may comprise a single 
fire appliance attending a road traffic collision or a number of fire appliances attending a large scale 
incident. 

Page 67



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2019/20
2018/19
2017/18

4

853 286

Number of Fire Safety 
Inspections

Number of Primary Fires in 
Non-Domestic Properties

1,045 243
1,076 254

We explained in our Strategic plan how we are going to make our communities safer through our 
prevention activities.  We are working closely with our colleagues in other agencies to support early
internvention for those who are most vulnerable in Nottinghamshire.  This work has continued during 
the Covid-19 outbreak with officers wearing Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) where home visit 
have been considered necessary.

The service's HMICFRS inspection highlighted that the service undertook  comparatively low number 
of Safe and Well visits. The service has worked hard to increase the number of these visits , which 
offer information on several factors which, in addition to fire advice, include smoking cessation, 
alcohol addiction, preventing falls ank keeping warm in winter.  Where necessary, referals are made 
to our partner organisations.  

The creation of Evaluation and assurance frameworks mean that we are monitoring the effectiveness 
of our interventions and therefore able to refine the work we do as we aim to make every contact 
count.

In addition to responding within the County and City, the Fire and Rescue Service has an obligation 
to support other Services in times of need such as flooding assistance.  The service sent a significant 
number of resources to assist Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service during the Toddbrook Reservoir 
incident and also provided flooding assistance across the border in Lincolnshire. Some of the 
additional costs related to this work were recovered under the Central Government's Bellwin 
Scheme.  

Similarly, should Nottingham Fire and Rescue Service require additional resources in an emergency, 
these can be called in from other Services. 

Page 68



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2019/20 34 50
2018/19 31 57
2017/18 29 41

Number of Complaints 
in Year

Number of Customer 
Satisfaction Letters

5

The Authority has a complaints process and we do occasionally receive complaints from the public. 
The number of complaints has remained stable in 2018/19, but the number of communications 
indicating customer satisfaction has risen significantly over the last 2 years. There was no particular 
pattern to the nature of complaints received, but every one is investigated by an Officer, who then 
responds to the complainant.

Where customer satisfaction surveys are distributed after contacts with the public, customer 
satisfaction rates have been at 99% . 

The performance statistics used in this statement have been collected from our core management 
information systems such as the incident recording system, the mobilising system and our human 
resources and financial systems.

Our intelligence-led CHARLIE profile (which stands for Care and support, Hoarding, Alcohol, 
Reduced mobility, Lives alone, Inappropriate smoking and Elderly) identifies the main contributory 
factors that increase a person's risk from a fire in the home.  We use this profile to raise awareness 
with partners and local organisations to improve the way that we are notified of people who may be 
at risk within our communities and in order to generate targeted Safe and Well visits.

In 2019/20 we increased the number of Safe and Well vists by 84%.  We conducted 7,752 visits, 
compared to 4,219 in 2018-19.  53% of our visits were delivered to people over 65 and 33% were 
delivered to people who considered themselves to have a disability.  

Whilst Covid-19 had little impact on the number of 2019/20 visits undertaken, since lockdown began 
in March visits have only taken place for the most vulnerable.   The service has received additional 
Covid-19 grant from Central Government and some of this is being used to reduce the backlog of 
visits and get back on track with the programme. 

We increased the number of specialist smoke detectors for people with hearing impairments to 1,157 
compared to 511 in 2018/19.

The prevention team also undertook 524 Community Safety initiatives and school visits, 65 road 
safety events and 14 water safety initiatives.  Unfortunately this work has largely ceased during the 
Covid-19 pandemic, but we hope to commence it again as soon as practically possible.

Page 69



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

6

Risk Management

Risk management processes are well embedded in the Authority. A comprehensive set of risk 
registers is monitored regularly by senior managers and elected members. By its nature, risk will 
change over time and in response to both external and internal pressures. It is important, therefore, 
that the Authority’s managers remain alert to these developments and the emerging risks. In times 
of austerity and organisational restructuring, there is a possibility that control measures which had 
previously been seen as satisfactory may become eroded as resources reduce. The Authority has 
recognised this issue and has responded accordingly. Examples of high risk areas and areas where 
new risks have been identified are:

 that Covid-19 will impact on internal factors which will affect the delivery of core business and 
development activities;

 The use of vehicles on Authority business;
 The service is unable to receive and act on emergency calls in contravention of statutory duty;
 The introduction of the Emergency Services Network. This reflects the requirement to 

successfully introduce the government's communications solution and to work collaboratively.
 Ensuring that employees safe systems of work are in place to protect employees and / or non-

employees.

Value for Money

Reducing levels of government grant funding and restrictions on the level of council tax which can 
be raised, have resulted in an increased emphasis on seeking value for money in all that we do. 
The Service has to find a balance between economy (spending less money), efficiency (working 
smarter) and effectiveness (delivering relevant services). 

At its meeting on 28 February 2020 the Fire Authority approved a balanced budget after several 
years of requiring the use of general fund reserves.  This has been achieved through making 
savings, for example through the revision of crewing arrangements at Ashfield and Retford fire 
stations and implementing a joint control function with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service.

A number of other collaborative opportunities have also been taken advantage of such as the joint 
use of Hucknall, Highfields and West Bridgeford fire stations with East Midlands Ambulance Service 
staff and Nottinghamshire Police.  

Work continues to improve the use of technology across the organisation to enable improved 
efficiency.  The work undertaken to date has enabled the almost seamless transition to home 
working where possible as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak.

Page 70



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

7

The Core Statements

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

This statement brings together all of the items of income and expenditure which constitute the 
accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices. This is not the same as the net cost to be funded from council tax. The reader may wish to 
refer to the Movement in Reserves Statement to find out the net increase or decrease to the General 
Fund Balance, which is effectively the underspend or overspend against the amount of income 
received by the Authority.  During 2019/20 the service worked hard to reduce the call on reserves, 
creating an underspend position at the end of the year of £0.616m.  As a consequence, £0.587m was 
used out of General Reserves against a budget of £1.240m.  

Expenditure and Funding Analysis

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from annual 
resources such as grants, non domestic rates and council tax and shows the impact of entries which 
convert resources consumed or earned by the service calculated in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, as required in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Balance Sheet 

The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority at 31st 
March. The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Authority and thus the Balance Sheet is "in balance". The reader will notice that the total on the 
Balance Sheet is a negative figure of £508,535m, which means that the Authority's liabilities exceed its 
assets. This would usually be a cause for concern, however in this case the large liability in question 
relates to future pension liabilities (£557,793m) which at present are funded by Central Government. 
The underlying financial position of the Fire Authority is a strong one because when this pension 
liability is excluded, assets exceed liabilities by £49,258m.

Movement in Reserves Statement

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority 
analysed into usable reserves, which can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation, and 
other reserves. The Authority holds reserves for two reasons. There are always issues which may 
arise for which the Authority has no specific budget but in order that these “one off” type events do not 
unduly impact upon a single year's budget it is wise to maintain some money to deal with these events 
should they occur. These are what are known as General Fund Balances. Similarly, the Authority may 
wish to hold back sums of money because it knows that certain items of expenditure will occur but that 
these are of a “one off” nature and it is uncertain as to when they will occur. These are called 
earmarked reserves because they are for a specific purpose. As Treasurer I am required to assess the 
adequacy of these reserves to meet future events and issue a statement annually to that effect. The 
Surplus (or Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of providing the 
Authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Adjustments are then made to the Surplus (or Deficit) on the Provision of Services to 
recognise the fact that the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for 
council tax setting purposes are different. The Net Increase (or Decrease) before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary 
transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Authority.

Page 71



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

8

It is important to note that some of the Authority's reserves which appear on the balance sheet 
cannot be used to fund expenditure.  An example of an unusable reserve would be the Revaluation 
Reserve, which contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The Authority held £4.989m in General 
Reserves as well as £4.761m in Earmarked Reserves as at 31st March 2020.  

This puts the service in a strong financial position going forward.  At its meeting on 20 December 
2019, Fire Authority set a minimum level of general fund reserves of £3.9m.  The service is not 
expected to require general fund reserves to meet expenditure in 2020/21.

Cash Flow Statement

This statement, as its name suggests, shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Authority during the reporting period. The starting point for this statement is the net surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, as this might suggest what the movement in cash balances has been. There are 
however a number of charges that are made to the revenue account that are not cash transactions 
and that merely result in a transfer of funds between the balance sheet and the revenue account. 
The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows 
arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the 
Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services 
provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have 
been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s future service delivery. 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by 
providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority.

The resultant figure shows the real movement in cash during the year, which is a decrease in cash 
of £748k.  This is largely due to a high level of cash being held at the beginning of the year due to 
treasury management activity.

Pension Fund Account

This statement shows the income and expenditure for the year relating to the Firefighters’ Pension 
Schemes. The net amount payable for the year i.e. the extent to which pension benefits payable 
exceeded contributions, is £9.732m.

Pension Net Assets Statement

This statement shows the net current assets and liabilities arising from the operation of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. This statement does not take account of liabilities to pay future 
pensions and other benefits after the period end. Such liabilities are shown in the Authority’s 
Balance Sheet, as explained above.

Annual Governance Statement

This statement sets out the Authority’s responsibilities with regard to corporate governance and 
gives details of key elements of corporate governance in place during the year. It also summarises 
the Authority’s review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, measured against the 
CIPFA / SOLACE framework, and in which issues for action are highlighted.

Page 72



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

9

Key Figures with the Core Statements

Revenue Budget: £587k was required from General Fund to finance expenditure during 2019/20 
against a planned use of £1.240m.  This represents a £616k underspend against the budget.  This 
was in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  The main reasons for the variance given in the 
section below "Significant Variances".

Cost of Services: this was £54,127m  2019/20 (£74,775m for 2018/19)  and is shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This represents a 30% decrease. This has been 
caused by a one off £28m increase the pension actuarial valuation in 2018/19  resulting from the 
estimated additional pension cost resulting from an employment tribunal case were the transitional 
arrangements to the 2015 firefighters pension scheme were found to be discriminatory.  

Total Net Liabilities: this was £508,535m for 2019/20 (£518.180m 2018/19)and is shown on the 
Balance Sheet. The main reason for the movement between the 2 years was a £11m decrease in the 
pension liability.

Total Usable Reserves: this was £10.097m for 2019/20 (£10.686m 2018/19) and is shown on the 
Balance Sheet. The reduction reflects the use of both General Fund (£587m) and Earmarked 
Reserves (£2k) to support revenue expenditure during the year.

Debtors:  Debtors were £5.948m for 2019/20 (£6.134m 2018/19), a decrease from 2018/19 as shown 
on the Balance Sheet. 

Long term and Short term Creditors: this was 3.874m for 2019/20 (£3.128m 2018/19) and is shown on 
the Balance Sheet. 

Page 73



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Budget Actual Variance
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

£000 £000 £000

Employees 35,647 35,122 (525)
Premises Related Expenditure 2,474 2,802 328
Transport Related Expenditure 1,759 2,340 581
Supplies and Services 4,103 3,948 (155)
Third Party Payments 703 795 92
Support Services 191 184 (7)
Capital Financing 2,438 2,388 (50)
Other Income (eg Grants) (4,619) (5,498) (879)
Net Expenditure 42,696        42,080          (616)

Financed By:
Contribution from Earmarked Reserves 0 (2) (2)
Contribution from General Reserves (1,240) (587) 653
Revenue Support Grant (5,335) (5,371) (36)
Non Domestic Rates (10,828) (10,828) 0
Precept from Constituent Authorities (25,293) (25,293) 0

Net 0 0 0

10

Summary of the Year

A summary of the Fire Authority’s overall financial results is given in the following paragraphs:

Revenue Income and Expenditure

The 2019/20 revenue budget for of £42.696m was approved by the Fire Authority in February 2019.  
This was on the basis that a £1.2m deficit in the budget would be supported by a transfer from 
general reserves to support the budget. This was in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
which sets out as a principle that financial planning will take account of the possible use of reserves 
to minimise the effect of reductions in funding as a means of transition.   During the year, a further 
£362k of planned expenditure has been incurred, funded from Earmarked Reserves and £360k of 
unspent grant were put into reserves including £177k of Covid-19 grant received in March 2019.  
Total Expenditure for the year is £42.080m, requiring £0.587m of funding from General Reserves.  
This represents an underspend of £0.616m (1.4%) .

A summary of expenditure is shown below.

Page 74



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

11

Significant Variances

Variances against the budget have arisen in the following areas (only significant variances are 
detailed):

Explanation of variances

The amount of the revenue budget underspend in total is £0.616m, which is relatively small at 1.4% of 
the overall budget, although within this are a few significant over and underspends.

Employee Costs - The underspend on employee costs is caused by several smaller underspends.  
These include £213k in support staff pay due to vacant posts and £124k in on-call pay due to fewer 
than planned recruitment courses and consequential reduction in training costs. 

Premises Costs- The overspend on premises is due to additional building repair and maintenance 
(£88k), utilities (£63k) and business rates (£42k). 

Transport Related Expenditure - This budget is overspent by £580k.  £210k relates to two vehicles 
which were damaged and repair costs are included in the expenditure pending the settlement of 
insurance claims.  There is also an element of unplanned maintenance and high demand for planned 
maintenance.

Income - Additional income of £159k was received to offset costs from incidents such as the 
Toddbrook and the Wainfleet incidents.  In addition, £147k was recovered from the police for works 
carried out at Highfields and West Bridgford stations.  A further £191k was received in March from 
Central Government to cover the additional costs incurred from Covid-19.  The unspent element of this 
at the end of March (£177k) was transferred to earmarked reserves to cover expenditure in 2020/21.

More details regarding expenditure during the year is available in the Capital and Revenue Outturn 
report reported to Policy an Strategy Committee on 24 July 2020.

Page 75



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Expenditure
Capital 

Programme Actual

Variance 
from 

Budget
2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

£000 £000 £000

Vehicles 538 228 (310)
Operational Equipment 1,335 839 (496)
Property 3,895 594 (3,301)
Information, Computer and Technology (ICT) 831 197 (634)
Total 6,599 1,858 (4,741)

Funded by:

Borrowing 6,599 1,821 (4,778)
Grant funding 0 0 0
Capital Receipts 0 15 15
Earmarked reserve 0 22 22
Total 6,599 1,858 (4,741)

12

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure describes the purchasing, upgrading and improvement of Fire Authority assets. 
These assets are known as “non current assets" and they provide a benefit to the Authority over a 
longer period of time than the current financial year. A summary of the Capital Programme and actual 

The 2019/20 capital programme includes the completion of the project to move Hucknall on-call fire 
crews to a new shared site for Ambulance, Fire and Police.

The Joint Headquarters project has commenced, with planning permission being approved and initial 
site work commencing.  The project will see the service sharing headquarters with Nottinghamshire 
Police.

There has been a significant amount of slippage, largely due to the replacement of Worksop Fire 
station being delayed due to issues with site availability (£2.6m).  There were also delays in the 
delivery of Personal Protective Equipment due to expected delivery dates being delayed from March 
into April due to Covid-19.

Page 76



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

13

Treasury Management Activity

During the year, £4.8m of capital expenditure was funded from borrowing.  The Authority borrowed 
£3m long term loans from the Public Work Loans Board ( PWLB) and repaid debt of £4.088m. The 
Authority’s level of long term borrowing at the year end was £28,540m. This compares to long term 
assets on the Balance Sheet valued at £65,588m. The capital financing requirement as at 31 March 
2020 is £26,017m, which demonstrates that the current level of net borrowing is prudent.

There was no temporary borrowing outstanding at year end to cover cashflow shortfalls, so total 
borrowing was £28,540m as at 31 March 2020.  This remains within the Operational Boundary set by 
Fire Authority of £30.600m.

Reserves

Earmarked reserves are held either for unspent grant or set aside to fund specific areas of 
expenditure, usually of a one off nature.  During 2019/20 a review of earmarked reserves was 
undertaken as, for various reasons, some of these reserves had not been utilised.  The review 
identified £1.4m which was re-allocated to a new Transformation and Collaboration Reserve to help 
fund areas of work included the Transformation and Efficiency Strategy, which identifies areas for 
improvement in the coming years, largely as a response to the HMICFRS inspection.  The Reserves 
Strategy and Transformation and Efficiency Strategy were approved in February 2020.  The 
earmarked reserves held by the Authority are shown in note 11.  Earmarked reserves totalled £4.7m at 
31 March 2020.

General Reserves of £4.989m were held at 31 March 2020, against a minimum level set in the 
Reserves Strategy of £3.9m.  The use of general fund reserves is not expected to be required in 
2020/21.  The service has set a balanced budget for the year and Covid related expenditure should be 
contained within the grant received from Central Government for this purpose.  Future years remain 
uncertain at this point in time as it is anticipated that Covid-19 will impact on council tax and business 
rate collection levels and the service will not know about future central government grant levels until 
the Autumn.  This being said, the service is in a strong financial position and has sufficient reserve 
levels to enable it to plan for any reductions in funding in a measured way.

Pension Funds

Standard accounting practice requires the Authority to show the full future pensions liabilities at the 
time that these liabilities are earned by employees. An independent actuary has assessed the liabilities 
for pension schemes in which the Authority participates, namely the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme. The schemes are currently in deficit, which shows as a 
total liability of £557,793 on the balance sheet. The largest element of this liability relates to the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and stands at £535,286m. 

The Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are unfunded and the annual cost of benefits is paid for by 
employee contributions and employer contributions. The Home Office meets any annual shortfall i.e. if 
the contributions into the fund do not meet the cost of pensions paid in the year. The Authority is 
required to continue to show the liability in respect of the Firefighter Pension Schemes in its Balance 
Sheet and notes to the core financial statements. 

An employment tribunal case was brought against the Government in relation to possible 
discrimination in relation to the introduction of the 2015 Firefighters' Pension Scheme.  The scheme 
included transitional protection arrangements between the old scheme and the new scheme.  These 
transitional arrangements were found to be unlawful as they discriminated on the grounds of age.  HM 
Treasury released a consultation document on the options to remedy the situation.  The pension fund 
accounts include estimates of these costs.

Page 77



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

14

Other Significant, Material and Unusual Items

Covid-19
The Authority has been impacted by the current Covid-19 outbreak in many ways.  Towards the end of 
March 2020 the country went into lockdown.  Emergency response activity have been maintained, with 
crews forming bubbles to prevent cross contamination between stations.  Sickness levels have been 
very low and on-call availability has actually improved due to staff being furloughed from their primary 
employment.  

The overall number of incidents has remained fairly steady.  There was a small increase in fires in the 
summer due to the warm weather and  increased number of garden fires due to lockdown.  This was 
offset by a reduction in road traffic accidents due to the stay at home policy.

The service has attended some larger incidents but normal practices have continued and the service 
has been able to utilise its standard Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) to protect staff at incidents.  
Over border support has also been maintained.  

Other face to face activity such as Safe and Well visits were constrained with only the most urgent 
visits being made and alternative methods of support being adopted, such as virtual or telephone 
advice.

At this time of crisis, the service moved to support its community in different ways.  Support was 
provided to East Midland Ambulance Service (EMAS) in the form of providing additional blue light 
drivers.  Firefighters assisted with the delivery of prescription medicine and emergency food parcels.  

There were no issues with the levels of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) held by the service as 
firefighters are issued with two sets of personalised PPE as part of their standard issue for incidents 
which involve hazardous substances.  The turnaround for cleaning of PPE kit was a potential concern 
but there were sufficient levels of additional stock held to prevent this becoming an issue. 

The service did have some initial problems in procuring sufficient hand sanitiser but this has now been 
resolved.  The servicing of the service's vehicles was impacted in March and April, but this work is in 
the process of being caught up and did not cause any major issues.

The training centre for staff was temporary closed in March and April.  This impacted on maintenance 
of skills, for example in driver training and Breathing Apparatus training.  These have been given 
priority on the re-opening of the training centre and did not affect the operating capability of the 
service.

Recent investment by the organisation in technology enabled most support staff to move to home 
working in a seamless way with little impact on the service provided.  Where working from home has 
not been a viable option it has been possible to either accommodate the reduced number of staff 
within the workplace or reallocate work where possible.

The financial impact of the outbreak was very small in 2019/20 due to its timing.  The service received 
an initial £191k grant to help with additional Covid-19 related costs.  Only £14k of this was spent 
during the 2019/20 financial year with the remaining £177k being transferred to reserves to fund 
expenditure in 2020/21. A further £867k was received in April.  It is anticipated that the grant will be 
sufficient to contain the additional costs of Covid-19 during 2020/21 and beyond.  The grant is being 
utilised to  help the recovery of services such as Safe and Well visits to vulnerable members of the 
community.

Page 78



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

15

HMICFRS Inspection

During January and February 2019 the Service underwent an inspection by (HMICFRS).  The 
inspection report was published in June 2019.  The Inspection delivered an overall rating of Requires 
Improvement.   Whilst some areas of performance were awarded a rating of Good (protecting the 
public through fire regulation and responding to national risks) 24 areas were judged to be requiring 
improvement.  An improvement plan covering the 24 areas has been developed along with an action 
tracking process to manage and record progress.  Eight areas of improvement have already been 
completed.  The remaining actions are programmed to be completed in 2020/21.

The service's Strategic Plan contained a 10 point year one action plan for 2019/20 which included 
responding to the outcomes of the HMICFRS inspection.  Progress is regularly monitored by the 
Strategic Leadership Team and reported to elected Members through the Committee structure. Of the 
10 year one actions, 3 were carried forward to 2020/21 as their timescales for delivery were longer 
than 12 months.  The other 7 have been completed and signed off.

Collaboration

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 became law in April 2017.  This allowed the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) for Nottinghamshire to make a business case to take over responsibility for the 
fire function if desired. At the time of writing this statement, the PCC has not stated an intention to 
make such a case, but regardless of whether or not a business case is made we are now legally 
required to consider collaboration opportunities with the other “blue light” emergency services.  This 
was something that wasn't new to the Authority but the Act has focussed attention on future 
collaboration opportunities. 

The Business Case for a joint Head Quarters with Nottinghamshire Constabulary at the existing Police 
Head Quarters site was approved by Fire Authority in February 2019.  Planning permission was 
received for the new building in December and building works are about to commence, with an 
anticipated moving in date of early 2022.  This will create an exciting opportunity for the two services to 
work more closely together as well delivering savings.

The Hucknall on-call station moved to a new joint facility with EMAS and the Police during 2019/20.  A 
new police training facility has opened at Highfields fire station and work is almost complete at West 
Bridgford to facilitate a joint fire station and police station.  Access has also been granted to the police 
to use fire service fuel bunkers.  The service is recharging the costs of these services to the police. 

The joint control room at Derbyshire Fire and Rescue opened in July 2019.  The joint facility will offer 
increased resilience and also deliver savings to the authority.

Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited

The Authority established an arm’s-length trading company, which began operating on 1 September 
2010. The company was called “Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (Trading) Limited” .Its main 
activities are to sell fire extinguisher maintenance services and fire safety training to external 
customers. The financial position of the company is not material in terms of the overall financial 
position of the Authority so separate accounts are prepared for both the Authority and the trading 
company.
Further detail about the company's trading results and overall financial position is shown in notes 35 
and 42. For 2019/20, Nottinghamshire Fire Safety CIC made a loss before tax of £12k (£4k in 
2018/19).  The trading company was sold in August 2020.

Page 79



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

16

Plans for 2020/21

Elected Members of the Fire Authority approved a council tax increase of 1.95% for 2020/21 with a 
Band D council tax of £81.36 (£79.80 2019/20). The revenue budget for 2020/21 has been set at 
£45.2m (£45.0m 2019/20). For the first time in several years, a balanced budget has been set for 
2020/21.  The budget includes a £2.3m grant to cover the expected increased costs of the 
firefighter pension employer contribution following the changes to the discount rates applied to the 
scheme.  

Funding for 2021/22 to 2023/24 will be determined as part of the Government's spending review 
which will not be announced until late 2020.  The ongoing uncertainty of Covid-19 adds to the 
existing uncertainty around Brexit.  It is expected that the ongoing impact of Covid-19 will have a 
negative impact on the collection of council tax and business rates for 2020/21 onwards.  There 
may be significant changes to the budget following the spending review and the service will have to 
deal with these when more information becomes available.  It is still not known how the pension 
grant mentioned above will be treated in the spending review and how the future financial impact of 
the McCloud age discrimination remedy will be dealt with moving forward.

This being said, the service is confident that it is in a strong position to react should it find itself 
needing to reduce expenditure in order to balance the budget in future years.  The service is 
currently spending well within its 2020/21 approved budget and reserves are sufficient to allow a 
period of transition should changes in service delivery models be required.  The service is about to 
embark on a Fire Cover Review which will identifiy any potential areas where efficiencies can be 
made should this be required moving forward.

The service will continue to plan for Brexit.  Many of the risks and plans to mitigate these risks have 
already been identified and put in place.  These will be monitored and reviewed going forward.

In 2021 we will carry out a comprehensive fire risk assessment of Nottinghamshire.  This data will 
help us ensure that we are allocating our resources to meet the foreseeable risks within our 
communities.  This will enable us to provide an efficient and effective response to help create safer 
communities.  Any changes in risk will influence the strategic direction of the service and will impact 
on budget development in future years.

Becky Smeathers CPFA
Treasurer to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority   

Page 80



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

17

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

The Authority's Responsibilities

The Authority is required to:
i) make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 

secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs. In this Authority, that officer is the Treasurer;

ii) manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets;

iii) approve the Statement of Accounts. 

The Treasurer's Responsibilities

The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA / LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Treasurer has:
i) selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
ii) made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;
iii) complied with the local authority Code.

The Treasurer has also:
i) kept proper accounting records which were up to date;
ii) taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities.

The Treasurer to the Authority is Mrs Becky Smeathers.

This Statement of Accounts is that upon which the auditor should enter his opinion and certificate.  
It presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at 31 March 2020 and its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended.

This Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue on  28th August 2020  by the Treasurer to the 
Authority.  This is the date up to which events have been considered for recognition in the 
Statement of Accounts.

Signed

Becky Smeathers CPFA
(Treasurer)

Dated   

Page 81



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

STATEMENT OF APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS

18

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

I confirm that these accounts were approved by the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire
Authority at the meeting held on the 26th February 2021.

Signed on behalf of the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority.

Signed

(Chair of the Fire Authority)

Dated   

Page 82



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NOTTINGHAMSHIRE
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

19

Page 83



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

20

Page 84



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

21

Page 85



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

INTRODUCTION TO THE CORE STATEMENTS

22

Movement in Reserves Statement - Page 24

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority, 
analysed into 'usable reserves' (ie those that can not be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local 
taxation) and 'other reserves'. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the 
true economic cost of providing the Authority's services, more details of which are shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts 
required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes. The Net 
Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund 
Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the 
Authority.

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - Page  27

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different 
from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

IAS 1 requires that where the Statement includes amounts  in "Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure" which will not be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the  Provision of 
Service as well as amounts which will be, then these  two types of transactions should be shown 
separately on the face of the Statement. The Authority does not have transactions which will be 
reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the provision of Services, so the items in  
"Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure" have not been separated in this way.

Balance Sheet - Page 27

The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority as at the 
Balance Sheet date. The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the 
reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of 
reserves are usable reserves, ie those reserves that the Authority may use to provide services, 
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use 
(for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or 
repay debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Authority is not able to use to provide 
services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for 
example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services 
if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement line 'Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations' .

Cash Flow Statement - Page 29

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during 
the reporting period. The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of 
net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations 
of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services 
provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been 
made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s future service delivery. Cash 
flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers 
of capital (ie borrowing) to the Authority.

Page 86



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

23

Expenditure and Funding Analysis - Page 26

Whilst not a core statement, the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) demonstrates the 
relationship between the suplus or deficit on the provision of services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and the movement in the general fund balance shown in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. The EFA shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 
resources (government grants, council tax and business rates)  by the Authority in comparison with 
those resources consumed or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes 
between the Authority's services and departments. Income and expenditure accounted for under 
generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and 

Page 87



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Movement in Reserves during 2018/19
General Fund           

Balance                              
£000

Earmarked 
Reserves           

£000

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve            

£000

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied            
£000

Total Usable 
Reserves          

£000

Unusable 
Reserves             

£000

Total 
Authority 
Reserves            

£000

Balance at 31 March 2018 carried forward 6,953 5,156 0 347 12,456 (473,374) (460,918)

Movement in reserves during 2018/19

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(35,883) 0 0 0 (35,883) (21,379) (57,262)

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 
basis under regulations (Note 10) 34,114 0 0 0 34,114 (34,114) 0

Increase or Decrease in 18/19 beforeTransfers to 
Earmarked Reserves (1,769) 0 0 0 (1,769) (55,493) (57,262)

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (Note 11) 393 (393) 0 0 0 0 0

Increase/(Decrease) in 2018/19 (1,376) (393) 0 0 (1,769) (55,493) (57,262)

Balance at 31 March 2019 carried forward 5,577 4,763 0 347 10,687 (528,867) (518,180)

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

24

P
age 88



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Movement in Reserves during 2019/20
General Fund           

Balance                              
£000

Earmarked 
Reserves           

£000

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve            

£000

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied            
£000

Total Usable 
Reserves          

£000

Unusable 
Reserves             

£000

Total 
Authority 
Reserves            

£000

Balance at 31 March 2019 carried forward 5,576 4,763 0 347 10,686 (528,867) (518,181)

Movement in Reserves during 2019/20

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(14,029) 0 0 (14,029) 23,675 9,646

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 
basis under regulations (Note 10) 13,440 0 0 13,440 (13,440) 0

Increase or Decrease in 2019/20 beforeTransfers 
to Earmarked Reserves (589) 0 0 0 (589) 10,235 9,646

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (Note 11) 2 (2) 0 0 0 0 0

Increase/(Decrease) in 2019/20 (587) (2) 0 0 (589) 10,235 9,646

Balance at 31 March 2020 carried forward 4,989 4,761 0 347 10,097 (518,632) (508,535)

25

P
age 89



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis *

Net expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis *

Net expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
22,739 (4,596) 27,335 Firefighting and Rescue 24,431 (2,638) 27,069

1,780 (261) 2,041 Community Safety 1,878 (168) 2,046
1,253 (203) 1,456 Fire Protection 1,420 (139) 1,559

301 (113) 414 Resilience (149) (3) (146)
Corporate and Centralised Services:

3,608 (845) 4,453 Estates and Procurement 3,824 (1,230) 5,054
1,175 (172) 1,347 Equipment 3,009 (922) 3,931
3,681 (625) 4,306 People and Organisational Development 3,283 (246) 3,529
1,066 (63) 1,129 Finance 942 (41) 983
2,524 (487) 3,011 ICT 2,760 (540) 3,300
1,210 (227) 1,437 Transport 0 0 0
3,370 (24,476) 27,846 Other 3,267 (3,535) 6,802

42,707 (32,068) 74,775 Net Cost of Services 44,665 (9,462) 54,127
(40,938) (2,046) (38,892) Other Income and Expenditure (44,076) (3,978) (40,098)

1,769 (34,114) 35,883 (Surplus) or Deficit 589 (13,440) 14,029
(6,953) Opening General Fund Balance (5,577)

1,769
Less/Plus (Surplus) or Deficit on General 
Fund Balance in Year

589

(393)
Less/Plus Net Transfers to/(from) Earmarked 
Reserves

(2)

0
Re-allocation of General Fund to earmarked 
reserves

0

(5,577) Closing General Fund Balance (4,990)

2
6

EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

2018/19 2019/20

P
age 90



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure

Notes
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross 

Income
Net 

Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

27,843 (508) 27,335 Firefighting and Rescue 27,558 (489) 27,069
2,039 3 2,042 Community Safety 2,091 (45) 2,046
1,462 (5) 1,457 Fire Protection 1,564 (5) 1,559

775 (362) 413 Resilience 209 (355) (146)
Corporate and Centralised Services:

4,659 (206) 4,453 Estates and Procurement 5,370 (316) 5,054
1,347 0 1,347 Equipment 4,212 (281) 3,931
4,328 (22) 4,306 People and Organisational Development 3,552 (23) 3,529
1,240 (111) 1,129 Finance 1,045 (62) 983
3,018 (8) 3,010 ICT 3,304 (4) 3,300
1,494 (57) 1,437 Transport 0 0 0

27,886 (40) 27,846 Other 7,314 (512) 6,802
76,091 (1,316) 74,775 Cost of Services 56,219 (2,092) 54,127

0 (42) (42) Other Operating Expenditure 12 54 0 54
13,944 (81) 13,863 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 13 14,390 (114) 14,276

0 (52,713) (52,713) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 14 0 (54,428) (54,428)
90,035 (54,152) 35,883 Surplus (-) or Deficit on Provision of Services 70,663 (56,634) 14,029

(4,908)
Surplus or deficit on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment assets

(1,676)

0
Impairment Losses on Non-Current Assets Charged 
to Revaluation Reserve 0

26,287
Remeasurements on the net defined benefit pension 
liability

(21,999)

21,379 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (23,675)
57,262 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (9,646)

In 2019/20 Transport and Equipment were merged into one section

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

2018/19 2019/20

2
7

P
age 91



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

31 March 31 March
2019 Notes 2020

£000 £000
Property, Plant & Equipment

56,995  - Land and Buildings 15 56,555
7,460  - Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 15 6,953

93  - Assets Under Construction 15 121
31 Surplus Assets 15 790

1,105 Intangible Assets 16 727
181 Intangible Assets Under Construction 16 124

0 Long Term Debtors 19 318
65,865 TOTAL LONG TERM ASSETS 65,588

5,442 Short Term Investments 17 4,466
279 Inventories 18 293

6,134 Short Term Debtors 19 5,818
7,020 Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 6,272

18,875 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 16,849

(4,117) Short Term Borrowings 17 (1,581)
(3,128) Short Term Creditors 22 (3,744)
(1,285) Short Term Provisions 23 (622)

(25) Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue 34 (82)
(8,555) TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES (6,029)

(30) Long Term Provisions 23 (10)
(25,512) Long Term Borrowing 17 (26,958)

(83) Long Term Creditors 22 (182)
(568,740) Pensions Liability 39 (557,793)
(594,365) TOTAL LONG TERM LIABILITIES (584,943)

(518,180) TOTAL NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (508,535)

Usable Reserves
5,576  - General Fund Balance 24 4,989
4,763  - Earmarked Reserves 24 4,761

0  - Capital Receipts Reserve 24 0
347  - Capital Grants Unapplied 24 347

Unusable Reserves
18,711  - Capital Adjustment Account 25 16,687
21,339  - Revaluation Reserve 25 22,489

(568,940)  - Pension Reserve 25 (557,793)
0  - Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 25 0

232  - Collection Fund Adjustment Account 25 191
(209)  - Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 25 (206)

(518,181) TOTAL RESERVES (508,535)

28

BALANCE SHEET

Page 92



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

35,883 Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 14,029

(35,890)
Adjustment to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non-Cash 
Movements

(15,196)

116
Adjust for Items Included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services that are Investing and Financing Activities

15

109 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Note 26) (1,152)

(665) Investing Activities (Note 27) 771

(4,459) Financing Activities (Note 28 1,130

(5,015) Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 749

(2,005) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Reporting Period (7,020)

(7,020) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period (Note 20) (6,271)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

29
Page 93



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Note No: Note: Page No:

1 Accounting Policies 31
2 Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 47
3 Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 47

4 48

5 Material Items of Income and Expense 49
6 Events After the Balance Sheet Date 49
7 Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 50
8 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 51
9 Revenue from Contract arising with Service Recipients 52

10 53

11 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 55
12 Other Operating Expenditure 56
13 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 56
14 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 56
15 Property, Plant and Equipment 57
16 Intangible Assets 60
17 Financial Instruments 61
18 Inventories 67
19 Debtors 67
20 Cash and Cash Equivalents 67
21 Assets Held for Sale 68
22 Creditors 68
23 Provisions 69
24 Usable Reserves 70
25 Unusable Reserves 72
26 Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities 76
27 Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities 77
28 Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities 77
29 Reconciliation of Liabilities arising from Financing Activities 78
30 Pooled Budgets 79
31 Members' Allowances 79
32 Officers' Remuneration 80
33 External Audit Costs 82
34 Grant Income 82
35 Related Parties 83
36 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 86
37 Leases 87
38 Termination Benefits 87
39 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 88
40 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 99

41 100

42 Interests in Companies 105

30

INDEX OF NOTES TO THE CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

Assumptions Made about the Future and other Major 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
under Regulations

Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial 
Instruments

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

Page 94



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

NOTES TO THE CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

31

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fire Authority’s transactions for the 2019/20 financial 
year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2020.  The Authority is required to prepare an 
annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which those 
regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices 
primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2019/20 (the Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2019/20 supported by International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The accounting convention adopted is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of non current assets and financial instruments. All figures in the Statement have 
been rounded to the nearest £1k, which may result in some discrepencies due to roundings.

Going Concern

The concept of a going concern assumes that the functions of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue will 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The provisions in the Code (CODE OF 
PRACTICE ON LOCAL AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING IN THE UNITED KINGDOM 2019/20) in 
respect of going concern reporting requirements reflect the economic and statutory environment in 
which Fire and Rescue services operate. These provisions confirm that, as Fire and Rescue services 
cannot be created or dissolved without statutory prescription, they must prepare their financial 
statements on a going concern basis of accounting.

Fire and Rescue services carry out functions essential to the local community and are themselves 
revenue-raising bodies (with limits on their revenue-raising powers arising only at the discretion of 
central government). If a Fire authority were in financial difficulty, the prospects are thus that 
alternative arrangements might be made by central government either for the continuation of the 
functions it provides or for assistance with the recovery of a deficit over more than one financial year. 
As a result of this, it would not therefore be appropriate for the financial statements to be provided on 
anything other than a going concern basis. The Statement of Accounts drawn up under the Code 
therefore assume that a Fire authority will continue to operate for the foreseeable future.

As at the end of October 2020, the cost of COVID-19 stood at £643k, against which savings of £10k 
can be offset.  The financial effect of the pandemic is monitored closely, and cost projections are 
supplied monthly to the Home Office. These net costs have been funded by the additional grant 
funding of £1.058m received from central government. It is anticipated the majority of this grant 
funding will remain in 2020/21 and will therefore support future years.  

The additional costs have been incurred in supporting the community with medical deliveries, 
providing drivers for East Midlands Ambulance Service, additional ICT to enable remote working and 
additional PPE and cleaning supplies.  The Fire and Rescue service has not incurred the significant 
costs of other public sector service, neither has it been affected by loss of income from trading or 
commercial activity.  The majority of costs incurred, excluding PPE and cleaning, are expected to be 
one off and not create an ongoing burden on finances.  Whilst costs of PPE and cleaning will 
continue to be incurred, there is no expectation that these will cause concerns with regard to ongoing 
financial viability.

The service recognises there is uncertainty over the longer term impact of Covid-19 resulting from a 
reduction in Council Tax and Business Rates funding. Councils are anticipating a potential deficit in 
the region of £560k on the Collection Fund due to reduced collection rates and a decrease to the tax 

Page 95



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

32

However, this will not affect the service’s income in 2020/21. Under normal circumstances, any 
deficit arising on the Collection Fund would be declared during 2020/21 and funded in 2021/22. 
However, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has announced a 
phasing scheme that allows deficits arising in 2020/21 to be repaid over 3 years rather than 1, 
smoothing the impact across 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. Furthermore, the Government 
announced in the Comprehensive Spending Review in November that they will provide grant to 
cover 75% of the Collection Fund deficit.

Fire Authority approved its Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2021/22 to 2024/25 in 
November 2020.  This explored a number of financial scenarios which demonstrate that the service 
has long term sustainability with sufficient reserves to manage any short term deficits.  The budget 
will be updated as better estimates become available and the final budget position and council tax 
levels will be approved by Fire Authority in February 2021.   

Current forecasting and activity indicate an underspend in 2020/21 which will be transferred to 
reserves at year end.  This underspend will be used to strengthen reserves to cover any temporary 
deficit in 2021/22.  Reserve balances are forecast to increase to £11.0m by March 2021.

Based upon the latest assumptions cash flow forecasts have been prepared out to the end of March 
2022 which indicate the service will maintain a strong cash position.

Based on our assessment of the financial and liquidity position of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 
Service following the Covid-19 outbreak, there are no material uncertainties or concerns on the 
basis of preparing the 2019/20 financial statements or on the ability to continue to operate as a 
going concern for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.

Accruals of Expenditure and Income

Activity is  accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. This is known as the accruals basis. In particular:

a) Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Some supplies are carried as 
Inventories on the balance sheet, where they are held in Stores prior to being distributed and 
used.

b) Where goods are supplied to or by the Fire Authority in the financial year, but payment does 
not occur until the following financial year, a Short Term Creditor or Short Term Debtor for the 
relevant amount is shown on the Balance Sheet. Exceptions are made to this policy for certain 
recurring items that cover a specific period, e.g. quarterly energy bills. These items are brought 
into the accounts in the year they are paid and are not apportioned over the years to which 
they relate. 

c) Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 
made. However, due to a policy change which came into effect on 1 April 2017 an exception is 
now made to this policy for overtime payments and payments claimed in arrears by retained 
duty system staff. This expenditure is recognised in the year it is paid rather than the year in 
which the work was carried out. 

d) Fees and charges due from customers are recognised as income at the date the Fire Authority 
provides the relevant services. Debts outstanding at the year end are assessed for evidence of 
uncollectability based on past events and a charge is made to revenue where the total value of 
debts for which there is evidence of impairment exceeds a £5,000 de minimis threshold. The 
impairment is assessed using the Expected Credit Loss Model. This model uses a provision 
matrix and calculates a fixed provision rate based on the number of days that a receivable is 
past due, assessed on the basis of historical experience from the previous five years and 
adjusted (if necessary) to reflect current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 

Page 96



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

33

Impairment loss allowances are not recognised for debts where the counterparty is central 
government or a local authority, as statutory provisions prevent default. This policy applies to 
debts from unpaid fees and charges – council tax debtors are subject to a different policy (see 
below).

e) Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of 
the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than on the basis of cash 
flows determined by the contract. 

Allocation of Support Service Costs

Support services are provided primarily by the Authority itself although some are purchased directly 
from the constituent authorities. The provision of a Clerk to the Authority is purchased from 
Nottingham City Council and some limited financial services are provided by Nottinghamshire 
County Council and Leicestershire County Council.  

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with 
the Authority's arrangements for accountability and financial performance.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds to finance the 
acquisition, creation or enhancement of non current assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable
without penalty on notice of not more than twenty four hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management.

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities
also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not
probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot
be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in 
a note to the accounts.

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent assets are not recognised in 
the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an 
inflow of economic benefits or service potential.

Council Tax Income and Non Domestic Rates

Council tax and non domestic rates are collected from taxpayers by billing authorities both for 
themselves and substantively as agents, collecting council tax and non domestic rates on behalf of 

Page 97



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

34

This authority is a precepting authority, and council tax and non domestic rates income included in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the accrued income for the year. The 
difference between the income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account on the Balance Sheet and shown within the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.
Billing authorities prepare a Collection Fund balance sheet for council tax and non domestic rates 
activities, which is disaggregated and shared between the billing authority and its precepting 
authorities. This Authority’s Balance Sheet contains the following items:

a) Council tax and non domestic rates arrears apportioned in relation to the following 
year’s precept proportions are included as Short Term Debtors

b) Impairment allowance for doubtful debts apportioned as for council tax and non 
domestic rates arrears and deducted from council tax and non domestic rates 
arrears debtors

c) Council tax and non domestic rates overpayments and prepayments apportioned 
in relation to the following year’s precept proportions are included as Short Term 
Creditors

d) Collection Fund surplus / deficit – the reversing entry to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Account adjustment is included in the Collection Fund 
Adjustment Account

e) Collection Fund cash surplus / deficit held on the authority’s behalf by the billing 
authority is included in Short Term Debtors or Short Term Creditors    

Employee Benefits

Benefits Payable During Employment

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.
They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave,
bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as
an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the Authority. An
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu)
earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward
into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in
the following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The
accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out
through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue
in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service when the Authority 
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits. Where termination benefits involve the 
enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with 
the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 
credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid 
to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.

Page 98



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

35

Post Employment Benefits

Participation in Pension Schemes

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the Authority 
offers retirement benefits. Although these benefits are not actually payable until the employees 
retire, the Authority has a commitment to make these payments in the future. This commitment 
needs to be disclosed at the time that the employees earn their future entitlement.

The Authority participates in five pension schemes, all of which are defined benefit schemes: 
• The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is for administrative, support and Control 

employees and is administered by Nottinghamshire County Council. This is a funded scheme, 
which means that contributions are paid into a fund with the intention of balancing pension 
liabilities with pension assets.

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 has been closed to new entrants since 6 April 2006. Its 
members are wholetime firefighters. It is an unfunded pension scheme, meaning that there are no 
investment assets to meet the cost of pension liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet 
pension payments as they fall due. The cost of the scheme is met from contributions paid by 
employees and the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up grant 
from the Home Office. Any surplus funding is paid over to the Home Office.

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 is also an unfunded pension scheme. This scheme came 
into being with effect from April 2006 and its members are retained firefighters and wholetime 
firefighters. Like the 1992 Scheme, the cost of the scheme is met from contributions paid by 
employees and the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up grant 
from the Home Office and any surplus being paid over to them. The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 
(England)(Amendment) Order 2014 introduced a new modified version of the 2006 Scheme 
which is available to individuals who were employed as retained firefighters during the period 1 
July 2000 to 5 April 2006. The modified version of the scheme has different benefits to the main 
2006 Scheme. The 2006 Scheme has been closed to new entrants since April 2015.

• The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015 came into effect on 1 April 2015. Like the 2006 and 1992 
Schemes, the cost of the scheme is met from contributions paid by employees and the Authority, 
with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up grant from the Home Office and any 
surplus being paid over to them. Unlike the other firefighters' schemes, it is a career average 
rather than a final salary scheme. Its members are retained firefighters and wholetime firefighters 
who were first appointed by an English fire and rescue  authority on or after 1 April 2015, and 
firefighters who were transferred from the 1992 or 2006 Schemes.

• The Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme (England) Order 2006 makes provision for the payment 
of pensions, allowances and gratuities to and in respect of persons who die or are permanently 
disabled as a result of an injury sustained or disease contracted while employed by a fire and 
rescue authority. The Firefighter Compensation Scheme (FFCS) is treated as an unfunded 
defined benefit scheme. The cost of this scheme is met by the Authority.

The arrangements for the three Firefighters’ pension schemes and the Firefighters’ Compensation 
Scheme are determined by the Home Office. In order to identify the amount of top-up grant 
receivable from / surplus payable to the Home Office the Authority is required to produce separate 
Pension Fund Statements for the firefighters’ pension schemes. Additional accounting policies can 
be found in the notes to these statements.

The Authority is required by the CIPFA Code of Practice to account for pensions in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19). One of the objectives of IAS 19 is 
to ensure that an employer’s financial statements reflect a liability when employees have provided 
services in exchange for benefits to be paid in the future.

Page 99



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

36

Discretionary Benefits

All five pension schemes are accounted for as defined benefit schemes:
The liabilities of the LGPS and the firefighters' schemes are included in the Balance Sheet on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method - i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will 
be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date be employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates etc, and estimates of projected 
earnings for current employees.

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using discount rates of 2.4% and 2.4% 
for the LGPS and firefighters' schemes respectively. The discount rates for all schemes are 
based on the yields of AA-rated corporate bonds of currency and term appropriate to the 
currency and term of the scheme's liabilities.

• The assets of the LGPS pension fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance 
Sheet at their fair value:

• quoted securities - current bid price
• unquoted securities - professional estimate
• property - market value

• The change  in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:
• Service cost comprising:

 Current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 
earned this year. This is allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the services for which the employee worked.

 Past service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment 
or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earler years. This 
is debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the net interest expense for the 
Authority - the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability that arises from 
the passage of time. This is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Remeasurements comprising:
 The return on plan assets - excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability. This is charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

 Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation, or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions. This is 
charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Contributions paid to the pension fund - cash paid as employer's contributions to the 
pension funds in settlement of liabilities.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in 
the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with 
debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but 
unpaid at the year end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement 
benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Further detail on post employment benefits accounting policies is given in note 39 to the core 
financial statements.

Page 100



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

37

Discretionary Benefits

The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award
to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for 
using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

Events after the Reporting Period

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts
is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
a) those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period –
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
b) those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect.
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement
of Accounts.

Exceptional Items

When items of income or expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, 
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the 
accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Authority’s financial 
performance.

Financial Instruments 

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and carried at 
their amortised cost. The amortised cost will include any interest accrued and not paid as at the 
Balance Sheet date. Where the transaction costs of borrowing are immaterial and there is no 
premium or discount on borrowing and the interest rate is fixed for the loan term, then the actual 
interest rate has been used to calculate interest payable as this is the same as the effective interest 
rate. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.

Page 101



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

38

Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects 
the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics. There are 
three main classes of financial assets measured at:
• Amortised cost
• Fair value through profit or loss
• Fair value through other comprehensive income
The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial 
assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments are 
not solely payment of principal of interest (i.e. where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic 
debt instrument).
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 
Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. 

Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount 
of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial 
assets held by the authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the 
amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

Expected Credit Loss Model
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost, 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The recognition of an impairment in the CIES is subject to a 
collective de minimis threshold of £10k. The expected credit loss model also applies to lease 
receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) 
held by the Authority. 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take 
place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in 
assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially 
recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or 
remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. Impairment loss 
allowances are not recognised for expected credit losses on a financial assets where the 
counterparty is central government or a local authority for which relevant statutory provisions 
prevent default.

Government Grants and Contributions (Revenue) 

Grants and contributions relating to revenue expenditure are accounted for on an accruals basis, 
when there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be received, and they are 
recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, 
except to the extent that the grant or contribution has a condition that the Authority has not satisfied. 

A condition requires the grant funder or donor to have a right to the return of their monies (or asset 
or similar equivalent compensation) if the Authority fails to meet a stipulation under the terms of the 
transfer. If there are conditions attached to grants and contributions: 

where there is no reasonable assurance that the conditions will be met, the grant or 
contribution received is recorded in Cash and held on the Balance Sheet as a Creditor.

where there is reasonable assurance that the conditions will be met but this has not yet 
occurred, the grant or contribution is held in the Grants Receipts in Advance account as a 
liability on the Balance Sheet and recorded in Cash (if received) or Debtors (if receivable). 
When the conditions have been satisfied, the income will be credited to the Comprehensive 

Page 102



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

39

Revenue grants are matched in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement with the 
service expenditure to which they relate. Grants to cover general expenditure (e.g. Revenue Support 
Grant) are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific grant income within the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

Government Grants and Contributions (Capital) 

Grants and contributions relating to capital expenditure are accounted for on an accruals basis, when 
there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be received, and they are recognised 
immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, except to the 
extent that the grant or contribution has a condition that the Authority has not satisfied. 

A condition requires the grant funder or donor to have a right to the return of their monies (or asset or 
similar equivalent compensation) if the Authority fails to meet a stipulation under the terms of the 
transfer. If there are conditions attached to grants and contributions: 

• where a capital grant or contribution has been received and conditions remain outstanding 
at the Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is recorded in Cash and held in the 
Capital Grants Receipts in Advance account as a liability on the Balance Sheet.    When 
the conditions have been satisfied, the income will be credited to Taxation and Non-
Specific Grant Income within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

• where no conditions remain outstanding and expenditure has been incurred, the grant or 
contribution is transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account to 
reflect the application of capital resources to finance expenditure. This transfer is reported 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

• where no conditions remain outstanding and expenditure has not yet been been incurred, 
the grant or contribution is transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account to reflect its 
status as a capital resource available to finance expenditure. This transfer is reported in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When, at a future date, the expenditure to be 
financed is incurred the grant or contribution is transferred from the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Account to the Capital Adjustment Account to reflect the application of capital 
resources to finance expenditure. This transfer is reported in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

Inventories (Stocks)

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost 
of inventories is assigned using the First In, First Out (FIFO) costing formula.

Page 103



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

40

Leases

Finance Leases (the Authority as Lessee)

The Fire Authority accounts for leases as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and 
rewards relating to the leased asset transfer to the Authority. Property, plant and equipment held 
under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its 
fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if 
lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct 
costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset. 
Lease rentals payable are apportioned between:

A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset (recognised as a liability in the balance sheet 
at the start of the lease, matched with a tangible fixed asset – the liability is written down as the rent 
becomes payable) and

A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the rent becomes payable).

Non current assets recognised under finance leases are accounted for using the policies generally 
applied to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter 
than the asset’s estimated useful life. Finance charges are accounted for on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease. 

Operating Leases (the Authority as Lessee)

Leases that do not meet the definition of finance leases are accounted for as operating leases. 
Rentals payable are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease (unless the arrangement specifies a rental pattern 
which is not straight line, in which case this will be disclosed).
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in 
return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of specific assets, and where the costs are material.

Operating Leases (the Authority as Lessor)

Income from operating leases is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, with the exception of the lease relating 
to the property at Clifton. In this instance, as the annual payments vary, the income is recognised 
based on the specific cash flows as notated in the lease agreement.

Non Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment

Non current assets which have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services 
or for administrative purposes on a continuing basis are classified as Property, Plant and 
Equipment.

Recognition

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it yields benefits for more than one financial year. 
Expenditure on repairs and maintenance is charged as an expense when it is incurred.

Page 104



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

41

Measurement

The value of assets shown is subject to a £30,000 de minimis level. Assets with a value less than 
£30,000 will, however, be capitalised if they form part of a larger asset  e.g. a piece of IT equipment 
which forms part of the IT infrastructure.

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price plus all expenditure directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition for its intended use. Donated assets 
are measured initially at fair value with the difference between fair value and any consideration paid 
being credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made conditionally. Until conditions are 
satisfied, the gain is held on the Balance Sheet in the Donated Assets Account. Where gains are 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Assets are then carried in the balance sheet using the following measurement bases:

Land and Buildings
These assets are classified as either operational or non operational and valued at current 
value in existing use, which is deemed to be the amount that would be paid for the asset in 
its existing use in an arm's-length transaction and disregarding potantial alternative uses 
(Existing Use Value - EUV). Specialised, operational assets (e.g. Fire Stations) and 
specialised, non operational assests are valued at Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
which  is a proxy for EUV and recognises that for specialised assets there is no market 
based evidence of fair value.  Surplus assets are valued at Fair Value under IFRS. Non 
operational assets under construction are valued at historical cost. All assets are revalued 
every 5 years on a rolling basis by the Nottingham Valuation Office, or more 
if there have been material changes in value.  All buildings are revalued subsequent to major 
refurbishment works being completed.

Furniture and Fittings
Furniture and fittings which form part of major refurbishments are classed as non current 
assets and are shown in the balance sheet at depreciated historic cost.

Vehicles and Plant
Vehicles and plant are classified as non current assets and are shown at a value which 
represents cost less depreciation charged on a straight line basis over the length of their 
useful lives.

All other Assets
All other assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at a valuation which represents their cost 
less depreciation charged on a straight line basis over the length of their useful lives.

Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised 
gains (although see section below: Revaluation and Impairment Losses). Where decreases in value  
and impairments are identified, they are accounted for by:

a) Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains).

b) where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the
date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into
the Capital Adjustment Account.

Page 105



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

42

Charges to Revenue for Non Current Assets 

Services and support services are charged annually with the following amounts to record the real 
cost to the Authority of holding non current assets during the year:

a) depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service.

b) revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service, where there are  
insufficient accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve balance for that asset 
against which the losses can be written off.

c) amortisation of intangible non current assets attributable to the service.

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover these charges. It is, however, required to 
make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement. 
This is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and the Authority’s policy is to charge an 
amount of MRP equal to 4% of the Capital Financing Requirement relating to assets purchased on or 
before 31 March 2007 plus an amount of MRP calculated on the basis of asset lives relating to 
assets purchased on or after 1 April 2007. The charges listed in a) to c) above are replaced by a 
Minimum Revenue Provision charge, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment 
Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation is provided for on non current assets with a determinable finite life by allocating the 
value of the asset in the Balance Sheet over the periods expected to benefit from their use.

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:
 Buildings: straight line allocation over the remaining useful life as estimated by the Valuation 

Office 
 IT and Communications Equipment: straight line allocation over estimated remaining useful life
 Land, assets under construction and assets held for sale: not depreciated
 Fire Appliances: straight line allocation over the estimated useful life
 Furniture and Fittings: 20% of the balance at the beginning of the financial year
 Intangible Non Current Assets (software): amortisation equal to straight line allocation over the 

useful life.

Part year depreciation is charged from the start of the month of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
The de minimis threshold for componentisation is a current net book value of £150k -
individual assets with a value of less than £150k will be disregarded for componentisation. To 
be separately identified as a component, an element of an asset must meet the following 
criteria:

 have a cost of at least 20% of the cost of the overall asset and
 have a materially different useful life (at least 20% different) and/or
 have a different depreciation method that materially affects the amount charged

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been 
chargeable based on their historic cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Page 106



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

43

Revaluation and Impairment Losses

Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is decreased as a result of a 
revaluation, the decrease is recognised in the Revaluation Reserve up to the credit balance existing in 
respect of that asset and thereafter in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.

Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is increased as a result of a 
revaluation, any impairment losses for that asset, which have been charged to the Surplus or Deficit on 
Provision of Services in previous years, shall be reversed in the current year as a credit to the Surplus or 
Deficit on Provision of Services. The balance of the revaluation increase is credited to the Revaluation 
Reserve, but this amount represents the difference between the revalued amount and what the carrying 
amount net of depreciation would have been if no impairment loss had occurred in previous years. This 
means that the previous impairment loss reversal may not reverse the full amount of the loss.

Disposals and Non Current Assets Held for Sale

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset
Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried
at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent
decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are
recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit
on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale,
and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the balance sheet is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Amounts received from disposals are credited to 
the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve, which will then be used for new capital investment or set 
aside to reduce the borrowing requirement. Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Any accumulated balance of gains 
in the Revaluation Reserve, relating to an asset which has been disposed of, are written out to the 
Capital Adjustment Account.

When an existing building is demolished and replaced with a new build, the existing building would 
be treated as a disposal, the new building being added to Assets Under Construction at cost and 
then moved to Operational Buildings and revalued at Fair Value from the date it becomes 
operational.

Page 107



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

44

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts
are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the
Movement in Reserves Statement

Donated Assets

Donated assets are defined as assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. 
Donated assets from other public bodies which meet the definition of “government” in IAS 20 are 
accounted for as a government grant.

Donated assets are recognised immediately on receipt as Property, Plant and Equipment and are 
valued at fair value, which in this case is the amount for which the asset could be exchanged 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. The gain to the Authority on 
receipt of the asset is recognised as income in the relevant service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The exception to this is to the extent that the Authority has not 
met any conditions attached to the donated asset, the gain relating to the asset is recognised in the 
Donated Assets Account on the Balance Sheet. The income will subsequently be recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the conditions of donation have been 
satisfied.

After initial recognition, donated assets are measured in accordance with the accounting policies for 
Property, Plant and Equipment.

Re-classification of Assets Under Construction to Operational Assets

Assets under construction which are subsequently identified as being operational will be reclassified 
in the quarter following the date when the asset became operational.

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non financial, non current assets controlled by the Authority which 
do not have physical substance. This Authority has one type of intangible non current asset, which is 
software. Expenditure on the acquisition of intangible non current assets is capitalised on an 
accruals basis, provided that it yields benefits for more than one financial year.

The value of assets capitalised is subject to a £30,000 de minimis level. Assets with a value of less 
than £30,000 will, however, be capitalised if they form part of a larger asset e.g. an ICT project to 
implement a new system with both hardware and software. Where an asset incorporates both 
hardware and software, it will be classified as an intangible asset when the majority of the cost is 
attributable to software – otherwise it will be classified as Equipment within Property, Plant and 
Equipment.

Software is initially measured at cost and subsequently shown in the Balance Sheet at amortised 
historic cost. Amortisation is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account over 
the economic life of the asset. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are charged to the relevant service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Page 108



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

45

Software is initially measured at cost and subsequently shown in the Balance Sheet at amortised 
historic cost. Amortisation is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account over 
the economic life of the asset. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are charged to the relevant service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current 
and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is 
made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and 
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

Provisions

Provisions are made where an event has taken place which gives the Fire Authority an obligation 
that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but where the timing of the 
transfer is uncertain. Provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement when the authority becomes aware of the obligation, based on 
the best estimate of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to 
the provision carried in the balance sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and a provision may then be reversed and credited back to the relevant service if the 
requirement has changed.

Reserves 

The Fire Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year in that year to score against the Cost of Services 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back 
into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 

Two usable reserves are shown on the face of the Balance Sheet. These are:

General Reserve
This reserve is the surplus or deficit of income over expenditure in the 2019/20 financial year,
and the cumulative effect of such surpluses or deficits carried forward from previous years. 
See note 24. 

Earmarked Reserve 
This reserve contains funds built up to meet expected liabilities. The movement of this 
reserve is shown in note 11.

Page 109



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

46

Capital Reserves 
There are four capital related reserves shown in the Balance Sheet.  Of these four 

reserves the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve and the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are cash 
backed; the remaining two are non cash backed.

The Revaluation Reserve
This represents the total of all fixed asset revaluation gains since 1 April 2007, less 
any revaluation losses since 1 April 2007 which have been offset against prior 
revaluation gains for the same asset. 

The Capital Adjustment Account
This account is credited with amounts set aside to finance capital expenditure and 
absorbs any timing differences between the setting aside of resources and 
accounting for depreciation and impairment losses. This reserve was created on 1 
April 2007, replacing the Capital Financing Account. Its opening balance was an 
amalgamation of the closing balances as at 31 March 2007 of the Fixed Asset 
Restatement Account and the Capital Financing Account.

The Usable Capital Receipts Reserve
This reserve is credited with the disposal proceeds when fixed assets are sold. It is 
ring fenced for supporting new capital expenditure or for reducing the underlying 
need to borrow against the capital financing requirement.

The Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve
This reserve is credited with capital grants received, which have yet to be used to 
finance capital expenditure.

Movements on these reserves are shown in notes 24 and 25.

Pensions Reserve 
This reserve represents the full future pensions liabilities at the time that these liabilities are earned 
by employees. An independent actuary assesses the liabilities for pension schemes in which the 
Authority participates, namely the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and the Local Government Pension 
Scheme.

Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account
This reserve absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from 
accruing for accumulated absences earned but not taken in the year.

Collection Fund Adjustment Account
This reserve manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax payers, compared 
with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts due to the General Fund from the billing 
authorities.

Value Added Tax 

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her 
Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

Page 110



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

SM 31/05/2016

47

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED, NOT ADOPTED

The Code of Practice requires the disclosure of the impact of an accounting change arising from a 
new accounting standard which has been issued but not yet adopted by the Code for the relevant 
financial year.

There are a number of new standards introduced in the 2019/20 Code of Practice:

• Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property (issued 
December 2016)

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle (December 2016). The 
amendments that may apply to local authorities include:

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the Scope of the 
Standard

• IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Measuring an Associate or Joint 
Venture at Fair Value

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (issued December 2016)
• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (issued June 2017)
• Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments : Prepayment Features with Negative 

Compensation (issued October 2017).

None of these changes would impact significantly on the Authority's accounts for 2019/20.

A new accounting standard covering leases, IFRS 16 - Leases, is expected to be adopted in the 
2020/21 Code. This new standard will bring almost all leases onto an entitiy's balance sheet. As a 
result, some contractual payments that the Authority currently recognises as revenue expenditure 
could instead be recognised as an asset with a corresponding lease liability.

3.     CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Authority has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:

The Government will provided indicative settlement figures for future years as part of the funding 
settlement in late 2020.  There remains the possibility that funding for local government 
organisations will be further reduced. Despite this there is no indication that the assets of the 
Authority might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service 
provision. The Authority has a balanced budget for 2020/21 and is anticipating to contain spend 
ing within this budget. The Authority is in a strong financial position to allow it to properly plan for 
any reductions in budgets over the next three years should this be required.

The Authority has valued its Fire Stations at depreciated replacement cost, as there is no market 
based evidence of fair value due to the specialised nature of the assets.

Page 111



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Property, Plant 
and Equipment

Pensions Liability

48

Uncertainties
Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

Assumptions
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and 
expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm 
of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide 
the Authority with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pensions liability of 
changes in individual assumptions can be 
measured. A sensitivity analysis showing the 
impacts of changes in the discount rates 
used is included in note 39

Item

Item Uncertainties
Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

Assumptions
Assets are depreciated over useful lives that 
are dependent on assumptions about the level 
of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred 
in relation to individual assets. The
current economic climate makes it uncertain 
that the Authority will be able to sustain its 
current spending on repairs and maintenance, 
bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned to 
assets.

If the useful life of assets is reduced, 
depreciation increases and the carrying 
amount of the assets falls.                                                            
It is estimated that the annual depreciation 
charge for buildings would increase by £92k 
for every year that useful lives had to be 
reduced.

4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by
the Authority about the future or that which are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking
into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because
balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the
assumptions and estimates.

The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2020 for which there is a significant risk of
material adjustment in the forthcoming year are as follows:

This list does not include assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value based on a recently
observed market price.

Page 112



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

3,532 4,024

(116) (15)

Income or 
Expense

Expense
Depreciation and Amortisation of 
Non Current Assets

Description of Item

Income

49

Capital Receipt 
Reversal of unused provision for 
firefighters' pay award Income 0(183)

5. MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE

Within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are a number of material 
items of income and expense in Net Cost of Services which are not disclosed separately. 
These are as follows:

6. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Treasurer to the Authority on 28 
August 2020. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements 
or notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions 
existing at 31 March 2020, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been 
adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.

On 27 June 2019 the Supreme Court denied the Government's request for permission to 
appeal against the Court of Appeal's decision in the cases of McCloud and Sargeant, 
regarding age discrimination and transitional protection arrangements in the New Judges 
Pension Scheme and New Firefighters' Pension Scheme. In response to this judgement HM 
Treasury issued a consultation document in order to remove the unlawful descrimination 
identified by the Court of Appeal. Although these two cases related specifically to the judicial 
and firefighters' pension schemes, similar transitional arrangements were agreed in relation to 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The impact of the remedy has been 
estimated in the Accounts assuming that the arrangements outlined in the consultation 
document are adopted.  There may be additional changes to liabilities arising on both the 
LGPS and the Firefighter pension schemes once the remedy is finalised. 

As at 31 December 2019 China had alerted the World Health Organisation (WHO) of several 
cases of an unusual form of pneumonia occurring in Wuhan. Following this and a substantial 
increase in infections, on 11th March 2020 the WHO declared the severe acute respiratory 
syndrome coronavirus (Covid-19) a pandemic. The number of infections within the UK 
increased during March 2020 and by late March the Government had declared a shutdown 
which impacted almost all UK operations in an unprecedented manner.

The financial and social outcomes of this are not yet fully understood, however, it is 
anticipated that the condition will exist for the short to medium future and that it will have a 
significant impact upon the UK and global economy. 

Pension Fund and asset valuations as at 31 March 2020 have been calculated in accordance 
with information available as at 28 August 2020.  In 2019/20 and 2020/21, funding of £1.058m 
has been received by the Authority to meet the additional costs of Covid-19.  At this point in 
time it is envisaged costs will fall within this envelope.

Page 113



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis  2019/20

Adjustment 
for Capital 
purposes

Other 
Differences

Total 
Adjustments 

£000 £000 £000

Firefighting and Rescue 0 18 (2,638)

Community Safety 0 (9) (168)

Fire Protection 0 (5) (139)

Resilience 0 11 (3)

Corporate and Centralised Services 0

(1,189) (2) (1,230)

(870) (1) (922)

0 13 (246)

0 (3) (41)

(436) (11) (540)

(9) (3,535)

(2,495) 2 (9,462)

Other income and expenditure (54) (41) (3,978)

(2,549) (39) (13,440)

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis  2018/19

Adjustment 
for Capital 
purposes

Other 
Differences

Total 
Adjustments 

£000 £000 £000

Firefighting and Rescue 187 15 (4,597)

Community Safety (9) 4 (262)

Fire Protection 0 (2) (202)

Resilience 0 2 (113)

Corporate and Centralised Services

(784) 2 (844)

(91) (1) (172)

(115) (19) (625)

(6) (1) (63)

(358) 3 (487)

(227) 0 (227)

61 1 (24,477)

(1,342) 4 (32,069)

Other income and expenditure 43 19 (2,045)

(1,299) 23 (34,114)

Adjustments from the General Fund to 
arrive at the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement amount 2018/19

Net change 
for the 

Pension 

£000

(4,799)

(257)

(200)

(115)

Estates & Procurement (62)

Equipment (80)

People and Organisation 
Development

(491)

50

(259)

(3,526)

People and Organisation 
Development

Adjustments from the General Fund to 
arrive at the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement amount 2019/20

(93)

(6,969)

(10,852)

(30,731)

Information Communication and 
Technology

Finance

Information Communication and 
Technology

(132)

Transport 0
Other Corporate and Centralised 
Services

(24,539)

Other Corporate and Centralised 
Services

Equipment

Estates & Procurement

Finance

(2,107)

(32,838)

(56)

(3,883)

(38)

7.     NOTE TO THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

Net change 
for the 

Pension 
Adjustment

£000

(2,656)

(159)

(134)

(14)

(39)

(51)

8. EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSIS BY NATUREPage 114



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 
Restated* 2019/20

£000 £000
Expenditure 

77,841 55,289
398 Other Employee Expenses 366

2,530 Premises Related Expenses 2,802
1,965 Transport Related Expenditure 2,340
3,462 Supplies and Services 3,948

35 Third Party Payments 795
172 Support Services 185

2,840 4,113

793 Interest Payments 825
90,036 Total Expenditure 70,663

Income
(784) Fees, charges and other service income (1,070)

(81) Interest and investment income (114)
(35,033) Income from council tax and non-domestic rates (36,146)
(18,212) Government grants (19,304)

(42) Income from profit on disposal of non-current assets 0
(54,152) Total Income (56,634)

35,884 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 14,029

* £33k of income relating to Apprenticeship Levy reclassified from Fees, 
charges and other service income to Government grants in 2018/19

51

Depreciation, amortisation, impaiment and loss 
on disposal of non-current assets

Employee Benefits Expenses

8. EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSIS BY NATURE

Page 115



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
contracts with service recipients

2018/19 2019/20
£'000 £'000

(683) Revenue from contracts with service recipients (707)
Impairment of receivables or contract assets

(683) Total Included in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (707)

Amounts included in the Balance Sheet for contracts with Service Recipients

2018/19 2019/20
£'000 £'000

(337) Receivables which are included in debtors 0

52

9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH SERVICE RECIPIENTS

Page 116



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

53

10. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER 
REGULATIONS

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and 
expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 
Authority to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.
The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against.

General Fund Balance
The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required 
to  be paid and out of which all liabilities of the authority are to be met, except to the extent 
that statutory rules might provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in 
which liabilities and payments should impact on the General Fund balance, which is not 
necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  The General Fund balance 
therefore summarises the resources that the Authority is statutorily empowered to spend on its 
services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the Authority is required to 
recover) at the end of the financial year. 

Capital Receipts Reserve
The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, 
which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or 
to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  The balance on the reserve shows 
the resources that have yet to be applied for these purposes at the year-end.

Capital Grants Unapplied
The Capital Grants Unapplied Account holds the grants and contributions received towards 
capital projects for which the Authority has met the conditions that would otherwise require 
repayment of the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is 
restricted by grant terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or 
the financial year in which this can take place.

Page 117



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

General 
Fund 

Balance

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied

General 
Fund 

Balance

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(32,838) (10,851)

19 (41)

4 3

(2,914) 0 (4,127)

0
(35,729) 0 0 (15,016) 0 0

116 (116)
15 (15)

1436 1541

62 22 15

1,614 (116) 0 1,578 0 0

116 0

0 0

0 116 0 0 0 0

(34,115) 0 0 (13,438) 0 0

Usable Reserves

2018/19 2019/20

54

Adjustments between Revenue and 
Capital Resources

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Total Adjustments

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expediture Statement are 
different from revenue for the year calculated in 
accordance with statutory requirements:

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources

Total Adjustments between Revenue and 
Capital Resources

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

Pension costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions 
Reserve)
Council tax and NDR (transfers to or from the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account)
Holiday pay (transferred to the Accumulated Absences 
Reserve)

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure 
(these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment 
Account)

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue 
to the Capital Receipts Reserve
Administrative costs of non-current asset disposals 
(funded by a contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve)

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from 
the Capital Adjustment Account)

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances 
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account)

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital 

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure

Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts

Page 118



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

11 TRANSFERS TO/FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

Balance at 
31 March 

2018

 Transfers 
out 

2018/19

Movements  
2018/19

Transfers in 
2018/19

 Balance at 
31 March 

2019

Transfers 
out 

2019/20

Movements  
2019/20

Transfers 
in 2019/20

Balance at 
31 March 

2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(1,360) 62 (54) 0
Information Communication and 

Technology (1,352) 66 154 0 (1,132)

(514) 146 0 (7)
Prevention, Protection and 

Partnerships (375) 94 31 (2) (252)
(404) 45 0 (177) Resilience (536) 77 126 (177) (510)

(1,114) 77 0 0 Capital (1,037) 0 0 0 (1,037)
(480) 65 0 0 Operational (415) 15 212 0 (188)

(95) 95 0 0 Estates 0 0 0 0 0
(849) 130 54 (50) Transition (715) 30 684 0 (1)
(308) 0 0 0 Pension (308) 0 310 0 2

(31) 7 0 0 Other (24) 0 24 0 0
0 0 0 0 Transforation and Collaboration 0 0 (1,387) 0 (1,387)
0 0 0 0 Regional Funds 0 80 (154) (181) (255)

(5,155) 627 0 (234) SubTotal (4,762) 362 0 (360) (4,760)

5
5

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans
and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves either to meet General Fund expenditure in the year, or because the earmarked
reserve was no longer required.

P
age 119



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

12 OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

(42) Gains/(Losses) on the disposal of non-current assets 54
(42) Total 54

13 FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

793 Interest payable and similar charges 825
0 Interest paid in relation to Finance Leases 0

13,151 Net interest on defined pension liability 13,565
(81) Interest receivable and similar income (114)

13,863 Total 14,276

14 TAXATION AND NON-SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

24,366 Council tax income and surplus on collection 25,357
3,667 Non domestic rates 3,629

11,044 Pension top up grant 9,682
6,125 Non ringfenced government grants 5,372

0 Capital grants and contributions 0
7,000 Non domestic rates tax top-up grant 7,160

503 Business Rates Tax Loss Reimbursement Grant 690
8 Transparency grant 8
0 Covid-19 Funding 191
0 Fire Pension Grant 2,340

52,713 Total 54,429

56

Page 120



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in 2019/20

Other Land 
and 

Buildings               
£000

Vehicles, Plant, 
Furniture & 
Equipment                             

£000

Surplus 
Assets                    
£000

Assets Under 
Construction                           

£000

Total Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment                      
£000

Cost or Valuation

At April 2019 58,704 22,483 1,155 93 82,435
Adjustments to bring fixed asset 
register and statutory accounts into 
alignment 

0 0 0 0 0

Additions 583 1,112 0 121 1,816

Donations 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation Increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve (1,228) 0 52 0 (1,176)
Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services (35) 0 0 0 (35)

Derecognition - Disposals 0 (2,858) (1,048) (69) (3,975)

Derecognition - Other 0 (306) 0 0 (306)

Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for 
Sale 0 0 0 0 0

Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 
Under Construction (380) 82 380 (24) 58
Correction of classification (250) 0 250 0 0

At 31 March 2020 57,394 20,513 790 121 78,817

Accumulated Depreciation & 
Impairment

At April 2019 (1,713) (15,023) (1,125) 0 (17,861)

Adjustments to bring fixed asset 
register and statutory accounts into 
alignment

0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation & Impairment Charges (1,899) (1,701) (6) 0 (3,606)

Depreciation written out to the 
Revaluation Reserve 2,769 0 83 0 2,852
Depreciation written out to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services

0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 0 0 0 0 0
Impairment losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0
Derecognition- Disposals 0 2,858 1,048 0 3,906
Derecognition- Other 0 306 0 306
Other movements in Depreciation & 
Impairment 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 March 2020 (843) (13,560) 0 (14,402)

Net Book Value
at 31st March 2020 56,551 6,953 790 121 64,415
at 31st March 2019 56,991 7,460 31 95 64,577

57 Page 121



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Comparative Movements in 
2018/19:

Other Land 
and 

Buildings               
£000

Vehicles, Plant, 
Furniture & 
Equipment                             

£000

Surplus 
Assets                    
£000

Assets Under 
Construction                           

£000

Total Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment                      
£000

Cost or Valuation
At April 2018 52,763 22,945 1,155 2,453 79,316
Adjustments to bring fixed asset 
register and statutory accounts into 
alignment 

(76) (604) (680)

Additions 32 323 0 538 893

Donations 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation Increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve

3,318 0 0 (50) 3,268
Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 331 0 0 0 331

Derecognition - Disposals (164) 0 0 0 (164)

Derecognition - Other 0 (577) 0 0 (577)
Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for 
Sale

0 0 0 0 0
Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets 
Under Construction 2,500 0 0 (2,500) 0
Correction of classification 0 396 0 (346) 50

At 31 March 2019 58,704 22,483 1,155 95 82,437

Accumulated Depreciation & 
Impairment
At April 2018 (2,278) (14,516) (1,118) 0 (17,912)
Adjustments to bring fixed asset 
register and statutory accounts into 
alignment 

152 619 0 0
771

Depreciation & Impairment Charges (1,399) (1,700) (6) 0 (3,105)
Depreciation written out to the 
Revaluation Reserve 1,638 0 0 0 1,638
Depreciation written out to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 88 0 0 0 88
Impairment losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 0 0 0 0 0
Impairment losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0
Derecognition- Disposals 86 0 0 0 86
Derecognition- Other 0 574 0 0 574
Other movements in Depreciation & 
Impairment 0 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2019 (1,713) (15,023) (1,124) 0 (17,860)

Net Book Value
at 31st March 2019 56,991 7,460 31 95 64,577

58Page 122



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Other 
Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Equipment
Assets under 

Constructrion
Surplus 
Assets Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carried at Historical cost 0 6,953 121 0 7,074
Valued at Fair Value as at:
31 March 2020 47,413 0 0 790 48,203
31 March 2019 8,073 0 0 0 8,073
31 March 2018 851 0 0 0 851
31 March 2017 218 0 0 0 218
31 March 2016 0 0 0 0 0

Total Cost or Valuation 56,555 6,953 121 790 64,419

59

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2020 the Authority had entered into a number of contracts for the construction or
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2019/20 and future years budgeted to cost £15k.
Similar commitments at 31 March 2019 were £60k. The major commitments for 2019/20 are:

• Hucknall Fire Station £9k

Revaluations

The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment
required to be measured at fair value is revalued at least every five years. All valuations are carried out
by the Valuation Office, the last valuation took place on the 31 March 2020, covering 11 properties and
was carried out by Richard Hemsworth MRICS. Valuations of and and buildings were carried out in
accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. In addition in 19/20 asset not valued on the rolling
programme were reviewed using the BCIS tender price index provided by the valuation officer. All
NFRS land has revalued by the valuation officer .

The basis of valuation for various types of property is given in Accounting Policies Note 1.

The following table shows the progress of the Authority's rolling programme for the revaluation of non-
current assets.

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health Organisation as a 
“Global Pandemic” on 11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets. Travel restrictions have 
been implemented by many countries.

Market activity is being impacted in many sectors. As at the valuation date, the valuation office  
consider that we can attach less weight to previous market evidence for comparison purposes, to 
inform opinions of value. Indeed, the current response to COVID-19 means that we are faced with an 
unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a judgement.

The valuations  are therefore reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per VPS 3 and 
VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. Consequently, less certainty – and a higher degree of caution 
– should be attached to our valuation than would normally be the case. Given the unknown future 
impact that COVID-19 might have on the real estate market, the  valuation of these properties  are kept 
under frequent review.

Page 123



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

Software 
Under 

Construction Software

Software 
Under 

Construction

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at start of year:

2,894 50 • Gross carrying amounts 2,894 181
(1,553) 0 • Accumulated amortisation (1,790) 0

1,341 50 Net carrying amount at start of year 1,104 181

173 0 0 0

0 (50) Assets Reclassified 0 (58)

0 181 Purchases 40 1

0 0 Disposals (334) 0

(410) 0 Amortisation for the period (418) 0

0 0 Other Changes - Disposal Amortisation 334 0

1,104 181 Net carrying amount at end of year 726 124

Comprising:
2,894 181 • Gross Carrying Amounts 2,600 124

(1,790) 0 • Accumulated amortisation (1,874) 0

1,104 181 726 124

60

Adjustments to bring fixed asset register 
and statutory accounts into alignment

The Authority accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is
not an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item
of Property, Plant and Equipment.

The basis of valuation and amortisation of intangible assets is outlined in Accounting Policies
Note 1.

Page 124



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:

Non-current Current Non-current Current
£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets
0 5,442 Investments measured at amortised cost 0 4,466

0 7,020 0 6,272
0 5,298 Debtors measured at cost 318 4,890

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0
0 17,760 Total financial assets 318 15,628

Financial liabilities
(25,512) (4,117) Loans measured at amortised cost (26,958) (1,581)

(83) (2,639) Creditors measured at cost (182) (3,365)
0 0 0 0

(25,595) (6,756) Total financial liabilities (27,140) (4,946)

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

61

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 

Cash & cash equivalents measured at 
amortised cost

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

(Restated)

Note: the figures for debtors and creditors in the above table include grant receipts in advance but 
exclude Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates (NDR) debtors and creditors because Council Tax is 
a statutory debt not arising from a contract and therefore falls outside the scope of financial 
instruments. The table below provides a reconciliation between the figures in the above table and 
those on the Balance Sheet.

Short term debtors and creditors are carried at cost rather than amortised cost as this is a fair 
approximation of their value.

The values for financial instruments in the above table, and on the Balance Sheet, are all gross 
figures i.e. no netting of financial instruments has taken place.

Page 125



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

31 March
2019 31 March

restated* 2020

£000 £000
Debtors

6,134 Debtors - as shown on Balance Sheet 5,818
(836) Less: Council Tax and NDR debtors (928)
5,298 Debtors Classified as Financial Instruments 4,890

Creditors
(3,128) Creditors - as shown on Balance Sheet (3,744)

514 Less: Council Tax NDR prepayments / overpayments 461
(25) Grant Receipts in Advance - as shown on Balance Sheet (82)

(2,639) Creditors Classified as Financial Instruments (3,365)

* correction of error in the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts

62

Page 126



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses

Surplus or 
Deficit on the 
Provision of 

Services

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income and 
Expenditure

Surplus or 
Deficit on the 
Provision of 

Services

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income and 
Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000
Interest revenue:

(81) 0 (114) 0

0 0 0 0
(81) 0 Total interest revenue (114) 0

793 0 Interest expense 825 0

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

2018/19 2019/20

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

63

The fair value of financial instruments has been determined by calculating the net present value 
(NPV) of future cashflows. The discount rates used in the NPV calculations are equivalent to the 
current rates in relation to the same or similar instruments of the same remaining duration from 
comparable lenders on the date of the valuation. A more detailed explanation of the rates used is 
given below. Short-term detors and creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation of 
their value.

The fair value of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans of £25.9m is based on new PWLB 
borrowing rates. This fair value measures the economic effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB 
compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for new PWLB loans undertaken at the 
balance sheet date. The difference between the carrying value and the fair value measures the 
additional interest that the authority will pay over the remaining terms of the loans under the 
agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid if the loans were at prevailing PWLB 
rates.

The Authority also has the ability to prematurely repay its PWLB loans, however the PWLB would 
raise a penalty charge for early redemption in addition to charging a premium for the additional 
interest that would not be paid. The fair value of PWLB loans calculated using premature 
repayment rates is £37.7m. This fair value is £11.8m  higher than that calculated using the PWLB 
new loans rates because the discount rate is lower and hence the premium payable would be 
higher.

There have been limited trades in the Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) market during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2020, so comparable market rates are not available. A proxy LOBO 
new loans rate has been derived by applying a margin of 150 basis points above the 
corresponding gilt rates. The fair value of the non-PWLB LOBO loan calculated using PWLB 
premature repayment rates as a market illustration is £11.5m. This fair value is £5.4m higher than 
that calculated using new loan rates (£6.1m) because the discount rate is lower and hence the 
premium payable would be higher.

Page 127



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

(21,618) (24,059)  - PWLB Loans (24,530) (25,924)
(8,011) (10,321)  - Other Loans (4,010) (6,117)

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

5,442 5,442 4,466 4,466

7,020 7,020 6,272 6,272

64

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Investments held at 
amortised cost

Financial Liabilities at 
amortised cost

Cash and cash 
equivalents held at 

The fair value of borrowings is higher than the carrying amount because the Authority's portfolio of 
loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest payable is higher than the prevailing 
rates at the Balance Sheet date. This shows a notional future loss (based on economic conditions at 
31 March 2020) arising from a commitment to pay interest to lenders above current market rates.

All of the investments and cash equivalents held by the Authority have a maturity of less than 12 
months. The carrying value is therefore taken to be a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

The 2019/20 CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice ("the Code") requires authorities to maximise the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair 
value. To achieve this objective, authorities are required to follow a fair vaule hierarchy, which 
categorises the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels as follows:

• Level 1 inputs - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
an authority can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 inputs - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Page 128



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets for 
identical 
assets

Other 
significant 
observable 
inputs

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans held at amortised cost 0 (32,041) 0 (32,041)
Financial assets

0 10,738 0 10,738
0 (21,303) 0 (21,303)

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets for 
identical 
assets

Other 
significant 
observable 
inputs

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans held at amortised cost 0 (34,380) 0 (34,380)
Financial assets

0 12,462 0 12,462
0 (21,918) 0 (21,918)

Fair value hierarchy for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value in the Balance Sheet

31 March 2020

Financial liabilities

Investments, cash & cash 
equivalents held at amortised 
cost

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

Total

31 March 2019 Comparative Year

Financial liabilities

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

Investments, cash & cash 
equivalents held at amortised 
cost
Total

65

Page 129



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

66

Financial liabilitiesFinancial assets

The fair value for financial liabilities and financial assets that are not measured at fair value 
included in level 2 in the previous table have been arrived at using a discounted cash flow 
analysis with the most significant inputs being the discount rate.

The fair value for financial liabilities and financial assets that are not measured at fair value can 
be assessed by calculating the present value of cash flows that will take place over the 
remaining term of the instruments, using the following assumptions:

• no early repayment or impairment is 
recognised

• estimated ranges of interest rates as 31 
March 2020 of 0.00% to 0.90% for short 
term investments and cash equivalents, 
based on new lending rates for equivalent 
assets at that date

• the fair value of trade and other receivables 
is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount

• no early repayment is recognised
• estimated ranges of interest rates at 31 

March 2020 of 1.90% to 2.59% for loans 
payable based on new lending rates for 
equivalent loans at that date

Page 130



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

18 INVENTORIES

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

£000 £000
319 279

374 445
(414) (487)

0 56

279 293

19 DEBTORS

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

£000 £000
2,727 NNDR and council tax 2,957

240 Trade Debtors 359
3,769 Other debtors 3,737

(1,420) Provision for bad debts (1,607)
818 Prepayments and Accrued Income 372

6,134 Total Short Term Debtors 5,818

0 Prepayments and Accrued Income 318
0 Long Term Debtors 318

6,134 Total 6,136

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements:

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

£000 £000

Cash held by the Authority

196 Bank Current Accounts 29
6,824 6,243
7,020 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,272

67

Balance Outstanding at start of year

Purchases
Recognised as an expense in year
Written off balances

Balance outstanding at year end

Short-term deposits with 

Page 131



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

21 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

22 CREDITORS

(800) Trade Creditors (1,538)
(675) NNDR and Council Tax (767)

(1,654) Other Creditors (1,439)
(3,129) Short Term Creditors (3,744)

(83) Other Creditors (182)
(83) Long Term Creditors (182)

(3,212) Total (3,926)

31 March 202031 March 2019

68

£000£000

There were no Non Current Assets held for sale either as at 31st March 2019 or at 
31st March 2020.

Page 132



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

23 PROVISIONS

Long Term Total

Insurances
On-Call Duty 

System

Officers 
Car 

Leasing
Exit 

Packages

Non 
Domestic 

Rates 
Appeals

£000 £000 £001 £000 £000 £000

(30) (21) (225) (647) (391) (1,314)

(10) 0 0 0 0 (10)
0 0 0 647 16 663

30 0 0 0 0 30

(10) (21) (225) 0 (375) (631)

69

PROVISIONS

Additional provisions made 
in 2019/20

Unused amounts reversed 
in 2019/20

Short Term

Amounts used in 2019/20

Balance at 1 April 2019

Balance at 31 March 2020

Insurances
This provision allows for potential liabilities arising from existing claims against the authority.
The provision required at 31 March 2019 was determined to be £10k.

On Call  Duty System
This liability arises from an employment tribunal test case relating to “Part Time Workers 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations”.  A prudent estimate was made in 
2009/10 and 2010/11 relating to the payment of compensation to on call duty system 
firefighters. During the year amounts of compensation  have continued to be paid, although 
there remain some amounts of compensation to be paid as well as the possibility that further 
applications for compensation may be made. The remaining provision should cover any 
outstanding liabilities.

Officers Car Leasing 
A tax review has identified that some travel related expenses have been incorrectly treated for 
tax purposes.  Whilst these expenses are now being correctly taxed, at its meeting on 28 
September 2018, Fire Authority determined that the service would meet the tax liabilities 
incurred prior to the correct treatment being determined.  Some negotiations are ongoing with 
Her Majesties Customs and Excise (HMRC) so to date no payments have been made.  A 
provision has been created to cover the costs which are estimated to be in the region of £225k.

Exit Package
During 2018/19, decisions were made by the Authority to move the service's Control Room into 
a joint Control with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue, and also to draw to a close the service's 
Princes Trust Programme.  A provision was used to cover termination costs during 2019/20.

Non Domestic Rates Appeals
From 2013/14, a proportion of Non Domestic Rates collected by Nottinghamshire collecting
authorities is retained locally, rather than paid directly to central government. Part of these
retained rates are collected on behalf of NFRS, and so a portion of any related provisions must
now be recognised by NFRS. This provision allows for possible losses arising from any
successful appeals of business premises rateable values in 2019/20.

Page 133



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

24 USABLE RESERVES

5,576 General Fund 4,989
4,763 Earmarked Reserves 4,761

0 Capital Receipts Reserve 0
347 Capital Grants Unapplied 347

10,686 Total Usable Reserves 10,097

General Fund

2018/19 2019/20

6,953 Balance at 1 April 5,576
(1,377) Transfer (to)/from General Fund Reserve (589)

0 Transfer from General Fund Reserve to Earmarked Reserves 2
5,576 Balance at 31 March 4,989

Earmarked Reserves

2018/19 2019/20

5,156 Balance at 1 April 4,763
(627) Application of Earmarked Reserves to finance expenditure (362)

234 Transfer from General Fund Reserve 360
0    Write back reserves no longer required 0

4,763 Balance at 31 March 4,761

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£000£000

£000£000

£000

70

£000

Usable reserves contain resources which the Authority can apply to the provision of services, 
either by incurring expenditure or by undertaking capital investment

The General Fund reserve contains accumulated surplus funds which have arisen either as a 
result of general underspending against the revenue budget or as a result of decisions to transfer 
revenue resources to the General Fund reserve. This reserve contains resources which could be 
used to fund any future unforeseen and unbudgeted significant expenditure.

Earmarked Reserves contain resources set aside for specific purposes such as future projects. 
The reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance (shown in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement). When expenditure to be financed from an earmarked 
reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the 
expenditure.

Page 134



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Capital Receipts Reserve

2018/19 2019/20

0 Balance at 1 April 0
116 Capital Receipts in Year 15

(116) Capital Receipts applied in year to finance capital (15)
0 Balance at 31 March 0

Capital Grants Unapplied

2018/19 2019/20

347 Balance at 1 April 347
0 Capital Grants received in Year 0
0 Capital Grants applied in year to finance capital 0

347 Balance at 31 March 347

71

£000£000

£000£000

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds resources arising from capital receipts which have not yet 
been applied to finance new capital expenditure or to repay debt.

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account holds capital grants received in the year, which have not 
yet been applied to finance new capital expenditure.

Page 135



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

25 UNUSABLE RESERVES

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

£000 £000
21,339 Revaluation Reserve 22,488
18,711 Capital Adjustment Account 16,686

(568,940) Pensions Reserve (557,793)
232 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 191

(209) Accumulated Absences Account (206)
(528,867) Total Unusable Reserves (518,634)

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

16,856 Balance at 1 April 21,339

5,008 Upward revaluations of assets 5,193

(100) (3,517)
4,908 1,676

21,764 23,015

(425) (527)  
0 Accumulated gains on assets disposed of 0  

(425) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (527)

21,339 Balance at 31 March 22,488

72

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses 
not charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical 
cost depreciation

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not 
posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services

Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the 
value of its Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The balance is reduced when 
assets with accumulated gains are:

• Re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost
• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or
• Disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the 
balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.

Page 136



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

19,583 Balance at 1 April 18,709

(3,022) (3,605)
419 • Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment (35)

and reversal of previous impairments
(237) • Amortisation of intangible assets (418)

0 • Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 0

(74) (69)
(2,914) (4,127)

425 Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 527

(2,488) (3,600)

Capital financing applied in the year:

116 15

0 0

1,436 1,541

0 0

0 0

62 22
1,614 1,578

0 Movement in the Donated Assets Account credited to the CIES
18,709 Balance at 31 March 16,687

• Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES that 
have been applied to capital financing
• Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment 
charged against the General Fund balance

• Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 
balance

73

• Application of grants to capital financing from Capital 
Grants Unapplied Account

• Voluntary provision for the financing of capital 
investment charged against the General Fund balance

• Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or 
sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets 
consumed in the year

• Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account (CIES)
• Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current 
assets

Capital Adjustment Account

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The Account
is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment
losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
(with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to historical
cost basis). The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.

The Account contains gains recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the
Authority, and also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment
before April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.

Note 8 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those

Page 137



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

(509,815) Balance at 1 April (568,940)
(26,287) 21,999

(48,398) (27,837)

15,560 16,985
(568,940) Balance at 31 March (557,793)

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

213 Balance at 1 April 232

(41)

232 Balance at 31 March 191

Employers pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year

74

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the CIES

Remeasurements on the net defined benefit pension 

Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rates income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from council tax and non-domestic rates 
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

19

Pension Reserve

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory
provisions. The Authority accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and
investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements
require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s contributions to pension
funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the
Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and
current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them. The statutory
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as it falls due from council tax payers and business rates payers compared with the 
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

Page 138



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

(213) Balance at 1 April (209)

213 209
(209) Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (206)

4 3
(209) Balance at 31 March (206)

75

Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of 
the preceding year

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
CIES on an accruals basis is different from remuneration 
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account

The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise
on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the
year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that
the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.

Page 139



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

26 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

35,883 Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 14,029
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non 
cash movements

(3,022) Depreciation (3,605)
419 Impairment and revaluations (35)

(237) Amortisation (418)
(47) (Increase)/Decrease in impairment for bad debts (187)

(1,111) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors (683)
1,937 Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors 130

(40) Increase/(Decrease) in Inventories 14
(33,039) Pension Liability (11,052)

(717) Contributions (to)/from Provisions 684

(74)
Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (property plant and 
equipment, investment property and intangible assets) (69)

41 Accrued Interest 25

(35,890) (15,196)

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services that are investing or financing activities

0 Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provision of services 0

116
Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets 15

116 15
109 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (1,152)

CASHFLOW STATEMENT - OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000
(66) Interest received (79)
474 Interest paid 1,171

0 Dividends received 0

76

Page 140



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

27 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - INVESTING ACTIVITIES

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

1,458
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets 1,786

2,000 Purchase of short-term and long-term investments 3,000

(123)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible asset (15)

(4,000) Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments (4,000)
0 Other receipts from investing activities 0

(665) Net cash flows from investing activities 771

28 CASHFLOW STATEMENT - FINANCING ACTIVITIES

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

(14,000) Cash receipts of short and long-term borrowing (3,000)

9,541 Repayments of short and long-term borrowing 4,130

(4,459) Net cash flows from financing activities 1,130

77

Page 141



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

29 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1 April 2019
Financing 
cash flows

Non-cash 
changes

31 March 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Long-term borrowings (25,511) (3,000) 1,553 (26,958)

Short-term borrowings (4,118) 4,130 (1,594) (1,582)
Total liabilities from 
financing activities (29,629) 1,130 (41) (28,540)

1 April 2018
Financing 
cash flows

Non-cash 
changes

31 March 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Long-term borrowings (20,599) (5,000) 88 (25,511)
Short-term borrowings (4,639) 541 (20) (4,118)
Total liabilities from 
financing activities (25,238) (4,459) 68 (29,629)

78

Page 142



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

30 POOLED BUDGETS

Local 
Resilience 
Forum 

Multi Agency 
Co-ordination 
Centre

Emergency 
Services 
Carol 
Concert 2018/19

£000

Opening Balance 10 14 1 25

Income in Year 1 0 0 1
Expenditure in Year 0 0 0 0

Balance carried forward 11 14 1 26

2019/20
£000

Opening Balance 11 14 1 26

Income in Year 57 0 0 57
Expenditure in Year 0 0 1 1

Balance carried forward 68 14 0 82

31 MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES

The following amounts were paid to Members of the Authority during the year

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

117 Allowances 116
2 Expenses 4

119 Total 120

79

The Authority has a pooled budget arrangement with the Local Resilience Forum, 
which is a multi-agency project for planning and coordinating response to major 
incidents.  This forum involves various public bodies from the Nottinghamshire area 
including Health Bodies and Local Government Authorities.

The Authority has a pooled budget arrangement for the Multi-Agency Coordination 
Centre, which is a premise at which a coordinated response to major incidents can be 
managed. Various Nottinghamshire public bodies, including Health Bodies, Local 
Government, and Police Authorities are parties to this arrangement.

Page 143



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

32 OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Authority's senior employees is as follows:

Salary, Fees 
and 
Allowances

Expenses 
Allowances

Compensation 
for loss of 
employment

Total 
Remuneration 
excluding Pension 
Contributions

Pension 
Contribution Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

 Chief Fire OfficerJohn Buckley 2019/20 157,207 47 0 157,254 45,837 203,091
2018/19 153,377 47 0 153,424 36,047 189,471

Deputy Chief Fire Officer 2019/20 124,191 47 0 124,238 35,653 159,891
Deputy Chief Fire Officer started 25.02.19 2018/19 10,076 5 0 10,081 1,637 11,718
Deputy Chief Fire Officer left 24.02.19 2018/19 114,455 42 0 114,497 16,367 130,864

Assistant Chief Officer 2019/20 109,369 47 0 109,416 15,798 125,214

Assistant Chief Officer started 24.02.19 2018/19 9,961 4 0 9,965 1,277 11,242
Assitant Chief Fire Officer left 24.02.19 2018/19 105,419 42 0 105,461 16,632 122,093

Head of Finance 2019/20 61,222 47 61,269 9,061 70,330
Head of Finance 2018/19 56,662 47 0 56,709 9,709 66,418

Total 2019/20 451,989 188 0 452,177 106,349 558,526
2018/19 449,950 187 0 450,137 81,669 531,806

Notes: 

1) "Expense Allowances" shows taxable benefits.  Employer's National Insurance contributions are excluded from the above table

8
0

P
age 144



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20
£0-£20,000 2 0 5 1 7 1 127,957 5

£20,001 - £40,000 2 0 8 0 10 0 312,333 0

£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 41,977 0

Total 4 0 14 1 18 1 482,267 5

1

1

1
1

1

14
30
10
2
5

1

1

£150,000-£154,999
£155,000-£159,999
£160,000-£164,999

20
21
19
2
3

1
1
1

1
1

£125,000-£129,999
£130,000-£134,999
£135,000-£139,999
£140,000-£144,999
£145,000-£149,999

£100,000-£104,999
£105,000-£109,999
£110,000-£114,999
£115,000-£119,999
£120,000-£124,999

£75,000-£79,999
£80,000-£84,999
£85,000-£89,999
£90,000-£94,999
£95,000-£99,999

£50,000-£54,999
£55,000-£59,999
£60,000-£64,999
£65,000-£69,999
£70,000-£74,999

Number of 
employees

2018/19
Number of 
employees

2019/20

Remuneration Band

81

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band

Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Exit package cost 
band (including 

special payments)

The table below shows the number of employees whose remuneration was £50,000 or more, in 
bands of £5,000. It includes the senior officers shown in the previous table. Remuneration is 
defined as pay, taxable expenses allowances and the monetary value of any benefits such as a 
provided car. Employer's pension contributions are excluded.

The total cost of redundancies during 2019/20 was £40k. £35k of this cost was to covered a 
shortfall in the provision made in 2018/19 for the Redundancies within the Control and Princes' 
Trust departments, so is not analysed in the table above. 

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other
redundancies are set out in the table below:

Page 145



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

33 EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

24 24
24 Total 24

34 GRANT INCOME

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

Credited to Services
(387) Firelink grant (part of the Fire Revenue grant DCLG) (399)

(80) New Dimension grant (part of the Fire Revenue grant DCLG) (80)
(32) New Risks grant (49)

0 Emergency Services Mobile Communications grant (394)
0 Sponsorship of events and awards 0
0 Miscellaneous Community Safety donations 0

(33) Apprenticeship Levy (98)
0 National Resilience Service and Maintenance grant 0

(532) Total (1,020)

Current Liabilities

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£000 £000

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants)
(11) Local Resilience Forum (68)
(14) Multi Agency Coordination Centre (14)

(1) Emergency Services Carol Concert 0
(26) Total (82)

Fees payable  with regard to external audit services carried out by the 
appointed auditor for the year

82

The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Net Cost
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Other grants
have been credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. These grants are detailed in note 14.

The Authority has received a number of grants, contributions and donations that have yet to
be recognised as income because they have conditions attached to them that will require
the monies or property to be returned to the giver if the conditions are not met. The
balances at the year-end are as follows:

The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of
Accounts, statutory inspections provided by the Authority's external auditors and other
services provided by the Authority's external auditors.

Page 146



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

35 RELATED PARTIES

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

458 473 525 95 12 27

12 182 29 36 48 336

3 1 76 0 0 119

10 84 20 6 6 6

Nottingham 
Police & Crime 
Commisioner 

Expenditure 
during year
Income during 
year

Creditor at 31 
March

Debtor at 31 
March

Nottinghamshire 
County Council

Nottingham
 City Council

83

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, 
which are bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the 
Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these 
transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority might have 
been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the 
ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Authority.

Central Government

Central government has significant influence over the general operations of the 
Authority. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
Authority operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and 
prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Authority has with other 
parties (e.g. council tax bills). Grants received from government departments are 
set out in the analysis in Note 34 and Note 14.

Members

Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority's financial and 
operating policies. Details of members' allowances and expenses are shown in 
Note 31.

Officers

Some senior employees have significant influence over the Authority’s activities. 
Details of senior officers’ remuneration are shown in Note 32. 

Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottingham City Council

The Authority is made up of 12 members from Nottinghamshire County Council 
and 6 members from Nottingham City Council, and so a related party relationship 
exists between the Authority and these Councils by way of common control.  
Significant transactions are detailed below, and include expenditure on cleaning 
and maintenance services and income from partnership working.  The Police and 
Crime Commissioner attends the Combined Fire Authority meetings in a non voting 
capacity.

Page 147



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000 £000 £000

221 1,564 147 273

1 84 2 1

2 2 5 5

0 0 0 0

Expenditure 
during year
Income during 
year

Creditor at 31 
March
Debtor at 31 
March

Derbyshire
 Fire & Rescue 

Service

Leicestershire 
Fire & Rescue 

Service 

84

Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority

The Authority is the sole shareholder of Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited, with 5 
members forming the Board of Directors. The Authority recovers costs incurred in 
the provision of certain goods and services to the Company including finance, 
payroll, human resources, insurance and transport. The Company is the Authority’s 
provider of fire extinguisher maintenance services.

The Authority provided a loan of £55k to the Company on the commencement of 
trading on 1 September 2010.  The loan is a revolving credit facility allowing the 
Company to draw down up to a maximum of £100k and decrease to nil at any time 
and interest is charged at 15 basis points above the Bank of England bank rate, a 
rate negotiated at arm’s length. During 2015/16 the outstanding balance of the loan 
was repaid in full.  The Authority’s transactions and balances with the Company 
are detailed below. Note 42 provides more details regarding the company’s 
transactions for the year 2019/20.

Other Public Bodies

Some members of the Authority are also members of other local Borough or 
District Councils in Nottinghamshire. Other public bodies such as Fire Authorities 
are subject to varying degrees of common control or significant influence by 
central government. The Authority carries out transactions with such bodies from 
time to time, including income and expenditure from the provision of goods or 
services, partnership working and pooled budgets, including transactions at other 
than commercial value. Note that council tax receipts from collecting authorities 
and transactions with tax authorities are considered to be agency arrangements, 
and do not qualify as related party relationships.

Page 148



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

12 Expenditure during year 10
49 Income during year 47

0 Creditor at 31 March 0
14 Debtor at 31 March 13

0 0

85

Outstanding loan to 

Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Ltd

Other than the items detailed above, there were no members or officers with 
significant influence over the authority who had an interest in an organisation with 
which the Authority carried out significant transactions or held significant balances.

Page 149



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

36 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND CAPITAL FINANCING

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

26,278 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 25,738
0 Capital receipt not applied in year 0

Capital Investment
570 583

323 Property, Plant and Equipment - (Non Operational) 1,233
181 Intangible Assets (including under construction) 41

Sources of Finance
(116) Capital Receipts (15)

0 Government grant and other contributions 0
Sums set aside from revenue:

(62) Direct revenue contributions (22)
(1,436) Minimum / Voluntary Revenue Provision (1,541)

25,738 Closing Capital Financing requirements 26,017

Explanation of Movements in Year

0 0
(540) 279

0
0

Property, Plant and Equipment - (Operational and 
under Construction)

Decrease in underlying need to borrow (unsupported 
by government financial assistance)

86

(Decrease) / Increase  in Capital Financing 
Requirement

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below,
together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is
to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Authority,
the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a
measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be
financed. The change in the CFR is analysed in the second part of this note.

Page 150



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

37 LEASES

Future contracted receipts are:
£000's

15
24 *

0

38 TERMINATION BENEFITS

87

Authority as Lessor

Operating Leases

Authority as Lessee

*The rent receivable in these years is £15,000 or 75% of the commercial rent applicable in each 
year, whichever is the greater. The figure stated above is based on the minimum amount 
receivable.

The Authority has entered into an operating lease arrangement with Nottinghamshire Police in 
respect of one of its properties, which is currently not required for operational purposes. Annual 
rentals are varied therefore the straight line method of accounting for rental income to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, is not used. (See item in the Statement of 
Accounting Policies - Note 1).  Rent received in 2019/20 £4k and in 2018/19 was £15k.

Within 1 year
Within 2 to 5 years
Over 5 years

In 2019/20 the Authority has funded termination benefits totalling £88k from its revenue budget.

Termination benefits have been received by 21 individuals, 15 of whom were made redundant
following the implemetation of a joint fire control function with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue
Service, and 4 of whom were made redundant due to the closure of the Prince's Trust
Programme. The majority of the termination benefit costs for the fire control merger and the
closure of the Prince's Trust Programme were accounted for in 2018/19 through the creation of
a £648k provision, as the decisions to terminate the employment contracts were made during
the 2018/19 financial year. Of the £593k total termination benefit costs relating to the fire
control merger, £552k was charged to the provision and £41k was charged to the revenue
budget in 2019/20. Of the £135k total relating to the closure of the Prince's Trust Programme,
£96k was charged to the provision and £41k was charged to the revenue budget in 2019/20.

The Authority currently has no assets which would be defined as assets subject to operating 
lease arrangements. This was also the case in 2018/19.

Page 151



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

39 DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES

88

Participation in Pension Schemes
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes 
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not 
actually be payable until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make these 
payments in the future.

As at 31 March 2020 the Authority participates in four post-employment schemes, all of which are 
defined benefit schemes:

1) The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
This scheme is for administrative, support and Control employees. It is a funded scheme, 
which means that contributions are paid into a fund with the intention of balancing pension 
liabilities with pension assets. It is administered in accordance with the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, and it provides benefits based on career average 
revalued earnings. 
The administering authority for the fund is Nottinghamshire County Council. The Pension 
Fund Committee oversees the management of the Fund whilst the day to day Fund 
administration is undertaken by a team within the administering authority. Where 
appropriate some functions are delegated to the Fund's professional advisors. The 
administering authority is responsible for the preparation and maintenance of the Funding 
Strategy Statement and the Investment Strategy Statement. These should be amended 
when appropriate based on the Fund’s performance and funding.
By participating in the Local Government Scheme, the Authority is exposed to a number 
of risks:

a) Investment risk: The Fund holds investments in assets such as equities which have volatile 
market values and, while these asset are expected to provide real returns over the long-
term, the short-term volatility can cause additional funding to be required if a deficit 
emerges.

b) Interest rate risk: The Fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality 
corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As the Fund holds assets such as equities, the 
value of assets and liabilities may not move in the same way.

c) Inflation risk: All of the benefits under the Fund are linked to inflation and so deficits may 
emerge to the extent that the assets are not linked to inflation.

d) Longevity risk: In the event that the members live longer than assumed, a deficit will emerge 
in the fund. There are also other demographic risks.  

e) “Orphan” liability risk: As many unrelated employers participate in the Nottinghamshire 
County Council Pension Fund, there is an orphan liability risk that employers may leave the 
Fund but with insufficient assets to cover their pension obligations so that the difference 
may fall on the remaining employers

These risks are mitigated to a certain extent by the requirement to charge the General 
Fund with the amounts payable to the pension fund or pensioners at the year end, in 
accordance with statute.

Page 152



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

89

2) The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (1992 FPS)
The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 is an unfunded pension scheme. This scheme 
has been closed to new entrants since 6 April 2006. Its members are wholetime
firefighters. It is a defined benefit, final salary scheme and its arrangements are governed 
by statute (the Firemen’s Pension Scheme Order 1992). 

3) The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (2006 NFPS)
The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 is also an unfunded pension scheme. This 
scheme came into effect from April 2006 and its members are retained firefighters and 
wholetime firefighters. Like the 1992 FPS it is a defined benefit, final salary scheme and 
its arrangements are governed by statute (the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) 
Order 2006). The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) (Amendment) Order 2014 
introduced a new modified version of the 2006 Scheme which is available to individuals 
who were employed as retained firefighters during the period 1 July 2000 to 5 April 2006. 
Although this modified version does not constitute a scheme on its own, it has different 
benefits to the main 2006 Scheme. The 2006 Scheme has been closed  to new entrants 
since 1 April 2015.

4) The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015 (2015 FPS)
The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015 came into effect on 1 April 2015. Like the 1992 
FPS and the 2006 NFPS, it is an unfunded defined benefit scheme and its arrangements 
are governed by statute (the Firefighters' Pension Scheme (England) Regulations 2014). 
However, unlike the other two firefighters' schemes, it is a career average rather than a 
final salary scheme. This scheme will eventually replace the 1992 FPS and 2006 NFPS 
after a transitional phase which will last for 10 years. The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 
(England) (Transitional and Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2015  protects the 
rights that members have accrued in the 1992 and 2006 schemes, and sets out the 
transitional arrangements for transferring  members of these schemes into the 2015 
scheme. Its members are retained firefighters and wholetime firefighters who were first 
appointed by an English fire and rescue  authority on or after 1 April 2015, and firefighters 
who were transferred from the 1992 FPS or 2006 NFPS.

The three Firefighters’ Schemes are very similar in nature. They are unfunded pension 
schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets to meet the cost of pension 
liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet pension payments as they fall due. The 
Authority has primary responsibility for meeting the costs and managing the risks relating 
to the firefighters’ pension arrangements. However, there is currently an arrangement in 
place whereby the cost of the schemes are met from contributions paid by employees and 
the Authority, with any deficit in the funding required being met by a top-up grant from the 
Home Office. Any surplus funding is paid over to the Home Office.

The 1992 FPS and 2006 NFPS provide benefits based on final salary and length of 
service at retirement, and the 2015 FPS provides benefits based on revalued average 
salary. The governance arrangements are managed by the Authority, and this essentially 
involves managing the cash flows and being responsible for the administration of the 
schemes. The day to day administration is carried out by Leicestershire County Council 
on behalf of the Authority.

Page 153



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

90

Given that the pension schemes are unfunded, the contributions payable are simply those which 
are sufficient to meet the benefit outgo as and when it arises. As mentioned above, this benefit 
outgo is largely underwritten by the Home Office. By participating in these pension schemes, the 
Authority is exposed to some risks:

a) There are no investment risks in relation to these schemes as they are unfunded. The 
greatest single risk is that the government could change the arrangements for meeting part of 
the benefit outgo, which could increase the Authority’s contributions.

b) There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, discount 
rate) could increase the defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions used to value the 
defined benefit obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less material.

A Pension Top-up Grant is received annually from the government to meet the cost of the net 
funding deficit for the three firefighters' schemes. It is paid directly to the Firefighters’ Pension 
Fund (see the Pension Fund statements on pages 106 to 107) and it is therefore not the 
Authority’s income, however in IAS 19 terms it is a current contribution towards the Authority’s 
liabilities for retirement benefits. The grant is therefore credited to other operating income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The grant is not treated as an asset of the 
firefighters’ pension schemes, but as a source of income to the schemes it does reduce the year 
end pension liability.

Past service costs of £207k relating to the 2006 NFPS are recognised under Corporate and 
Centralised Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These past 
service costs relate to the purchasing of back service credits by members of the Modified 
Scheme. Past service costs of £2,434k relating to the 1992 FPS are also recognised under 
Corporate and Centralised Services. These relate to GMP indexation.

The Authority also participates in the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme. The Firefighters’ 
Compensation Scheme (England) Order 2006 makes provision for the payment of pensions, 
allowances and gratuities to and in respect of persons who die or are permanently disabled as a 
result of an injury sustained or disease contracted while employed by a fire and rescue authority. 
The level of benefits payable is dependent on salary, service and the degree of disablement of 
the individual at the time the injury is incurred. Therefore the level of long term benefits can be 
both material and volatile. For this reason the Compensation Scheme is treated as an unfunded 
defined benefit scheme and accounted for, under International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19), 
in the same manner as for the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. 

The Compensation Scheme is administered by the Authority in accordance with statutory 
arrangements. The cost of the scheme is met solely by the Authority. The risks arising from the 
Authority’s participation in this scheme are as follows:

a) There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, 
discount rate) could increase the defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions used to 
value the defined benefit obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less material. 

b)    There is a risk that the government could change the arrangements of the scheme in such a 
way that the costs incurred by the Authority are significantly increased.

Page 154



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

91

Court of Appeal ruling for Firefighters/Judges Pension Schemes (the Sergeant and 
McCloud cases)
The decisions of the Court of Appeal in the Sargeant/McCloud cases (generally referred to as 
the "McCloud Judgment") ruled that the transitional protections afforded to older members when 
public service pension schemes were amended constituted unlawful age discrimination.

The final remedy to the ruling has yet to be determined in full, although the government has 
launched consultations on their proposals for implementing changes to the Firefighter Schemes 
and the LGPS. When assessing the potential implications of McCloud in the March 2019 IAS 19 
exercise the actuaries calculated the additional liability that would have arisen had members 
who were not afforded protection continued to accrue benefits in the older final salary schemes. 
The approximate costs were included in the overall pension liability figure as at 31 March 2019 
as a past service cost. In preparing the 31 March 2020 accounting figures, the actuaries have 
continued to reflect the potential costs arising from the McCloud Judgement on an approximate 
basis, following on from the exercise undertaken as at 31 March 2019. Once the final remedy is 
known, the actuaries will reassess the accounting position in full across the schemes to reflect 
the actual impact and costs.

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits
The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services 
when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are actually paid as 
pensions. However, the charge against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so 
the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund to the 
Pension Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the 
year:

c)     Historically the number of firefighters who are permanently disabled or who die as a result 
of injuries sustained or diseases contracted whilst in the employment of the Authority is 
very low, so the number of injury pension recipients is relatively small. However, the 
Authority is committed to pay benefits as and when they fall due, so if the number of 
occurrences were to increase it could have a significant impact on the amounts payable. 

Page 155



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

LGPS   £'000

Firefighters' 
schemes 

£'000
LGPS     
£'000

Firefighters' 
schemes 

£'000

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20

2,036 8,972 1,967 9,026
595 23,631 660 2,641

13 0 14 0

569 12,582 547 13,018

3,213 45,185 3,188 24,685

(1,890) 0 3,101 0

(3,245) 0 (1,038) (9,604)

3,062 28,360 (6,789) (9,881)

0 0 1,799 0

0 0 413 0

1,140 73,545 674 5,200

(3,213) (45,185) (3,188) (24,685)

1,012 13,818 1,354 14,862

721 770

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes 
in financial assumptions

92

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure

Net interest expense

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 
Surplus or Defecit on the Provision of Services

Other Post-employment Benefit charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability comprising:

Return on plan assets (excluding the amount 
included in the net interest expense)

Other actuarial gains and losses

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes 
in demographic assumptions

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement
Cost of Services
Service cost comprising:
        - current service costs
        - past service costs
Administration expenses

Experience (gains) and losses

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services for post-
employment benefits in accordance with the 
Code

Actual amount charged against the General 
Fund Balance for pensions in the year:

Employers' contributions payable to the scheme

Page 156



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement
Cost of Services

Service cost comprising:

current service cost 4,266 1,981 2,834 290 1,099 4,803 827 1,898

past service cost 2,434 31,362 207 10,769 0 (18,500) 0 0

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Net interest expense 10,836 10,437 1,188 855 194 515 800 775
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 17,536 43,780 4,229 11,914 1,293 (13,182) 1,627 2,673

Other Post-employment Benefits charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 
comprising:
Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 
demographic assumptions

(7,976) 0 (895) (127) (606)

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 
financial assumptions

(7,416) 20,804 (1,473) 3,097 (276) 2,331 (716) 2,128

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

2,144 64,584 1,861 15,011 890 (10,851) 305 4,801

Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services for post-
employment benefits in accordance with the Code

(17,536) (43,780) (4,229) (11,914) (1,293) 13,182 (1,627) (2,673)

Actual amount charged against the General Fund 
Balance for pensions in the year:
Employers’ contributions payable to the scheme 
(inclusive of government top-up grant)

15,913 15,386 (658) (20) (393) (1,548)

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners 770 721

Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme 

1992 £’000

Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme 

2006 £’000

Firefighters’ 
Compensation 
Scheme £’000

Firefighters' 
Pension Scheme 

2015 £'000

9
3

P
age 157



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Firefighters' Schemes:

£’000 
2019/20

£’000 
2018/19

£’000 
2019/20

£’000 
2018/19

£’000 
2019/20

£’000 
2018/19

£’000 
2019/20

£’000 
2018/19

Opening balance at 1 April (457,311) (408,113) (47,760) (32,729) (7,330) (16,633) (33,317) (29,237)

Current service cost (4,266) (1,981) (2,834) (290) (1,099) (4,803) (827) (1,898)

Past service cost (2,434) (31,362) (207) (10,769) 0 18,500 0 0

Interest cost (10,836) (10,437) (1,188) (855) (194) (515) (800) (775)

Contributions from scheme participants (1,081) (587) (906) (140) (326) (1,605) 0 0

Remeasurement gains and (losses):

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions

7,976 0 895 0 127 0 606 0

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

7,416 (20,804) 1,473 (3,097) 276 (2,331) 716 (2,128)

Benefits paid net of transfers (in)/out 16,994 15,973 248 120 (67) 57 770 721

Closing balance at 31 March (443,542) (457,311) (50,279) (47,760) (8,613) (7,330) (32,852) (33,317)

Unfunded Liabilities: 
Firefighters' Pension 

Scheme 2015

Unfunded Liabilities: 
Firefighters’ Pension 

Scheme 1992

Unfunded Liabilities: 
Firefighters’ Pension 

Scheme 2006

Unfunded Liabilities: 
Firefighters’ 

Compensation Scheme

9
4

Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet

Reconciliations of the amounts included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans:

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation)P
age 158



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation)
Local Government Pension Scheme:

£’000 
2018/19

£’000 
2019/20

(53,572) Opening balance at 1 April (57,049)
(2,036) Current service cost (1,967)

(595) Past service cost (624)
(1,362) Interest cost (1,357)

(360)
Contributions from scheme 
participants

(348)

Remeasurement gains and (losses):

3,245
Actuarial gains/losses arising from 
changes in demographic 
assumptions

1,038

(3,062)
Actuarial gains/losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions

6,789

0
Experience gains/losses on defined 
benefit obligation

(1,799)

671 Benefits paid net of transfers (in)/out 2,024
22 Unfunded pension payments 22

(57,049) Closing balance at 31 March (53,271)

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the Local Government Pension Scheme Assets

£’000 
2018/19

£’000 
2019/20

30,870
Opening fair value of scheme 
assets

34,027

793 Interest income 810
Remeasurement gain/(loss):

1,890
The return on plan assets, excluding 
the amount included in the net 
interest expense

(3,101)

0 Other actuarial gains/(losses) (413)
820 Contributions from employer 1,131

360
Contributions from employees into the 
scheme

348

(693)
Benefits paid (including unfunded 
benefits)

(2,024)

(13) Administration expenses (14)

34,027 Closing fair value of scheme assets 30,764

95

Funded Liabilities: Local Government Pension Scheme

Local Government Pension Scheme

Page 159



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

£’000 % Quoted
% 
Unquoted

£’000 % Quoted
% 
Unquoted

Equities:

8,285 24% <1% • UK investments 6,701 22% 1%

12,053 36% • Overseas investments 10,097 33%

781 2%
• Private equity investments – 
unspecified origin

957 3%

21,119 60% 2% Equities subtotal 17,755 55% 3%

Gilts:
1,108 3% • UK fixed interest gilts 1,278 4%
1,108 3% Gilts subtotal 1,278 4%

Other Bonds:
3,084 9% • UK corporate bonds 1,075 4%

69 <1% • Overseas corporate bonds 1,752 6%
3,153 9% Bonds subtotal 2,827 9%

4,605 14% Property 4,587 15%
822 2% Cash / temporary investments 1,254 4%

1,237 4% Inflation-linked pooled fund 1,149 4%
1,638 5% Infrastructure 1,914 6%

345 1% Unit trust

34,027 72% 28% Total 30,764 68% 32%

96

Fair value of scheme assets at 
31 March 2019

Fair value of scheme assets at 
31 March 2020

Further information about the Fund's assets can be obtained from the Pension Fund Annual Report, 
which can be accessed online at www.nottspf.org.uk.

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate 
of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc. The liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme and the Firefighters' schemes 
have been assessed by Barnett Waddingham Public Sector Consulting and Mercer Limited respectively, 
both of whom are independent firms of actuaries.

The most recent full actuarial valuations for the Local Government Pension Scheme and the Firefighters' 
schemes were carried out at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 respectively. Both firms of actuaries 
have adopted a roll-forward approach to updating the net liabilities as at 31 March 2020. This approach 
takes into account the cashflows paid into and out of each scheme before taking into consideration any 
changes in assumptions. 

The rate of interest used to discount the post-employment benefit obligations is based on the market 
yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds of equivalent currency and term to the 
scheme liabilities. In assessing the liabilities for retirement benefits at 31 March 2020 Barnett 
Waddingham has used a discount rate of 2.35% for the Local Government Pension Scheme (compared 
with 2.4% at 31 March 2019), and Mercer Ltd has used a rate of 2.4% for the Firefighters' Schemes 
(unchanged from 2.4% at 31 March 2019).

Page 160



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

The principal assumptions used by the actuaries in their calculations were:

2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19
Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current 
pensioners (LGPS) and at 60 for 
current pensioners (FF Schemes):

Men 21.8 21.6 26.2 26.4 23.6 23.8
Women 24.4 24.4 28.3 28.4 25.7 25.8

Longevity at 65 for future 
pensioners (LGPS) and at 60 for 
future pensioners (FF Schemes):

Men 23.2 23.3 28.5 28.3 25.8 25.7
Women 25.8 26.2 30.5 30.3 27.9 27.7

Rate of inflation (CPI) 1.85% 2.40% 2.10% 2.20% 2.10% 2.20%
Rate of increase in salaries 2.85% 3.90% 3.60% 3.70% 3.60% 3.70%
Rate of increase in pensions 1.85% 2.40% 2.20% 2.30% 2.20% 2.30%
Rate of revaluation of CARE 
pensions (2015 Scheme only)

3.35% 3.50%

Rate for discounting scheme* 2.35% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40%

*The discount rate is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds.

Sensitivity analysis for the Firefighters’ Schemes

Impact on 
the defined 

benefit 
liability £’000

Impact on 
the 

projected 
service cost  

£’000

Increase discount rate by 0.1% p.a. -9,694 -209
Increase inflation by 0.1% p.a. 9,891 213
Increase pay growth by 0.1% p.a. 1,822 48
Increase life expectancy by 1 year 15,369 263

Firefighters' 
Compensation 
Scheme

Local 
Government 
Pension Scheme

Firefighters' 
Schemes 1992, 
2006 and 2015

Firefighters’ Schemes 
(consolidated)

97

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the 
table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonable possible 
changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change 
that the assumption analysed changes while all other assumptions remain constant. This approach is 
not necessarily realistic, since some assumptions are related: for example, if inflation were to increase 
it might be reasonable to expect that nominal yields on corporate bonds will increase also. However, it 
enables the reader to isolate one effect from another. The methods and types of assumptions used in 
preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period.

Page 161



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Sensitivity analysis for the LGPS
Impact of an 
increase of 

+0.1% £'000

Impact of a 
decrease of -
0.1% £'000

Adjustment to discount rate:
Impact on the defined benefit liability -1,168 1,197
Impact on the projected service cost -44 45
Adjustment to long term salary increase:
Impact on the defined benefit liability 139 -137
Impact on the projected service cost 1 -1
Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation:
Impact on the defined benefit liability 1,063 -1,038
Impact on the projected service cost 45 -43
Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption:
Impact on the defined benefit liability 1,945 -1,872
Impact on the projected service cost 53 -51

98

Asset and Liability Matching Strategy

The Local Government Pension Scheme does not use any asset and liability matching strategies to 
manage risk. The Pension Fund Annual Report details the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments, and the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk Register details the 
measures taken to mitigate those risks. These documents are available at www.nottspf.org.uk.

Impact on the Authority’s Cash Flows

The defined benefit liability shows the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run 
to pay retirement benefits. The total liability of £558m has a substantial impact on the net worth of 
the Authority as recorded in the Balance Sheet, however statutory arrangements for funding the 
deficit mean that the financial position of the Authority remains healthy:

• The net liability on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by increased 
contributions over the remaining working life of employees (i.e. before payments fall due), as 
assessed by the scheme actuary. The aims of the Fund are to keep employer contribution rates 
as constant as possible. Contributions are set every three years as a result of the actuarial 
valuation of the Fund required by the Regulations. The next actuarial valuation of the Fund will be 
carried out as at 31 March 2022 and will set contributions for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 
March 2026. There are no minimum funding requirements in the LGPS but the long term funding 
objective is for the Fund to achieve and then maintain sufficient assets to cover 100% of projected 
accrued liabilities.

Page 162



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

40 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

99

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover firefighter pensions when the pensions are actually 
paid, and any shortfalls are currently met by the Home Office.

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover the costs of the firefighters’ compensation scheme 
when the pensions are actually paid, and these costs are included in the Authority’s annual 
budget. The amount spent in 2018/19 was £731k.

The total contributions expected to be made by the Authority to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme in the year to 31 March 2021 is £934k. The total expected contributions for the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes and Compensation Scheme are £15.6m inclusive of government top-up grant.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Members is 23 years. The weighted average durations of the defined benefit obligations of 
the 1992 FPS, 2006 NFPS, 2015 FPS and the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme are 17 years, 29 
years, 32 years and 22 years respectively.

At 31 March 2020, the Authority had no contingent assets

At 31 March 2019, the Authority has two contingent liabilities relating to employment tribunals. One of 
the claims is for unfair dismissal and disability discrimination, the other is for sex discrimination
and potential disability discrimination. It is not possible at this stage to quantify the amount of a 
penalty against the Authority if such a claim was to be successful.

Page 163



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

41 NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

100

The Authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 

Authority
 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its 

commitments to make payments
 Re-financing risk – the possibility that the Authority may be required to renew a financial 

instrument on maturity at less advantageous interest rates or terms
 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in, for 

example, interest rates.

Overall procedures for managing risk

The Authority's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictablility of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to 
fund services. Risk management is carried out by the Finance Team, in conjunction with 
treasury advisors from Link Asset Services. Risk Management policies are approved by the 
Authority. 

The procedures for managing risk are set out through a legal framework based on the Local 
Government Act 2003 and associated regulations. These require the Authority to comply with 
the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and investment guidance. Overall, these procedures require the Authority to 
manage risk in the following ways:

• by formally adopting the requirements of the the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice;

• by the adoption of a Treasury Policy Statement and treasury management clauses within its 
financial regulations/standing orders;

• by approving annually in advance prudential and treasury indicators for the following three 
years limiting:

• The Authority's overall borrowing;
• Its maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structures of its debt;
• Its management of interest rate exposure;
• Its maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year.

• by approving an investment strategy for the forthcoming year, setting out its criteria for both 
investing and selecting investment counterparties in compliance with Government 
guidance.

The annual treasury management strategy and prudential code indicators for 2019/20 were 
approved by the Authority on 15 February 2019. They are available on the Nottingham City 
Council website. The key issues within the treasury management strategy were:
 The Authorised Limit for 2019/20 was set at £33.7m. This is the maximum limit of 

external borrowings or other long term liabilities.
 The Operational Boundary was set at £30.6m. This is the expected maximum level of 

debt and other long term liabilities during the year.
 The maximum proportions of fixed and variable interest rate exposure were set at 100% 

and 30% respectively.
 Maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structure of debt were set, which 

restricted the amount of short term debt as a way of reducing exposure to re-financing 
risk.

 An upper limit of £2.0m was set for principal sums invested for longer than 364 days.

The Authority has adopted the  CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (updated) and sets prudential and treasury 
indicators each year to control the key risks arising from financial instruments.

Page 164



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

101

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures 
to the Authority's customers. The risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, 
which is contained within the Annual Treasury Management Strategy.

The Annual Investment Strategy required that deposits are not made with financial institutions 
unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria, in accordance with the Fitch, Moody's, and 
Standard & Poor's Credit Rating Services. The Authority has a list of approved banks and 
financial institutions to which it will lend surplus cash. The list is based on minimum independent 
credit ratings from the Credit Rating Services, which are overlaid by credit outlooks, credit 
default swap spreads and sovereign ratings to give an overall rating for each counterparty which 
indicates a maximum term for investments. The annual investment strategy also considers 
maximum amounts to be deposited with any one institution. The Authority is advised of ratings 
changes by Link Asset Services and the list is updated accordingly on an ongoing basis. 

The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments with banks and 
other local authorities cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make 
interest payments or to repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution. 
Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their 
commitments, and there was no evidence at 31 March 2020 that any of the Authority’s deposits 
might not be repaid.

Invoices to customers for chargeable services are usually of relatively low value. The Authority 
actively pursues outstanding debts, and the Debt Recovery Policy provides for non emergency 
services to be ceased to non paying customers.

Amounts arising from Expected Credit Losses

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not 
take place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial 
part in assessing losses, particularly where risk has increased significantly since the investment 
or debtor was initially recognised. Impairment is based on the principle of credit loss, which is 
defined as cash shortfalls measured by the difference between the cash flows that are 
contractually due to the Authority, and the cash flows that the Authority expects to receive.

Changes to credit risk relating to investments are assessed based on information obtained from 
Credit Rating Services, the financial press, and the Authority’s treasury advisors. Credit risk 
relating to investments will also be deemed to have increased significantly should contractual 
payments of principal or interest become more than 30 days overdue. 

Since the Annual Investment Strategy prohibits the use of investment counterparties that do not 
meet minimum creditworthiness criteria, all investments are considered to have low credit risk 
upon initial recognition. 

Credit risk relating to trade receivables is not deemed to have increased significantly until 
payments become more than 120 days overdue. The Authority is very successful at collecting 
trade debtors, which is reflected by the fact that less than 1% of debts have been written off 
during the past five years. Experience shows that debts are highly likely to be recovered, and of 
the relatively small proportion of debts that reach the stage of 120 or more days overdue around 
12% will be written off.

In accordance with the Authority’s accounting policies, lifetime expected credit losses have 
been calculated for trade receivables and 12-month expected credit losses have been 
calculated for investments. 

Page 165



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

The Authority has the following exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2020:

0.04% 0
0.02% 0
0.05% 10,737

0.00% 7

0.00% 0
0.00% 1
0.00% 0
0.00% 1
0.00% 0

A
AA

61-90 days

102

121+ days
91-120 days

Simplified approach (lifetime 
credit losses for trade 
receivables)

Not due

31-60 days
1-30 days

Credit risk rating / 
Provision matrix 

category
12-month expected credit losses

Gross Carrying 
amount £'000s

AAA

Historical 
experience 
of default

The lifetime expected credit losses were assessed using a provision matrix which calculates a 
fixed provision rate based on the number of days that a receivable is past due, assessed on the 
basis of historical experience from the previous five years and adjusted (if necessary) to reflect 
current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. A loss allowance is not recognised for 
expected credit losses on a financial instrument where the counterparty is central government or 
a local authority for which relevant statutory provisions prevent default.

The calculation for the 12-month expected credit losses was based on the historic default rate for 
A-rated investments which was produced by combining multi-year historic default rate data up to 
the end of December 2019 from the three main credit rating agencies. The credit losses were 
found to be immaterial and have therefore not been recognised. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk

The Authority manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures outlined 
above (the setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury 
management strategy), as well as through cash flow management processes. This ensures 
that sufficient cash balances are maintained to meet daily revenue requirements without 
recourse to borrowing other than short term borrowing to deal with temporary cash flow 
deficits.  

The Authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets to cover any day to 
day cash flow needs and is able to access borrowings from the Public Works Loan Board for 
longer term funds so there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise funds in order to 
meet its commitments relating to financial liabilities. 

All trade and other payables are due to be repaid within one year.

Page 166



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Less 
than 1 
year

Between 
1 and 5 
years

Between 
5 and 10 

years
Over 10 
years

Over 20 
years

Total

Approved 
minimum limits

Approved 
maximum limits

Actual 31 March 
2019
£000s

103

0%

0%

0%

0%

30%

20%

30%

75%

100%

100%

4,117

1,612

5,000

2,000

16,900

29,629

Actual 31 March 
2020
£000s

1,581

3,058

3,500

2,000

18,400

28,539

The approved treasury indicator limits for the maturity structure of debt and the limits placed on 
investments placed for greater than one year in duration are the key parameters used to 
address this risk. The Finance team manages the risk within the approved parameters by:

 monitoring the maturity profile of financial liabilities and amending the profile through 
either new borrowing or the rescheduling of the existing debt; and

 monitoring the maturity profile of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is available for
the Authority’s day to day cash flow needs, and the spread of longer-term investments
provide stability of maturities and returns in relation to the longer term cash flow needs.

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows, with the maximum and
minimum limits for fixed interest rates maturing in each period:

Re-financing and Maturity Risk

The risk to which the Authority is exposed is that it will need to replenish its borrowings when 
interest rates are unfavourable. The Authority’s strategy is to place limits on the percentage of 
borrowings due to mature within 10 years, as follows: maturing within 12 months – less than 
20%; maturing 12 months to 5 years – less than 30%; maturing 5 years to 10 years – less than 
75%. Between 0% and 100% of borrowings may fall due for repayment after 10 years, and 
between 30% and 100% of borrowings may fall due for repayment after 20 years. This 
strategy allows the Authority time to restructure debt when interest rates are favourable. 

The Authority maintains a significant debt and investment portfolio.  Whilst the cash flow 
procedures above ensure adequate liquidity, longer-term risk to the Authority relates to 
managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments as they mature.  This risk relates to 
both the maturing of longer term financial liabilities and longer term financial assets.

Page 167



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

£'000
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings 5,272

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be an equivalent increase in fair value.

104

Market Risk

Price risk

The Authority has no investments in equity shares and therefore has no exposure to loss 
arising from movements in share prices.

Foreign exchange risk

The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and 
therefore has no exposure to loss arising from exchange rate movements.

Interest rate risk

The Authority is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  
Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Authority. For instance, a rise in 
variable and fixed interest rates would have the following effects:

 Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services will rise

 Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the borrowing will fall (no impact on revenue 
balances)

 Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services will rise

 Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall (no impact on revenue 
balances).

Borrowings are not carried at fair value on the balance sheet, so nominal gains and losses on 
fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  However, changes in interest payable and 
receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance.  Movements in the fair 
value of fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in the Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The strategy is to set a maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to 
variable rates. This maximum is determined annually, kept under review and reported to the 
Fire Authority through the Treasury Management Strategy. In 2019/20 this maximum was set 
at 30%. In addition, the annual Treasury Management Strategy includes an expectation of 
interest rate movements, which can be taken into account when planning borrowing and 
investment activities and when determining whether fixed or variable rate instruments are 
appropriate. The portfolio of long term borrowings is kept under review and may be 
restructured when interest rate changes make it advantageous to do so. 

If all interest rates had been 1% higher (with all other variables held constant) the financial 

Page 168



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

42 INTERESTS IN COMPANIES

Key Financial Information for Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

Profit and Loss
393 Turnover 386

4 Operating Profit/(Loss) -12
4 Profit/(Loss) on Ordinary Activities before Taxation -12
3 Profit/(Loss) on Ordinary Activities after Taxation -11

Balance Sheet
256 Total assets less current liabilities 245

105

Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited.

Principal activities

Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited is a limited company and wholly owned by 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service. The company was formed on 31st March 
2010. The company is engaged in fire extinguisher sales and maintenance together with 
some safety training activity. 

It has been determined that the Authority does control this subsidiary on the basis that 
the Authority has the power to govern its financial and operating policies so as to benefit 
from its activities because the board of directors of the subsidiary comprises five elected 
members. The accounts of this subsidiary are not consolidated with the accounts of the 
Authority because the turnover of the company and the value of the Authority’s 
investment in it are not material when considered in the context of the Authority’s 
accounts, and corporate governance objectives can be effectively achieved without 
consolidation. Instead, separate financial statements are prepared for the Authority and 
for the subsidiary. The Authority has the ability to invest in the subsidiary (in the form of a 
loan) . There is currently no loan outstanding but any balance would be accounted for at 
cost and shown as a short term investment on the Authority’s Balance Sheet and a 
liability on the subsidiary’s Balance Sheet.

The company is considered to be a related party to the Authority, and details of 
transactions between the two entities have been disclosed in Note 35. The Authority’s 
maximum exposure to loss from its interest in the subsidiary is limited to the share capital 
sum of £1.

The accounts  of the company can be obtained from:

Nottinghamshire Fire Safety Limited
Bestwood Lodge
Bestwood Lodge Drive
Arnold
Nottingham
Nottinghamshire

Page 169



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

Contributions Receivable
Fire Authority:

(2,774) Contributions in relation to pensionable pay (5,181)
(115) Other (Ill Health Retirements) (73)

(2,330) Firefighters’ contributions (2,312)
(5,219) Total Contributions Receivable (7,566)

Transfers in from other authorities
(13) Transfers in from other schemes (56)

Benefits Payable
12,891 Pensions 13,659

3,410 Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 3,619
79 Lump sum death benefits 26
75 Other 21

16,455 Total Benefits Payable 17,325

Refunds of Contributions
4 Contribution holiday refund payments 0

11,227 9,703

(8,689) Top-up grant received from Central Government (7,219)

(2,538) (2,484)

0 0

PENSION FUND ACCOUNT

106

Net Amount payable for the year before top-up grant from 
Central Government

Balance of top-up grant for the year (receivable 
from)/payable to Central Government

Page 170



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000

Current Assets
1,041 Prepaid Pensions 1,052
2,538 Pension top-up grant receivable from Central Government 2,484
3,579 Total 3,536

Current Liabilities

(221) Unpaid pension benefits (387)
(20) Tax payable on behalf of members (25)

(3,338) Amount owing (to)/from General Fund (3,124)
(3,579) Total (3,536)

0 Net Current Assets 0

PENSION NET ASSETS STATEMENT

107

The net current assets and liabilities arising from the operation of the pension fund are shown in
this statement. This statement does not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other
benefits after the period end. Such liabilities are shown in the core accounting statements and
are explained in more detail in note 39.

Page 171



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

NOTES TO THE PENSION STATEMENTS

108

1. The Firefighters’ Pension Fund

The Firefighters' Pension Fund was established for Fire Authorities in England under the 
Firefighters' Pension Scheme (Amendment) (England) Order 2006. Until April 2015 there were 
two separate pension schemes for firefighters: the 1992 Scheme and the 2006 Scheme. 

The Firefighters' Pension Scheme (England) (Amendment) Order 2014 introduced a new 
modified version of the 2006 Scheme which is available to individuals who were employed as 
retained firefighters during the period 1 July 2000 to 5 April 2006. Although this modified 
version does not constitute a scheme on its own, it has different benefits to the main 2006 
Scheme and is therefore often referred to separately as the "Modified Scheme". The Modified 
Scheme came into being on 1 April 2014. Individuals who have elected to join the Modified 
Scheme can choose to pay their historic contributions either by a lump sum or in instalments 
over a 10 year period. These contributions are being accounted for in the year that the cash is 
received as the individuals concerned do not accrue any additional pensionable service until 
the contributions are paid. 

The Firefighters' Pension Scheme (England) Regulations 2015 introduced a new pension 
scheme which came into being on 1 April 2015. This is referred to as the 2015 Scheme. This 
scheme will eventually replace the 1992 and 2006 Schemes. 

All Firefighters' Pension Schemes are unfunded and consequently the fund holds no 
investment assets. Benefits are payable to pensioners in accordance with with the regulations. 
Benefits payable are funded by contributions from employees and from the Authority, and any 
deficit in the funding required is met by a top-up grant from the Home Office. If the amounts 
receivable exceed the amounts payable then the surplus is paid over to the Home Office. 
Employees' and employer's contribution rates are set nationally by central government and are 
subject to a triennial review by the Government Actuary's Department.

The fund is administered by the Authority in accordance with the regulations. The primary 
objective of the Pension Fund Statements is to demonstrate the balance of transactions taking 
place over the year in order to identify the amount of top-up grant payable from, or surplus 
payable to, the Home Office.

2. Accounting Policies for the Pension Fund

General Principles
The Pension Fund Account and Net Assets Statement summarise the Pension Fund 
transactions for the 2019/20 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2020.  It 
has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2019/20.

Accruals
Activity is generally accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash 
payments are made or received. This is known as the accruals basis. However, employee and
employer contributions are not accounted for on an accruals basis as the effect of doing so is 
not material. Accruals are shown as debtors and creditors in the Net Assets Statement. In all 
cases, reasonably accurate calculations of accruals have been possible with the information 
available at the time of preparing the financial statements. The one exception to this policy is 
the treatment of historic employee contributions paid into the Modified Scheme (see note 1 
above for details).

Page 172



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

109

Administration Costs
The cost of managing pension activities, which includes part of the costs of Human Resources, 
Payroll and Finance staff as well as part of the cost of Pension Services provided by 
Leicestershire County Council and the cost of actuarial services, are not accounted for within 
the Pension Fund but are included in the Authority’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.

3. The Liability to Pay Pensions

The Authority has a liability to pay future retirement benefits to current members of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. The value of this liability has been assessed by an independent 
firm of actuaries and is shown in the Authority’s Balance Sheet and explained further in note 39 
to the core financial statements. The Pension Fund Account and Net Assets Statement do not 
take account of this liability.

4. Accruals Within the Pension Fund and Net Assets Statement

Prepaid Pensions
Retirement benefits payable under the 1992 Scheme are generally paid to members monthly in 
advance. The payments made in March 2020 relating to April 2020 and have been treated as 
prepayments.

Pension Top-Up Grant Payable/Receivable
The amount required to be paid by the Home Office in order to balance the Pension Fund to nil 
has been calculated and accrued for.

Unpaid Pension Benefits
A number of pension lump sums relating to retirements in 2019/20 have been accrued for.

Tax Payable on Behalf of Members
Some pension payments are classed as unauthorised by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC). Members must pay tax on any unauthorised payments they receive. When the 
payments are made to the members, the Authority deducts the tax that is due and pays it over 
to HMRC on the member's behalf. Tax that has been deducted but not yet paid over to HMRC 
has been accrued for.

5. Financing of the Pension Fund

The Authority does not operate a separate bank account for Pension Fund transactions. 
Instead, all Pension Fund cash transactions go through the Authority’s main bank account. 
These amounts are shown as “Amounts owing from the General Fund”. Top-up grant received 
in advance from central government is based on an estimate - an overpayment of grant is 
recovered after the year end and an underpayment of grant is paid to the Authority after the 
year end. The amount of grant payable by the Home Office to the Authority in respect of the 
2019/20 financial year is £2,512k, and this is included in the Pension Net Assets Statement. 
The difference between the grant payable and the cash deficit of £3,152k as at 31 March 2020 
is the total of the accruals included in the Pension Fund.

Page 173



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

110

6. Contingent liability

The Authority is required to disclose if there are possible obligations which may require 
payment or a transfer of economic value. No significant contingent liabilities have been 
identified at the Balance Sheet date.

Page 174



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

111

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority (the Authority) is responsible for ensuring 
that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  The Authority also has a duty under the Local Government 
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvements in the way in 
which its functions are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Authority is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise 
of its functions, use of its resources and including arrangements for the management 
of risk and the maintenance of an effective internal control environment.

The Authority has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is 
consistent with the principles of the CIPFA / Solace framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government.

This statement sets out how the Authority has complied with the code and also meets 
the requirements of regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2015 in relation to the publication of an annual governance statement.

THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values for 
the direction and control of the Authority and the activities through which it accounts to, 
engages with and leads the community. It enables the Authority to monitor the 
achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have 
led to the delivery of appropriate and cost-effective services.

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is part of an on-
going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority's policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

A key element of the Internal Control Environment is the development and 
maintenance of Strategic, Corporate and Departmental risk registers which are 
understood and managed by senior managers.

The governance framework has been in place at the Authority for a number of years 
and regular reviews have been carried out periodically. In 2016/17 a full review of the 
Local Code of Corporate Governance was carried out and a new Local Code was 
adopted in line with the CIPFA / Solace framework which was revised in 2016. 

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Page 175



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

112

THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

In addition to the Annual Governance Statement the Authority has a Code of 
Corporate Governance that the Authority will commit to in carrying out its duties and 
responsibilities. In this document, officers have identified against each of the Code’s 
principles what source documentation or existing practice demonstrates how the 
Authority complies with the principles that make up the Code. 

In developing a code of corporate governance, the Authority had the aim of seeking 
compliance with the CIPFA / Solace guidelines and recognised that these constitute 
good practice for local authority organisations.

The Local Code of Corporate Governance was adopted by the Authority in February 
2017. This Annual Governance Statement, and the annual review of governance is 
against this framework.

Summarised below are some of the key elements of the systems and processes 
that underlie the Authority’s governance arrangements:

Identifying and Communicating the Authority’s vision and outcomes for 
citizens and service users 

After consulting with the citizens of Nottinghamshire and service users, assessing 
current risks and service priorities, the Authority is required to prepare an Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (IRMP) that sets out the vision and service objectives for 
the organisation. The IRMP is delivered via the Strategic Plan 2019 - 2022 which 
was approved by Fire Authority in February 2019 and revised in February 2020 to 
reflect the outcome of the HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
and Fire and Rescue Services) and the appointment of a new Chair to the Fire 
Authority.

The Strategic Plan sets out how the service aims to achieve its vision of creating 
safer communities. The vision is underpinned by our three strategic aims:

• To provide high quality services;
•  To ensure that our employees are engaged and motivated;
• To provide strong Governance and Financial Sustainability.

The Plan sets out to achieve these aims using annual action plans which detail the 
key objectives for the year ahead.  These cascade down to departmental business 
plans.  Progress is monitored by the Programme and Performance Board and 
reviewed through Fire Authority governance.  Every year a Statement of Assurance 
is produced which outlines how the service has performed against the Strategic 
Plan.

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

Page 176



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

113

The Internal Control Environment

The Authority’s internal control environment comprises many systems, policies, 
procedures and operations. These can be broadly split into risk management, 
internal check/financial control and internal audit. Internal check and financial 
control are targeted towards financial matters whereas risk management has a 
much broader brief and is more associated with the risk of non-achievement of 
objectives and targets.  The system cannot eliminate all risks of failure to achieve 
the Authority’s aims and objectives. Once a risk has been identified the Authority, 
where possible, will eliminate that risk. If this is not possible or not cost effective 
then procedures are established to manage the risk effectively, efficiently and 
economically. Some of the significant control processes are outlined below. 

Policy and Decision Making Process

The Authority has democratic control over its activities via an approved committee 
structure with agreed powers and duties that are periodically reviewed. The 
Authority has a written constitution that sets out how the Authority operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable. There is a formal briefing process prior to 
reports being finalised for Committee or Fire Authority meetings thus allowing key 
Members an opportunity to scrutinise proposed reports in detail. The Authority also 
runs Member seminars and training sessions to help Members discuss issues in 
more detail and in an informal environment. 

Management Structure

The Authority has a clear management structure with defined roles and 
responsibilities. The Strategic Leadership Team includes all department heads as 
well as the Principal Officers. The current structure empowers managers to make 
appropriate decisions but also places accountability at the centre of this process. 

The Authority has an approved scheme of delegation to officers that is reviewed 
periodically by the Chief Fire Officer and the Clerk to the Fire Authority, with any 
changes being approved by the Fire Authority.

Established Policies, Procedures & Regulations

The Authority ensures compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and 
regulations. The information regarding policies and procedures is held on the 
intranet, and these are continually enhanced and developed through the 
introduction of new policies and procedures as and when required. The Authority 
has established policies on anti-fraud and whistleblowing. The Authority carries out 
a regular review of financial regulations which clearly define how decisions are 
taken and the processes and controls required to manage risk. The list below 
outlines some of the 

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

3.6.4

Page 177



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

114

key policies and process in place to enhance the internal control system, which are 
reviewed as and when required: 

• Treasury Management Strategy
• Procurement Strategy
•  Financial Regulations & Standing Orders
• Scheme of Delegation
• Counter Fraud, Money Laundering, Corruption and Bribery Policy
•  Whistleblowing Policy
• Complaints procedure
•  Code of Corporate Governance
• Constitution
• Code of Conduct
• Equality and Diversity framework
• Workforce plan
• Full range of robust policies and procedures to underpin the conduct

of staff from operational procedures, discipline processes, 
through to performance development reviews 

Internal Audit Function

The Authority has a strong Internal Audit function arrangement with Nottinghamshire 
County Council, and has well-established protocols for working with External Audit. 

Risk Management Strategy

The Authority has a well-established and embedded risk management strategy. This 
is managed at the corporate/strategic level by The Finance and Resources 
Committee which receive regular reports on risk exposures both in terms of existing 
and emergent risk. Members scrutinise risk registers and receive explanations for 
changes. The Committee is advised by the Head of Finance and the Service’s Risk 
Manager on behalf of the Chief Fire Officer. 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise risks to the achievement of Service policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood and impact of those risks being realised and facilitate a risk 
management culture to enable risks to be effectively assessed, managed, monitored 
and reported. 

Business Continuity Management (BCM)

Under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) (Part 1. Para 2(1) (C)) and The Fire and 
Rescue Services Act 2004 there is a duty for all Category 1 Responders to prepare 
plans to ensure so far as reasonably practicable, that if in an emergency the Service 
can perform its core functions.

3.6.5

3.6.6

3.6.7

Page 178



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

115

Best Value Duty

The Authority ensures the economical, effective and efficient use of resources, and 
secures continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, by 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness as 
required by the Best Value duty. The requirement to deliver services within a 
reducing budget over recent years has increased the focus on Best Value and the 
Authority has procurement policies in place, providing a framework within which to 
buy goods and services which offer good value for money. 

Financial Management

Financial management in the Authority and the reporting of financial standing is 
undertaken through a financial system which integrates the general ledger, sales 
ledger and purchase ledger functions and facilitates good budgetary control. Budget 
Managers are supported by Finance Officers in the use of this system for monitoring 
financial performance.

The timetable for publishing and auditing the Authority’s Statement of Accounts is 
set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  These have been amended for 
the 2019/20 Statement of Accounts to allow additional time to prepare the accounts 
in the light of Covid-19.  The publishing date of the unaudited accounts has been 
extended from 31 May to 31 August and the approval by Fire Authority of the 
audited accounts from 31 July to 30 November 2020.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

The Authority has responsibility for conducting a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control, at least annually. 
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the Strategic Leadership 
Team and other senior managers within the Authority who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Internal Audit 
annual report, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other 
review agencies and inspectorates. 

Maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework 
throughout the financial year has been carried out by the following: 

• The Authority and its Committees 
• Management Review 
• Internal audit 
• External bodies 

The Authority and its Committees

The Authority reviewed the vision and strategic service objectives as part of the 
development of the Strategic Plan and has annual action plans in place to help 
deliver these objectives.  The budget process takes into consideration the strategic 
objectives, with all new projects being evaluated against them. The budgeting 

3.6.8

3.6.9

4.0

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.3.1

Page 179



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

116

process also had a measure of Member scrutiny with the Chair of the Finance and 
Resources Committee taking an active role.  

At the annual general meeting in June of each year, the format and structure of its 
democratic decision process is reaffirmed and approval is given to the powers and 
make-up of the following committees: 

• The Policy and Strategy Committee
• The Finance and Resources Committee 
• The Community Safety Committee 
• The Human Resources Committee

In addition to the above Committees, there are also panels for appointments, 
Equalities, Personnel matters and the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes.

Terms of reference and responsibilities for all these Committees form part of the 
Authority’s Governance arrangements.

Management Review 

Included in the day to day management of the organisation are a number of key 
officers, systems and procedures designed to provide core elements of the internal 
control mechanism, with a nominated lead officer responsible for reviewing the 
effectiveness of these systems. 

Performance Management
There is a system of performance management and review embedded within the 
Authority’s management structure and processes. The 2019/22 Strategic Plan set 
out the Authority’s key objectives and these are reflected in annual departmental 
business plans. These plans are then monitored by the Programme and 
Performance Board and managed by the individual departmental management 
teams.    

Work is almost complete on a new performance management framework.  New 
software has been purchased and has been populated, with some refinement work 
in the process of being completed.  The aim of this work is to improve the 
management of organisational performance and to increase accountability to the 
community in respect of the way that services are delivered. 

Risk Management
Risk management at the strategic / corporate level forms part of the overall 
responsibilities of The Finance and Resources Committee and Members of this 
committee take a keen interest in Risk Management and receive update reports 
every six months. Risk Management is an integral part of project management and 
business planning within the Corporate Support department and both this and 
operational risk management are considered strong.  The Service has a Risk 
Assurance Team which is responsible for corporate risk, operational risk and health 
and safety risk.  The purpose of this is to enhance the co-ordination of assurance 
activities and management of risk within the Service.  

4.3.2

4.3.3

4.3.4

4.4

4.4.1

4.4.2

4.4.3

4.4.4

Page 180



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

117

Business Continuity
Throughout 2019/20 business continuity plans were reviewed and developed 
covering both strategic requirements and departmental level actions that should be 
taken in the event of a business disruption.  These were tested using table top 
exercises.  Plans were completed early in 2020 which coincided with the significant 
disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.  The pandemic allowed for real life 
testing of plans and of the management systems and processes in place and they 
ensured that the service continued to deliver critical activities to the communities of 
Nottinghamshire, in addition to ensuring staff welfare was maintained.  The service 
was also able to support local agencies and partners by taking on additional 
activities during the pandemic.

The business continuity arrangements allowed the service to quickly react to 
changing information from the ground and from our key partners through Local 
Resilience Forums. Continual and effective communications with staff enabled 
decisions to quickly be turned into actions on the ground.

Professional Staff
The Authority employs appropriate professional staff: 

• A Statutory Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring the legality of 
Authority actions and supporting the Committee decision making process.
No actions of the Authority were deemed ultra vires in the year.  All relevant
laws and regulations are being complied with. The monitoring officer is a
qualified solicitor provided on a contractual basis to the Authority by the
Legal Services Department of Nottingham City Council. This arrangement
also includes support for the Authority’s wider governance structure.  

• A Responsible Finance Officer is appointed as the independent Treasurer
to the Authority to ensure the proper and effective administration of the 
financial affairs of the Authority. The Strategic Leadership Team ensures
that the Authority approves a realistic and affordable financial plan for both
revenue and capital expenditure which links to the Strategic Plan. The
Authority continued to ensure it had good arrangements for managing its
finances including strong leadership throughout the year. The financial
planning process is well embedded and understood across the Authority by
staff and Members. An in house financial team managed by the Head of
Finance maintains the correct competencies and ensures that the Strategic
Leadership Team receives all appropriate information to support the key
decisions and objectives of the service.

In addition to the Treasurer the Authority also employs a Head of Finance who fulfils 
the role of Chief Financial Officer. This post holder is responsible for advising both 
senior managers and elected members on all financial matters. This is a role shared 
with the Treasurer who is seen to act independently of the Strategic Leadership 
Team’s advice to the Fire Authority. In reality, these two officers work very closely 
together. Both officers are professionally qualified and have many years’ experience 
within Local Government finance.

4.4.5

4.4.6

4.4.7

4.4.8

Page 181



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

118

A full review was most recently carried out in 2015 of the role of Chief Financial 
Officer and, always accepting that the key statutory responsibilities under Sections 
114 of the Local Government and Finance Act 1988 are held by the Treasurer, all 
of the principles set out in the CIPFA document The Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer are met.

Budget Monitoring / Efficiency
Budget monitoring remains robust at both strategic and service level via the 
production of monthly financial monitoring reports for both Capital and Revenue 
budgets. These reports as well as being scrutinised by budget managers are also 
reported to the Strategic Leadership Team and quarterly to the Finance and 
Resources Committee.

Functional Heads also exercise a detailed degree of budget monitoring against the 
capital programme. 

The Authority published its first Efficiency Plan (Sustainability Strategy) back in 
2016/17 to cover the period up to 2019/20.  The plan set out targets for achieving 
savings over the period. All the original objectives within the Plan have now been 
concluded.  The key savings are identified below:

• A new Mixed Crewing (or day shift crewing) model has been introduced at
Ashfield and Retford fire stations.  This delivered savings in the region of
£1.2m per year.

• Surplus capacity within the operational ridership resulting from changes
implemented over preceding years enabled the reduction of 14 surplus
posts with a saving of £600k per year.

• A joint Command and Control Centre has now been opened in
Derbyshire, which led to the closure of the Nottinghamshire control room
delivering savings in the region of £200k per year.

A new Transformation and Efficiency Strategy for 2020/21 and 2021/22 was 
approved by Fire Authority in February 2020 with the objective of further 
transforming the service and increasing efficiency and effectiveness.  

Internal Audit 

The Authority procures its internal audit service under a contract with 
Nottinghamshire County Council and the arrangement and service was in 
accordance with the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. The internal audit 
plan for 2019/20, prioritised by a combination of the key internal controls, 
assessment and review on the basis of risk, was approved by the Finance and 
Resources Committee during the year. All internal audit reports include an 
assessment of the internal controls and prioritised action plans, if relevant, to 
address any areas needing improvement. These reports were submitted to the 
Chief Fire Officer, the Head of Finance and the relevant managers as appropriate. 
All finalised reports are submitted to the Finance and Resources Committee acting 
in its 

4.4.9

4.4.10

4.4.11

4.4.12

4.4.13

4.5

4.5.1

Page 182



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

119

role as Audit Committee.  There has been a delay in the Committee reviewing the 
2019/20 reports due to the Committee not meeting during the Covid-19 pandemic.  
All reports have, however, been circulated to members of the Committee and will be 
reviewed when meetings commence in January 2021.

The Annual Internal Audit Report, which has been circulated to Finance and 
Resources Committee and considered at its January meeting reported that of the 6 
final and one draft reports, one offered substantial assurance, 4 offered reasonable 
assurance and 2 did not contain any opinion / policy review.  It concluded that:

“From the work carried out during the 2018/19 financial year, we have been 
able to satisfy ourselves that the overall level of internal control is 
satisfactory and provides a good basis for effective financial and resource 
management”.  

External Review 

The External Auditors (currently Ernst & Young LLP) are required by the 
International Standard on Auditing 260 (ISA 260) to communicate about the audit of 
the Authority’s financial statements with those charged with governance. This 
communication is in the form of a written report which will be presented to Fire 
Authority at its meeting in November 2020.

The principal purposes of the Auditors’ report are:

• To present key issues identified during the audit of the financial  
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and any material 
misstatements in the accounts

• To report on any key issues for governance
• To report on the Auditors’ Value for Money conclusion
• To give an “audit opinion” on the financial statements
• To report on the implementation of any recommendations in the 

previous year’s ISA 260 report
• To seek approval to the management representation letter, which confirms

the Authority’s responsibilities and actions in relation to the financial   
statements

EY approved an unqualified Statement of Accounts for 2018/19. There were several 
unadjusted differences.  These were not adjusted for in the accounts as the 
cumulative effect of these was not considered to be material.  The audit did 
highlight some reporting issues in the ledger which have now been resolved.

It is anticipated that EY will similarly be able to approve an unqualified Statement of 
Accounts for 2019/20.  As part of their 2019/20 External Audit Plan 5 risks were 
identified.  These related to:

•  Misstatements due to fraud or error;
•  Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition and incorrect       

capitalisation of expenditure;
•  Valuation of pension liabilities – firefighters pension scheme;
•  Valuation of land and buildings;
•  Valuation of pension liabilities – LGPS.

4.5.2

4.6

4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

4.6.4

Page 183



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

120

Covid-19 also has had a significant impact on the authority’s land and building 
valuations at 31 March 2020 and the Local Government Pension Scheme asset 
valuations. 

EY were unable to audit the Accounts in accordance with the 2018/19 timetable as 
set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 due to resourcing issues.  It is 
anticipated that the revised deadline for the 2019/20 accounts (see 3.6.9) will 
provide sufficient time for the audit to be completed in line with the revised 2019/20 
deadline.

EY were appointed for a 5 year term through a procurement exercise managed by 
the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).  2019/20 is the second year of 
the contract.  EY have indicated that the charge for undertaking the audit on the 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts is likely to significantly increase from that originally 
set out in the contract.  This is due to increasing audit regulation, introduction of a 
new Code of Audit Practice, increased scrutiny relating to the McCloud pension age 
discrimination case and a general shortage of public sector qualified staff.  The 
situation is common across the whole public sector and negotiations remain 
ongoing between the Authority, EY and PSAA.

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) Inspection

In addition to the usual Internal and External Audit reviews, the Authority had its first 
inspection by HMICFRS which took place in January and February 2019.  The 
inspection focused on Efficiency, Effectiveness and People and will provide a useful 
benchmarking opportunity against other Fire Authorities.  The inspection delivered 
an overall rating of Requires Improvement.  Whilst some areas of performance were 
awarded a rating of Good (protecting the public through fire regulation and 
responding to national risks), 24 areas were judged to be requiring improvement.  
An improvement plan covering the 24 areas has been developed along with an 
action tracking process to manage and record progress.  An update report was 
submitted to Policy and Strategy Committee on 24 July 2020.  Eight areas of 
improvement have already been completed.  The remaining actions are 
programmed to be completed in 2020/21.     

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES FOR GOVERNANCE IN 2020/21

The single most significant issue for governance in 2020/21 is the Covid-19 
pandemic.  This has impacted on many levels of governance throughout the 
service. 

Business Continuity
The service has responded well on the ground with all critical activities being 
maintained and additional activities being undertaken to work alongside and to 
assist partner organisations.  The services business continuity arrangements have 
been thoroughly tested (sections 4.4.5 to 4.4.6), and the continuation of key 
services demonstrates that the BCM arrangements held up to scrutiny.  The service 
is now taking time to review and update these arrangements to ensure that 

4.6.5

4.6.6

4.6.7

4.7

4.7.1

5

5.1

5.2

Page 184



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

121

any lessons learned are built into future BCM procedures.  HMICFRS are 
undertaking an inspection on the fire sectors’ response to Covid-19 which will feed 
into this learning process.

The outcome of a staff survey completed in June 2020 suggests that staff feel that 
the organisation responded well to the pandemic and has been a good place to 
work.  Lessons learned will be fed into the BCM process to enable systems to be 
improved for the future.

Fire Authority Governance Arrangements
The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings (England and Wales 
Regulations 2020 came into force on 4 April 2020.

Under this legislation, the Annual General meeting was cancelled and the Policy 
and Strategy Committee, being the committee responsible for matters of urgency 
has met virtually on 1 May and 24 July 2020.  Fire Authority met virtually on 11 
September and will meet again on 27 November to enable the audited Statement of 
Accounts to be authorised.  A normal meeting schedule is due to recommence from 
January 2021.  Meetings may be held virtually or in person depending on the Covid-
19 conditions at the time.

In May 2020, the Policy and Strategy committee approved some amendments to the 
2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators to build in 
additional cashflow resilience following the covid-19 outbreak.  It is now not 
considered likely that the Authority will need to take advantage of these 
amendments. 

The impact of Covid-19 on the economy is expected to have a significant impact on 
collection rates of Council Tax and Business rates as well as on the tax base.  This 
is expected to place pressure on Council tax and business rate income in 2021/22 
and beyond.

Strategic Plan
The National Framework contains the continued requirement for the authority to 
have an Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP), which is delivered through the 
Authority’s Strategic Plan.  The current Strategic Plan is due to end in March 2022.  
The service is about to embark on a fire cover risk review to assess risk across 
Nottinghamshire.  This will feed into the future strategic plan of the Authority. 

2020/21 Budget
The Authority approved a balanced budget for 2020/21 in February 2020.  Early 
monitoring of expenditure against the budget indicates that the service is 
anticipating an underspend caused by the delay of a wholetime recruitment course 
into 2021/22.

The service has received grant of £1.058m towards the cost of Covid-19 and the 
government has recently announced a further tranche of funding although details 
are still to be finalised.  As at the end of September 2020, expenditure for the year is 
expected to be in the region of £628k.  Any unspent grant at the end of the year will 
be held in an earmarked reserve for use in 2021/22.

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

Page 185



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

122

Medium Term Financial Strategy / 2021/22 Budget
Future year budgets will be guided by the Medium Term Financial Strategy which 
will be approved by Fire Authority on 27 November 2020.  There are several 
financial uncertainties facing the service in the coming years, the main ones being:

• The government spending review;
• Impact of Covid-19 on the Council Tax and Business Rates collection;
• Cost of pensions;
• Responding to the outcome of HMICFRS inspections.

Given these uncertainties, the service is confident that it remains financially secure 
going forward.  Reserves are in a strong position (totalling £9.75m as at 31 March 
2020).  They are expected to further increase during 2020/21 due to the current 
year underspend (see 5.9).  The additional costs related to Covid-19 are expected 
to be contained within the amount of government grant received (section 5.10).  
Should further savings be required these will be determined following the 
forthcoming fire cover review where areas for potential efficiencies can be identified.  
However, at this stage it is anticipated that a balanced budget will be possible 
without the need for using reserves or requiring significant savings.

Pensions
There remains a significant amount of uncertainty regarding pensions.  The change 
in the discount rate applied to future payments into the pension scheme has 
increased the service’s employer liability by £2.57m.  For 2019/20 and 2020/21 the 
Home Office has provided additional grant of £2.34m but the future of this additional 
funding will not be known until the spending review. 

The McCloud remedy is also ongoing regarding the transition arrangements in the 
2015 firefighter’s pension scheme.  These have been judged to be discriminatory on 
the grounds of age.  Central Government have released consultation regarding the 
remedy in July 2020 with a closing date of October 2020.  There are expected to be 
considerable additional costs related to the case and it is unclear at present how 
these costs will be met.

The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme Administration has been provided by 
Leicestershire County Council for several years.  Following their withdrawal from the 
provision of this service, the contract has been awarded to West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund following a full OJEU tendering process.  The service is due to transfer over 
from 1 December 2020.  The McCloud remedy will have a large impact on the 
pension administration service as its implementation is expected to be highly 
complex.  This will need to be monitored under the new contract.

Brexit
The Service may also be affected by the UK’s exit from the European Union in 
January 2021, but at this stage in the process the impacts are unclear. The risk 
associated with “Brexit” is on the Authority’s strategic risk register and will continue 
to be monitored and managed as appropriate.

5.11

5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

5.16

Page 186



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

123

5.17

5.18

5.19

Financial Management Code

In October 2019, CIPFA issued a new Financial Management Code.  The purpose 
of the code is to support good practice in financial management and to assist 
authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability.  It contains a set of 
minimum standards for financial management for local authorities, including fire 
authorities.  These cover the areas of:

• Organisational leadership – clear strategic direction;
• Accountability – based on medium term financial planning;
• Transparency – using consistent, meaningful and understandable data;
• Adherence to professional standards;
• Assurance;
• Long term sustainability.

The Financial Management code is required to be adopted by the 2021/22 financial 
year.  Most of the requirements of the code are already being met by the service 
and is expecting to adopt the code formally by this date.

During the coming year, the Service will seek to address the above matters through 
its current structures and processes to further enhance governance arrangements.

Conclusion

On the basis of the review of the sources of accurance set out in the statement, we 
are statisfied that Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority has in place a 
statisfactory system of internal control which facilitates the effective excersie of its 
functions and which includes arrangements for the management of risk.

The Annual goverance statement is therfore recommended to the Authority for 
approval.

Signed…………………………………… Signed…………………………………… 

Councillor Michael Payne John Buckley 
CHAIR OF THE FIRE AUTHORITY CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 187



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

124

Accruals

The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they as earned or incurred, not as 
money is received or paid.

Budget

A statement of the policy of the Authority expressed in financial terms. The budget is the 
financial element of a range of plans adopted by the Authority which include the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and the Community Safety Plan. 

Capital Expenditure

Expenditure on the acquisition of assets or expenditure which adds to, and not merely 
maintains, the value of existing assets.

Capital Receipts

Income derived from the sale of capital assets.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)

The principal accountancy body dealing with Local Authority and Public Sector finance.

Contingent Liability

A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence of an uncertain future event not wholly within the Authority’s control. It can also be a 
present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will be required or where the amount of the obligation is uncertain.

Creditors

Amounts owed by the Authority for which no payment has been made at the end of the financial 
year.

Debtors

Amounts due to the Authority for which no payment has been received at the end of the 
financial year.

Depreciation

The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of 
an asset during an accounting period. 

Finance Leasing

A method of financing the acquisition of assets. Legally the assets are owned by the lessor, 
although the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset pass to the lessee. The assets are 
shown on the Balance Sheet of the Authority.

Page 188



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire Authority - Statement of Accounts 2019/20

125

Financial Instrument

Any contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of 
another. Typical financial instruments are: trade payables, borrowings, bank deposits, trade 
receivables and investments.

Non-Current Assets

Tangible or intangible assets which yield benefits to the Authority for a period of more than one 
year. Tangible assets include land and buildings and certain specialist  vehicles and 
equipment. Intangible assets include software.

Impairment

A reduction in the value of an asset, which is additional to the expected depreciation of that 
asset. Impairment may be a result of, for example, physical damage or reducing prices.

Operating Leasing

A method of financing the acquisition of assets, notably vehicles, plant and equipment which 
involves the payment of an annual rental for a period which is usually less than the useful life of 
the asset.

Provision

A liability or loss which is likely or certain to be incurred but where the date and precise amount 
are uncertain.

Reserve

An amount set aside for purposes outside the definition of provisions. Reserves include 
earmarked reserves set aside for specific policy purposes and balances which represent 
resources set aside for general contingencies.

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay

A fixed asset purchased directly from revenue contributions.

Revenue Expenditure and Income

That expenditure and income which relates to the day to day activities of the Authority. 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 
2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND 
OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL TAX 
2021/22 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer and  
Treasurer to the Fire Authority  
 

Date: 26 February 2021 

Purpose of Report: 

 To present Fire Authority with proposals for Revenue and Capital budgets for 
2021/22 to 2024/25 to allow Members to determine the level of Council Tax for 
2021/22.  
 

 To set out fees and charges for 2021/22 for Members’ approval. 
  

 To seek Members’ approval to the continued payment of Members Allowances 
for 2021/22 in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that Members: 
 

 Agree the recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee to the Fire 
Authority that there be a 1.95% Council Tax increase. 

 

 Approve the 2021/22 precept level to be notified to the Billing Authorities based 
on the information set out in Section 2 and Appendix C as required by statute.  

 

 Approve the fees and charges for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix D. 
 

 Approve the payment of Members Allowances for 2021/22 in accordance with 
the approved scheme. 

Page 191

Agenda Item 8



 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name:  
 
Becky Smeathers  
Head of Finance/Treasurer to the Fire Authority 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
(0115) 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

Page 192

mailto:becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 At its meeting on 15 January 2021 the Finance and Resources Committee 

considered a report setting out the latest budget position based on the 
provisional grant settlement and the indicative position with regard to the 
Council Tax base.  
 

1.2 The Finance and Resources Committee was asked to consider options for 
Council Tax between a Council Tax freeze and an increase in Council Tax, 
up to the maximum of 1.95% and make recommendations to the full Fire 
Authority. This report sets out the implications of the option selected by the 
Finance and Resources Committee at its January meeting. 

 

1.3 The budgetary position presented to the Finance and Resources Committee 
has been updated to reflect the final announcements regarding Government 
grant, Business Rates, Council Tax base and surplus on Collection Fund, as 
well as other minor adjustments.  It includes a statement by the Authority’s 
Treasurer in relation to the robustness of estimates and the adequacy of 
reserves and balances as required by S25 of the Local Government Act.  

 

1.4 The Fire Authority is required to set a precept before 1 March 2021 and notify 
this to the billing authorities. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS 2021/22 TO 2024/25 
 
2.1 The Authority maintains a sustainable capital programme which reflects and 

supports the property, fleet and digital strategies. This programme seeks to 
replace appliances and vehicles when they are approaching the end of their 
useful life, maintains a rolling programme of ICT replacements and a property 
programme which will ensure that property remains fit for purpose, is 
appropriately located and can be contained within the internal capacity of the 
organisation to complete. 
 

2.2 The proposed Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2024/25 is detailed in 
Appendix A and summarised in Table 1 below.  The 2021/22 programme 
totals £5.835m prior to any slippage from 2020/21 yet to be approved by Fire 
Authority.  It is summarised in Table 1 below. 
 

 

Page 193



 
Table 1 – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 

 2021/22 

£’000 

2022/23 

£’000 

2023/24 

£’000 

2024/25 

£’000 

Transport 1,347 2,463 2,108 2,500 

Equipment 100 250 50 1,100 

Estates 3,623 2,108 1,288 1,800 

ICT & 
Communications 

765 430 1,220 231 

Total 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

     

Funded by:     

Capital Receipts 10 1,010 10 360 

Borrowing 5,825 4,241 4,656 5,270 

Total 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

 

2.3 The capital programme has been developed from the Strategic Plan and 
other supporting strategies such as the Capital Strategy, Property Strategy, 
fleet replacement programme and Digital Strategy.  The Service will 
undertake a Fire Cover Review early in 2021 and this will inform the new 
Strategic Plan to cover the years 2022/23 to 2024/25.  This may impact on 
the capital programme for these years and the capital programme will be 
amended accordingly during the budget setting process for 2022/23. 

 
2.4 The transport capital programme includes significant investment in the 

Service’s appliances and light vehicle replacement.  Some of the plan has 
purposefully been delayed, enabling it to consider the outcome of the 
forthcoming Fire Cover Review.  

 

2.5 The estates programme flows directly out of the Property Strategy. The 
programme includes the completion of the new joint Headquarters with the 
Police. It also includes a programme for replacement of the most aging fire 
stations such as at Worksop.  

 
2.6 The ICT programme has been developed from the Digital Strategy.  Previous 

years investments in ICT put the Service in a good position to react to the 
new working environment brought about by Covid-19.  The ICT programme 
continues this investment with specific projects to support the move to the 
new Headquarters, business process automation and cyber security.  

 
2.7 Sources of funding for the capital programme include grant, revenue 

contributions, reserves, capital receipts and borrowing. 

 

Page 194



2.8 CAPITAL RECEIPTS – these are received from the sale of assets and can 
be used to fund either the revenue cost of transformational projects, to fund 
capital expenditure or to reduce borrowing.   

 
2.9 GRANT FUNDING – there is no anticipated grant funding available at present 

to support the capital programme.  

 

2.10 REVENUE AND RESERVES – it is not proposed to use any revenue or 
reserves to fund the capital programme between 2021/22 and 2023/24. 

 

2.11 BORROWING – the proposed 2021/22 capital programme set out in 
Appendix A will be largely funded from borrowing.  The related costs will be 
tested for affordability as part of the prudential code for capital finance to be 
considered by Fire Authority on 26 February 2021.  Estimated costs have 
been built into the revenue programme considered in this report.   
 

REVENUE BUDGETS 2021/22 TO 2024/25 
 

2.12 The Medium Term Financial Strategy and Budget Guidelines report 
considered by Fire Authority on 27 November 2020 provided the economic 
backdrop for the budget process.  
 

2.13 Since the November report, budgets were updated and reported to the 
Finance and Resources Committee on 15 January 2021. The Council Tax 
estimates and Business Rate estimates for 2021/22 have been received and 
the final settlement figures released by the Government.  The main areas of 
movement are within Council Tax and Business Rate income levels which 
have moved considerably.  Fortunately, a reduction in Business Rate income 
estimates have been largely offset by an increase in Council Tax estimates, 
so that overall the budget is largely in line with that presented to Finance and 
Resources Committee in January. 

 

2.14 Detailed expenditure budgets can be found in Appendix B.  These are 
summarised in Table 2 below.  

Page 195



 
Table 2 – Budget Requirement 2020/21 to 2023/24 

 Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£’000 

Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Budget  
2022/23 
£’000 

Budget 
2023/24 
£’000 

Budget 
2024/25 
£’000 

Employees 36,016 36,143 36,900 37,575 38,308 

Premises 2,562 2,799 2,928 2,966 3,024 

Transport 1,637 1,794 1,726 1,776 1,811 

Supplies & 
Services 

3,533 3,731 3,685 3,680 3,752 

Payments to 
other Local 
Authorities 

783 783 783 783 798 

Support 
Services 

192 178 178 178 181 

Capital 
Financing Costs 

2,512 2,456 2,698 2,970 3,028 

Income (2,070) (2,582) (1,892) (1,897) (1,922) 

Total 45,165 45,302 47,006 48,031 48,980 

 
2.15 The main pressures on budgets are detailed in the paragraphs below. 

 
PAY AWARD 
  
2.16 As part of the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR), the Chancellor 

indicated that there would be a pay freeze for public sector workers.  
However, the pay of both firefighters and support staff is set by independent 
bodies and it is possible that these bodies will not support the Chancellor’s 
position.  For this reason, budgets have been built assuming a 1% pay 
increase for both uniformed and support staff for 2021/22.  This is slightly 
above inflation which was 0.8% in December 2020 (0.6% in November 2020).  
There remain adequate reserves available should the pay increase be set at 
2%. 

 
2.17 Pay awards of 2% for 2022/23 to 2024/25 have been assumed in the budget.  

Should pay awards be agreed that differ from this, the change in cost will be 
in the region of £330k for every 1% increase in pay.  
 

2.18 Support staff received a 2.75% pay award in 2020/21 against a budget of 2%.  
The additional £50k ongoing costs per year have been built in to future years’ 
salary costs.  The budgets assume a 3% vacancy factor to allow for the time 
lag that it takes to fill posts. 

Page 196



 
COVID-19 
 
2.19 Covid-19 has had a major effect on how the Service delivers its services, 

which in turn has impacted on 2020/21 expenditure.  There is currently no 
clear end in sight to the pandemic with the second wave far exceed the 
impact of the first wave in the Spring 2020.   

 
2.20 Budget monitoring for 2020/21 has identified significant underspends due to 

delays in wholetime recruitment, reduction in overtime to prevent the spread 
of Covid-19, reduced travel costs and reduced activity during the pandemic.  
Whilst an element of the underspends has been re-invested in the Service to 
address current year issues, the majority is being used to protect existing 
earmarked reserves and increase the general reserve.  This will help provide 
resilience against the financial uncertainties in future years. 
 

2.21 The impact of Covid-19 on 2021/22 budgets remains unclear.  On the whole 
budgets have been set to allow normal activity levels to be resumed early in 
the new financial year. 
 

COUNCIL TAX 
 
2.22 Many Council Tax payers are facing financial hardship due to reduced 

income levels and increasing unemployment.  The impact on Council Tax 
collection rates was originally estimated to be in the region of £0.5m.  
However, collection rates have held up better than expected and the deficit 
relating to 2020/21 is now expected to be approximately £292k.  This has 
been further improved by better collection rates in other areas such as debts 
relating to prior years. 

 
2.23 Legislation requires that any under / over collection of business rates or 

Council Tax is adjusted for in the following years’ collection fund.  This means 
that the £292k shortfall identified above would normally need to be charged 
against 2021/22 accounts even though it relates to 2020/21.  However, due to 
the unusual circumstances, emergency legislation has been approved to 
allow it to be written off in equal amounts over the next three years, 2021/22 
to 2023/24.  The 2020/21 deficit being charged to 2021/22 to 2023/24 is 
£97k.  For 2021/22 this has been offset by additional income resulting from 
prior year adjustments.  Additional central government grant estimated to be 
£45k per year will also be received over the next three years.   

 
2.24 The Council Tax base is calculated on the estimated full year equivalent 

number of chargeable dwellings expressed as the equivalent number of Band 
D dwellings in the Council’s area after allowing for dwelling demolitions and 
completions during the year, Council Tax exemptions, discounts, disabled 
reliefs and premiums, and the estimated collection rate. It is usual for the 
Council Tax base to increase year on year by just over 1% to reflect new 
build properties, thus providing additional income to the Service.   The 
2021/22 Council Tax base is expected to increase by a modest 0.2% which is 
better than the 0.7% decrease assumed in the MTFS.  Council Tax base 

Page 197



figures have been estimated to rise by 1.5% in 2022/23 - the impact of each 
0.5% change in tax base figures would be a change in funding of £271k. 

 
2.25 The Government announced a Local Council Tax Support Grant as part of 

the finance settlement to help mitigate the effect of Covid-19 on Council Tax 
base rates.  The Service will receive a one-year grant of £550k in 2021/22 
which was not anticipated in the MTFS. 

 
BUSINESS RATES 
 
2.26 Covid-19 has had a significant impact on Business Rate income in 2020/21.  

Business Rate relief was introduced for several business sectors as part of 
the suite of measures put in place to reduce the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  The impact on collection has been significant, with only £2m of 
the £3.78m being collected.  The Government is expected to pay £1.6m 
compensation to the Authority for the loss of income, leaving £79k to be 
funded within the Service, most of which is required to be charged to the 
2021/22 accounts.   
 

2.27 Furthermore, as the economy contracts, 2021/22 business rate income is 
expected to fall to £3.70m which is £77k less than the amount budgeted for in 
2020/21, a drop of 0.2% despite the measures implemented by the 
Government to protect businesses.  It has been assumed that these 
measures will continue until March 2022.  There is increased uncertainty over 
income levels for 2022/23 and beyond when these measures end, and 
businesses adapt to new ways of working. A 5% (£180k) reduction in income 
has been assumed for 2022/23, but this may prove to be an under-estimate 
and will need re-visiting during the budget process next year. 

 
2.28 Reforms to the business rates retention scheme had been consulted on prior 

to the pandemic, but these have now been delayed and this is not expected 
to take place for some time and may now encompass a higher-level review of 
business rates.     

 
PENSIONS 
 
2.29 The remedy is close to being agreed for the McCloud case, where the 

transition arrangements into the 2015 firefighters’ pension scheme were 
found to be discriminatory.  There are likely to be significant increases in the 
cost of the firefighters’ pension scheme because of the case.  These are 
expected to be largely funded by Central Government, but additional costs 
falling to the Fire Authority cannot be ruled out.  This is included to the 
General Fund reserves risk register. 

 
2.30 There is a further potential impact on fire services resulting from a case 

identifying discriminatory conditions against part-time workers.  This could 
lead to further backdating to the modified pension scheme which allowed On- 
call firefighters to join the pension scheme and buy back service to 2006.  
When the modified scheme was created, backdated costs were met by the 
Government, but as of yet there is no certainty that this will happen if the 
scheme is backdated further. 

Page 198



 
2.31 Both of these remedies will have a large impact on the workload of the 

pension administration team who will be implementing the changes required.  
This will require a very significant amount of additional work and costly 
amendments to the software used to support the pension administration 
function.  These costs will be re-charged to the Service. 

 
2.32 The pension administration function moved to a new provider, West 

Yorkshire Pension Fund, from 1 December 2020.  This follows a full OJEU 
tendering exercise which produced savings in the region of £20k.  This will be 
re-invested in securing appropriate advice around pensions given the 
increasing complexity and uncertainty in this area. 

 
2.33 The 2016 GAD revaluation of the firefighter’s pension fund resulted in a 

headline rate increase of 12.4% of employer pension costs, which in 2019/20 
equated to £2.5m for the service. The Home Office has agreed to fund £2.3m 
of this pressure in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  Requests have been made to the 
Treasury for this to be added to base budgets rather than offered as a grant 
to ensure financial sustainability and fire services’ ability to plan their 
resources, but this has not been the case for the 2021/22 settlement.  The 
grant level has been assumed to remain level in cash terms at £2.3m. The 
pension scheme is currently undergoing a further revaluation, and this 
creates the risk of a further increase in charges, although these are unlikely 
to hit Fire Service budgets until 2024/25. 

 
INVESTMENT IN TECHNOLOGICAL CAPABILITY 
 
2.34 The Service has had to change the way that it works as a consequence of the 

Covid-19 pandemic.  Many support staff are now working from home.  Most 
meetings are taking place virtually rather than face to face.  Systems have 
had to be reviewed and new ways of working developed to meet the needs of 
the changing environment. 

 
2.35 Much of this work has required significant technological changes and the 

acquisition of new software packages.  Cyber security needs to be constantly 
reviewed with more staff now accessing systems remotely. 

 
2.36 Significant investment has been made into the technological capability of the 

organisation to reflect the changes to adapt to Covid-19 and to develop the 
services capability in other areas.  These include an £120k increase in the 
computer software budget, £38k investment in website development and 
£37k investment om the management information system to support 
prevention and protection activity.   

 
GRENFELL TOWER INQUIRY RESPONSE 
 
2.37 The Grenfell Tower Inquiry and subsequent Hackitt review has identified that 

much work within the sector is needed to address the issues within the built 
environment. This will result in increased workload for the Service and the 
requirement to develop competency and capacity.  

 

Page 199



2.38 Fire protection solutions in the built environment are increasingly complex 
due to new and innovative construction techniques being deployed; and also 
major infrastructure projects like HS2.  

 
2.39 Grenfell Infrastructure Improvement Grant of £101k was received in 

September 2020 to assist with the additional costs of implementing the 
required changes.  Revenue budgets also include £50k to fund a Fire 
Engineer, but this post has been difficult to recruit to and the Service is now 
offering training to existing staff.  Some of the grant will need to be rolled 
forward into 2021/22. 

 
2.40 An additional investment of £40k in fire investigation has been built into the 

budget, to enable cover to be provided beyond the working day.  This will 
enable an increased level of service to the night time economy.  A further 
£33k has been built in to ensure that the Service is in a position to meet the 
new ISO17020 standard in crime scene investigation. 

 
FIREFIGHTER RECRUITMENT AND TRAINING 
 
2.41 There is a full-time recruit intake during 2021/22 and two or possibly three 

On-call intakes.  There will be additional costs involved in training firefighters 
as ridership numbers will be increased while newly qualified firefighters gain 
their competent status.  These will be reflected in the budgets presented to 
Fire Authority in February 2021.  There will also be an increase in PPE 
(personal protective equipment) costs of £80k to provide PPE to the newly 
recruited firefighters. 

 
2.42 An additional £40k has been built into training budgets to help the Service 

meet enhanced training obligations in the areas of extrication, flood response 
and heavy rescue training. 

 
OVERTIME 
 
2.43 The overtime budget can be very volatile depending on the number of 

vacancies in the ridership and extractions required to cover other activities 
such as training or supporting recruitment.  The 2021/22 budget is being 
reduced from £500k to £360k to reflect that the wholetime recruitment will 
take the ridership back up to full capacity during 2021/22. 

 
ON CALL PAY 
 
2.44 On-call activity has significantly increased during 2021/22.  This is largely due 

to the increased work available during the Covid-19 lockdown periods and 
increased availability of On-call staff during this period.  There has been a 
drive to increase the number of hours of drills and training which has been 
successful.  Some of this is thought to be down to splitting the sessions into 
more frequent but smaller groups.  It is planned to continue this practice 
where it is thought to be of most benefit, thus requiring the budget to be 
increased to levels prior to 2020/21, when reduced demand resulted in 
budget cuts in this area.   

 

Page 200



2.45 The availability of On-call sections has also significantly increased due to the 
Covid-19 lockdowns and On-call staff being furloughed from other 
employments. This has seen a corresponding increase in turnouts.  Whilst it 
has been attempted to strip out the impact of Covid-19, it is felt that an 
element of the increase will continue, and budgets have been increased 
accordingly.  Budgets have also been increased to allow some catching up 
following the current reduction in service caused by Covid-19.  This will be 
funded from the Covid-19 grant received by the Authority.  This is in addition 
to an increase in community fire safety work already planned within the Safer 
Communities Strategy and HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services) inspection action plan.   

 
FLEET AND PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 
 
2.46 A proper assessment of the planned fleet maintenance requirement has been 

undertaken during 2020/21.  The life of the fleet of appliances has been 
extended pending the Fire Cover Review which has increased the 
maintenance requirements.  In previous years the budget was incrementally 
increased rather than based on an actual maintenance programme.  This has 
resulted in significant overspends in recent years.  The budget for 2021/22 
needs increasing by £240k to £670k to bring it in line with expected 
expenditure. 

 
2.47 A programme of building assessment has been undertaken during 2020 

which has created a comprehensive list of maintenance work which needs to 
be undertaken.  An additional £75k has been built into the budget to 
commence the additional work with a further £50k scheduled in for 2021/22. 

 
CLEANING 
 
2.48 During the Covid-19 outbreak, cleaning at stations has been extended to 

cover weekends as well as weekdays.  This will continue into 2021/22 with an 
additional cost of £113k. 

 
STAFF WELLBEING 
 
2.49 Staff wellbeing has always been a priority for the service.  This has become 

even more important during Covid-19 where staff are facing new and differing 
challenges every day.  Permanent funding for an occupational health and 
fitness assistant has been built into the budget following the success of a 
temporary apprentice post which has proved to have had a significant 
positive impact during Covid-19.  Funding for a permanent post to support the 
Equality and Diversity team has also been built into the budget to further drive 
forward the ambition of the service in this area. 

 
SAVINGS 
 
2.50 The Service has worked hard to find £640k of savings to offset some of the 

additional areas on investment during 2021/22:  
 

 Operational overtime has been reduced by £140k (see Section 2.42); 

Page 201



 

 Superannuation budgets have been re-aligned with requirements 
resulting in a budget reduction of £285k; 

 

 The budgets for casual and essential mileage have been reduced by 
£64k to reflect reduced travel which is expected to continue once service 
returns to normal after Covid-19; 

 

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) has been reduced by £50k to reflect 
the revised capital programme; 

 

 Other miscellaneous - £100k. 
 
RESERVES AND BALANCES 

 

2.51 Taking account of the underspend position reported in the budget monitoring 
reported to Finance and Resources Committee on 15 January 2021, total 
reserve levels held at 1 April 2021 are expected to be £10.7m.  This consists 
of £5.7m general fund reserves and £4.9m earmarked reserves.      

 
2.52 The general fund reserve is £1.2m above the minimum level of £4.5m set by 

Fire Authority in November 2021.  The £1.2m would be available to manage 
possible future year deficits, either to smooth out expenditure to cushion any 
temporary deficits or to facilitate any future savings that need to be made.   
 

2.53 The earmarked reserves are expected to be in the region of £4.9m by 31 
March 2021.  These reserves are earmarked for known projects or items of 
one-off expenditure.  They include the Transformation and Collaboration 
reserve which was increased to £1.8m as part of the Reserves Strategy 
approved by Fire Authority on 27 November 2020.  This will fund several one-
off projects that have been identified to assist the service to deliver its year 
three action plan which forms part of the Strategic Plan.  Projects include: 
 

 A trial of revised on call pay and contracts to try to improve sustainability 
of the on-call section (£73k); 
 

 A temporary cadet and volunteer co-ordinator role to facilitate the use of 
volunteers within the service to deliver activities in communities (£66k); 

 

 Extension of a role to support equality and diversity work (£40k); 
 

 Resources to improve the Service’s website (£38k); 
 

 Post to support the regional development of National Operational 
Guidance (£55k). 

 
2.54 These projects will be included in budget monitoring as project details are 

finalised and work commences.   
 

Page 202



FINANCING THE BUDGET 
 

2.55 The Authority primarily receives income from Revenue Support Grant, 
Business Rates and Council Tax.  The government announced the final Local 
Government finance settlement on 04 February 2021 covering 2021/22.   
 

2.56 The council tax increase threshold, above which a referendum would be 
triggered has remained at 2% for 2021/22.  
 

2.57 The precepting authorities also submitted their estimates for 2021/22 
Business Rate income on 31 January 2021.  The Fire Authority receives 1% 
of this income.   

 

2.58 The budget includes £1.6m Section 31 grant to compensate for Covid-19 
related Business Rate reliefs to businesses and a further £855k Section 31 
grant to compensate for various changes made to Business Rates by Central 
Government such as small business relief.  These grants have been 
estimated by the precepting authorities and will not be confirmed until the 
summer.   

 

2.59 For 2021/22 the Authority received Section 31 grant to cover the increased 
costs of fire fighter pension employer contributions introduced in 2020/21.  
The level of grant received has been maintained at £2.34m which is the same 
in cash terms as 2020/21 and 2019/20.  Actual costs are in the region of 
£300k higher than this and the shortfall has been built into the budgets.  In 
future years, it is expected that this grant will form part of the 2022/23 CSR. 

 

2.60 Funding for 2022/23 to 2024/25 will be determined as part of the CSR which 
will not be announced until mid-2021.  For the purposes of budgeting, a 2% 
inflationary increase in government funding has been assumed for the three 
years 2022/23 to 2024/25.  This tracks the same 2% increase in pay 
assumed in the budgets for these years.  There is a risk that funding will be 
increased at a lower rate than the pay increase which would then create an 
additional budget pressure in these years. 

 
OUTLOOK FOR 2021/22 TO 2024/25 

 

2.61 Detailed budgets have been prepared for the four years 2021/22 to 2024/25, 
which can be found in Appendix A and is summarised in Table 3 below. 
 

2.62 The budget has been built assuming the following: 
 

 That Business Rates and Council Tax income in 2021/22 will be in line 
with predictions from Billing Authorities and that Business Rate support 
from the Government will continue into 2021/22.  The uncertain climate 
facing the country in the coming year may impact on these predictions 
and they may need updating as the year progresses; 
 

 Business Rates income will drop by 5% in 2022/23 and remain flat in 
2023/24.  It has been assumed that any reduction beyond this level will 

Page 203



attract temporary support from Central Government to enable the service 
to plan for this reduction in income; 

 

 There is a 2% increase in funding for 2022/23 to 2024/25, although this is 
expected to be linked to potential pay increases in these years; 

 

 There is a 1% pay increase in line with inflation across both firefighters 
and support staff for 2021/22.  Any increase above this will be met from 
reserves.  A pay increase of 2% has been assumed for 2022/23 onwards; 

 

 Pension grant remains at £2.34m in future years (regardless of whether it 
is consumed within the Spending Review or kept as a separate Section 
31 grant). 

 
2.63 Clearly there remain many uncertainties around both the pay award and 

funding.  Assuming the above assumptions the impact of a nil increase in 
Council Tax in each of the four years 2021/22 to 2024/25 is set out in Table 
3.  
  

Table 3 – Budget Deficit with Nil Council Tax Rise 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

Budget Requirement 

 

45,165    45,301 47,006 48,031 48,980 

Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG) 

(5,422) (5,452) (5,561) (5,672) (5,786) 

Business Rate (BR) 
Income 

(3,777) (2,010) (1,903) (3,403) (3,437) 

BR Covid Relief grant 0 (1,573) (1,500) 0 0 

Pension Grant (2,340) (2,340) (2,387) (2,434) (2,483) 

BR Top up Grant (7,277) (7,277) (7,423) (7,571) (7,722) 

Council Tax (0%) * (26,074) (26,139) (26,531) (26,890) (27,253) 

Earmarked Reserves (274) 0 0 0 0 

Budget Deficit 0 510 
 

1,701 2,061 2,299 

*Assumes a rise in tax base but no rise in Council Tax (2020/21 figures are 
actual). 

 
2.64 Table 3 shows that with no increases in Council Tax levels there will be a 

deficit of £0.5m in 2021/22 which would need to be eliminated.  This will rise 
to £1.7m in 2022/23, largely due to the Local Council Tax Support Grant 
being only available for one year (section 2.25) and increased pressures on 
Business Rates (section 2.27). It increases further to £2.3m by 2024/25. 
 

2.65 In January, the Finance and Resources Committee recommended a 2021/22 
Council Tax increase of 1.95% to Fire Authority, which is marginally below 
the maximum 2% increase permitted without invoking a referendum.  Table 4 

Page 204



demonstrates that this would enable the Authority to deliver a balanced 
budget for 2021/22 (see section 2.62 for assumptions made).   

 
Table 4 – 1.95% Council Tax Increase 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

Budget Requirement 

 

45,165    45,302 47,006 48,031 48,980 

Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG) 

(5,422) (5,452) (5,561) (5,672) (5,786) 

Business Rate (BR) 
Income 

(3,777) (2,010) (1,903) (3,403) (3,437) 

BR Covid Relief grant 0 (1,573) (1,500) 0 0 

Pension Grant (2,340) (2,340) (2,387) (2,434) (2,483) 

BR Top up Grant (7,277) (7,277) (7,423) (7,571) (7,722) 

Council Tax (1.95%)  (26,074) (26,650) (27,578) (28,496) (29,443) 

Earmarked Reserves (274) 0 0 0 0 

Budget Deficit  0 0 
 

654 455 109 

 
2.66 The above table shows that a balanced budget would be achieved in 2021/22 

with front line services being maintained at current levels if a 1.95% increase 
in Council Tax were approved.  There would still be a deficit position in future 
years (£654k in 2022/23 reducing to £109k in 2024/25) but funding for these 
years is still very uncertain and will be impacted by the CSR and the impact 
of the financial environment on the collection of Business Rates.  Any 
continuing deficit will need to be addressed when the 2022/23 budget is 
reviewed, and more information is known.  

 
IMPACT OF DIFFERING ASSUMPTIONS 
 
2.67 The figures in Table 4 assume a 1% pay increase – the 2021/22 deficit would 

increase to £240k should there be a 2% pay increase, with 2022/23 budgets 
increasing by a further £90k when the full year effect comes through 
(sections 2.16 – 2.18). 

 
2.68 Government grant has been assumed to rise by 2% per year from 2022/23.  

Each 1% change in this assumption will result in a change in funding of 
£300k.  It is reasonable to assume that government grant levels will track 
public sector pay increases, so that generally increased pay costs will be 
matched by increased income, although there is a need to be mindful that the 
pay for fire service staff is set by independent bodies and may not follow 
national trends (section 2.16). 

 
2.69 Council Tax base figures have been estimated to rise by 1.5% in 2022/23 - 

the impact of each 0.5% change in tax base figures would be a change in 
funding of £271k (sections 2.23 & 2.60). 

Page 205



 
2.70 Business Rate Income has been estimated to reduce by 5% in 2022/23.  

There is a risk that this could be higher.  Each 5% reduction in business rate 
income will result in additional pressure of approximately £180k (section 2.25 
- 2.27). 
 

RESERVES 
 
2.71 Taking account of anticipated use of reserves in the current financial year, 

total reserve levels held at 1 April 2021 are expected to be £10.7m.  The 
general fund reserve level of £5.7m is £1.2m above the minimum level of 
£4.5m set by Fire Authority in November 2021.  This represents the 
maximum level of available reserves to support future years’ budget deficits. 

 

2.72 Table 3 shows that if Council Tax is not increased between 2021/22 and 
2024/25, the cumulative deficit figure would be in the region of £6.6m.  This 
would require a significant savings plan to be developed as there are 
insufficient general fund reserves to cover the deficit. 

 

2.73 Table 4 shows that with a 1.95% increase in Council Tax for the same period, 
a balanced budget would be achieved for 2021/22 and the total deficit across 
the remaining years would be in the region of £1.2m.  If required, this could 
be met from the general fund reserve whilst maintaining the minimum level 
set by Fire Authority.  This, however, would be dependent on the accuracy of 
assumptions made and this will need reviewing in the light of the evolving 
economic state of the country and the outcome of the CSR.  This will be 
monitored throughout the year alongside any saving opportunities highlighted 
as part of the Fire Cover Review to enable any required savings to be 
planned in a proper manor. 

 
PROPOSAL FOR COUNCIL TAX INCREASES 2021/22 
 

2.74 The recommendation of a 1.95% increase in Council Tax proposed by the 
Finance and Resources Committee is set out in tabular form in Appendix C. 

 
2.75 Council Tax for the Fire Authority is currently £81.36 at Band D. A 1.95% 

increase in this would raise it by £1.59 per year to £82.95. The effects of such 
an increase on other bands per year is as follows: 

 
Table 5 – Impact of 1.95% increase in Council Tax 

Band Council Tax  
2020/21 

£ 

Annual Council Tax  
1.95% Increase 

£ 

Increase 
 

£ 

A 54.24 55.30 1.06 

B 63.28 64.52 1.24 

C 72.31 73.73 1.42 

D 81.36 82.95 1.59 

E 99.43 101.38 1.95 

F 117.52 119.82 2.30 

G 135.59 138.25 2.66 

H 162.71 165.90 3.19 

Page 206



 
 

 The majority of the homes in the City and County of Nottinghamshire fall into 
Bands A and B. 

 

FEES AND CHARGES 
 
2.76 At its meeting on 13 November 2015 the Policy and Strategy Committee 

approved a scale of fees and charges for Special Service Charges and for 
the use of Service facilities. That Committee also approved the increase of 
these fees and charges by annual inflation. Appendix D sets out the current 
scale of fees and charges as well as proposed fees and charges for 2021/22, 
which have had an inflationary increase applied. It is recommended that the 
Authority approve these charges for implementation from 1 April 2021. 

 
APPROVAL OF MEMBERS ALLOWANCES 
 
2.77 The allowances that Members can claim are set out in the Members’ 

Allowance Scheme.  At its meeting on 22 September 2017 Fire Authority 
approved that Member’s basic allowance and special responsibility 
allowances would increase on an annual basis linked to increases set by the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Service.  

 
2.78 It is recommended that members allowances continue to be paid in line with 

the approved scheme. 
 
COMMENTS OF THE TREASURER 
 
2.79 Under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Treasurer is 

required to report to the Authority on the following two matters: 
 

 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of calculations; 
and 

 The adequacy of reserves. 
 

2.80 The Treasurer is satisfied that, on the basis of the financial risk assessments, 
the reserves are adequate to support the budget in 2021/22.  

 
2.81 The Treasurer is satisfied that the revenue and capital budgets have been 

prepared in an accurate and robust manner, such that the Authority will have 
adequate resources to discharge its responsibilities under various statutes 
and regulations. 

 
2.82 A statement by the Authority Treasurer is included as Appendix E to this 

report. 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The financial implications are set out in full in the body of the report. 
 

Page 207



 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
directly from this report, although the achievement of budgetary savings in future 
years will undoubtedly have an impact. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not 
associated with a policy, function or service. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 The Authority has a statutory duty to notify its precept to Billing Authorities by 

1 March 2020 and has no power to issue a supplementary precept. 
 
7.2 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the 

Treasurer to report to Members and the External auditor if the Authority or 
one of its officers has made, or is about to make, a decision that involves 
unlawful expenditure.  Not setting a balanced budget would be classed as 
being unlawful. 

 
7.3 The Authority must also comply with the Accounts and Audit Regulations and 

ensure that the financial management of the Authority is adequate and 
effective and has a duty of Best Value to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 Risks associated with budget setting are always significant. Budgets are by 

their very nature estimates of future activity and these estimates can 
sometimes be incorrect. Changes involving contraction of activities may not 
be made on the envisaged timescales, public consultation may vary policy 
and external issues such as national pay awards may not align with the 
assumptions. 

 
8.2 There can be no control over external issues however the Authority has 

sufficient reserves to cope with any in year changes which alter these budget 
assumptions significantly. 

 

Page 208



9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 

 
10.1 Agree the recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee to the 

Fire Authority that there be a 1.95% Council Tax increase. 
 
10.2 Approve the 2021/22 precept level to be notified to the Billing Authorities 

based on the information set out in Section 2 and Appendix C as required by 
statute.  

 
10.3 Approve the fees and charges for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix D. 
 
10.4 Approve the payment of Members Allowances for 2021/22 in accordance with 

the approved scheme. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None.         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

John Buckley     Becky Smeathers 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER   TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 

Page 209



APPENDIX A 

Capital Programme - 2021/22 to 2024/25 

     

  

Budget 
2021-22 

£'000 

Budget 
2022-23 

£'000 

Budget 
2023-24 

£'000 

Budget 
2024-25 

£'000 

TRANSPORT         

Pumping Appliances 1,018 1,346 1,683 1,683 

Special Appliances  150 675 175 568 

Light Vehicle Replacement 179 442 250 159 

Appliance telematic equipment       90 

  1,347 2,463 2,108 2,500 

EQUIPMENT         

BA Sets    250     

Gas Tight Suits     50   

Radios       300 

RTC Equipment       800 

Water Rescue Kit  100       

  100 250 50 1,100 

ESTATES         

Worksop Fire Station 2,000 1,258 63   

Joint Head Quarters 1,623 100 
 

  

Eastwood Fire Station   750 713 38 

Ashfield Fire Station (Refurb)     488 13 

Arnold Fire Station     25 1,750 

  3,623 2,108 1,288 1,800 

I.T. & COMMUNICATIONS         

HQ Project (Enabling Works - ICT) 150 100 110 110 

ICT Capital Programme - Replacement  Equipment 50 30 30 30 

Mobile Computing 100       

HQ  - Link ICT Replacement 30 30 30 20 

Performance Management System 20 20 20 20 

HQ Core Switch Upgrade   50     

One Off Projects 35    

Replacement Occupational Health Software 65    

Emergency Services Mobile Communications 100 200   

Rostering Project 185    

Tri-Service Control & Mobilising System   1,000  

HR Upgrade    51 

Finance system upgrades 30  30  

 

765 430 1,220 231 

          

Total 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

To Be Financed By : 
    Capital Receipts  10 1,010 10 360 

New Borrowing 5,825 4,241 4,656 5,270 

Revenue contributions to capital         

Total 5,835 5,251 4,666 5,631 

Page 210



 
APPENDIX B 

CASH LIMIT  

  

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£’000 

Budget 
Requirement 

2021/22 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2022/23 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2023/24 
£000's 

Employees 
    Direct Employee Expenses            34,598            34,729            35,421            36,113  

Indirect Employee Expenses                 500                 534                 540                 540  

Pension                 918                 880                 939                 922  

 
           36,016            36,143            36,900            37,575  

Premises-Related Expenditure 
    Repairs Alterations and Maintenance                 609                 721                 795                 819  

Energy Costs                 458                 469                 481                 493  

Rents                     1                    1                     1                     1  

Rates              1,009              1,006              1,031              1,057  

Water                   83                   85                   87                   89  

Fixture and Fittings                     1                    1                     1                     1  

Cleaning and Domestic Supplies                 316                 429                 444                 416  

Grounds Maintenance Costs                   30                   31                   32                   33  

Premises Insurance                   16                   16                   16                   16  

Refuse Collection                   39                   40                   40                   41  

 

              
2,562              2,799              2,928              2,966  

Transport-Related Expenditure 
    Direct Transport Cost              1,046              1,267              1,199              1,249  

Recharges                   45                   45                   45                   45  

Public Transport                   37                   37                   37                   37  

Transport Insurance                 188                 188                 188                 188  

Car Allowances                 321                 257                 257                 257  

 

              
1,637              1,794              1,726              1,776  

Supplies & Services 
    

Equipment Furniture and Materials 
                 

624                 715                 668                 663  

Catering                   68                   53                   63                   63  

Clothes Uniforms and Laundry                 289                 393                 313                 313  
Printing Stationery & Office 
Expenses                   45                   40                   40                   40  

Services                 584                 580                 580                 580  

Communications and Computing              1,653              1,758              1,829              1,829  

Expenses                   44                   36                   36                   36  

Grants and Subscriptions                   54                   62                   62                   62  

Miscellaneous Expenses                 172                   94                   94                   94  

 
             3,533              3,731              3,685              3,680  

Third Party Payments 
    Other Local Authorities                 783                 783                 783                 783  

 
                783                 783                 783                 783  

Support Services 
    Finance                 147                 133                 133                 133  

Corporate Services                   45                   45                   45                   45  

     

Page 211



 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£’000 

Budget 
Requirement 

2021/22 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2022/23 
£000's 

Budget 
Requirement 

2023/24 
£000's 

Sales Fees & Charges 
    Customer and Client Receipts                -405  - 362  -367  -372  

 
-405  -362  - 367  - 372  

Other Income 
    Government Grants              -1161  - 1,922  -1,372  -1,372  

Other Grants and Contributions  -404  -278  -133  -133  

Interest - 100  -20  -20  -20  

 
-             1665  -2,220  -1,525  -1,525  

Capital Financing Costs 
    

Interest Payments 
                 

785                 882                 904                 904  

Debt Management Expenses              1,727              1,574              1,794              2,066  

 

              
2,512              2,456              2,698              2,970  

     

BUDGET 
            

45,165            45,302            47,006            48,031  

Page 212



 
APPENDIX C 

 
PROPOSAL FOR COUNCIL TAX INCREASE OF 1.95%  

 

An increase in Council Tax of 1.95% would require the Authority to set a Band D 
Council Tax of £82.95 per annum in 2021/22. 
 
Specifically, in 2021/22 Council Tax would be set at the following levels: 

 
 

Band A  55.30 
Band B  64.52 
Band C 73.73 
Band D 82.95 
Band E 101.38 
Band F 119.82 
Band G 138.25 
Band H  165.90 

 
The level of Council Tax at Band D is then multiplied by the taxbase to calculate the 
precept to be set for each of the District Councils and the City Council as follows: 

 
Taxbase  Percentage Precept 
                 £ 

Ashfield   33,731.70  10.6%  2,798,044.50 
Bassetlaw   35,771.49  10.9%  2,967,245.08 
Broxtowe   34,217.46  10.7%  2,838,338.29 
Gedling   37,389.96  11.7%  3,101,497.16 
Mansfield   29,512.20    9.2%  2,448,036.98 
Newark and Sherwood 40,002.05  12.3%  3,318,170.03 
Rushcliffe   44,259.60  13.6%  3,671,333.80 
Nottingham City  66,396.00  20.9%  5,507,548.17 
      
Total    320,480.10          100.0%          26,650,214.01 
 

 The above figures are calculated after taking account of the declared 
surplus/deficit on collection for each of the billing authorities. 

Page 213



APPENDIX D 
 

FEES AND CHARGES – 
SPECIAL SERVICES AND USE OF FACILITIES 2021/22 

 

  
2020/21 
Charges 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Charges 

      

Personnel: per hour, or part of an hour: 
 

  

Full Crew £288.00 £290.90 

Station Manager and above £64.30 £64.90 

Watch Manager £52.70 £53.20 

Crew Manager £50.20 £50.70 

Firefighter £47.50 £48.00 

      

Appliances and Vehicles: per hour, or part of an hour: £44.30 £44.80 

      

Loan of Salvage Sheet: 
 

  

Charge for fitting £288.00 £290.90 

Charge for removing £288.00 £290.90 

Charge for salvage sheet £96.50 £97.70 

      

Copy of a Fire Report £70.80 £71.60 

      

Hire of Meeting Room: 
 

  

Full day £252.00 £255.00 

Half day £130.00 £131.60 

      

   Note: all charges above include VAT at the current rate, where applicable 
  

Page 214



APPENDIX E 

 

 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM  

FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 
 

STATEMENT BY AUTHORITY TREASURER 
 

 
 
Under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Treasurer is specifically 
required to report to the Authority on the following two matters: 

 

 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of calculations; and 

 The adequacy of reserves. 
 

The required level of reserves is calculated using a risk assessment methodology. I 
am satisfied that, on the basis of those risk assessments, the proposed level of 
reserves is adequate. 
 
Earmarked Reserves are held for specific purposes, and include amounts for 
unspent grant, the Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme, 
Transformation and Collaboration. 
 
I am content that the Revenue and Capital budgets have been prepared in an 
accurate and robust manner such that the Authority will have adequate resources to 
discharge its responsibilities under various statutes and regulations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Becky Smeathers CPFA   
FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY TREASURER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE 2019/20 
 

Joint Report of the Chief Fire Officer and  
Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 
 

Date: 26 February 2021 

 

Purpose of Report: 
 
To present the External Auditors’ ISA 260 Report to Members, and to seek approval 
of the management representation letter to the External Auditors. 
 
Recommendations: 
 

• That Members note the contents of the External Auditors’ ISA 260 report, 
attached at Appendix A. 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name:  
 
Becky Smeathers 
Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
(0115) 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 217

Agenda Item 9

mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The External Auditors are required by the International Standard on 

Auditing 260 (ISA 260) to communicate about the audit of the 
Authority’s financial statements to those charged with governance. 
This communication is in the form of a written report, which is attached 
as Appendix A. 

 
1.2 This covering report sets out the key points within the ISA 260 report. 

The principal purposes of the Auditors’ report are: 
 

• To present key issues identified during the audit of the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and any material 
misstatements in the accounts; 

 

• To report on any key issues for governance; 
 

• To report on the Auditors’ Value for Money conclusion; 
 

• To give an “audit opinion” on the financial statements; 
 

• To report on the implementation of any recommendations in the 
previous year’s ISA 260 report; 

 

• To seek approval to the management representation letter, which 
confirms the Authority’s responsibilities and actions in relation to 
the financial statements. 

 
1.3 The Ernst Young manager of the Authority’s audit will be attending the 

meeting to present the report and answer any questions arising and 
will also provide Members with an update on the audit work completed 
since this report was written. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 The annual audit is in the completion stage and the ISA 260 report 

sets out the key issues to be considered by Members prior to the audit 
opinion being issued. 

 
2.2 The ISA 260 report confirms that the Auditors expect to issue an 

unqualified audit and an unqualified Value for Money conclusion.  
 
2.3 The audit has identified a small number of amendments to be made to 

the accounts.  These mostly related to the notes to the accounts and 
are detailed on Page 24 of the ISA260 report.   

 
 
 

Page 218



2.4 The ISA 260 report identifies several audit differences which have not 
been amended on the grounds of materiality.  These can be found on 
Page 25 of the report.   

 
2.5 The valuation of assets is currently undertaken by qualified valuers on 

a five-year rolling programme which adheres to the CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice.  Asset valuations can vary over five years and for this 
reason, the valuers will re-value a property if significant work has been 
undertaken on it, or use indices to amend values as a proxy measure 
until the asset is picked up under the normal valuation timetable. This 
provides a balance between the frequency of valuations, use to the 
reader of the accounts and the cost to the service of the valuing the 
assets.  The auditors have estimated that had all assets been re-
valued this year the difference in value could have been in the region 
of £1.2m.  Given the subjective nature of asset valuation and that the 
service’s valuers have indicated that the values are not materially mis-
stated, asset values have not been amended in the accounts. 

  

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The proposed Annual Audit Fee in the contract for 2019/20 was £23,909.  The 
PSAA (Public Sector Audit Appointments) approved an increase to this fee of 
£18,151.  The fee for 2019/20 was set by PSAA at £23,909 but the auditors have 
requested a substantial increase in the fee to £87,814 (see page 44).  The £63,905 
increase mostly relates to the increase in work required by amendments to the audit 
regulatory framework, which came into force for the 2018/19 audit.  The total fee 
being requested is giving a total of £87,814.   
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications 
arising from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been carried out because this is a 
report about the external audit of the financial statements and not a new 
policy. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Page 219



 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The work of the External Auditors in their audit of the Authority’s financial 
statements provides an independent view of the adequacy of internal 
controls, the accuracy of the final accounts and an assessment of the 
Authority’s arrangements for achieving value for money. This provides 
Members with some assurance about the quality of financial management 
and financial reporting within the Authority. 
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 

 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of the External Auditors’ ISA 260 report, attached 
as Appendix A. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley     Becky Smeathers CPFA 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER   TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY 

Page 220



Nottinghamshire Fire 
& Rescue Authority
Audit results report 

Year ended 31 March 2020

12 February 2020

P
age 221



2

Private and confidential

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Headquarters 
Bestwood Lodge Drive
Arnold
Nottingham
NG5 8PD

12 February 2021
Dear Members of the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority

We are pleased to attach our audit results report for the forthcoming meeting of the Fire Authority. We have substantially completed our 
procedures in relation to the audit of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority (the Authority) for 2019/20.

Subject to concluding the outstanding matters listed in our report, we confirm that we expect to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the financial 
statements in the form at section 3. We have no matters to report to date on your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in your use of resources.  

This report is intended solely for the use of Members of The Authority and senior management. It should not be used for any other purpose or 
given to any other party without obtaining our written consent.

We would like to thank your staff for their help during the engagement. We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with 
you at the Fire Authority meeting on 26 February 2021.

Yours faithfully

Helen Henshaw 
Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Encl

P
age 222



3

Contents

04Executive 
Summary01 Areas of 

Audit Focus02 Audit Report03

Other 
reporting 
issues

06

Audit 
Differences

Appendices10Assessment of 
Control 
Environment

07 Data 
Analytics

08 Independence09

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) have issued a ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and via the PSAA 
website (www.psaa.co.uk).   This Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities 
of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.

The ‘Terms of Appointment (updated April 2018)’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit 
Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.  This Audit Results Report is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities . It 
is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up 
with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Hywel Ball, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any 
complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional 
institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

05 Value for 
Money

V
F
M

P
age 223

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


4

Executive Summary01

P
age 224



5

Executive Summary

Scope update

In our audit planning report dated 03 April 2020 which was circulated to the Finance and Resource Committee at that time, and later presented to the committee at the 
January 2021 meeting, we provided you with an overview of our audit scope and approach for the audit of the financial statements. We carried out our audit in 
accordance with this plan, with the following exceptions: 

Changes to reporting timescales

As a result of COVID-19, new regulations, the Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 No. 404, have been published and came into force on 
30 April 2020. This announced a change to publication date for final, audited accounts from 31 July to 30 November 2020 for all relevant authorities.

Changes to our risk assessment as a result of Covid-19

• Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment - The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), the body setting the standards for property valuations, has issued 
guidance to valuers highlighting that the uncertain impact of Covid-19 on markets might cause a valuer to conclude that there is a material uncertainty. Caveats 
around this material uncertainty have been included in the year-end valuation reports produced by the Authority’s external valuer. We consider that the material 
uncertainties disclosed by the valuer gave rise to an additional risk relating to disclosures on the valuation of property, plant and equipment. 

• Disclosures on Going Concern – Financial plans for 2020/21 and medium term financial plans will need revision for Covid-19. We considered the unpredictability of 
the current environment gave rise to a risk that the Local Authority would not appropriately disclose the key factors relating to going concern, underpinned by 
managements assessment with particular reference to Covid-19 and the Local Authority’s actual year end financial position and performance. 

• Events after the balance sheet date – We identified an increased risk that further events after the balance sheet date concerning the current Covid-19 pandemic will
need to be disclosed. The amount of detail required in the disclosure needed to reflect the specific circumstances of the Authority.

• Adoption of IFRS16 – The adoption of IFRS 16 by CIPFA/LASAAC as the basis for preparation of Local Authority Financial Statements has been deferred until 1 April 
2021.  The Authority will therefore no longer be required to undertake an impact assessment, and disclosure of the impact of the standard in the financial 
statements does not now need to be financially quantified in 2019/20. We therefore no longer consider this to be an area of audit focus for 2019/20.

P
age 225



6

Executive Summary

Scope update

Changes in materiality 

In our Audit Committee Planning Report, we communicated that our audit procedures would be performed using a materiality of £1.34m, with performance materiality, 
at 50% of overall materiality, of £0.67m, and a threshold for reporting misstatements of £67k. We have considered whether any change to our materiality is required in 
light of Covid-19. Following this consideration we remain satisfied that the basis for planning materiality, performance materiality and our audit threshold for reporting 
differences reported to you in our Audit Planning Report remain appropriate. 

We updated our planning materiality assessment using the draft accounts and have also reconsidered our risk assessment. Based on our materiality measure of gross 

expenditure on provision of services, we have updated our overall materiality assessment to £1.326m (Audit Planning Report — £1.34m). This results in updated 

performance materiality, at 50% of overall materiality, of £663k, and an updated threshold for reporting misstatements of £66.3k

Information Produced by the Entity (IPE)

We identified an increased risk around the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of information produced by the entity due to the inability of the audit team to 
verify original documents or re-run reports on-site from the Authority’s systems. We undertook the following to address this risk:

• Used the screen sharing function of Microsoft Teams to evidence re-running of reports used to generate the IPE we audited; and

• Agree IPE to scanned documents or other system screenshots.

Additional EY consultation requirements concerning the impact on auditor reports because of Covid-19. The changes to audit risks, audit approach and auditor 
reporting requirements changed the level of work we needed to perform. We have set out the impact on our audit fee on page 44.

P
age 226



7

Executive Summary

Audit differences

We have identified several adjustments required to the draft financial statements as a result of our audit procedures.  We have reported those adjusted audit differences 
above our audit performance materiality threshold in Section 4 Audit Differences.

In addition, we have  identified audit differences in the course of our audit which management have chosen not to adjust the financial statements for.  These are set out 
in section 4 of this report. The net impact of these would be to reduce the reported outturn by £1.2m.

Status of the audit

We have substantially completed our audit of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and have performed the 
procedures outlined in our Audit planning report. Subject to satisfactory completion of the following outstanding items, we expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the 
Authority’s financial statements in the form which appears at Section 3. However until work is complete, further amendments may arise:

Completion of work in the following areas of accounts; Expenditure and Funding Analysis, Reserves, Property plant and equipment valuations, payroll, financial 
instruments and journal entry testing.

Review of the final version of the financial statements and agreement of all audit adjustments.

Receipt of the signed management representation letter

Completion of subsequent events review

Completion of procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding the Whole of Government Accounts submission

We expect to issue the audit certificate at the same time as the audit opinion. 

Objections

We have received no objections to the 2019/20 accounts from members of the public. 

P
age 227



8

Executive Summary

Areas of audit focus

Our Audit Planning Report identified key areas of focus for our audit of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority's financial statements. This report sets out our 
observations and conclusions, including our views on areas which might be conservative, and where there is potential risk and exposure. We summarise our 
consideration of these matters, and any others identified, in the "Key Audit Issues" section of this report.

Audit findings and conclusions: significant risk – Misstatements due to fraud or error

• Our audit procedures have found no evidence of fraud or error caused by management override of controls. We did not identify any other transactions during our 
audit which appeared unusual or outside the Authority‘s normal course of business.

Audit findings and conclusions: significant risk - Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition: Inappropriate capitalisation of expenditure

• We have not identified any additions that were incorrectly capitalised.

Audit findings and conclusions : significant risk - Valuation of land and buildings

• We engaged EY Real Estates to review a sample of 6 specific assets. No issues were identified with all values being within an acceptable range. We noted that 
management have undertaken no assessment of whether assets not formally revalued in year have been subject to material valuation movements since they were last 
revalued.  To challenge these valuations we have referred to property indices to estimate the likely valuation movements,  The work performed to date indicates that 
the assets not revalued in the year could be understated by £1.2m. We have noted this on our summary of audit differences but continue to progress our work in this 
area alongside management. We will provide an oral update at the 26 February 2021 meeting. 

Audit findings and conclusions : significant risk – Valuation of the Firefighters Pension Scheme Liability – Local government pension scheme (LGPS)

• We are satisfied that the amounts recorded in respect of the fire fighters pension scheme are free material misstatement.

Audit findings and conclusions: other financial statement risk – Pension Liability Valuation – Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

• Our audit procedures have not identified any material misstatements with regard to the valuation of the pension liability. 

Audit findings and conclusions: other matters – Going Concern

•Based on our audit procedures undertaken on cashflow position and available reserves for the next 12 months we have not identified evidence that significantly casts 
doubt on the going concern assumption as the basis of preparation of the financial statements.

We ask you to review these and any other matters in this report to ensure:

• There are no other considerations or matters that could have an  impact on these issues

• You agree with the resolution of the issue

• There are no other significant issues to be considered.

There are no matters, apart from those reported by management or disclosed in this report, which we believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit 
Committee.

P
age 228



9

Executive Summary

Control observations

We have adopted a fully substantive approach, so have not tested the operation of controls. However, we wish to report the following area where improvements could 
be made to the control environment:

• A rigorous quality control of the financial statements and supporting working papers before publication;

• A review of all disclosure notes to ensure accuracy and completeness and consistency across the financial statements; 

• Enhancement of impairment procedures across property, plant and equipment; 

• Regular reconciliations between payroll and Agresso reports  to prevent mismatching of employee expenses;

• Collation of all documents relevant to the £8.6 million Lender option, Borrow Option (LOBO) loan, including the agreement to evidence break clauses and potential 
interest rate rises.

Our key considerations are outlined in section 7.

Value for money

We have considered your arrangements to take informed decisions; deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and work with partners and other third parties. In our 
Audit Planning Report we identified the following significant risks.

• Securing Financial Resilience

• Establishment of joint Headquarters and setup of Limited Liability Partnership

• HMICFRS Inspection Findings – 2019

The results of our work are set out in section 5 of this report.  Our value for money conclusion will be unmodified for the year ended 31 March 2020.

P
age 229



10

Executive Summary

Other reporting issues

We have reviewed the information presented in the Annual Governance Statement for consistency with our knowledge of the Authority.  The Authority has made an 
amendment to the Annual Governance Statement as a result of our work (See Section 6). We have no other matters to report as a result of this work. 

We have also reviewed the Authority’s Narrative Report for consistency with the financial statements and our knowledge. We have identified inconsistencies in the 
Narrative statement and brought this to the attention of Management for amendment. We have not yet seen any amendment to the Narrative Report.

We are not reporting any matters to the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding the Whole of Government Accounts submission as the Authority falls below the £500 
million threshold for review as per the NAO’s group instructions.

We have no other matters to report. 

Independence

Please refer to Section 9 for our update on Independence. We have no independence issues to bring to your attention.

P
age 230



11

Areas of Audit Focus02

P
age 231



12

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk

What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability 
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit 
engagement.

Misstatements due to 
fraud or error

What did we do?

In order to address this risk we have carried out a range of procedures including:

• Identified fraud risks during the planning stages.

• Inquired of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those 

risks.

• Understood the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes

over fraud.

• Considered the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk of fraud.

• Determined an appropriate strategy to address those identified risks of fraud.

• Performed mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified fraud risks, including:

• testing of journal entries and other adjustments in the preparation of the financial 

statements;

• assessing accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and

• evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

What are our conclusions?

We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or 
evidence of material management override.

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements 
being applied.

We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which 
appeared unusual or outside the Authority‘s normal course of 
business

P
age 232



13

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued) 

What did we do?

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures 
including:

• Reviewed the appropriateness of expenditure recognition and 
capitalisation accounting policies; 

• Used our data analytics tool to identify and test the appropriateness of 
journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments 
made in the preparation of the financial statement, specifically those 
that move expenditure to PPE balance sheet general ledger codes; and

• Performed sample testing on additions to PPE to ensure that they have 
been correctly classified as capital and included at the correct value to 
identify any revenue items that have been inappropriately capitalised. 

What are our conclusions?

We are satisfied that the expenditure recognition and capitalisation policies in place 
are appropriate.

We are currently finalising our work on journal entry testing, we will update our 
conclusion in this area at the meeting on the 26 February 2021. 

We have substantively tested a sample of additions to property, plant and equipment 
in the year and have found no instances of expenditure being inappropriately 
capitalised.

In our testing of transport related expenditure, we did identify one item where 
expenditure was accrued at the year end for a liability which never materialised and 
therefore the accrual was reversed unused in the new financial year (20/21).  We 
extrapolated this error which resulted in an extrapolated audit difference of 
£1.046m overstatement of expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020.  
Management have chosen not to amend the accounts for this amount as it is below 
the materiality level and is an estimated value.  This has been included in our 
summary of unadjusted audit differences at section 4.

What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to improper revenue recognition. In the public 
sector, this requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which states that auditors 
should also consider the risk that material misstatements may occur by the manipulation of expenditure recognition. 

As the Authority is more focussed on its financial position over the medium term we do not consider there to be a heightened 
risk for the Authority’s standard income and expenditure streams except for the capitalisation of expenditure on Property, Plant
and Equipment (PPE) given the extent of the Authority’s capital programme. 

Risk of fraud in revenue 
and expenditure 
recognition – Inappropriate 
capitalisation of 
expenditure*

P
age 233



14

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk

What is the risk?

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the Authority to make extensive disclosures within its financial statements regarding its membership 
of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme administered by Leicestershire County Council. The Authority’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated balance and the Code 
requires that this liability be disclosed on the balance sheet. At 31 March 2019 this totalled £546 million. The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued 
to the Authority by the actuary. Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement and therefore management engages an actuary to undertake 
the calculations on their behalf. ISAs (UK) 500 and 540 require us to undertake procedures on the use of management experts and the assumptions underlying fair value 
estimates.

Following the outcome of McCloud and Sargeant in 2018/19, initial estimates suggest removing the difference in treatment of discrimination will add around £4 billion 
per annum to scheme liabilities across public services from 2015. The most recent valuation process set employer contribution rates until 2023 and given there are a 
number of factors that may impact on the valuation of the scheme before the next triennial there is uncertainty around how the additional costs will be funded. 

CIPFA is preparing further accounting guidance to support bodies with the accounting for the McCloud liability in 2019/20. However, the Authority, via their actuaries 
will need to ensure that they refine their estimate of the impact of McCloud and Sargeant in 2019/20 and how subsequent funding implications may impact on the 
triennial valuation. 

As well as a risk to the valuation of the liabilities, there is also a timetable risk arising from the above, as agreement of remedy (and potential consultations starting in 
the spring) may necessitate refining of liability estimates by GAD, to update the work completed in summer 2019 to remeasure the McCloud liability. 

As a result of the uncertainty associated with the above we have designated the valuation of the Firefighters Pension Scheme liability to be a significant risk. 

Valuation of Firefighters Pension Scheme Liability

P
age 234



15

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk

Valuation of Firefighters Pension Scheme Liability

(continued)

What did we do?

We have:

• Understood how the Authority is considering the impact of McCloud and Sargeant on the 
financial statements arising from the employment tribunals, any resulting consultations and 
other pronouncements from government on restitution. 

• Assessed the work of the actuary (Mercer) including the assumptions they have used by relying 
on the work of PwC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National Audit Office for all 
Local Government sector auditors, and considering any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial 
team; 

• Understood and considered the PwC report for how your actuary has treated the impact of 
McCloud and Sargeant in calculating the IAS 19 liability and for any impact on the triennial 
revaluation;

• Reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within the financial 
statements in relation to IAS19;

• Gained assurance over data that has been provided to the actuaries;

• Tested a sample of lump sums and pension payments for new fire fighter pensioners;

• Completed a predictive analytical review for both the pensions payroll and employees and 
employers pension contributions; and

• Assessed management’s arrangements to reconcile the active and pensioner membership 
numbers.

What are our conclusions?

We are satisfied that the amounts recorded in respect of 
the fire fighters pension scheme are free material 
misstatement.

P
age 235



16

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk What is the risk?

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) represents a significant balances in the entity’s accounts and is subject to 
valuation changes, impairment reviews and depreciation charges. Management is required to make material judgemental inputs 
and apply estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances recorded in the balance sheet. 

The Authority will engage an external expert valuer who will apply a number of complex assumptions to these assets. Annually 
assets are assessed to identify whether there is any indication of impairment. As the Authority’s asset base is significant, and the 
outputs from the valuer are subject to estimation, there is a risk fixed assets may be under/overstated. ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 
and 540 require us to undertake procedures on the use of management experts and the assumptions underlying fair value 
estimates.

Many of the property valuations involve future yields within the calculation. Due to the impact of Covid-19 there is greater 
uncertainty around the future yields obtainable in relation to properties.

Valuation of Land and 
Buildings

What did we do?

• Considered the work performed by the external valuer, including the adequacy of the scope of 
the work performed, their professional capabilities and the results of their work;

• Sample tested key asset information used by the valuers in performing their valuation (e.g. 
floor plans to support valuations based on price per square metre);

• Considered the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been valued within a 5 
year rolling programme as required by the Code for PPE and annually for IP. We will also 
consider if there are any specific changes to assets that have occurred and that these have 
been communicated to the valuer;

• Reviewed assets not subject to valuation in 2019/20 to confirm that the remaining asset base 
is not materially misstated;

• Considered changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent valuation; 

• Tested accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial statements; and

• Engage EY Real Estates team to perform a review of the valuer’s estimation methods and to 
review the valuation of a sample of assets.

What are our conclusions?

• Revalued Assets

We have gained assurance that the inputs and assumptions used 
in the valuations are appropriate and supported by external 
evidence. Consequently we are satisfied that assets valued in year 
are not materially misstated.

• Assets not valued in year

Management have used the Tender Price Index to undertake an 
assessment of whether assets not formally revalued in year have 
been subject to material valuation movements since they were 
last revalued. We have referred to national property indices to 
estimate the likely valuation movements in these assets,  The 
work performed to date indicates that the assets not revalued in 
the year could be understated by £1.2m. We have noted this on 
our summary of audit differences but continue to progress our 
work in this area alongside management. We will provide an oral 
update at the 26 February 2021 meeting. 

Management has not made an adjustment for this within the 
financial statements on the basis that they consider the 
valuations to be materially stated in line with the requirements of 
the CIPFA Code.

What judgements are we focused on?

We focused on the complex judgements provided by the specialist valuer in their determination of 

asset valuations.

P
age 236



17

Other areas of audit focus

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What are our conclusions?

Pension Liability Valuation - LGPS

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require 
the Authority to make extensive disclosures within its financial 
statements regarding its membership of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme administered by Nottinghamshire County Council. 
The Authority’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated balance 
and the Code requires that this liability be disclosed on the 
Authority’s balance sheet. At 31 March 2019 this totalled £23 
million. The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report 
issued to the Authority by the actuary. Accounting for this scheme 
involves significant estimation and judgement and therefore 
management engages an actuary to undertake the calculations on 
their behalf. ISAs (UK) 500 and 540 require us to undertake 
procedures on the use of management experts and the assumptions 
underlying fair value estimates.

We have liaised with the auditors of Nottinghamshire Pension Fund, to obtain assurances over 
the information supplied to the actuary in relation to the Authority

We have assessed the work of the Pension Fund actuary including the assumptions they have 
used by relying on the work of PwC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National Audit 
Office for all Local Government sector auditors, and considering any relevant reviews by the EY 
actuarial team.

We have reviewed and tested the accounting entries and disclosures made within the Authority’s 
financial statements in relation to IAS 19.

We are satisfied that the pension liability and related disclosures are free from material 
misstatement.

We identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material misstatement
to the financial statements and disclosures.

P
age 237



18

Other areas of audit focus

Other areas of audit focus

What is the risk/area of focus? What are our conclusions?

Going Concern basis of accounting 

Financial plans for 2020/21 and medium term financial plans will 
need revision for Covid-19. 

We considered the unpredictability of the current environment to 
give rise to a risk that the Fire Authority would not appropriately 
disclose the key factors relating to going concern, underpinned by 
managements assessment with particular reference to Covid-19 and 
the Authority’s actual year end financial position and performance.

We focused on key assumptions underlying Management’s going concern, in particular the 
impact on the liquidity and use of reserves for the Authority covering a period of 12 months 
from the date of approving the final audited financial statements.  

We reviewed the disclosures contained within financial statements to ensure they were adequate 
to inform the user as to the assumptions made by the Authority in applying the going concern 
basis of accounting. 

We consulted with our internal risk management team in respect of the conclusions reached, and 
disclosures made.

We are satisfied that the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate and disclosures 
adequate.

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures.

P
age 238



19

Audit Report03

P
age 239



20

Audit Report

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report below. We are independent of the group in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the 
Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG)  AGN01, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which 
the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:
• The Chief Financial Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
• The Chief Financial Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 

identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 
Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Narrative Report 
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Chief 
Finance Officer (S151 Officer) is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE  FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements and the firefighters’ pension fund 

financial statements of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service for the year 
ended 31 March 2020 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
The financial statements comprise the: 
• Movement in Reserves Statement
• Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
• Balance Sheet, 
• Cash Flow Statement;
• Related notes 1 to 42; and
• The firefighters’ pension fund financial statements comprising the Pension 

Statements, the Pension Net Assets Statement and the related notes 1 to 
6.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20.

In our opinion the financial statements:
Give a true and fair view of the financial position of Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service as at 31 March 2020 and of its expenditure and income for the 
year then ended; and have been prepared properly in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019/20.

Our draft opinion on the financial statements

Draft audit report

P
age 240



21

Audit Report

Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the annual governance statement is misleading or inconsistent 

with other information forthcoming from the audit or our knowledge of the 
Authority;

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014;

• we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 

• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is 
contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014;

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or

• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Responsibility of the Treasurer

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Treasurer’s  Responsibilities set 
out on page 17, the Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement 
of Accounts, which includes the Authority financial statements and the 
firefighters pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Treasurer is responsible for assessing 
the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Authority either intends to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the In 
connection  other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014

Arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of resources

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, 
having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
(C&AG) in April 2020, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2020

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 241



22

Audit Report

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
satisfy ourselves that the Service has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by 
the National Audit Office (NAO) requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to 
proper arrangements. 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from 
concluding that the Service has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor 
have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service, as 
a body,  in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for 
no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of 
Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Service and the Service’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Helen Henshaw (Key Audit Partner)
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor)
Birmingham, Date.

The Service is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper 
stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness 
of these arrangements. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General (C&AG) in April 2020, as to whether Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 
had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 
The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us 
to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2020.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all 
significant respects, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 242



23

Audit Differences04

P
age 243



24

Audit Differences

In the normal course of any audit, we identify misstatements between amounts we believe should be recorded in the financial statements and the disclosures and 
amounts actually recorded. These differences are classified as “known” or “judgemental”. Known differences represent items that can be accurately quantified and 
relate to a definite set of facts or circumstances. Judgemental differences generally involve estimation and relate to facts or circumstances that are uncertain or open to 
interpretation. 

There have been no adjusted differences over our performance materiality level (£0.663m). Below we outline the disclosure and other misstatements the Service has 
amended in the final set of financial statements :

• Note 35 Related Parties - an amount for £1,100  for Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue service was erroneously included in the calculation for Leicester

• Note 16 Intangible assets - Intangible Assets  £334,000 of disposals were incorrectly omitted from the note. Client agreed to amend the account adding £334,000 
to disposals and (£334k) to Disposal Amortisation. 

• Note 32  Exit Packages  - there was an incorrect number of exit packages disclosed. A total of 7 exit packages amounting to £7,000 are disclosed in the draft 
accounts however  we determined that this should be 1 exit package at £5,000. 

• Note 32 Exit Packages – Total Redundancy payments in the note included an amount  which related to 18/19 not 19/20 at a value of £2,229. 

• Note 15 Property, plant and equipment  - the financial statements were silent regarding the material uncertainty surrounding the valuation of PPE due to CoVID 19.

• The pension fund disclosure was misstated by £29,000 in relation to the top up grant receivable.

• Prepayments - In our testing of prepayments we identified that an item paid in 2020/21 was recorded as a prepayment in 2019/20. Prepayments are therefore 
overstated by £129,667.

Further the following misstatements were identified  :

• Cash flow statement – the adjusted net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non cash movements had been calculated incorrectly due to movement in  
impairment for bad debts. This amount was incorrectly stated at £35,000, when it should have been £187,000. This was due to an omission of an account code 
when calculating the total movement in impairment for bad debts.  

There were numerous other disclosure errors less significant than those outlined above that are to be adjusted for by management.

Summary of adjusted differences

P
age 244



25

Audit Differences

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE):
As reported in section 2 above, judgemental differences were noted during our work on assets not valued in year of £1.2m.  The impact of these errors is to (net) 
understate PPE and the value of the revaluation reserve.  There is no impact on the CIES.  

Depreciation:
Depreciation in 19/20 was overstated by £89,000 due to twice the annual depreciation being processed. This was done to process depreciation on an asset that was 
erroneously not depreciated in 18/19.  The correct treatment of an immaterial prior year error when discovered, is to correct in the current year, and therefore 
management’s treatment of the error is appropriate.

Existence of Property, Plant and Equipment :
During our testing we identified an asset amounting to £129,677 that should have been de-recognised in 2019/20 but was not. Management has indicated that they will 
derecognise the asset in 20/21. 

Misstatements of income/expenditure:
In our sample testing of other expenditure, we identified an error resulting in an overstatement of  expenditure in 2019/20.
We extrapolated this error over the population subject to sample testing and concluded that in our judgement other expenditure is overstated by £1,046,000.

The unadjusted differences set out above do not lead to a modification of our audit opinion in respect of the 2019/20 financial statements as we are comfortable that 
the cumulative effect on the CIES, the general fund and each affected financial statement line item is not material..

Summary of unadjusted differences

P
age 245



26

Audit Differences

Summary of unadjusted differences

Uncorrected misstatements in the statement of cash flows

There are no further uncorrected errors in the statement of cash flows.

Uncorrected disclosure misstatements

The below disclosure misstatements are uncorrected :

• The expenditure and funding analysis should not be described as a 'core financial statement' but rather as a note to the accounts. 

• Capital Financing Requirement contains a recurring disclosure error of £77,000 in Note 36. This error has been carried over since the transition to IFRS.

• Note 6  Events After the Balance Sheet Date – Events disclosed occurred prior to the balance sheet date and is not in line with the code.

P
age 246



27

Value for Money05 01

P
age 247



28

Value for Money

Background

We are required to consider whether the entity has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion. 

For 2019/20 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise 
your arrangements to:

▪ Take informed decisions;

▪ Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

▪ Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
framework for local government to ensure that our assessment is made against a framework that you are 
already required to have in place and to report on through documents such as your annual governance 
statement.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant, which the Code 
of Audit Practice defines as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter 
would be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of sufficient work to enable us to deliver a safe conclusion on 
arrangements to secure value for money and enables us to determine the nature and extent of further work 
that may be required. If we do not identify any significant risks there is no requirement to carry out further 
work.  We consider business and operational risks insofar as they relate to proper arrangements at both 
sector and organisation-specific level. We consider business and operational risks insofar as they relate to 
proper arrangements at both sector and organisation-specific level. This has included consideration of the 
steps taken by the Authority to consider the impact of Brexit on its future service provision, medium-term 
financing and investment values.  Although the precise impact cannot yet be modelled, we anticipate that 
Authorities will be carrying out scenario planning and that Brexit and its impact will feature on operational 
risk registers.

Our risk assessment has therefore considered both the potential financial impact of the issues we have 
identified, and also the likelihood that the issue will be of interest to local taxpayers, the Government and 
other stakeholders. This has resulted in the identification of the significant risks noted on the following 
page which we view as relevant to our value for money conclusion.

V
F
M

Proper arrangements for 
securing value for money  

Informed 
decision making 

Working with 
partners and 
third parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

P
age 248



29

Value for Money contd.V
F
M

At the planning stage we identified three significant risks with regards to financial resilience, taking informed decisions and deploying resources in a sustainable manner. 
We have undertaken procedures to address these risks. These elements are in relation to the Authority’s arrangements for:

• Addressing significant financial pressures in the medium term
• The governance and decision making processes concerning Joint Police and Fire Headquarters with the Police and Crime Commissioner for Nottinghamshire.
• The governance and decision making processes concerning the results of the HMICFRS inspection and the actions undertaken to address the findings identified.

We have undertaken appropriate procedures and concluded that we have no matters to include in the auditor’s report about your arrangements to secure economy 
efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources and anticipate issuing an unmodified opinion.

Our findings are in the following pages.

Overall conclusion

On 16 April 2020 the National Audit Office published an update to auditor guidance in relation to the 2019/20 Value for Money assessment in the light of covid-19. 

This clarified that in undertaking the 2019/20 Value for Money assessment auditors should consider Local Authorities’ response to Covid-19 only as far as it relates to 
the 2019-20 financial year; only where clear evidence comes to the auditor’s attention of a significant failure in arrangements as a result of Covid-19 during the financial 
year, would it be appropriate to recognise a significant risk in relation to the 2019-20 VFM arrangements conclusion. 

Impact of covid-19 on our Value for Money assessment

P
age 249



30

Value for Money 

Value for Money Risks

V
F
M

What is the significant value for money 
risk?

What arrangements 
does the risk affect?

What are our findings?

Securing financial resilience

In common with other Fire and Rescue 
Services, the Authority is facing significant 
financial pressures in the medium term.

Whilst the Authority is predicting an 
underspend for 2019/20, the forecast 
deficits in the MTFS over the next four years 
are as follows (based on 0% Council tax 
increase assumption):

• 2020/21 - £500,000

• 2021/22 - £1,181,000

• 2022/23 - £1,599,000

• 2023/24 - £2,141,000

This decreases overall useable reserves to 
£4.3 million by the end of the 2023/24 
period, which is marginally above the level of 
£3.9 million considered acceptable by the 
Authority going into 2020/21. 

Given the uncertainty of the funding 
settlement post 2020/21 and the financial 
pressures set out above, we have considered 
this to be a significant area of focus in 
forming our value for money conclusion. 

Deploy resources in a 
sustainable manner.

Planning finances 
effectively to support the 
sustainable delivery of 
strategic priorities and 
maintain statutory 
functions

We consider the process for setting the Authority’s budget is sound. We concluded that the MTFP 
identifies the key assumptions expected to underpin the 2020/21 budget. Management use 
scenario planning effectively to provide guidance to the Authority to make decisions on the level 
of precept to set and clearly demonstrate consideration for the uncertainty of future funding 
streams.

In 2019/20, the Authority reported underspends of £0.6m against budget, meaning that the use 
of reserves was £0.6m compared to the budgeted £1.2m.

We have tested the sensitivity of reserves by taking into account the Authority’s history of under 
and overspends, past savings achieved, planned use of reserves in 2020/21 to 2022/23 and 
dependency on uncertain funding streams. Assuming all earmarked reserves could be used to 
support the budget, the Authority would have sufficient reserves to cover the budget gap above 
its minimum level of reserves set at £3.9 million.

We therefore do not propose to qualify the value for money conclusion. However, the Authority 
needs to be vigilant in taking action to avoid overspends, recognising that the use of reserves to 
support the budget in previous years  is unsustainable and to develop robust plans to achieve 
ongoing savings to address any budget gaps.

We note that Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Authorities rated 
the Authority as requiring improvement across areas covering Effectiveness, Efficiency and 
People. The inspectorate also noted that he Authority should ensure it has sufficiently robust 
plans in place which fully consider the medium-term financial challenges beyond 2020 so it can 
prepare to secure the right level of savings, which we deem to have been implemented.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant within the Code of Audit Practice, where risk is defined as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of enough work to deliver a safe conclusion on your arrangements to secure value for money, and enables us to determine the 
nature and extent of any further work needed. If we do not identify a significant risk we do not need to carry out further work.

The table below presents the findings of our work in response to the risks areas in our Audit Planning Report. 

P
age 250



31

Value for Money 

Value for Money Risks continued.

V
F
M

What is the significant value for money 
risk?

What arrangements did 
the risk affect?

What are our findings?

Establishment of joint Headquarters and 
setup of Limited Liability Partnership

In September 2018 and February 2019 , 
Members approved the development of a 
business case for a joint Fire and Police 
Headquarters at Sherwood Lodge, Arnold 
through a Limited Liability Partnership 
(LLP) for a joint headquarters site.

The total estimated costs for the 
redevelopment of Sherwood Lodge is 
circa £18.5m, of which the Authority is 
to contribute £4 million to be offset by 
the sale of the current Fire Headquarters.

In progressing significant projects there 
are risks around the arrangements for 
governance and coming to an informed 
decision.

Take informed decisions

Acting in the public 
interest, through 
demonstrating and applying 
the principles and values of 
sound governance

Our audit work has focussed on the decision-making arrangements surrounding the decisions 
to redevelop the site at Sherwood Lodge and progress to the delivery model through a joint 
ownership model. Our review of the arrangements found that the Authority has given 
significant consideration to:
• The options available for the redevelopment of the site at Sherwood Lodge;
• The decision making arrangements and processes undertaken in relation to determination 

of the best model used to establish the joint headquarters; and
• Guidance provided in respect of taxation and legal positions relating to the governance 

delivery options.

We have considered the reasons for the decisions undertaken and the sufficiency of 
arrangements in place which ensured that decisions undertaken were done so from a 
sufficiently informed position.  We are satisfied that management:
• Reviewed the financial consequences of the move;
• Managed the process through the Strategic Collaboration Board supported by the 

Collaborative Delivery Board and working group comprising Members, Chief Officers and 
officers of both organisations;

• Reported progress to Members of the Authority.

We concluded that there was evidence of reasonable arrangements to inform the decision-
making process. P

age 251



32

Value for Money 

Value for Money Risks continued.

V
F
M

What is the significant value 
for money risk?

What arrangements did the 
risk affect?

What are our findings?

HMICFRS Inspection Findings –
2019

The HMICFRS inspection, dated 
June 2019, gave the Authority 
an overall result of ‘requires 
improvement’. The inspection 
highlights a number of required 
improvements.

The Authority has allocated 
£1.4m of reserves to address 
the issues highlighted in the 
inspection. 

The negative findings within the 
inspection and the significant 
funds allocated to address the 
issues signifies a significant risk 
to the value for money 
arrangements at the authority.

Deploy resources in a 
sustainable manner and 
Taking informed decisions
Acting in the public interest, 
through demonstrating and 
applying the principles and 
values of sound governance 
and 

Managing and utilising assets 
effectively to support the 
delivery of strategic 
priorities

Our audit work focussed on the result of the HMICFRS inspection, the recommendations raised to the 
Authority and the action plan established and undertaken to address the issues identified.

We have reviewed the inspection and the findings of the report. The Authority considered the 
recommendations and developed comprehensive plans to address the items raised. We are satisfied 
that appropriate governance arrangements have been in place in order to sufficiently address the 
findings of the inspection and monitor the progress of the action plan in response to the findings. We 
have reviewed the financial impact to the Authority, in relation to the actions undertaken to deliver the 
remedies to the findings and we have not identified any instances where actions were undertaken 
which did not represent value for money.

The Authority has undertaken significant steps to address the findings of the report in a timely 
manner, and that all findings have either been addressed or are in the process of final arrangements 
being undertaken. 

We conclude therefore that sound governance has been in place and that the Authority has managed 
and utilised assets effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities. 

P
age 252



33

Other reporting issues06 01

P
age 253



34

Consistency of other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement

We must give an opinion on the consistency of the financial and non-financial information in the 2019-20 Statement of Accounts for Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 
Authority with the audited financial statements We must also review the Annual Governance Statement for completeness of disclosures, consistency with other 
information from our work, and whether it complies with relevant guidance. 

Financial information in the 2019-20 Statement of Accounts for Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority and published with the financial statements was 
consistent with the audited financial statement (pending audit adjustments to be made by management).

We have reviewed the Annual Governance Statement and can confirm it is consistent with other information from our audit of the financial statements and we have no 
other matters to report We requested amendments to ensure that Statement complies with the Code of Practice  by including an appropriate conclusion statement.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Whole of Government Accounts

We are not reporting any matters to the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding the Whole of Government Accounts submission as the Authority falls below the £500 
million threshold for review as per the NAO’s group instructions.

P
age 254



35

Other powers and duties

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit, 
either for the Authority to consider it or to bring it to the attention of the public (i.e. “a report in the public interest”). We did not identify any issues which required us 
to issue a report in the public interest. 

We also have a duty to make written recommendations to the Authority, copied to the Secretary of State, and take action in accordance with our responsibilities under 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. We did not identify any issues. 

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Other matters

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must tell you significant findings from the audit and other matters if they 
are significant to your oversight of the Authority’s financial reporting process. They include the following:

• Significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;
• Any significant difficulties encountered during the audit;
• Any significant matters arising from the audit that were discussed with management;
• Written representations we have requested;
• Expected modifications to the audit report;
• Any other matters significant to overseeing the financial reporting process;
• Findings and issues around the opening balance on initial audits (if applicable);
• Related parties;
• External confirmations;
• Going concern;
• Consideration of laws and regulations; and
• Group audits

There are no matters identified at present. However, until we have completed all audit procedures we cannot confirm that none will arise.

P
age 255



36

Assessment of Control 
Environment

07

P
age 256



37

Assessment of Control Environment

Financial controls

It is the responsibility of the Authority to develop and implement systems of internal financial control and to put in place proper arrangements to monitor their 
adequacy and effectiveness in practice.

Our responsibility as your auditor is to consider whether the Authority has put adequate arrangements in place to satisfy itself that the systems of internal financial 
control are both adequate and effective in practice. 

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and 
extent of testing performed.  As we have adopted a fully substantive approach, we have therefore not tested the operation of controls.  

Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in 
internal control.

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your financial 
statements of which you are not aware. However, wish to report the following areas where improvements could be made to the operation or design of controls.

Quality Control Review of the Financial Statements

The Authority would benefit from more rigorous quality control of the financial statements and supporting working papers before publication of the accounts. The 
finance team is relatively small, each with defined functions which limits sharing of knowledge, responsibilities and oversight. This is exacerbated in a remote 
environment. The impact for the Authority is that that if a member of the team is absent, the extent to which others can progress that individual's area of 
responsibility is limited.  The impact for the audit is that audit queries can only be responded to by certain individuals meaning if they are absent, then work is slow to 
progress. 

Review of all disclosure notes to ensure accuracy and completeness and consistency across the financial statements; 

During the audit there were a number of disclosure misstatements identified. Management would benefit from implementing stringent disclosure and specific checks 
to both the code and the rest of the financial statements. This will also result in better quality working papers and will facilitate a more efficient audit process.

Enhancement of impairment procedures across property, plant and equipment

Management's processes around the identification of impairments is light. Management will benefit from enhancing this process to early identify assets that need to 
written out of the accounts timeously.

P
age 257



38

Assessment of Control Environment

Financial controls

Lender Option, Borrow Option (LOBO)

As part of our audit we determine whether the Authority has considered the repayment terms within LOBOs. The LOBO is material to the Authority’s financial 
statements at £8.6 million, as valued using PWLB premature repayment rates.  However, the Authority did not have copies of the key agreement to evidence break 
clauses and potential interest rate rises and the authority had to contact the investment house to provide this. The Authority should ensure that all entries within the 
financial statements are supported by the key agreements and formal documents.

Reconciliation between Payroll and Agresso

Discrepancies were identified between these systems. Monthly reconciliations will enhance managements internal controls and ensure that financial records are 
consistent, supportable and accurate.

P
age 258



39

Data Analytics08

P
age 259



Page 40

Use of Data Analytics in the Audit

Data analytics
We used our data analysers to enable us to capture entire populations of your financial data. These 
analysers:

• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be the focus of our substantive 
audit tests; and 

• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than traditional, random sampling techniques.

In 2019/20, our use of these analysers in the Authority’s audit included testing journal entries and 
employee expenses, to identify and focus our testing on those entries we deem to have the highest 
inherent risk to the audit.

We capture the data through our formal data requests and the data transfer takes place on a 
secured EY website. These are in line with our EY data protection policies which are designed to 
protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of business and personal information. 

Journal Entry Analysis 
We obtain downloads of all financial ledger transactions posted in the year. We perform 
completeness analysis over the data, reconciling the sum of transactions to the movement in the 
trial balances and financial statements to ensure we have captured all data. Our analysers then 
review and sort transactions, allowing us to more effectively identify and test journals that we 
consider to be higher risk, as identified in our audit planning report. 

Payroll Analysis 
We also use our analysers in our payroll testing. We obtain all payroll transactions posted in the year 
from the payroll system and perform completeness analysis over the data, including reconciling the 
total amount to the General Ledger trial balance. We then analyse the data against a number of 
specifically designed procedures. These include analysis of payroll costs by month to identify any 
variances from established expectations, as well as more detailed transactional interrogation.

Analytics Driven Audit 

P
age 260



Page 41

Journal Entry Data Insights 
The graphic outlined below summarises the journal population for 2019/20. We review journals by certain risk based criteria to focus on 
higher risk transactions, such as journals posted manually by management, those posted around the year-end, those with unusual debit and 
credit relationships, and those posted by individuals we would not expect to be entering transactions. 

The purpose of this approach is to provide a more effective, risk focused approach to auditing journal entries, minimising the burden of 
compliance on management by minimising randomly selected samples

Data Analytics

P
age 261



Journal Entry Testing

What is the risk?

In line with ISA 240 we are required to test the appropriateness of 
journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other 
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements. 

What judgements are we focused on?

Using our analysers we are able to take a risk based approach to 
identify journals with a higher risk of management override, as 
outlined in our audit planning report. 

Data Analytics

What are our conclusions?

We isolated a sub set of journals for further investigation and obtained supporting evidence to verify the posting of these transactions and 
are in the process of concluding on this area. 

Journal entry data criteria — 31 March 2020

What did we do?

We obtained general ledger journal 
data for the period and have used our 
analysers to identify characteristics 
typically associated with inappropriate 
journal entries or adjustments, and 
journals entries that are subject to a 
higher risk of management override. 

We then performed tests on the 
journals identified to determine if they 
were appropriate and reasonable. 

P
age 262



43

Independence09

P
age 263



44

Independence

Fee analysis

As part of our reporting on our independence, we set out below a summary of the fees in relation to the year ended 31 March 2020. 

We confirm that we have not undertaken non-audit work outside the NAO Code requirements

* Approved by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA)

Note 1:
As reported in our Audit Plan (dated March 2020), we consider that a more appropriate scale fee to reflect the inputs required to complete an external audit of 
the Authority would be in the region of £70,000.  To arrive at this figure, the scale fee has been re-assessed to take into account a number of risk factors as 
outlined below:

- Procedures performed to address the risk profile of the Fire Authority - £19,708
- Additional work to address increase in Regulatory standards - £22,248
- Client readiness and IT support for Data Analytics - £5,237

This additional fee has been discussed with Management, but has not been agreed pending a national decision on rebasing of scale fees, led by Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).  It will ultimately be subject to review and approval by the PSAA.

Description

Final Fee 2019/20

£

Scale Fee 2019/20

£

Final Fee 2018/19

£

Audit Scale Fee – Code work 23,909 23,909 23,909

Changes in work required to address professional and regulatory requirements and 
scope associated  with risk (see Note 1)

47,193 - -

Additional specific one-off work required for Covid-19 considerations and current 
year risks (see Note 2) 

16,714 - 18,151*

Total Audit Fee 87,816 23,909 42,060

Non-audit work Nil Nil Nil

Total Fees 87,816 23,909 42,060

P
age 264



45

Independence

Fee analysis (continued)

£

Going Concern (additional work to review going concern assessments and assumptions, including liquidity forecasts, 
underpinning it; internal consultation and review)

4,937

PPE valuations – use of specialists 5,563

Value for money – consideration of 3 significant risks 2,968

C-19 additional work (including reassessing materiality levels, revisiting risk assessments (including VFM)) 3,246

Total 16,714

Note 2
The 19/20 audit has been impacted by a range of factors which correspond to our risk assessment, and the additional procedures required as a result of C-19 as 
follows:

This additional fee has been discussed with Management and is subject to review and approval by the PSAA Ltd.

P
age 265



46

Independence

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and your Authority, senior management and its affiliates, 
including all services provided by us and our network to your Authority, senior management and its affiliates, and other services provided to other known connected 
parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity, including those that could compromise independence and the related 
safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.
There are no relationships from 1 April 2019 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and objectivity

Services provided by Ernst & Young

The previous page sets out a summary of the fees that you have paid to us in the year ended 31 March 2020 in line with the disclosures set out in FRC Ethical Standard 

and in statute. 

We confirm that none of the services listed have been provided on a contingent fee basis.

As at the date of this report, there are no future services which have been contracted and no written proposal to provide non-audit services has been submitted.

P
age 266



47

Independence

Summary of key changes

• Extraterritorial application of the FRC Ethical Standard to UK PIE and its worldwide affiliates 

• A general prohibition on the provision of non-audit services by the auditor (or its network) to a UK PIE, its UK parent and worldwide subsidiaries
• A narrow list of permitted services where closely related to the audit and/or required by law or regulation
• Absolute prohibition on the following relationships applicable to UK PIE and its affiliates including material significant investees/investors:

• Tax advocacy services
• Remuneration advisory services
• Internal audit services
• Secondment/loan staff arrangements

• An absolute prohibition on contingent fees.
• Requirement to meet the higher standard for business relationships i.e. business relationships between the audit firm and the audit client will only be permitted if it is 

inconsequential.
• Permitted services required by law or regulation will not be subject to the 70% fee cap.
• Grandfathering will apply for otherwise prohibited non-audit services that are open at 15 March 2020 such that the engagement may continue until completed in 

accordance with the original engagement terms. 
• A requirement for the auditor to notify the Audit Committee where the audit fee might compromise perceived independence and the appropriate safeguards.
• A requirement to report to the audit committee details of any breaches of the Ethical Standard and any actions taken by the firm to address any threats to 

independence. A requirement for non-network component firm whose work is used in the group audit engagement to comply with the same independence standard as 
the group auditor. Our current understanding is that the requirement to follow UK independence rules is limited to the component firm issuing the audit report and 
not to its network. This is subject to clarification with the FRC.

New UK Independence Standards
The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) published the Revised Ethical Standard 2019 in December and it will apply to accounting periods starting on or after 15 March 
2020. A key change in the new Ethical Standard will be a general prohibition on the provision of non-audit services by the auditor (and its network) which will apply to UK 
Public Interest Entities (PIEs). A narrow list of permitted services will continue to be allowed. 

Next Steps

We will continue to monitor and assess all ongoing and proposed non-audit services and relationships to ensure they are permitted under FRC Revised Ethical Standard 
2016 which will continue to apply until 31 March 20 as well as the recently released FRC Revised Ethical Standard 2019 which will be effective from 1 April 2020. We 
will work with you to ensure orderly completion of the services or where required, transition to another service provider within mutually agreed timescales.

We do not provide any non-audit services which would be prohibited under the new standard.

P
age 267



48

Independence

EY Transparency Report 2019

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence 
and integrity are maintained. 

Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm 
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year end 30 June 2020: 

EY UK Transparency Report 2020 | EY UK

Other communications

P
age 268

https://www.ey.com/en_uk/who-we-are/transparency-report-2020


49

Appendices10

P
age 269



50

Appendix A

Required communications with the Audit Committee
There are certain communications that we must provide to the Audit Committees of UK clients. We have detailed these here together with a reference of when and where 
they were covered:

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported?
When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Audit Committee of acceptance of terms of engagement as written 
in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies 

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. Audit planning report (March 2020)

Planning and audit 
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the 
significant risks identified.

Audit planning report (March 2020)

Significant findings 
from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management

• Written representations that we are seeking

• Expected modifications to the audit report

• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit results report

P
age 270



51

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation 
and presentation of the financial statements

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit results report

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods 

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected

• Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit results report

Subsequent events • Enquiry of the audit committee where appropriate regarding whether any subsequent 
events have occurred that might affect the financial statements.

Audit results report

Fraud • Enquiries of the Audit Committee to determine whether they have knowledge of any 
actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Authority

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a 
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the Authority, any 
identified or suspected fraud involving:

a. Management; 

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements.

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when 
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to Audit Committee responsibility.

Audit results report

P
age 271



52

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Related parties Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the Authority’s related 
parties including, when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management 

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions 

• Disagreement over disclosures 

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations 

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the Authority

Audit results report

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals 
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence.

Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of 
independence and objectivity such as:

• The principal threats

• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness

• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards

• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity 
and independence

Communications whenever significant judgments are made about threats to objectivity and 
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.

Audit planning report (March 2020)
and
Audit results report

Consideration of laws 
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly 
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance 
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur 
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the audit committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the 
audit committee may be aware of

We have not identified any material instances 
or non-compliance with laws and regulations

P
age 272



53

Appendix A

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

All confirmations received as requested

Significant deficiencies in 
internal controls identified 
during the audit

• Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit results report

Written representations 
we are requesting from 
management and/or those 
charged with governance

• Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with 
governance

Audit results report

Material inconsistencies or 
misstatements of fact 
identified in other 
information which 
management has refused 
to revise

• Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which 
management has refused to revise

Audit results report

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Audit results report

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit planning report is agreed

• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

• Any non-audit work 

Audit planning report (March 2020)

Audit results report

P
age 273



54

Appendix B

Management representation letter

A. Financial Statements and Financial Records 
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, under the relevant statutory 

authorities, for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20.

2. We acknowledge, as members of the Authority, our responsibility for the 
fair presentation of the financial statements.  We believe the financial 
statements referred to above give a true and fair view of  the financial 
position, financial performance (or results of operations) and cash flows of 
the Authority in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 and are free of 
material misstatements, including omissions.  We have approved the 
financial statements.

3. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are appropriately described in the financial 
statements.

4. As members of management of the Authority, we believe that the Authority 
has a system of internal controls adequate to enable the preparation of 
accurate financial statements in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20
for the Authority that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. We have disclosed to you any significant changes in our 
processes, controls, policies and procedures that we have made to address 
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our system of internal controls.

5. We believe that the effects of any unadjusted audit differences, 
summarised in the accompanying schedule, accumulated by you during the 
current audit and pertaining to the latest period presented are immaterial, 
both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole.  We have not corrected these differences identified by and brought 
to the attention from the auditor because [specify reasons for not 
correcting misstatement].

Mrs Helen Henshaw 
Ernst & Young LLP
One Colmore Square
Birmingham
B4 6HQ

Dear Helen

This letter of representations is provided in connection with your audit of 
the financial statements of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority for 
the year ended 31 March 2020.  We recognise that obtaining 
representations from us concerning the information contained in this letter 
is a significant procedure in enabling you to form an opinion as to whether 
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority as of 31 March 2020 and of its 
income and expenditure and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20.

We understand that the purpose of your audit of our financial statements is 
to express an opinion thereon and that your audit was conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing, which involves an 
examination of the accounting system, internal control and related data to 
the extent you considered necessary in the circumstances, and is not 
designed to identify - nor necessarily be expected to disclose - all fraud, 
shortages, errors and other irregularities, should any exist.

Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Management Rep Letter (draft)

P
age 274



55

Appendix B

Management representation letter (continued)

C. Information Provided and Completeness of Information and Transactions
1. We have provided you with:

1. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to 
the preparation of the financial statements such as records, 
documentation and other matters;

2. Additional information that you have requested from us for the 
purpose of the audit; and

3. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

2. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and 
are reflected in the financial statements, including those related to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

3. We have made available to you all minutes of the meetings of the Fire 
Authority and the Finance and Resources Committee (or summaries of 
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared) 
held through the year to the most recent meeting on the following date: 26 
February 2021.

4. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the 
identification of related parties. We have disclosed to you the identity of 
the Authority’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware, including sales, purchases, loans, 
transfers of assets, liabilities and services, leasing arrangements, 
guarantees, non-monetary transactions and transactions for no 
consideration for the year ended, as well as related balances due to or from 
such parties at the year end.  These transactions have been appropriately 
accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements.

5. We believe that the significant assumptions we used in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

6. We have disclosed to you, and the Authority has complied with, all aspects 
of contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements in the event of non-compliance, including all covenants, 
conditions or other requirements of all outstanding debt.

B. Non-compliance with law and regulations, including fraud
1. We acknowledge that we are responsible for determining that the 

Authority’s activities are conducted in accordance with laws and 
regulations and that we are responsible for identifying and addressing 
any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including 
fraud.

2. We acknowledge that we are responsible for the design, implementation 
and maintenance of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud. 

3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that 
the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of 
fraud.

4. We have no knowledge of any identified or suspected non-compliance 
with laws or regulations, including fraud that may have affected the 
Authority (regardless of the source or form and including without 
limitation, any allegations by “whistleblowers”), including non-
compliance matters:

1. involving financial statements;
2. related to laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the 

determination of material amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements;

3. related to laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, but 
compliance with which may be fundamental to the operations of 
the Authority’s activities, its ability to continue to operate, or to 
avoid material penalties;

4. involving management, or employees who have significant roles 
in internal controls, or others; or 

5. in relation to any allegations of fraud, suspected fraud or other 
non-compliance with laws and regulations communicated by 
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

Management Rep Letter (draft)

P
age 275



56

Appendix B

Management representation letter (continued)

G. Ownership of Assets
1. Except for assets capitalised under finance leases, the Authority has 

satisfactory title to all assets appearing in the balance sheet, and there are 
no liens or encumbrances on the Authority’s assets, nor has any asset been 
pledged as collateral. All assets to which the Authority has satisfactory 
title appear in the balance sheet.

H. Use of the Work of a Specialist
1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we engaged to evaluate 

the valuation of property, plant and equipment and have adequately 
considered the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts 
and disclosures included in the financial statements and the underlying 
accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be given 
to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an 
attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters 
that have had an effect on the independence or objectivity of the 
specialists.

I. Estimates 
1. Valuation of Pension Asset/Liabilities and Property, Plant and Equipment:
2. We believe that the measurement processes, including related assumptions 

and models, used to determine the above accounting estimates have been 
consistently applied and are appropriate in the context of CIPFA LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2019/20.

3. We confirm that the significant assumptions used in making the estimated 
valuations of Pension Asset/Liabilities and Property, Plant and Equipment 
appropriately reflect our intent and ability to carry out specific courses of 
action on behalf of the Authority.

4. We confirm that the disclosures made in the financial statements with 
respect to the accounting estimates are complete including the effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on 16 March 2020 and made in accordance with 
CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2019/20.

5. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimates 
and disclosures in the financial statements due to subsequent events, 
including due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

7. From the date of our last management representation letter through the 
date of this letter we have disclosed to you any unauthorized access to 
our information technology systems that either occurred or to the best 
of our knowledge is reasonably likely to have occurred based on our 
investigation, including of reports submitted to us by third parties 
(including regulatory agencies, law enforcement agencies and security 
consultants), to the extent that such unauthorized access to our 
information technology systems is reasonably likely to have a material 
impact to the financial statements, in each case or in the aggregate.

D. Liabilities and Contingencies
1. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with 

guarantees, whether written or oral, have been disclosed to you and are 
appropriately reflected in the financial statements.  

2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible litigation and 
claims, whether or not they have been discussed with legal counsel.

3. We have recorded and/or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities related 
litigation and claims, both actual and contingent, and have disclosed to 
you all guarantees that we have given to third parties.

4. No other claims in connection with litigation have been or are expected 
to be received. 

E. Subsequent Events 
1.There have been no events, including events related to the COVID-19 
pandemic subsequent to year end which require adjustment of or disclosure 
in the financial statements or notes thereto.

F. Other information
1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of the other 
information. The other information comprises the Annual Governance 
Statement and Narrative Statement.
2. We confirm that the content contained within the other information is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

Management Rep Letter (draft)

P
age 276



57

Appendix B

Management representation letter (continued)

J. Retirement benefits
1. On the basis of the process established by us and having made 

appropriate enquiries, we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions 
underlying the scheme liabilities are consistent with our knowledge of 
the business. All significant retirement benefits and all settlements and 
curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.

K. Reserves
1.We have properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements the 
useable and unusable reserves. 

Yours faithfully, 

_______________________
Charlotte Radford, Treasurer

_______________________
Councilor Michael Payne, Chairman of the Fire Authority

Management Rep Letter (draft)

P
age 277



58

Appendix C

Accounting and regulatory update

Future accounting developments

Since the date of our last report to the Audit Committee/Board, there have been a number of exposure drafts, discussion papers and other projects issues. The following 
table provides a high level summary of those that have the potential to have the most significant impact on you:

Name Summary of key measures Impact on NFRA

IFRS 16 • The adoption of IFRS 16 by CIPFA/LASAAC as the basis for preparation of 
Local Authority Financial Statements has been deferred until 1 April 2021.  
The Authority will therefore no longer be required to undertake an impact 
assessment, and disclosure of the impact of the standard in the financial 
statements does not now need to be financially quantified in 2019/20.

• Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority will need to 
ensure that all lease arrangements entered into 
are identified and quantified (including for the 
comparative period) prior to the new 
implementation date 

• Consider whether appropriate systems and 
processes are in place to embed the requirements 
of the new accounting standard going forward

Regulatory update

Since the date of our last report to the Audit Committee/Board, there have been a number of regulatory developments. The following table provides a high level summary 
of those that have the potential to have the most significant impact on you:

Name
Summary of key measures

Impact on NFRA

Code of Audit Practice 2020 • The updated Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office has 
introduced some significant changes to the requirements regarding 
auditors’ work on the value for money conclusion, which will be applicable 
from 2020/21.

• The NAO are currently updating the Auditor 
Guidance Notes which will set out how the new 
Code of Audit Practice should be applied when 
carrying out value for money work. As such, the 
impact remains to be confirmed. 

• Further updates will be provided when possible.

P
age 278



59

Appendix D

Independent Review into the Oversight of Local 
Audit and the Transparency of Local Authority 
Financial Reporting

Published on the 8th September 2020, Sir Tony Redmond’s 
findings and recommendations from his independent 
review provides a significant opportunity to shape the 
future sustainability of local government financial reporting 
and auditing. We believe this will help ensure audit 
continues to meet the evolving needs of local authorities, 
the public, and the public interest. 

Guiding principles for reform 
We believe reforms should be guided by the following 
principles:
• Reforms should enhance, or at least should not create 

risks to, the quality of financial reporting and external 
audit.

• The importance of the multidisciplinary audit firm model, 
to enable local auditors to respond efficiently and 
effectively to the increased reporting complexity, risks 
and financial resilience pressures we have seen facing 
the public sector pre and post Covid-19.

• There should not be a two-tier system of generally 
accepted accounting and auditing standards between the 
public and corporate sectors. 

• To be effective and sustainable, reforms need to focus on 
the public sector financial reporting and external audit 
ecosystem as a whole. 

Reflections from the Redmond Review

P
age 279



60

Appendix D

Reflections from the Redmond Review (continued)

Taking our guiding principles, we broadly welcome the Redmond review and proposals, in particular:

Quality of financial reporting and external audit
• The recognition that all stakeholders in the ecosystem have a role to play to improve accountability, transparency and 

sustainability. This includes improving the effectiveness of Audit Committees, strengthening the training skills, capacity 
capability and attractiveness of the public sector finance and audit professions. 

• His conclusion that the current procurement and fee structure does not support sustainable audit quality. We have provided 
you with our perspectives on how baseline audit fees need to change to take account of your risk profile, complexity as well as 
the regulatory and professional context which drive our audits. 

Reforming the public sector financial reporting and external audit ecosystem
• Establishing the Office for Local Audit Regulation (OLAR), which provides a “system leader” and will bring clarity to the existing 

framework for local authority audit.
• The importance of MHCLG establishing a liaison committee of all key stakeholders to oversee reforms. To begin with MHCLG 

should take urgent action to implement primary legislation to establish OLAR, revise the timetable for financial reporting and 
revisit the procurement and fee structure for public sector audit.

Multidisciplinary audit firm model 
• The importance of the auditors work to critically assess the financial resilience and viability of public sector bodies and his 

proposals on how this assessment could be enhanced within the NAOs code of audit practice. 

Safeguarding professional accounting and auditing standards 
• The need for CIPFA/LASAAC to revisit the accounting code and introduce summarised accounts. We agree that there is a need 

for more proportionality in the Code which also sets out the expectations of practitioners and auditors and how this could be
applied in areas such as pensions and asset valuations. However, we believe that any future proposals on the accounting code 
should not create a two-tier system.

P
age 280



61

Appendix D

Reflections from the Redmond Review (continued)

What are we doing in the meantime? 

1. Planning for a 30 September financial reporting target date for 2020/2021 accounts, integrated with our NHS work. 

2. Implementing the new NAO code and changes to our VFM conclusion work and reporting for 2020/2021 audits. We will also 
work with the NAO and other audit suppliers on any refinements to how auditors assess financial resilience. 

3. Continuing to engage with and influence MHCLG, NAO, PSAA CIPFA/LASAAC, FRC and other key stakeholders on the actions 
required to implement the Redmond proposals as swiftly as possible and how these effectively align to the broader package of 
audit reforms which BIES will consult on later this year.  

P
age 281



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 282



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN – YEAR 
THREE STRATEGIC ACTIONS  
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

  
Date:  26 February 2021 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To present Members with the recommended Year Three Strategic Actions to be 
delivered under the Strategic Plan. 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
It is recommended that Members; 
 

 Note the content of this report; 

 Endorse the Year Three Strategic Actions;  

 Receive the Annual Statement of Assurance for Year Two outcomes at a later 
meeting in 2021. 

  
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name:  
Candida Brudenell 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
0115 967 0880      corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 283

Agenda Item 10



1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 In February 2020, Members approved an update to the Authority’s Integrated 

Risk Management Plan (IRMP) for 2019 – 2022, known as the ‘Strategic Plan’. 
This document sets out the Service’s vision and objectives, reflecting the 
consultation that was carried out throughout its development with the 
community, workforce, representative bodies and partners.  
 

1.2 Each fire and rescue authority is required to produce an IRMP which identifies 
and assesses all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could affect its 
communities, including those of a cross-border, multi-authority and/or national 
nature.  
 

1.3  The Strategic Plan is also used by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) to assess the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the Service in delivery of its statutory functions 
to communities. 

 
1.4 Each of the three years covered by the Strategic Plan is broken down in to 

annual business plans with ‘Strategic Actions’.  Through the cumulative 
delivery of these, it facilitates the delivery of the aims of the Strategic Plan.    

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1.   The Service has increased the transparency of its annual action plans to the 

public and the outcomes from the Year Two Strategic Actions will be reported 
to Members in the Annual Statement of Assurance, later in 2021.  

 
2.2 The nine Year Three Strategic Actions, proposed by the Strategic Leadership 

Team of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS), will help drive the 
Service forward ahead of the new IRMP process being delivered in 2022.   

 
2.3 The Year Three Strategic Actions which are proposed are: 
 

2.3.1 Shaping Our Future – Creation of New 2022-2025 Strategic Plan – 
this strategic action will see the Service develop a new integrated risk 
management planning cycle with the formation of a new Strategic Plan 
from April 2022.  Regular engagement and updates will be planned with 
Members throughout the development of this strategic action. 

 
2.3.2 To Embed an Inclusion Approach to all that we do, by 

understanding and engaging with our diverse communities to 
enhance service delivery, and by providing a positive workplace 
where our employees feel supported and valued – this strategic 
action will see a continued prioritisation and development of inclusion 
across all aspects of service delivery, workforce development and 
community engagement.   

 

Page 284



2.3.3 Business Recovery – Restoration of Services and Implementation 
of New Ways of Working Following Covid-19 Pandemic – this 
strategic action will focus on the restoration of service delivery activities 
for the communities of Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, and the 
learning of lessons from the Covid-19 response. 

 
2.3.4 Continuous Improvement – this action will see the Service assure its 

processes to learn from local and national developments including the 
HMICFRS inspection, the Grenfell Tower Inquiries and other significant 
events. 

 
2.3.5 Agile Working – this strategic action will address learning from the 

Service’s response to Covid-19 and facilitate a review of agile working 
principles ahead of the Service’s move to the Joint Headquarters 

 
2.3.6 Specialist Response Review – this action will utilise information 

gathered as part of the Service’s ‘Strategic Assessment of Risk’ in 2021 
to review and assure the Service’s specialist operational response 
capability in line with risk and demand. 

 
2.3.7 Sustainability of On-Call – this strategic action will continue the 

Service’s approach to supporting and improving the On-Call duty 
system within NFRS and will include the review of contractual 
arrangements to improve the recruitment and retention of personnel. 

 
2.3.8 Operational Response (Rostering) – the Service will review the 

rostering solution that is utilised for wholetime, on-call and officers to 
ensure that it meets the current and future needs of the Service and 
provides a resilient and efficient approach to operational crewing.   

 
2.3.9 Collaborating to Improve Community Outcomes – year three of the 

Strategic Plan will witness the collaboration of NFRS with 
Nottinghamshire Police at the Joint Headquarters building.  This 
strategic action will not only incorporate this move but also the wider 
collaborative opportunities with partner agencies and services in order 
to deliver the best outcomes for the communities of Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire. 

 
2.4 Progress against the Year Three Strategic Actions will be monitored through 

the Service’s internal Programme and Performance Board and outcomes will 
be reported to the Fire Authority at the end of the 2021/22 business year.   

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Year Three Strategic Actions align to the allocations outlined in the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy.  A number of the actions are financed through the 
Transformational Reserve that Members approved to deliver improvement across a 
range of functions. 
 

Page 285



4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising from 
this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken due to the nature of this 
report. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no risk management implications arising from this report. 
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
Collaboration is highlighted as a priority within the Year Three Strategic Actions and 
will continue to be a focus across all workstreams to maximise efficiency and 
effectiveness in delivery.    
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
10.1 Note the content of this report. 
 
10.2 Endorse the Year Three Strategic Actions. 
  
10.3 Receive the Annual Statement of Assurance for Year Two outcomes at a 

later meeting in 2021. 
  

Page 286



 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 

THE SERVICE’S RESPONSE TO 
COVID – INSPECTION REPORT 
AND UPDATE 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

Date:              26 February 2021 

Purpose of Report: 

To present Members with the outcome of the Covid-19 thematic inspection by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
and provide an update on the Service’s ongoing efforts in dealing with the 
pandemic.  
 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that Members: 
 

• Formally receive the outcome letter on the Thematic COVID-19 Inspection. 

• Endorse the Chief Fire Officer’s approach and use of fire and rescue resources 
to support the strategic joint agency community response to COVID-19.  

 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name:  
Candida Brudenell 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

 
Corporate Communications Team 
0115 967 0880      corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 

Page 289

Agenda Item 11

mailto:candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 During August 2020, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 

and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) was commissioned by the Home Secretary 
to undertake a thematic inspection of all fire and rescue services in England.  
This inspection was to review the fire and rescue service responses to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
1.2 The focus of the inspections was to consider: 
 

• What is working well and what is being learnt; 

• How the fire and rescue sector is responding to the COVID-19 crisis; 

• How fire and rescue services are dealing with the problems they face; 

• What changes are likely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
1.3 The inspection of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) was 

completed remotely by HMICFRS between 9 and 15 October 2020. 
 
1.4 On 22 January 2021, NFRS received the inspection outcome from HMICFRS 

in the form of a letter (attached at Appendix A) which sets out their 
assessment of the overall effectiveness of the organisation during the 
pandemic. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 Her Majesty’s Inspector of Fire and Rescue Services, Zoe Billingham, 

expressed her gratitude to the Service for the “positive and constructive way” 
that the Service engaged with the inspection.   

 
2.2 In summary, it was reported that the Service adapted and responded 

effectively and had no difficulty in meeting its statutory duties, whilst business 
continuity planning and management was one of its strengths.   

 
2.3 The report highlighted how the Service’s business continuity plans enabled 

the Service to anticipate and mitigate the risks presented by COVID-19, 
including maintaining appropriate levels of fire cover and protecting its staff. 

 
2.4 The assessment of risks associated with all core operations and new tasks 

was highlighted as supporting the workforce, as was the provision of suitable 
personal protective equipment.   

 
2.5 Additionally, the activities of the business continuity management group were 

highlighted as working well for the Service, as was the inclusion of the union 
representative at this level of Service planning.   

 
2.6 Particular comment was passed on the availability of fire engines being 97.7 

percent compared to 86.6 percent for the same period in 2019; an increase 
mainly attributed to increase On-Call availability during this time.  This 

Page 290



enabled the Service’s response times to incidents to reduce during the 
reviewed period.   

 
2.7 The HMICFRS commented on the ‘good arrangements’ in place with the 

Joint Fire Control and the increased resilience afforded by the Tri-Service 
Control arrangements that the Service has in place.   

 
2.8 The inspection highlighted how fewer prevention and protection activities had 

been undertaken by the Service, but praised the use of COVID-19 grant 
funding to employ four additional members of staff to boost prevention 
capability, as well as complementing the ‘befriending and signposting’ work 
undertaken by the Service.   

 
2.9 The report made special note of the progress made in auditing high-rise 

premises during the pandemic and the realignment of resources to the Joint 
Audit and Inspection Team to prioritise this work.  This work was praised 
along with the timely adoption of National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) 
guidance which was shared within the sector.   

 
2.10 Staff wellbeing was highlighted as a clear priority for the Service through the 

inspection with Strategic Leaders being identified as promoting wellbeing 
services to all staff.  The report highlighted how staff who were most at risk 
from COVID-19 were identified effectively and risk mitigations put in place.   

 
2.11 HMICFRS highlighted how, at the time of the inspection, the Service’s 

financial position had not been significantly affected by COVID-19 and that it 
had made robust and realistic calculations of the extra costs it has faced 
during the pandemic.  

 
2.12 It was highlighted that the Service, where possible, has exploited 

opportunities to make savings during this period and used them to mitigate 
any financial risks that were identified.  It also commented that overtime had 
been managed effectively and used sparingly 

 
2.13 HMICFRS reported that the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and 

Rescue Authority had been actively engaged with the Chief Fire Officer and 
that the Chair of the Fire Authority, through the Group Leaders, had re-
organised the Authority’s business in a more agile way; helping to fast-track 
approval for Service actions to support the response to COVID-19. 

 
2.14 The report was complimentary about the Service’s ability to adapt quickly to 

new ways of working and, particularly, the increasing use of technology and 
its use by Strategic Leaders to engage with the workforce; resulting in 
positive feedback from staff in this area. 

 
2.15 The report highlighted the provisions put in place to support staff members 

who were operating in the workplace and those who had been affected by 
COVID-19, either directly or indirectly.  The year-on-year reductions in staff 
absence of 47% were highlighted as notable. 

 

Page 291



2.16  The Service’s active participation in the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) was 
highlighted as bringing a “cohesion and consistency of approach” and meant 
the Service was “at the centre of the joint agency response to the pandemic”.   

 
2.17 The Service was judged to have responded ‘well’ in providing humanitarian 

support to Nottinghamshire’s communities and the report particularly praised 
the delivery of over 10,000 items of food and medication to the vulnerable, 
the delivery of personal protective equipment and the training of staff to fit 
face masks for the NHS.  

 
2.18 Since the inspection, the Service has expanded its support of the COVID-19 

response to support East Midlands Ambulance Service with drivers, the LRF 
with mortuary support, the vaccination effort and mass lateral flow testing in 
communities.   

 
2.19 This additional support was endorsed by The Employers element of the 

National Joint Council following cessation of the national Agreement, on 11 
January 2021, and has been strongly supported by the NFCC.  Local 
engagement with representative bodies has enabled progression of these 
areas of work through locally consulted risk assessments and working 
practices.  

 
2.20 The supportive actions of the Service were enacted under Part 2, Section 11 

of the Fire and Rescue Services Act, 2004 which allows fire and rescue 
authorities to take any action it considers appropriate in response to an event 
or situation that causes, or is likely to cause, one or more individuals to die, 
be injured or become ill. Therefore, volunteers directed to engage this work 
by the Chief Fire Officer are fully covered in terms of their contractual 
protections. 

 
2.21 The Chief Fire Officer has utilised the capacity and capability of the workforce 

to meet the requests of partners and fully engage in the community-centred 
approach to tackle COVID-19.   

 
2.22 With approximately 40 people voluntarily seconded from the Service, 

managers are taking steps to mitigate the impacts on service delivery with a 
focus on the core functions of the Service.  An infographic at Appendix B 
shows the level of service impact in COVID-19 community based activities. 

 
2.23 HMICFRS’s thematic report identified two areas of focus for the Service, and 

wider sector, to consider: 
 

• It should determine how it will adopt for the longer-term, the new and 
innovative ways of working introduced during the pandemic, to secure 
lasting improvements. 
 

• It should update its plans, including business continuity plans, using the 
lessons it has learned from the pandemic to date.  

 

Page 292



2.24 The two areas of focus are being explored with the Service’s Liaison Lead 
from HMICFRS and will be incorporated in to future plans to address any 
specific learning.   

 
2.25 The Service has also enacted a ‘learning log’ from COVID-19 and has 

already undertaken an interim debrief in relation to the response to the 
pandemic.  Additionally, the Service engaged a business continuity 
consultant to manage an unforeseen vacancy in the establishment, mid-
response phase to the pandemic and to provide additional, specialist support 
to Service management.   

 
2.26 These activities have highlighted some ways of working that will be 

continued, post pandemic, and also allowed for the refresh of business 
continuity plans prior to the second wave of COVID-19 infections.  

 
2.27 On 12 February 2021, the HMICFRS published its report on the progress 

made by London Fire Brigade in response to the first phase of the Grenfell 
Tower Inquiry. Although this does not directly relate to NFRS, the report is 
being reviewed to identify any learning and improvements which can be 
achieved within the Service locally.  

 

 3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because the information 
contained in this report does not relate to a change in policy or procedure. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 The Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004 places a duty on NFRS in respect of 

the delivery of its services to communities.  
 
7.2  The Local Government Act 1999 places a statutory duty on NFRS to ‘secure 

continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised’. The 

Page 293



reporting of Service Delivery’s performance ensures that the Service is 
focusing on key objectives as set by the Fire and Rescue Authority and 
continuous improvement. This ensures that Members can apply effective 
scrutiny to be satisfied that statutory obligations are being met. 

 
7.3 The Police and Crime Act (2017) Chapter 4 Section 11 outlines that the 

English inspectors must inspect, and report on the efficiency and 
effectiveness of, fire and rescue authorities in England. 

 
7.4 The Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004, Part 2, Section 11 provides ‘Powers 

to respond to other eventualities’ where ‘The event or situation is one that 
causes or is likely to cause’….’ One or more individuals to die, be injured or 
become ill. 

 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
Deploying resources to support the joint agency efforts to tackle COVID-19 will 
reduce the overall capability of the Service to meet its’ core statutory duties. 
However, the Chief Fire Officer believes that the positive impact on tackling the 
pandemic far outweighs this risk and is proportionate in the current context.  
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
10.1  Formally receive the outcome letter on the Thematic COVID-19 Inspection. 
  
10.2 Endorse the Chief Fire Officer’s approach and use of Fire and Rescue 

resources to support the strategic joint agency response to COVID-19. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 294



6th Floor, Globe House 

89 Eccleston Square 

London SW1V 1PN 

Email: zoe.billingham@hmicfrs.gov.uk 

Zoë Billingham BA Hons (Oxon) 
Her Majesty’s Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services 
Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary 

1 

John Buckley  

Chief Fire Officer 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Councillor Michael Payne 

Chair 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 

22 January 2021 

Dear Mr Buckley and Cllr Payne, 

COVID-19 INSPECTION: NOTTINGHAMSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 

In August 2020, we were commissioned by the Home Secretary to inspect how fire and rescue 

services in England are responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. This letter sets out our 

assessment of the effectiveness of your service’s response to the pandemic. 

2. The pandemic is a global event that has affected everyone and every organisation. Fire and 

rescue services have had to continue to provide a service to the public and, like every other public 

service, have had to do so within the restrictions imposed. 

3. For this inspection, we were asked by the Home Secretary to consider what is working well 

and what is being learned; how the fire sector is responding to the COVID-19 crisis; how fire 

services are dealing with the problems they face; and what changes are likely as a result of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. We recognise that the pandemic is not over and, as such, this inspection 

concerns the service’s initial response. 

4. I am grateful for the positive and constructive way your service engaged with our 

inspection. I am also very grateful to your service for the positive contribution you have made to 

your community during the pandemic. We inspected your service between 9 and 23 October 2020. 

This letter summarises our findings. 

5. In relation to your service, local NHS representatives declared the pandemic a major 

incident on 1 March 2020. 

6. In summary, the service adapted and responded to the pandemic effectively and has had 

no difficulty meeting its statutory duties. Business continuity planning and management is one of its 

strengths, and it is working towards Business Continuity Institute accreditation. We found examples 

Page 295

mailto:zoe.billingham@hmicfrs.gov.uk


2 

of how anticipation of, and forward planning for, the pandemic have held the service in good stead. 

For example, it issued tablets with access to all of the service’s business applications before the 

pandemic, which helped it transition rapidly to home working. 

7. The service has provided additional support to the community during the first phase of the 

pandemic. It helped to establish a temporary mortuary, it has delivered food and medication to the 

vulnerable, and its firefighters have been trained to recover dead bodies if existing services are 

overrun. On behalf of local councils, the service has initiated a ‘befriending and signposting’ 

scheme. This connects residents who have been cut off from their community because of the 

pandemic to council services. The service has also provided important support to the local 

ambulance trust. Before the national tripartite agreement had been reached, the chief fire officer 

secured the co-operation of firefighters to assist paramedics. This has helped with the emergency 

transfer of non-COVID-19 patients to outpatient appointments or to receive urgent care. 

8. We recognise that the arrangements for managing the pandemic may carry on for some 

time, and that the service is now planning for the future. To be as efficient and effective as 

possible, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service should focus on the following areas: 

(a) It should determine how it will adopt for the longer-term, the new and innovative ways of 

working introduced during the pandemic, to secure lasting improvements. 

(b) It should update its plans, including business continuity plans, using the lessons it has 

learned from the pandemic to date. 

Preparing for the pandemic 

9. Prior to COVID-19, the service had not developed a specific plan to manage a pandemic.  

Its response has been dependent on its business continuity plans, which were activated on 

6 March 2020. They help guide operational procedures, welfare arrangements and the assessment 

of risks within the workplace. In terms of joint working, the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Local 

Resilience Forum (LRF) has a flu pandemic plan which facilitates a collaborative response to  

the crisis. 

10. The plans were enough to enable the service to anticipate and mitigate the risks presented 

by COVID-19, including maintaining an appropriate level of fire cover and protecting its staff.  

The service has reviewed its plans to reflect the changing situation and what it has learned during 

the pandemic. 

11. In particular, the service has adapted well in order to provide additional humanitarian 

support to Nottinghamshire’s communities. This has brought relief to other public sector services 

that have been under pressure. For example, it has packaged food for the vulnerable, assisted with 

the delivery of personal protective equipment (PPE), and staff were trained to fit face masks for the 

NHS and social care workers. The ‘lessons learned log’, which forms part of the ‘COVID Library’  

on the service’s intranet, is an effective way of making new guidance available to the workforce. 

Page 296



3 

The service’s business continuity arrangements have also been recently reviewed by an external 

consultant. 

Fulfilling statutory functions 

12. The main functions of a fire and rescue service are firefighting, promoting fire safety 

through prevention and protection (making sure building owners comply with fire safety legislation), 

rescuing people in road traffic collisions, and responding to emergencies. 

13. The service has continued to provide these functions throughout the pandemic in line with 

advice from the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC). This means the service continues to respond 

to calls from the public and attend emergencies in a way that it is COVID-safe. 

Response 

14. The service told us that between 1 April and 30 June 2020 it attended fewer incidents than 

it did during the same period in 2019. 

15. Over the same time period, the overall availability of fire engines was better than it was 

during the same period in the previous year. Between 1 April and 30 June 2020, the service’s 

average overall fire engine availability was 97.7 percent compared with 86.6 percent during the 

same period in 2019. This was for two reasons. Twelve on-call firefighters were recruited as 

wholetime firefighters on a permanent basis to boost operational resilience. And on-call firefighters 

were generally more available during this period to cover unforeseen absences as they were 

furloughed from their primary employment. 

16. The service didn’t change its crewing models or shift patterns during this period. However, 

there were occasions when the number of firefighters in crews was reduced. This was managed on 

a case-by-case basis. 

17. The service told us that its average response time to fires improved during the pandemic 

compared with the same period in 2019. This was due to an increased availability of fire crews. 

This may not be reflected in official statistics recently published by the Home Office, because 

services don’t all collect and calculate their data the same way. 

18. The service had good arrangements in place to make sure that it had enough call handlers 

to receive 999 calls and dispatch fire crews to incidents. The service shares a joint fire control 

room with Derbyshire and Leicestershire fire and rescue services as part of a tri-service 

arrangement. Back-up arrangements are resilient and control room staff can answer calls and 

dispatch crews in all three counties. Shared facilities like this make the operational response to 

emergencies more resilient. The risk of infection was reduced by limiting access to the control 

room and regularly sanitising surfaces. 

Page 297

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/response-times-to-fires-attended-by-fire-and-rescue-services-england-april-2018-to-march-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/response-times-to-fires-attended-by-fire-and-rescue-services-england-april-2018-to-march-2019


4 

Prevention 

19. The NFCC issued guidance explaining how services should maintain a risk-based 

approach to continuing prevention activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The service adopted 

this guidance. It has also reviewed which individuals and groups it considered to be at an 

increased risk of harm as a consequence of the pandemic. 

20. Its prevention programme has been adapted accordingly. Routine personal visits  

to residents were suspended and initial assessments are now made on the telephone.  

Priority individuals assessed to be ‘at risk’ continue to be supported in their homes by specialist 

prevention staff wearing appropriate PPE. 

21. The service has changed its procedures for residents deemed to be in lower risk 

categories. When it judges that there is a no risk of immediate harm, advice and support is 

provided on the telephone. Those deemed to be at medium risk of harm are also given immediate 

advice as part of the initial assessment. Thereafter, they are scheduled for a future visit when local 

restrictions permit. The only exception to this is when residents do not have a smoke detection 

device fitted, in which case they will have a priority personal visit. 

22. Overall, the service conducted fewer safe and well visits than it would normally undertake. 

Inevitably, backlogs have built up in the system as a consequence. The service has made good 

use of COVID-19 grant funding to employ four members of staff to boost prevention capability. 

The were recruited on one-year contracts, and their role is to reduce the backlog. 

23. We also recognise that the service has stepped forward to connect vulnerable residents to 

local authority-run COVID support lines. The befriending and signposting scheme, which came out 

of the LRF’s work, reaches out to those who are most likely to suffer because of COVID-19. 

Firefighters and staff put them in touch with Council support hubs if they have any needs. It is also 

an opportunity to offer fire safety advice when relevant. The service has supported 850 people in 

this way. 

Protection 

24. The NFCC issued guidance on how to continue protection activity during the COVID-19 

pandemic. This includes maintaining a risk-based approach, completing desktop audits and issuing 

enforcement notices electronically. The service adopted this guidance. 

25. The service has developed a new methodology for its protection programme, which is 

currently the subject of a consultation process. As such, it has decided not to change which 

premises it defines as high risk because of the pandemic. However, it has adapted how it 

completes audits, in line with NFCC guidance. 

26. For high-risk premises, it has continued with face-to-face fire safety audit and enforcement 

activity. This is done in accordance with COVID-19 safety measures including distancing, PPE 

protection, and premises being able to show that they are COVID secure. Exceptions have been 

Page 298



5 

made where the infection risk of audit activity has been assessed as being too high – notably, no 

visits have been made to residential care homes. 

27. We also note the progress made auditing high-rise premises during the pandemic. The city 

centre has a lot of multi-occupancy buildings, including council-owned student accommodation. 

The service has accelerated its inspection programme as part of collaborative work with the 

council. This is led by the joint audit inspection team (JAIT). The service seconded additional fire 

safety officers to the JAIT to complete more audits when buildings were empty during university 

vacations. 

28. For lower risk premises, the service introduced desktop appraisals as an alternative to 

physical inspection. Alongside this, the service is using digital channels like web pages, social 

media and webinars to raise awareness and provide fire protection advice. It has maintained  

its enforcement activity and has continued to respond to building control consultations in a  

timely manner. 

29. We note that the service has completed fewer fire safety audits than usual as a result of 

COVID-19, and backlogs have built up. However, these have now been rescheduled. 

30. There is one building in Nottinghamshire with cladding similar to that at Grenfell Tower. 

The service continues to engage with the responsible person for fire safety at the building as part 

of a national remediation programme. 

31. A site for a Nightingale hospital has been identified in Nottinghamshire. Although the final 

decision has not yet been made on whether it will be built, the service has worked with the NHS 

and contractors to advise on fire safety measures. 

Staff health and safety and wellbeing 

32. Staff wellbeing has been a clear priority for the service during the pandemic. It proactively 

identified wellbeing problems and responded to any concerns and further needs. Senior leaders 

actively promoted wellbeing services and encouraged staff to discuss any worries they had. 

33. Most staff survey respondents told us that they could access services to support their 

mental wellbeing if needed. Support put in place for staff included occupational health, mental 

health webinars, a peer support network, counselling and one-to-one meetings with line managers. 

34. The service is part of the Blue Light Programme and Your Mind Matters. These are 

programmes run by charities that offer support to public sector workers. The service has also 

developed a programme of pilates, zumba and mindfulness to support mental and physical 

wellbeing. These are accessible to all staff. 

35. Staff most at risk from COVID-19 have been identified effectively. In line with NFCC  

best practice, the service developed a ‘COVID risk estimator’ for all members of staff. They were 

invited to enter their personal data (age, general health condition, ethnicity, gender, etc) on a 

Page 299



6 

screening matrix. The risk ‘score’ was cross-referenced to the individual’s role and the risk it 

carries of contracting COVID-19. 

36. The COVID risk estimator has proved to be an effective means of establishing not only 

someone’s likelihood of contracting COVID-19, but also the likely consequences of the infection  

for the individual. High-scoring members of staff have access to a tailored support programme.  

The risk estimator is helping the service to make informed decisions about which staff should 

return to the workplace and when. It was promoted by senior leaders to staff who were most 

vulnerable, including those from a black, Asian and minority ethnic background. This has led to the 

risk estimator being widely used. There was also a good level of engagement with the COVID-19 

support programme for high-risk scorers and anyone else who had concerns. 

37. The service made sure that firefighters were competent to do their work during the 

pandemic. It has adapted its training curriculum to reduce the risk of infection. This includes 

ensuring that theory-based training is completed away from the workplace, and that smaller groups 

of firefighters take part in practical training. 

38. The service has assessed the risks of all new tasks and responsibilities undertaken as a 

consequence of COVID-19. This is led by the service’s business continuity management group 

(BCMG). The involvement of the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) in the BCMG has worked well for  

the service. The union’s representative sees at first hand how the detailed risk assessments are 

completed for new tasks. This helps reassure staff that their interests and safety are being taken 

seriously and is an effective means of ensuring the support of the workforce in a fast-moving 

period of change. 

39. The service provided its workforce with suitable PPE on time and ensured that it achieved 

value for money. Before the pandemic, the service issued reusable aerosol/particle-resistant 

respirators to bring more resilience in a time of crisis. The service has also drawn on regional 

procurement frameworks, which have proved reliable. The service will also make use of the 

national PPE supply hub led by Kent Fire and Rescue Service, should the need arise. 

Staff absence 

40. Absences have decreased compared with the same period in 2019. The number of days or 

shifts lost due to sickness absence between 1 April and 30 June 2020 decreased by 46.9 percent 

compared with the same period in 2019. 

41. The service updated its absence policy so that it could better manage staff wellbeing and 

health and safety. This includes ‘return to work’ procedures after self-isolation, testing 

requirements, and pay for staff who are absent for COVID-related reasons. The service has  

also established an ‘attendance team’ to act as a single point of contact for firefighters and staff. 

The team advises and supports anyone who is worried or uncertain about what do. This has 

helped staff who have family members who need to shield or self-isolate, or who experience 

symptoms of the virus. 

Page 300



7 

42. Data is routinely collected on the numbers of staff who are either absent, self-isolating or 

working from home. 

Staff engagement 

43. Most staff survey respondents told us that the service has provided regular and relevant 

communication to all staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. The service developed a range of 

communication channels at the start of lockdown. The chief fire officer uses Skype to engage with 

staff on a weekly basis. ‘Vlogs’ are increasingly being used for operational updates, and the 

service publishes a service bulletin three times a week. 

44. Several changes have been made to how the service operates, as a consequence of  

the pandemic. The service is evaluating some of these changes with a view to them becoming 

‘business as usual’ in the future. These include continuing with virtual meetings, more online 

learning and support for flexible working. 

Working with others, and making changes locally 

45. To protect communities, fire and rescue service staff were encouraged to carry out  

extra roles beyond their core duties. This was to support other local blue light services and other 

public service providers that were experiencing high levels of demand, and to offer other support to 

its communities. 

46. The service carried out the following new activities: delivering essential services and 

packing food supplies for vulnerable people; delivering PPE to NHS and social care facilities; 

introducing the befriending and signposting scheme; and supporting East Midlands Ambulance 

Service NHS Trust (East Midlands Ambulance Service) with the transport of non-COVID patients. 

Working with other organisations, the service delivered over 10,000 items of food and medication 

to vulnerable people. The service has also trained staff to provide further support to other 

organisations, should the crisis worsen. Firefighters have been trained to transfer bodies to 

mortuaries, and other staff have been instructed to help NHS and social care workers fit face 

masks, if necessary. 

47. A national ‘tripartite agreement’ was put in place to include the new activities that 

firefighters could carry out during the pandemic. The agreement was between the NFCC, National 

Employers, and the FBU, and specified what new roles firefighters could agree to engage in during 

the pandemic. Each service then undertook local consultations on the specific work it had been 

asked to support, to agree how any health and safety requirements, including risk assessments, 

would be addressed. If public sector partners requested further support from services with 

additional roles that were outside the tripartite agreement, the specifics would need to be agreed 

nationally before the work could begin. 

48. The service consulted locally with the FBU and the Fire Officers’ Association to implement 

the tripartite agreement. 

Page 301



8 

49. All of the new work done by the service under the tripartite agreement was agreed on time 

for it to start promptly and in line with the request from the partner agency. A ‘partner assistance 

cell’ has been established to help the LRF manage requests for assistance from other 

organisations. This is led by a senior ‘decision maker’ and provides a single point of contact in the 

service to receive and allocate tasks. This ensures that requests from other organisations are 

promptly attended to and rigorously risk-assessed, and that additional services are subject to 

proper cost controls. 

50. The service also agreed to support partner organisations with other tasks that fell outside 

the agreement. These included establishing a temporary mortuary in Mansfield, working with 

paramedics to transport patients, delivering food parcels to the vulnerable, and running the 

befriending and signposting scheme that supports local councils. 

51. In the early days of the pandemic, there were some delays in agreeing operational 

protocols for joint working with the East Midlands Ambulance Service. The service was asked to 

drive ambulances crewed by paramedics to help non-COVID patients get to outpatient 

appointments or receive urgent care. As this additional work had not yet been approved as part of 

the tripartite agreement, the chief fire officer made a personal appeal to the workforce to “do what 

was right for the communities of Nottinghamshire”. A number of volunteers stepped forward to 

drive ambulances and the problem was quickly resolved. 

Local resilience forum 

52. To keep the public safe, fire and rescue services work with other organisations to assess 

the risk of an emergency, and to maintain plans for responding to one. To do so, the service should 

be an integrated and active member of its LRF. Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service is a 

member of the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire LRF. 

53. The service has been an active member of the LRF during the pandemic. Two experienced 

senior members of staff were allocated to represent the service at the LRF’s strategic and tactical 

co-ordination groups. Their presence has brought a cohesion and a consistency of approach, 

which is held in high regard by other members. It also means the service is at the centre of the joint 

agency response to the pandemic. 

54. The service is a member of a number of operational ‘cells’ that support the resilience 

forum’s overall strategy to manage COVID-19 – for example, the ‘communication cell’ for joint 

public messaging, and the ‘excess death cell’ which ensures that the city and county’s mortuaries 

are not overrun. 

Use of resources 

55. The service’s financial position hasn’t been significantly affected by COVID-19. 

56. The service has made robust and realistic calculations of the extra costs it has faced during 

the pandemic. Up until 30 June 2020, its main extra costs were PPE supplies (£25,000), sanitising 

Page 302



9 

products (£14,000), ICT infrastructure and licences (£30,000) and additional costs incurred by on-

call firefighters providing services as part of the tripartite agreement. The service understands the 

effect this will have on its previously agreed budget and anticipated savings. 

57. Where possible, the service has exploited opportunities to make savings during this period 

and used them to mitigate any financial risks it has identified. This includes surpluses that have 

accrued because of reduced travel and conferencing costs. 

58. The service has received £1.05m of extra government funding to support its response. 

By 30 June 2020, it had spent this money on the additional costs incurred by on-call firefighters 

(£24,000), support to the LRF (£8,000) and overtime (£4,000). About a third of this grant has been 

held back in an ‘earmarked’ reserve for future costs related to the ongoing pandemic. It has shown 

how it used this income efficiently, and that it mitigated against the financial risks that arose during 

this period. 

59. The service hasn’t had to use any of its general reserves to meet the extra costs of the 

pandemic. 

60. When used, overtime was managed effectively and used sparingly. 

Ways of working 

61. The service is adapting the way it operates during the pandemic. Its robust business 

continuity arrangements meant that it was in a good state of readiness, and the mobile technology 

it rolled out before the pandemic has served it well. The service has also rapidly adapted to home 

working, as all of its business applications are widely available on tablets. The benefits of working 

from home became apparent when payroll staff had to self-isolate: in spite of these restrictions, 

monthly salary and other payments continued without interruption. 

62. Because of the pandemic, the service brought forward its plans to introduce a new video 

conferencing platform. This has facilitated the chief fire officer’s weekly communication to staff, and 

has allowed other internal communication, like staff bulletins, to be made interactive. These will 

become permanent features of how the service operates. 

63. In other areas, the service has changed how it operates, out of necessity. For example, to 

maintain firefighters’ operational competence, the service has become more reliant on e-learning. 

Only practical training exercises that involve close human contact are undertaken in groups. This is 

done on a watch-by-watch basis to minimise the risk of infection. Similar arrangements exist at 

on-call crewed fire stations: rather than the whole crew gathering once a week for training, 

sessions are staggered over a number of days and involve fewer people. 

64. Similar adaptations have been made to promotion processes. The service has recently 

completed ‘virtual’ assessment processes for promotions to watch manager and station manager. 

Feedback from both candidates and assessors was positive, and the service is considering making 

Page 303



10 

these changes permanent. Overall, the service is able to quickly implement changes to how  

it operates. This allows its staff to work flexibly and efficiently during the pandemic. 

65. The service has worked closely with the NFCC to implement change during the pandemic. 

The chief fire officer represents East Midlands fire and rescue services at the NFCC ‘COVID  

Gold’ strategic meetings. His involvement has helped bring consistency to operational practices in 

the region. This has helped smooth the implementation of new procedures; for example, the 

wearing of face masks in fire appliances and frontline use of the NHS COVID app. The service has 

also benefited from NFCC workshops – for example, senior practitioners have attended best 

practice seminars relevant to COVID-related risk assessments. 

66. The senior leaders have had positive feedback from staff on how they were engaged with 

during the pandemic. As a result, the service plans to adopt these changes into its usual 

procedures and to consider how they can be developed further to help promote a sustainable 

change to its working culture. 

Staffing 

67. The service has enough resources available to respond to the level of demand during  

the COVID-19 pandemic, and to reallocate resources where necessary to support the work of its 

partner organisations. 

68. Arrangements put in place to monitor staff performance across the service are effective. 

This means the service can be sure its staff are making the best contribution that they reasonably 

can during this period. Extra capacity is identified and reassigned to support other areas of the 

service and other organisations. 

69. Over the course of the pandemic, the main role for wholetime firefighters has been  

to provide the service’s core responsibilities. We expect services to keep their processes  

under review to make sure they use their wholetime workforces as productively as possible.  

We recognise wholetime firefighters have also volunteered to crew ambulances and deliver 

medication, food parcels and PPE to the public and social care sector. Some firefighters have 

worked with other organisations to establish temporary mortuaries and others have been trained to 

recover bodies should the need arise. 

70. Both wholetime and on-call firefighters have also been involved in the service’s prevention 

programme, which has been adapted as a consequence of the pandemic. A large-scale 

commitment has been made to local authorities to create the befriending and signposting scheme. 

Firefighters are also responsible for the initial contact with vulnerable residents who had been 

scheduled for personal prevention visits. As COVID-19 limits face-to-face contact to a minimum, 

this is an important service. It identifies those at the greatest risk of harm in their homes, so that 

they can be seen by specialist officers. 

Page 304



11 

Governance of the service’s response 

71. Each fire and rescue service is overseen by a fire and rescue authority. There are several 

different governance arrangements in place across England, and the size of the authority varies 

between services. Each authority ultimately has the same function: to set the service’s priorities 

and budget and make sure that the budget is spent wisely. 

72. Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority has been actively 

engaged in discussions with the chief fire officer and the service on the service’s ability to 

discharge its statutory functions during the pandemic. 

73. Because of the pandemic, the chair of the fire and rescue authority has re-organised the 

authority’s committee structures to support the service in a more agile way. He has established a 

group leaders’ forum to support the service with urgent business and budgetary decision making. 

This has helped to fast track approval for the service to exceed spending projections and increase 

borrowing limits should this be necessary. 

Looking to the future 

74. During the pandemic, services were able to adapt quickly to new ways of working.  

This meant that they were able to respond to emergencies and take on a greater role in the 

community by supporting other blue light services and partner agencies. It is now essential that 

services use their experiences during COVID-19 as a platform for lasting reform and 

modernisation. 

75. Single login access to all of the service’s business applications on tablets has led to 

transformational improvements during the course of the pandemic. As well as ensuring core 

business can continue without interruption, it has brought a greater reach that allows senior 

leaders to engage with the workforce more effectively. In a survey we completed in advance of the 

inspection, staff were positive about how they are communicated with and said they have choice of 

communication channels to keep themselves up to date.  

76. The service is also increasingly using its technology for operational benefits.  

Recognising how ‘information overload’ in a fast-moving period of change was causing difficulty,  

a video was recorded to communicate the role of the ‘partner assistance cell’ in the LRF.  

Examples such as this are encouraging. While we recognise that time will be needed to  

review new ways of working, the service’s modern technology has significant potential for 

transformational improvement.  

Next steps 

77. This letter will be published on our website. We propose restarting our second round of 

effectiveness and efficiency fire and rescue inspections in spring 2021, when we will follow up 

some of our findings.  

Page 305



12 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Zoë Billingham 

Her Majesty’s Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services 

Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary 

Page 306



Ready.
Willing.
Able.

#ReadyWillingAble
#HereForYou

Supporting Nottinghamshire during the pandemic

Total

320
1,075

12,116
331

11,782

5 50

COVID tests administered

Urgent Care shifts 
completed for EMAS
Urgent Care patients 
transported

Vaccinations given

Medicine and Food 
Parcels delivered

COVID Testing Centres 
built

Staff detached to support 
partner organisations

COVID Testing 
volunteers trained

115

Signposting and 
Befriending calls made 3,125

w/c 15 February 2021

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 

EMERGENCY SERVICES 
NETWORK UPDATE 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 

Date: 26 February 2021 

Purpose of Report: 

To provide an update on the progress of the Emergency Services Network 
programme by Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service.  
 
 

Recommendations: 

That Members note the contents of this report and agree to receive further updates 
as the project develops.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Name:  
Gavin Harris 
Area Manager, Head of Digital Transformation 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: gavin.harris@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
0115 967 0880   corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk  

Page 309

Agenda Item 12

mailto:corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP) is 

intended to provide the next generation communication system for the three 
emergency services (3ES) and other public safety users. This system will be 
called the Emergency Services Network (ESN) and provides integrated 
critical voice and broadband data services for the emergency services. ESN 
will replace the existing Airwave contract which is scheduled to expire in 
December 2022. 
 

1.2 The programme has three key objectives it aims to achieve: 
 

 Better - integrated service, functionality and coverage; 

 Smarter – more flexible and pay only for what is used; 

 Cheaper – address budget pressures and leverage market forces.  
 

1.3 The ESN programme will deliver: 
 

 Secure and resilient mission critical communications the emergency 
services can trust to keep them safe; 

 

 A modern voice and data platform which will enable the emergency 
services to improve front-line operations and work more closely together; 

 

 Value for money by replacing legacy technology, improving commercial 
terms and providing a common platform for innovation and data sharing. 

 

1.4 In March 2016, the Fire Authority received a financial information and sign-off 
pack which provided information about participation in the ESMCP, and that 
the lead government department was committed to provide all reasonable 
transition funding, this agreement was signed and returned to Department of 
Communities and Local Government, committing the Fire Authority to the 
Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme.  
 

1.5 East Midlands fire services have an established regional programme board 
with representatives from all Services and Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 
Service’s Deputy Chief Fire Officer (DCFO) is the lead officer on behalf of 
East Midlands FRS.  An Area Manager is seconded from Lincolnshire as the 
Regional Fire Programme Manager (RPM), with a major day-to-day role on 
behalf of the East Midlands and works closely with the DCFO.  
 

1.6 The Head of Digital Transformation leads on behalf of Nottinghamshire Fire 
and Rescue Service (NFRS) project structure, co-ordinating key roles across 
the organisation and along with the NFRS ESN Project Manager works 
closely with East Midlands colleagues to seek opportunities for mutual 
support to deliver the ESN.  

 
1.7 The DCFO attends regular Fire Customer Group (FCG) meetings; this forum 

is the sounding board for the fire sector strategic leads to feed into the 
national programme team within the Home Office.  

Page 310



2. REPORT 

 
ESN Full Business Case 
 
2.1 The ESN full business case (FBC) is currently being refreshed and a draft 

was released in September 2020 with the ambition that this will proceed 
through governance and be signed off in early 2021. 

 
2.2 The current draft of the FBC concludes that whilst Airwave shut down 

between June 2023 to February 2024 is the preferred option based on a full 
financial assessment, the feasibility of delivering ESN at such an accelerated 
timetable needs to be confirmed through detailed planning with the User 
Organisations (UOs).  The plans underpinning this FBC have not yet been 
presented in the detail that is required to assure the overall deliverability.  

 
Timescales for Transition 
 
2.3 Deployment planning is ongoing within the programme and engagement with 

UOs and suppliers is taking place, work is currently being undertaken on a 
national interoperability matrix to be used for transition scheduling. The Tri-
Service partners have stated that our preference would be for transition of 
Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire at the same time or reasonably close and 
Leicestershire either just before or just after.  

 
2.4 The transition plan for the Tri-Service is being pushed for the end of 2022, 

however this is with the caveat that Systel is yet to provide their Delivery 
Support Plan and the adoption of their ESN compliant system will mean a 
significant change in the current solution architecture; therefore, it is currently 
unclear what impact this will mean to ESN transition. 

 

Ongoing Issues for Core and Non-Core Costs 

  
2.5 Costs for ESN fall into two main areas: 
 

 Core Costs – representing those costs necessary to create, maintain and 
manage the network that will be managed centrally for UK UOs; 
 

 Non-Core Costs – representing the costs of connecting to and using the 
network, including device purchases, connection, data and call charges. 

 
2.6 For English fire and rescue services there is a policy that non-core costs 

associated with transitioning from Airwave and onto ESN will be paid by the 
Home Office Fire Directorate, currently by means of Section 31 grant. 
Therefore, non-core costs for FRSs can be split into two categories:  
 

 Transition Costs – representing those costs incurred by OUs to enable 
transition onto ESN; 

 BAU Costs – representing the UOs costs associated with in life and 
business as usual activities incurred by utilising Airwave/ESN. 

Page 311



2.7 The Authority continues to receive transition funding from Government for 
preparation and implementation of ESN. However, no further funding is 
expected until 2021/2022. 

 
2.8 NFRS continuously reviews costs and is yet to receive clarity on what the 

local costs of implementing ESN are likely to be. Furthermore, it is worth 
noting that unlike the Airwave/Firelink agreement, ESN will not offer a fully 
managed service to FRSs. Therefore, NFRS will need to find additional 
resources and funding to facilitate the administration, support and 
maintenance of our local ESN solution and devices after ESN transition.  

 
2.9 There has been some concern from the NFCC and UOs regarding the 

movement of some of these non-core costs through progressive iterations of 
the FBC. To allay these concerns, the NFCC has committed to produce a 
model and tool to enable financial predications and planning down to an FRS 
level. The production of this tool should be considered a prerequisite for any 
progress of the FBC through FRS / NFCC governance, especially as there 
are concerns that ESN may well cost more than Airwave at a local level. 

 
ESN Resilience 

2.10 ESN resilience has been a matter of debate for several years, especially as 
the current Airwave system provides a high level of resilience.  The ESCMP 
believes that the current resilience levels will be unaffordable, or the cost will 
be disproportionately high to deliver. The estimated costs to reach an 
operationally acceptable level of resilience in ESN ranges from £35m to 
£340m, depending upon the extent of resilience required.  Throughout the 
lifespan of ESMCP, Government has provided assurances to the UK FRSs 
and user communities that ESN will be at least as good as Airwave in every 
respect. There are concerns that the costed options for ESN resilience may 
not provide a level of equivalence to those currently provided by the Airwave 
system, and that will have implications for Fire Authorities and FRSs. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 An earmarked reserve of £200k was originally established for the supporting 

work required to prepare for ESN compliance, significant spend against it has 
been used in conjunction with government transition funding to address 
remediation plans. This has focused upon assuring the infrastructure of 
NFRS is ESN ready, increased timescales will clearly protract the financial 
implications for the Authority.  

 
3.2 The ESN programme has always set a clear expectation that government will 

only fund the like for like replacement of the current Airwave.  
 
3.3 The Authority will continue to receive transition funding from government for 

preparation and implementation. However, no further funding is expected 
until 2021/2022.  

Page 312



3.4 The programme of work has increased demands upon the Service, these will 
only be partially funded from government and this continues to be closely 
monitored.  

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 The ESN programme has requirements for staff training and these will be 

addressed as part of the implementation phase across the East Midlands and 
offers potential opportunities for wider collaboration.  

 
4.2 ESN continues to place increasing demands upon support departments, 

specifically across the Procurement, Response and ICT functions. These 
have all been delivered within the Service’s existing policy framework, but it is 
anticipated that capacity will need to increase further in the build up to 
transition to ESN transition.  

 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report does 
not amend existing policy or service provision. 
 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The ESN programme presents a high-risk potential for the Authority solely 

dependent on external factors beyond its day-to-day control, the main issue 
being slippage at a national level. 

 
8.2 Tri-Service implementation issues have a direct implication for NFRS and its 

Tri-Service partners to be able to connect to ESN, this will continue to place a 
protracted demand upon the organisation. 

 
8.3 The Service is engaged with ESN regionally and has previously reviewed the 

East Midlands ESN risk register, it is further included within the Corporate 
Risk Register, which has been reviewed and informed Service department 
leads to ensure risks are communicated and work is planned to manage and 
or mitigate risk. 

 

Page 313



8.4 Regular project meetings are led by the Head of Digital Transformation and 
these monitor changes in any areas of risk and update both the Service 
project and inform the regional lead to monitor progress made by 
Nottinghamshire. 

 
8.5 Members should be aware that the ESN places a demand upon the 

organisation and ‘programme governance’ is a key risk highlighted within the 
Corporate Risk Register, officers are obliged to monitor the capacity of the 
Service to ensure they deliver upon its commitments. As the project delays 
continue and financial pressures impact upon the Service this risk will require 
scrutiny. 

 
8.6 With the now significant delay in transition timelines and funding, it is 

recommended that the risk of ESN to NFRS is maintained at an increased 
level and the DCFO will look to ensure that this is reflected in the Services 
governance arrangements. The Chief Fire Officer will also receive information 
directly through the NFCC and these will inform the Service’s position in 
future.  

 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 Following discussion and workshops with East Midlands Police and Fire 

strategic leads, five collaborative areas had been developed: training, 
procurement, devices, installation and coverage assurance.  

 
9.2 A joint East Midlands Police and Fire strategic programme board with terms 

of reference is in place.  
 
9.3 Collaboration between Fire and Police is complex, not least given that this 

spans ten separate organisations and ESN incremental delivery.  
 
9.4 Extensive East Midlands Police, Ambulance and Fire collaboration is taking 

place for coverage and coverage assurance activities, with a joint strategy 
and deployment plan in place for coverage assurance testing.   

 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report and agree to receive further updates 
as the project develops.  
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 314



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

EVALUATION OF THE CENTRAL 
FIRE STATION RELOCATION TO 
LONDON ROAD 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

  
Date:  26 February 2021 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To present Members with the outcomes from the evaluation of the relocation of 
Central Fire Station to London Road. 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
It is recommended that Members: 
 

• Note the content of this report. 

• Receive updates on the full integrated risk management planning process during 
the 2021/22 year. 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name:  
Candida Brudenell 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
0115 967 0880   corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 315

Agenda Item 13



1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1  This evaluation report is presented as an interim report which will, along with 

updated data, be incorporated in to the Service-wide assessment for the 
integrated risk management planning process in 2021.  This will be presented 
to Members later in the 2021/22 business year.   

 
1.2 Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) had a fire station located 

on Shakespeare Street, Nottingham, named ‘Central Fire Station’, since the 
1940s. The Central Fire Station site was a shared building with 
Nottinghamshire Police and Nottingham City Council.  

 
1.3 Due to projected future running costs of this site and an assessment that this 

site was not optimal as a location in the longer term, additional locations for 
this fire station were considered. 

 
1.4 The intention to relocate Central Fire Station was originally outlined in the 

Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) in 2004. 
 
1.5 As part of the 2010 Fire Cover Review (FCR), the Service evaluated the 

provision of emergency cover in the city centre. This review used historic 
incident data and modelling to assess potential sites for a new station that 
would provide an effective emergency response to the city area. The review 
identified the London Road area as a suitable location. 

 
1.6 The Fire Authority passed the recommendation to relocate Central Fire 

Station to London Road on 16 December 2011.  
 
1.7 The move from Central Fire Station to London Road was undertaken on 13 

September 2016.  
 
1.8 Central Fire Station was crewed with two, wholetime staffed, fire appliances 

and a wholetime staffed, Aerial ladder Platform (ALP).  All three vehicles 
moved to the new location at London Road.  

 
1.9 In 2019, as part of a 2019-2022 Strategic Plan commitment to ‘undertake a 

Fire Cover Review’, the Chief Fire Officer commissioned an evaluation report 
to look at the impact of moving the city fire station from Shakespeare Street 
to London Road.   

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1.   The primary focus of the review was to evaluate the impact on emergency 

response times associated with moving the fire station from Shakespeare 
Street to London Road, however, the review also incorporates a review of 
prevention activities undertaken in the city area, and financial outputs for the 
relocation. 

 

Page 316



2.2 The evaluation uses a variety of data sets, such as historical incident data, 
and GIS and workload modelling to quantify the impact on operational 
response. Comparative date ranges were also set ‘pre’ and ‘post’ station 
move to compare data. Further information on the methodology of analysis 
can be referenced within the full evaluation report attached at Appendix A. 

 
2.3 In summary, the review identifies that the Service is still meeting its response 

standard, to respond to incidents within an average of eight minutes, from the 
new location on London Road. (The Service has a public commitment to 
respond to incidents within eight minutes, on average, as detailed in the 
Strategic Plan 2019-2022. Response time is defined as the point of 
mobilisation to time of arrival at the incident.) 

 
2.4 Modelled data shows that there has been an increase in the average 

attendance times to ‘life-risk’ primary fires, on average, of six seconds (an 
increase from 7 minutes 30 seconds to 7 minutes 36 seconds). 

  
2.5 Historical data shows that attendance times, on average, have risen by 30 

seconds, to incidents within ‘high-risk’ areas across the city (an increase from 
6 minutes 42 seconds to 7 minutes 12 seconds). The ‘high risk’ category 
defines those areas within the County that are the most at risk as determined 
by the risk scoring system detailed in Appendix 15 of the attached evaluation 
report. 

 
2.6 More focused analysis, through modelling, shows that some ‘high-risk’ areas 

now have an increased response time of more than one minute.  These 
areas are detailed within the report. 

 
2.7 A review of both modelled and historical data shows that since the move to 

London Road there has been an increase in incident mobilisations for 
Stockhill and Arnold fire stations, and a decrease in mobilisations for West 
Bridgford, Carlton and Highfields. 

 
2.8 Historical data shows that appliances at Central were mobilised to 5878 

incidents in a two-year period (12/09/2014 and 11/09/2016). This represented 
21.7% of total mobilisations for the Service over this period.  

 
2.9 In comparison, since the move to London Road, between the two-year period 

of 14/09/16 to 13/09/18, appliances were mobilised to 5422 incidents. This 
represents 18.3% of the total mobilisations for the Service during this period.  

 
2.10 Modelled data shows the move to London Road has led to an increase in the 

Service’s overall average attendance, to all incidents, of six seconds 
(increase from 7:30 to 7:36) – the same increase as reported against 
attendance at ‘life-risk’ primary fire incidents.   

 
2.11 The move from Central to London Road has had an impact on Stockhill fire 

station with a modelled 16% increase in attendances, which equates to 324 
additional mobilisations per year.  It is also reported that Arnold fire station 
has seen a modelled increase of 4% in attendances, equating to a rise of 44 
additional mobilisations per year. 

Page 317



 
2.12 The Service has a focus on increasing proactive prevention activities under 

the ‘Safer Communities Strategy’.  The ambition of prevention activities is to 
stop fires, and other emergencies, from occurring and to target those who are 
most vulnerable and ‘at risk’ in our communities. 

 
2.13 With the changes to how lower super output areas (LSOAs) are reported in 

2015, it is not possible to directly compare prevention activities from before 
and after the move to London Road station. However, the report highlights 
that key prevention activities undertaken by the Service have increased 
progressively in recent years.  

 
2.14 One of the Service’s primary prevention activities is safe and well visits 

(SWVs).  The report highlights that there has been a steady increase in the 
number of SWVs in the city of Nottingham, each year, since 2013.  

 
2.15 The report also highlights that there has been an increase in the number of 

SWVs being carried out in ‘high risk’ areas. SWVs in high risk areas within 
the City of Nottingham account for approximately 53% of all the total number 
of SWVs undertaken by the Service.  

 
2.16 Prevention activities additional to SWVs, such as safety campaigns, have 

also seen a progressive increase across the City since 2015.  
 
2.17 There has also been an increase in the number of prevention activities being 

undertaken in high risk areas. Prevention activities in high risk areas within 
the City of Nottingham accounts for approximately 47% of all the total within 
the County. 

 
2.18 The London Road site was developed with capacity to accommodate the 

Local Authority Emergency Planning Team who occupy the top floor of the 
building.  Additionally, both East Midlands Ambulance Service and 
Nottinghamshire Police have accommodation within the premises, making 
the station a true, collaborative site.    

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The overall budget for the relocation project was detailed at £5.0 million in 

October 2015. The actual cost of the project was £4.4 million; a saving of 
nearly £600k.  

 
3.2 Although the new building at London Road more efficient to run, the annual 

savings of running costs are less that what was originally expected. 
 
3.3 The running costs of the two stations can be directly compared with the 

average cost of Central station being £151,869 (2013- 2017) against an 
average of £145,355 for London Road (2016-2020).  An efficiency of 
approximately £6500 per annum. 

 

Page 318



3.4 One of the most notable annual costs for the running of London Road is 
business rates, currently over £91,000 for 2020/21. The Service is currently 
undertaking an appeal against the business rates for the London Road site 
with the Local Authority and the national evaluation office.   

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising 
from this report. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken due to the nature of this 
report. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no risk management implications arising from this report. 
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
The new station at London Road provides collaborative working space for both the 
Local Authority Emergency Planning Team, the Neighbourhood Policing Team for 
the Meadows and East Midlands Ambulance Service.  
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
10.1 Note the content of this report. 
 
10.2 Receive updates on the full integrated risk management planning process 

during the 2021/22 year 
 

Page 319



11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 320



 
  

AN EVALUATION OF THE 
CENTRAL FIRE STATION 
MOVE TO LONDON ROAD 

 
DAMIEN WEST 

 
SLT Lead:     AM Damien West 
 
Lead author:    SM Chris Navin 
 
GIS Modelling and analysis:  Gemma Polmear 
 
Version:                                        V1.2 - (Jan 2021) 
 

Page 321



1 
 

AN EVALUATION OF THE CENTRAL FIRE 
STATION MOVE TO LONDON ROAD 

 
 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
SECTION 1:  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY      Page 02 
 
  Scope         Page 03 
 
  Background        Page 03 
 
 
SECTION 2: REPORT        Page 05 
 
  Historical Data Analysis      Page 05 
 
  Modelling        Page 06 
 
  Prevention Activity       Page 12 
 
  Financial Information      Page 14 
 
  Areas of Assurance       Page 15 
 
  Recommendations       Page 15 
 
  Appendices        Page 16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 322



2 
 

SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The Nottingham city fire station, known as ‘Central’, was relocated from 
Shakespeare Street to London Road on the 13th of September 2016. 

 
1.2 The Service’s Fire Cover Review 2010 (Sec 1.31) stated that the decision to 

relocate Central to London Road, based on the risk model used ‘would 
provide excellent access routes into the city, and surrounding areas and will 
greatly improve response times to those areas of greater risk’. Although this 
was modelled some time ago- this report highlights that the expected 
decrease in attendance times has not been realised.   

 
1.3 Since the move to London Road the following high levels findings have been 

identified: 
 

• Attendance times have increased. However, the service is still able to 
meet its response standard, to respond to incidents within an average of 
eight minutes1  
 

• Modelled data shows that there has been an increase in the average 
attendance times to ‘life-risk’ primary fires, on average, by 6 seconds 
(increase from 7 minutes 30 seconds to 7 minutes 36 seconds) 
 

• Historical data shows that attendance times, on average, have risen by 30 
seconds, to incidents within high-risk areas2 across the city (increase from 
6 minutes 42 seconds to 7 minutes 12 seconds)  
 

• More focused analysis, through modelling, shows that some high-risk 
areas now have an increased response time of more than one minute. 
 

• A review of both modelled and historical data shows that since the move to 
London Road there has been an increase in incident mobilisations for 
Stockhill and Arnold fire stations, and a decrease in mobilisations for West 
Bridgford, Carlton and Highfields. 
 

• Historical data shows that appliances at Central were mobilised to 5878 
incidents in a two-year period (12/09/2014 and 11/09/2016). This 
represented 21.7% of total mobilisations for the Service over this period.  
In comparison, since the move to London Road, between the two-year 
period of 14/09/16 to 13/09/18 London Road appliances were mobilised to 
5422 incidents. This represents 18.3% of the total mobilisations for the 
service during this period.  

 

                                                
1The service has a public commitment to respond to incidents within eight minutes, on average. 
Strategic plan 2019-2022. (Response time is defined as the point of mobilisation to time of arrival at 
the incident.) 
 
2 The ‘high risk’ category defines those areas within the County that are the most at risk as 
determined by the risk scoring system detailed in appendix 15. 

Page 323



3 
 

• Modelled data shows the move to London Road has caused an increase 
in the Service’s overall average attendance, to all incidents, of 6 seconds 
(increase from 7 minutes 30 seconds to 7 minutes 36 seconds) – the 
same increase as detailed for the average attendance to ‘life risk’ primary 
fires.   

 
1.4 Although the report has focused on reviewing any changes in the operational 

response model, it also identifies that there has been a steady increase in the 
number of Safe and Well visits completed and an increase in wider prevention 
activity, across the city area, over the review period. 

 
1.5 With regards to finance, the report identifies that the total cost of the 

relocation project was completed at around £600k under budget. Although the 
expected savings on annual running costs are not being met. 

 

SCOPE 
 

1.6 This report will examine the impact of the relocation of Central fire station from 
Shakespeare Street to London Road. It will evaluate the change in the 
operational response model measured by any changes in attendance times to 
incidents. 

1.7 Although the focus of the report will be a review of the operational response, a 
brief review of finance and prevention activity is also included.  

 

BACKGROUND 
 

1.8 The intention to relocate Central Fire Station was originally published in the 
2004 Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP). 
 

1.9 Central Fire Station was a shared building with Nottinghamshire Police and 
Nottingham City Council. Due to the projected running costs and following an 
assessment that the building would not be suitable for future operational 
requirements, the Fire Service along with the Police and City Council moved 
out of the building.  
 

1.10 As part of the 2010 Fire Cover Review (FCR), the Service evaluated the 
emergency cover provision within the City Centre. This was undertaken with a 
commitment to provide a suitable operational model in a cost-effective 
manner. 

  
1.11 The 2010 FCR (Section 1.31), identified the location of London Road as an 

ideal site in respect to the risk model that was applied. The new site on 
London Road was highlighted as ‘providing excellent access to the city centre 
and surrounding areas and relocating Central station there would greatly 
improve response times to those areas of greater risk’.  

 
1.12 The Fire Authority approved the recommendation on the 16th December 2011 

to relocate Central Station to London Road. 
 

Page 324



4 
 

1.13 The move from Central Station to London Road was undertaken on the 13th of 
September 2016. 
 

1.14 One of the points raised within the 2010 FCR was the requirement to maintain 
the option to move West Bridgford Station further into the Rushcliffe District 
on its capital-planning programme. This was due to the high levels of 
residential development which were predicted at the time. 

 
1.15 The map below shows the position of the old ‘Central’ Fire station on 

Shakespeare Street and the new London Road fire station.  
 

 
Map 1: The location of London Road station being approximately 1.5 miles further south of 

the former Central station. 
  

Page 325



5 
 

SECTION 2: REPORT 
 

HISTORICAL DATA ANALYSIS 
 
2.1 The first section of analysis gives details on actual operational activities that 

occurred through a stated date range.  
 
2.2 Historical data was compared from the two years prior to the move to London 

Road (12/09/2014 – 11/09/2016) and the two years after (14/09/2016 – 
13/09/2018). This date range was used to give a broad overview of the impact 
of the change, with the additional benefit of there being limited operational 
changes during those periods, except for, the introduction of the Systel 
dynamic mobilising system. Due to the timing of the station move, the 
commencement of the Systel mobilisation system period was unavoidable. 

 
2.3 Data taken from the historical analysis shows what has happened, but does 

not allow a causal relationship to be drawn in relation to the London Road 
move. This is due to a number of other variables which may have influenced 
the data. 

 
2.4 The graph below (Figure 1) shows the number of mobilisations for several 

stations increased between the stated time periods. The largest increase can 
be seen to have occurred at Stockhill, with an increase of 735 mobilisations, 
over two years, following the move to London Road.  

 

 
Figure 1: A chart comparing the historical number of mobilisations per station (12/09/2014 – 
11/09/2016) to (14/09/2016 – 13/09/2018). 

 
2.5 It is also evident that there have been increases in mobilisations amongst 

several stations which are not located in close proximity to either London 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

With Central With London Road

Page 326



6 
 

Road or Shakespeare Street. Further detail on these mobilisations can be 
found in appendix 2. 

 
2.6 On average, across the analysis period, there was, an increase of 9.5% in the 

number of mobilisations across all stations.  
 
2.7 Data shows an increased number of mobilisations at stations close to the City 

of Nottingham such as Stockhill (17%) and Arnold (14%) are above this 
baseline increase. Additionally, the data shows a decrease in mobilisations at 
West Bridgford (-7%), Carlton (-6%) and Highfields (-1%) are below the 
baseline increase. 

 
2.8 The graph below (Figure 2) shows an increase in the average attendance 

time across all risk categories and incident types, with the exception of road 
traffic collisions (RTCs) and other special services. Reasons for this could 
include the introduction of the Systel dynamic mobilising system, the 
distribution of incident locations and changes in policy.  

 

 
Figure 2: A chart showing the changes in average send to arrive times for all risk categories and 
incident types across the service. 

 
2.9 The data gathered on the percentage of incidents attended within 8 minutes 

shows an overall decrease, with the exception of RTCs and special services. 
Further detail on the percentage of incidents attended within 8 minutes can be 
found in appendix 4. 

 

MODELLING 
 
2.10 Modelling and analysis were undertaken using data over a period of three 

years (01/01/2017 – 31/12/2019). Models were undertaken which included 
Mixed Crewing at Ashfield and Retford. This included a model of two 
appliances being staffed 24 hours a day and a model with two appliances 
available during the day and a single appliance at night.  

 

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

9.5

High Risk
Areas

Medium Risk
Areas

Low Risk
Areas

Primary Fires Secondary
Fires

RTC Other Special
Service

All Inc

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 T
im

e,
 M

in
u

te
s

Central London Road

Page 327



7 
 

2.11 It should be noted that due to the negligible difference between these two 
Mixed Crewing models, reference will only be made to the model with 2 
appliances available during the day and a single appliance at night within this 
report.  

 
2.12 The nature of the modelling undertaken has removed any other variables as a 

potential factor for change. Any changes in the modelling outputs can 
therefore be said to be caused solely by the move of Central Station to 
London Road and any subsequent knock-on effect due to concurrent 
incidents. 

 
2.13 The modelling for this report was undertaken by the Service’s GIS Team 

using Workload Modeller. Modelling has assumed that all appliances were 
available at home station if they were not at an incident. The modelling used 
has not reflected any cover-moves which may have occurred but does reflect 
the concurrent nature of some of the incidents which occurred during the 
selected time frame.  

 
2.14 The modelling shows that the stations which are positioned more closely to 

the former Central station site have had an increased number of mobilisations 
caused by the move. Whereas those stations which are located more closely 
to the new London Road site have seen a decrease in mobilisations.  

 
2.15 It can be seen in figure 3 the greatest increase in mobilisations will have been 

seen at Stockhill and Arnold stations, whilst the biggest reductions in 
mobilisations will have been seen at West Bridgford and Highfields stations. 

 
2.16 A more detailed breakdown of the modelled mobilisations across the Service 

can be found in appendix 5. 
 
2.17 The graph below (Figure 3) shows that the move from Central to London 

Road has had an impact on Stockhill with a modelled 16% increase in 
attendances, which equates to 324 additional mobilisations per year. It can 
also be seen that Arnold will have seen a modelled increase of 4% increase in 
attendances, equating to a rise of 44 additional mobilisations per year. 

 
 

Page 328



8 
 

 
Figure 3: A chart showing the modelled number of mobilisations per station over a three-year period. 

 
2.18 There is a corresponding reduction in the number of modelled mobilisations 

for West Bridgford (-13%,), Highfields (-12%), East Leake (-8%) and Carlton (-
5%). This equates to a reduction in mobilisations of 398, 300, 24 and 102 
respectively (note - modelled data 3-year period). 

 
2.19 Modelling and analysis show the London Road move has caused a reduction 

in mobilisations of some local stations. The data shows the impact on 
Stockhill due to its proximity to the former Central station location. The station 
move has extended Stockhill’s likely turn-out area further into the northern half 
of Nottingham City centre. Further detail on the modelled mobilisations can be 
found in appendix 5.  

 
2.20 Although it was expected that the move would impinge on West Bridgford (a 

12.7% decrease in mobilisations) it can be seen that there has been a very 
similar impact on Highfields (an 11.9% decrease in mobilisations). 

 
2.21 The two maps below (maps 2 and 3) show the move from Central to London 

Road has extended the likely turn out area of this station into areas formerly 
covered by West Bridgford, Carlton and Highfields. 

 
2.22 The expansion of the likely turnout areas of Stockhill and Arnold can also be 

seen in these maps. 
 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

With Central With London Road

Page 329



9 
 

 
Map 2: The modelled likely turn out areas with Central station. 

 
 

 
Map 3: The modelled likely turn out areas with London Road station. 

 
2.23 It can be seen from the graph below (figure 4) that there has been an increase 

in the average time it takes an appliance to arrive at all incidents from the 
moment it is mobilised by Control. The data also highlights an increase in 
attendance times to ‘other special service’ incidents.  

 
2.24 The graph also shows that a greater increase can be seen in the ‘send to 

arrive’ time to incidents in high risk areas. This has increased from an average 
of 6 minutes 42 seconds prior to the London Road move to 7 minutes 12 
seconds after. An increase of thirty seconds. 

 

Page 330



10 
 

2.25 Despite this increase, the time of 7 minutes 12 seconds, to high risk areas, is 
still under the Service’s response standard of 8 minutes.  

 

 
Figure 4: A chart showing the modelled average send to arrive time across a three-year period for all 
risk categories and incident types. 

 
2.26 Data shown in the graph below (figure 5) shows that the average attendance 

time to life-risk (P1) incidents has risen by 6 seconds when attending primary 
fires.  The attendance times to P1 RTCs and ‘other special service calls’ have 
not changed.  

 
2.27 A modelled scenario shows an increase in attendance to primary fires (7:30 

minutes to 7:36 minutes). Of note, this is under the Service’s response 
standard of eight minutes. 

 

 
Figure 5: A chart showing the modelled average first pump attendance time to life-risk (P1) incidents 
from Central and London Road. 

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

High Risk
Areas

Medium Risk
Areas

Low Risk
Areas

Primary Fires Secondary
Fires

RTC Other
Special
Service

All Inc

A
A

ve
ra

ge
 A

tt
en

d
an

ce
 T

im
e,

 M
in

u
te

s

With Central With London Road

00:06:37

00:06:55

00:07:12

00:07:29

00:07:47

00:08:04

00:08:21

00:08:38

00:08:56

Fire: Primary RTC SSC: Other

Average attendance time from Central Average attendance time from London Road

Page 331



11 
 

 
2.28 A comparison between maps 4 and 5 (below) shows that following the move 

to London Road, there is an area within the city centre (highlighted in Map 5) 
which now has an average attendance time which is more than one minute 
slower than the response received from Central fire station.  

 

 
Map 4: The modelled first pump arrival time with Central station. 

 

 
Map 5: The modelled first pump arrival time with Central station. 

 
 
Map 6 (below). The black line shows a more detailed area of the city where the response 
time has increased (greater than 1 minute). This includes areas deemed ‘high risk’ (shown in 
red).  

This area of light green, north of 
London Road station, shows an area 
of the city where attendance times 
have increased by more than 1 
minute. Risk categorisation of this 
area can be referenced in map 6. 

Page 332



12 
 

 

Map 6: The areas of the City which now receives a slower attendance time overlaid with risk 
categorisation. 
 

The area highlighted above includes parts of the following wards: 

• Mapperley 

• St Ann’s 

• Castle 

• Lenton & Wollaton East 

• Radford 

• Hyson Green & Arboretum 

• Berridge 
  

PREVENTION ACTIVITY 
 

2.29 Prevention activity is key to delivering our commitment of creating safer 
communities 

 
2.30 The table below (Figure 6) shows there has been a progressive increase in 

the numbers of Safe and Well Visits (SWVs) in the City of Nottingham since 
2013.  

 
2.31 The data also shows there has been an increase in the number of SWVs 

being carried out in high risk areas. SWVs in high risk areas within the City of 
Nottingham district accounts for approximately 53% of all the total within the 
County.  

 
 

Page 333



13 
 

 
 

Figure 6: A chart showing the Safe and Well Visits (SWVs) undertaken in the City of Nottingham 
including detail on SWVs delivered in high risk Lower Super Output Area (LSOAs). 

 
 
2.32 The table below (figure 7) shows that there has been a progressive increase 

in the numbers of prevention activities in the City of Nottingham since 2015.  
 
2.33 It can also be seen that there has been an increase in the number of wider 

prevention activities being undertaken in high risk areas. Prevention activities 
in high risk areas within the City of Nottingham District accounts for 
approximately 47% of all the total within the County.  

 
2.34 With the changes to LSOAs in 2015, it is not possible to directly compare 

prevention activities from before and after the move to London Road station.   
 
 

 
Figure 7: A chart showing the prevention activities undertaken in the City of Nottingham including 
detail on those activities delivered in high risk Lower Super Output Area (LSOA’s). 

 
 
 

Page 334



14 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
2.35 The overall budget for the relocation project was predicted to be £5.005 

million in October 2015. The actual cost to deliver the project was £4.417 
million.   

 
2.36 Central station was freehold and owned by NFRS and was sold as part of the 

wider premises under a joint disposal agreement with Nottinghamshire Police, 
in March 2017, for a capital receipt of £2.5 million.  

2.37 The site of the London Road station was previously Gresham Works site and 
owned by Nottingham City Council. The site, which was valued at £600k, was 
purchased for a nominal £1 from the Council in 2015.  NFRS own the site 
freehold.  

2.38 After the income from the sale of Central station the net capital cost of the 
London Road build was approximately £1.92M. 

 
2.39 London Road station provides accommodation for the Nottingham City 

Emergency Planning Team (EPT). The EPT have a 50-year lease for use of 
office space within the London Road site. The lease was agreed as £1 per 
year with a quarterly service charge. 

2.40 The new station also provides accommodation for the Neighbourhood Policing 
Team for the Meadows area.  This is charged at an annual rate of £1700 
including service charges.  Additionally, East Midlands Ambulance Service 
(EMAS) utilise the site as a standby and welfare location for personnel.  
EMAS contribute an annual fee of £7500 for the London Road site. 

2.41 The running costs of the two stations can be directly compared with the 
average cost of Central station being £151,869 (2013- 2017) against an 
average of £145,355 for London Road (2016-2020). Further detail can be 
found in appendix 10 and 11. 

 
2.42 With the information currently available through the service’s Agresso system, 

it cannot be reported that the expected savings on running costs for the new 
station have been realised. 

 
2.43 The Service is currently undertaking an appeal against the business rates it is 

currently paying (£91,136 for 2020/2021 at London Road).  
 
2.44 Although the expected cost of planned and reactive maintenance of the old 

Central station were expected to rise significantly in order to meet the 
requirements of a modern Service, these are not reflected in the detail of 
appendix 8 due to the ‘winding down’ of the site prior to the planned move.  

 
2.45 Through the information gathering process of developing this report it became 

evident that the some of the information relating to Central station in Agresso 
was not accurate and therefore it has presented an inability to accurately 
measure like-for-like costings. 

 

Page 335



15 
 

AREAS OF ASSURANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.46 Areas of Assurance: 
 

• Despite an increase in attendance times the Service is still able to 
respond, on average, to high risk areas, within its target of eight minutes. 

 

• There has been a progressive increase in the number of SWVs, and other 
prevention activities, undertaken within the City of Nottingham area.  

 

2.47 Recommendations: 
 

• When undertaking operational response modelling, such as that 
undertaken to inform the FCR 2010, the Service should be aware that the 
timeliness of the implementation of any change may impact on the 
currency of the predictions.  
 

• Although the data shows a progressive increase in prevention activity 
across the City areas, the Service should assure itself of its prevention 
strategy for the high-risk areas that now have an increased attendance 
time (greater than one minute). 

 

• It does not appear that the predicted savings on running costs for the 
London Road site, against those of the Shakespeare Road site, have been 
realised. The Service may wish to consider how it calculates and monitors 
this for future station builds. 

 
 

  

Page 336



16 
 

APPENDICES 
 

 
 
Appendix 1: The locations of the stations surrounding Nottingham City Centre and the former 

Central station site. 

 
 
 
 

Page 337



17 
 

 

Station 
Name 

Mobilisations 
before 
London 
Road 

Mobilisations 
after London 

Road 
Difference % Change 

Bingham 125 258 133 106.40 

Misterton 62 95 33 53.23 

Blidworth 290 431 141 48.62 

Hucknall 367 500 133 36.24 

Edwinstowe 750 998 248 33.07 

Southwell 81 107 26 32.10 

Worksop 1429 1878 449 31.42 

Ashfield 1470 1913 443 30.14 

Harworth 371 481 110 29.65 

Warsop 242 310 68 28.10 

Mansfield 1478 1879 401 27.13 

Collingham 118 141 23 19.49 

Stockhill 4230 4965 735 17.38 

Arnold 2020 2309 289 14.31 

Newark 1235 1405 170 13.77 

Retford 1036 1137 101 9.75 

Highfields 1959 1938 -21 -1.07 

East Leake 157 152 -5 -3.18 

Carlton 1205 1127 -78 -6.47 

West Bridgford 1621 1506 -115 -7.09 

Tuxford 217 184 -33 -15.21 

Stapleford 408 318 -90 -22.06 

Eastwood 357 253 -104 -29.13 

Central 5878 0 -5878   

London Road 0 5422 5422   

 
Appendix 2: A table detailing the difference in station mobilisations per station two years prior and 

two years post London Road implementation. 
 
 

  Central London Road 

High Risk Areas 6.2 6.7 

Medium Risk Areas 7.3 7.5 

Low Risk Areas 9.1 9.3 

Primary Fires 7.8 8.3 

Secondary Fires 8.1 8.6 

RTC 9.1 8.6 

Other Special Service 8.2 7.8 

All Inc 7.5 7.8 

 

Appendix 3: Details the average attendance times to different risk categories and incident types 

two years prior and two years post London Road implementation. 

Page 338



18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 4: Table showing the percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes two years 

prior and two years post London Road implementation. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 5: A table detailing the modelled difference in station mobilisations over a three-year 

period.  

 
Central London Road 

High Risk Areas 82.7% 78.7% 

Medium Risk Areas 68.6% 65.6% 

Low Risk Areas 49.4% 46.5% 

Primary Fires 64.2% 59.5% 

Secondary Fires 60.3% 53.3% 

RTC 48.9% 51.0% 

Other Special Service 60.4% 62.6% 

All Inc 66.9% 63.6% 

Station 
Name 

Mobs with 
Central 

Mobs With 
LR Difference % Change 

Stockhill 6261 7233 972 15.5 

Arnold 3135 3266 131 4.2 

Eastwood 604 614 10 1.7 

Hucknall 813 819 6 0.7 

Mansfield 2961 2967 6 0.2 

Blidworth 813 813 0 0.0 

Harworth 773 773 0 0.0 

Misterton 198 198 0 0.0 

Tuxford 472 472 0 0.0 

Warsop 405 405 0 0.0 

Worksop 2715 2714 -1 0.0 

Ashfield 1925 1924 -1 -0.1 

Retford 1177 1176 -1 -0.1 

Edwinstowe 1358 1353 -5 -0.4 

Collingham 237 236 -1 -0.4 

Southwell 240 238 -2 -0.8 

Stapleford 699 693 -6 -0.9 

Newark 1791 1767 -24 -1.3 

Bingham 635 609 -26 -4.1 

Carlton 1923 1821 -102 -5.3 

East Leake 277 253 -24 -8.7 

Highfields 2512 2213 -299 -11.9 

West Bridgford 3142 2745 -397 -12.6 

Central 6879 0 -6879   

London Road 0 6643 6643   

Page 339



19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 6: A table detailing the changes to the average ‘send to arrive’ time across all risk 

categories and incident types using the modelled data over a three-year period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 7: A table showing the percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes using the 

modelled data over a three-year period. 

 

 
Appendix 8: Map showing the zone of Output Areas experiencing a modelled attendance time 

over a minute slower with London Road as compared to with Central overlaid with risk categorisation. 

  Central London Road 

High Risk Areas 6.6 7.2 

Medium Risk Areas 7.7 7.7 

Low Risk Areas 8.6 8.6 

Primary Fires 8 8.1 

Secondary Fires 8.1 8.1 

RTC 8.3 8.3 

Other Special Service 7.4 7.4 

All Inc 7.7 7.8 

  Central London Road 

High Risk Areas 75.8% 65.8% 

Medium Risk Areas 56.9% 55.7% 

Low Risk Areas 48.1% 48.3% 

Primary Fires 55.0% 53.1% 

Secondary Fires 52.8% 51.7% 

RTC 49.6% 48.6% 

Other Special Service 63.3% 60.6% 

All Inc 58.8% 56.1% 

Page 340



20 
 

 

 
Appendix 9: Map showing the zone of Output Areas experiencing an attendance time over a 

minute slower with London Road as compared to with Central. 

 
 
 

Central Fire Station Running Costs 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
Building Maintenance - Planned 1,812 10,133 1,458 55 

Buildings Repairs and Maintenance - Reactive 13,210 13,381 11,311 4,375 

Business Rates 24,766 38,078 39,935 82,474 

Catering Equipment 150   7   

Cleaning Equipment 55 102 0   

Cleaning Materials 877 756 1,753 718 

Contract Cleaning 35,143 35,288 36,914 36,754 

Electricity     256 16 

Fixtures & Fittings     273 10 

Gas     20 52 

Grounds Maintenance 575 562 596 540 

Office Equipment 44 43   23 

Phones - Landline 1,732 1,938 1,867 1,238 

Refuse / Trade Waste Collection 1,359 885 1,697 529 

Rent of Premises 66,398 79,715 28,337 25,183 

Sewerage and Environmental 1,126 486 1,186 1,195 

Window Cleaning 451 461 470 476 

Grand total 147,698 181,828 126,080 153,639 

2013/14 to 2015/16 average 151,869   

 

Appendix 10: Table showing a summary of the running costs of Central fire station;2013-2017. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 341



21 
 

 London Road Fire Station 
Running Costs 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
Building Maintenance - Planned 334 6,593 23,810 13,230 

Buildings Repairs and Maintenance - 
Reactive 2,375 5,884 7,630 8,277 

Business Rates   120,568 87,754 89,712 

Catering Equipment 801 133   149 

Cleaning Materials 642 2,428 2,531 2,882 

Contract Cleaning 881 21,095 23,226 22,504 

Electricity 9,489 17,281 16,447 20,492 

Fixtures & Fittings 61 52   22 

Gas   8,729 9,189 11,182 

Grounds Maintenance 63 462 378 428 

Office Equipment       112 

Refuse / Trade Waste Collection 85 958 552 439 

Rent/Hire of Accommodation - Income -3,091 -21,543 -38,644 -39,319 

Sewerage and Environmental 303 1,834 1,100 1,033 

Water Rates 506 1,971 1,682 1,469 

Window Cleaning   240 247 865 

Grand total 12,448 166,685 135,903 133,478 

2017/18 to 2019/20 average   145,355 

 

Appendix 11: Table showing a summary of the running costs of London Road fire station;20176-

2020. 

 
 

Page 342



22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 12: A table detailing the modelled difference in station mobilisations over a three-year 

period with no Mixed Crewing implemented at Retford and Ashfield. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 13: A table detailing the modelled changes to the average ‘send to arrive’ time across 

all risk categories and incident types using the modelled data over a three-year period with no Mixed 
Crewing implemented at Retford and Ashfield. 

 
 

Station 
Name 

Central 
London 
Road 

Difference % Change 

Stockhill 6241 7213 972 15.6 

Arnold 3126 3257 131 4.2 

Eastwood 558 568 10 1.8 

Hucknall 736 742 6 0.8 

Mansfield 2681 2686 5 0.2 

Ashfield 2505 2505 0 0.0 

Harworth 747 747 0 0.0 

Misterton 171 171 0 0.0 

Retford 1483 1483 0 0.0 

Tuxford 418 418 0 0.0 

Warsop 389 389 0 0.0 

Worksop 2579 2578 -1 0.0 

Blidworth 745 744 -1 -0.1 

Edwinstowe 1265 1260 -5 -0.4 

Collingham 212 211 -1 -0.5 

Southwell 239 237 -2 -0.8 

Stapleford 699 693 -6 -0.9 

Newark 1787 1763 -24 -1.3 

Bingham 635 609 -26 -4.1 

Carlton 1923 1821 -102 -5.3 

East Leake 277 253 -24 -8.7 

Highfields 2512 2212 -300 -11.9 

West Bridgford 3141 2743 -398 -12.7 

Central 6876 0 -6876   

London Road 0 6642 6642   

  With Central 
With London 

Road 

High Risk Areas 6.7 7.2 

Medium Risk Areas 7.4 7.4 

Low Risk Areas 8.4 8.4 

Primary Fires 7.7 7.8 

Secondary Fires 7.8 7.8 

RTC 8.1 8.1 

Other Special Service 7.1 7.2 

All Inc 7.5 7.6 

Page 343



23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 14: A table showing the modelled percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes 

using the modelled data over a three-year period with no Mixed Crewing implemented at Retford and 
Ashfield. 

 
 

Appendix 15: Definition and calculation of Risk categories. 
 
Risk areas are determined using the scoring system detailed below and using 
historical data combined with indicators of deprivation levels. The ‘high risk’ category 
defines those areas within the County that are the most at risk. 
 
A risk score for each Lower Level Super Output Area (LSOA) is calculated by 
combining six factors, each of which impact on Fire Service delivery. These factors 
include: 
Incidents we have attended (data from the past five years): 

- Dwelling Fires (“DwF”) 

- Property fires at which injuries to members of the public have occurred (“Inj”) 

- Deliberate non-domestic building fires (“DelB”) 

- Special services incidents at which there is a risk to life (“SSC”) 

Historic fatalities (data from the past five years): 
- Deaths caused by property fires (“Fat”) 

Deprivation Indicators Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
- IMD Score  

These factors are weighted according to their importance and combined to give an 
overall Risk Score for each LSOA.  
Weightings: 
DwF: 1.9 
Inj: 0.46 
DelB: 0.05 
SSC: 0.35 
Fat: 0.04 
IMD: 1.5 
 
The top 8.5% of LSOAs become “High Risk”, the bottom 42.5% become “Low Risk” 
and those in between become “Medium Risk”. Examination of these risk scores 
allows us to see the relative distribution of risk throughout the County and City. 
 

  Central London Road 

High Risk Areas 76.9% 66.9% 

Medium Risk Areas 61.3% 60.0% 

Low Risk Areas 50.0% 50.3% 

Primary Fires 58.2% 56.3% 

Secondary Fires 56.5% 55.4% 

RTC 52.4% 51.4% 

Other Special Service 66.9% 64.2% 

All Inc 61.9% 59.1% 

   

Page 344



24 
 

The Service Risk Map is updated annually, to include the most recent five years of 
data and most up to date IMD figures and allows us to identify how the distribution of 
our highest risk areas may be changing. 
 
 
Appendix 16: The Lower Super Output Area (LSOA)  
 
Risk rating is based on the annual risk map produced by the GIS team. Each 
premises has an associated LSOA risk, depending on which LSOA it is contained 
within.  
 
The LSOA’s changed in 2015. The NFRS risk map is based on the previous year’s 
data, so within this report only visits from 2016 will have an associated LSOA risk 
rating. Earlier data will have an ‘unknown risk’. 
 
 
Appendix 17: A map detailing the high-risk areas of the City which has seen an increase of 

attendance time greater than one minute. Wards include Mapperley, St Ann’s Castle, Radford and 
Hyson Green. (a list of streets contained within this area is available from Corporate Support, but is 
not contained within this report).   
  
 

 

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

IMPLEMENTATION REVIEW OF 
THE ‘SUSTAINABILITY 
STRATEGY FOR 2020’ 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

Date:  26 February 2021 

Purpose of Report: 

To present Members with a review of the implementation of the ‘Sustainability Strategy 
for 2020’. 
 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that Members: 
 

• Note the contents of the report. 

• Receive updates on the full integrated risk management planning process during the 
2021/22 year. 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name:  
Candida Brudenell 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

Tel: 0115 967 0880 

Email: candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact: 

Corporate Communications Team 
0115 967 0880      corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 347

Agenda Item 14



1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 In response to reductions in grant funding and subsequent pressures on 

finances, the Chief Fire Officer (CFO) presented a report to the meeting of 
the Fire Authority in February 2016 entitled ‘Sustainability Strategy for 2020’, 
to consider and mitigate the long-term potential shortfall of £4.5m. 

 
1.2 Part of the strategy was to consider changes to operational service delivery 

to maximise the availability of resources in line with risk and demand. 
Underlining this was the expectation to avoid a reduction in the number of 
appliances and potential station closures, maintain the current crewing model 
of riding ‘five and four’ and, at the same time, generate efficiencies. 

 
1.3 In pursuance of this aim, the CFO presented a report to the meeting of the 

Fire Authority on 22 September 2017 seeking approval from Members to 
consult the public on the ‘mixed crewing’ model.  

 
1.4 In February 2018, the Chief Fire Officer presented a report entitled 

‘Sustainability Strategy Consultation Outcomes’ to the Fire Authority with 
options to change the operational service delivery model.  This report was 
endorsed and the proposal to implement ‘mixed crewing’ at two stations was 
approved.  

 
1.5 That report required the CFO to present a further outcome report to the Fire 

Authority to review the model’s implementation and effectiveness.  The onset 
of coronavirus at the start of 2020, and subsequent demands on the Service, 
has delayed the presentation of that information to Members. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 Since the implementation of a ‘mixed crewing’ model at the Retford and 

Ashfield fire stations, the Service has undertaken an interim review and 
evaluation of the model, its impacts on service delivery and the efficiencies 
that it has presented. 

 
2.2 This interim review, presented at Appendix A to this report, presents an initial 

assessment of performance for Members, however a full, detailed review of 
fire cover, response standards and performance will be undertaken as part of 
the Service’s integrated risk management planning (IRMP) process which will 
be presented to the Fire Authority later this year.   

 
2.3  This review was formulated through the assessment of financial information, 

the review of incident and availability data, through modelling of incident 
responses and engagement with the workforce.  A comparable period of nine 
months both before, and after, the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ was 
utilised data analysis, with a period of three years being utilised for modelling 
data. 

 
 

Page 348



2.4 The proposals for a ‘mixed crewing’ approach highlighted an anticipated 
increase in attendance times of five minutes, during the hours of 6pm and 
8am, when the appliances would be crewed by On-Call personnel.  This was 
due to the additional time for On-Call personnel to respond to the station from 
their home address or workplace. 

 
2.5 A review of operational incident attendance data shows that Ashfield station 

has had a 2 minute and 18 second increase in incident attendance times for 
the first appliance during these times. 

 
2.6 The same dataset for Retford station highlights an average increase in 

attendance times of 4 minutes and 54 seconds, for the first appliance.  
 
2.7 Both increases in attendance times, during the On-Call period of cover, are 

below the anticipated increase of five minutes.  Additionally, across the 
Service, the response standard has remained under the target of an average 
of 8 minutes to all incidents, at 7 minutes 48 seconds during the review 
period.   

 
2.8 Modelled data shows the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ has led to an 

increase in the average attendance time for all incident types except for those 
incidents within ‘high-risk’ areas.  The average modelled attendance time, for 
the Service as a whole, to ‘high risk’ areas has not altered and remains at 7 
minutes 12 seconds.  

 
2.9 One of the identified challenges to implementing the ‘mixed crewing’ model 

was the need to increase On-Call staffing numbers, particularly at the Retford 
station.  To address this, the Service has supported both stations with 
recruitment in their local areas, including the wrapping of appliances, 
engagement with local businesses and promotional activity in local media.   

 
2.10 At the time of ‘mixed crewing’ implementation, Ashfield’s On-Call 

establishment was 14 and has been maintained at that level to date.  
Retford’s On-Call establishment has increased from 11 at time of 
implementation to currently 14 personnel.   

 
2.11 The recruitment and retention of On-Call firefighters is an ongoing challenge 

across the whole fire and rescue sector.  The Service continues to provide 
additional support for both On-Call sections through the Service’s 
Sustainability of On-Call Team, whilst playing an active role nationally as part 
of the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) On-Call Working Group. 

 
2.12 The Service has also recently initiated a project to explore the provision of 

new On-Call contracts to increase the recruitment and retention of On-Call 
personnel across the Service.  Further details of this will be presented to 
Members once a feasibility trial has identified undertaken. 

 
2.13 A further identified challenge for the proposed ‘mixed crewing’ stations was 

the availability of two appliances, 24 hours a day.  The interim review 
highlights that: 

 

Page 349



• At Ashfield, the average availability of both appliances from April 2019 to 
March 2020 was 70%.  The average time that only one appliance was 
available was 24%.  Both appliances were unavailable for 6% of the time*. 
 

• At Retford, the average availability of both appliances for the same time 
period was 45%. The average time that only one appliance was available 
was 44%. Both appliances were unavailable for 11% of the time*. 

 
*It is important to note that when specific appliances are unavailable, 
operational cover up moves are made to ensure there is a suitable level 
of fire cover across all areas of the service. 

 
2.14 Availability, up to the current date of this report, has remained similar for the 

Ashfield appliance but has improved for Retford station with both appliances 
available for an average of 53% of the time. 
 

2.15 Whilst the report highlights how attendance time to ‘high risk’ areas has not 
been impacted, the periodic unavailability of the second appliances has 
impacted the attendance times to fulfil pre-determined attendances (PDAs) to 
incidents of greater than one appliance, such as ‘life risk’ (P1) incidents.   

 
2.16 For context, during the review period, there were 16 ‘P1’ incidents in Ashfield 

station area and 11 in Retford and there are no local or national standards for 
attendance times after the first appliance.   

 
2.17 Current incident data shows that peak incident demand, across a typical day, 

occurs between 11am and 10pm. The period of wholetime cover at mixed 
crewing stations does not optimally cover this period (8am – 6pm).   

 
2.18 This was acknowledged during the consultation of ‘mixed crewing’ and it was 

highlighted how other factors, such as On-Call availability and the actual 
number of incidents that occur after 6pm, must be considered.  Additionally, 
the impact of a permanent afternoon/evening shift on wholetime staff and the 
ability to effectively manage transfer of resourcing between shift-based and 
‘mixed crewing’ stations, as and when required, must be considered. 

 
2.19 Analysis shows that, since the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, both 

stations have increased the number of safe and well visits (SWVs), and wider 
prevention activities, conducted in their local communities.  This has been 
part of a focussed increase under the Safer Communities Strategy and is 
targeted at the most vulnerable in our communities.   

 
2.20 The review, and feedback from some personnel, has highlighted impacts on 

available time to complete all required tasks during the shortened day shift.   
 
2.21 Employee welfare continues to be a priority for the Service, as do 

considerations around an ageing workforce.  An intended additional benefit of 
the ‘mixed crewing’ model, for wholetime firefighters, was the potential 
positive impact on individual’s work / life balance, by removing the need to 
work nights and providing a shorter working day.  

 

Page 350



2.22 The majority of individuals at Ashfield and Retford have positively reported on 
the impact of not working night shift, alongside the shorter working day. 
However, the consequence of working a shorter working day results in the 
need for additional days/hours to be worked outside of a ‘usual’ shift pattern, 
to meet individual’s contractual requirements.  Many firefighters report that 
this disproportionately impacts their private lives.   

 
2.23 A small number of personnel at ‘mixed crewing’ stations have requested to 

transfer to stations that operate the traditional crewing system.  However, this 
also demonstrates the increased choice and flexibility offered to workforce by 
having a variety of wholetime duty systems in operation. 

 
2.24 Operational crews, both wholetime and On-Call, and Officers involved in the 

implementation, have shown great commitment and flexibility in making 
‘mixed crewing’ model a workable success. 

 
2.25 The interim review has highlighted a number of recommendations, and areas 

for assurance, from the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’.  These include the 
increased financial savings, the increase in prevention activities, less impact 
on response times during On-Call periods of cover and no increase in 
attendance times to ‘high risk’ areas of the community.   

 
2.26 The recommendations from the report, including a review of the provision of 

second appliances and a review of wholetime shift timings and working 
arrangements will be incorporated in to the Service-wide assessment for the 
integrated risk management planning process in 2021, which will be 
presented to Members.   

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 One of the primary drivers for the implementation of the ‘mixed crewing’ 

model was to make financial savings as part of the Service’s ‘Sustainability 
Strategy for 2020’. This requirement to make savings was due to the Service 
receiving a reduction in central funding which meant it was facing a potential 
budget shortfall of £4.5 million.  

 
3.2 The forecasted savings from the introduction of the ‘mixed crewing’ staffing 

model at Retford and Ashfield stations were exceeded.  Predicted savings 
from the implementation of this model were £1.12m.  Actual savings realised 
were £1.18m.   

 
3.3 This is mainly related to a lower than forecasted increase in On-Call costs at 

Retford station and an increased saving against associated wholetime costs 
across both stations.   

 
3.4 The implementation of the ‘mixed crewing’ model meant that the Service did 

not have to remove any appliances, or close any fire stations, to meet 
efficiency targets. 

 
 

Page 351



4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 The implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ resulted in the reduction of the 

wholetime establishment by 28 posts.  This reduction was realised through 
management of the workforce plan including planned retirements, vacancy 
control and not recruiting wholetime trainees.   

 
4.2 During the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, there were no formal 

grievances received by the Service, highlighting the effective manner in 
which staff and representative body engagement was delivered.   

 
4.3 Engagement with the workforce and representative bodies resulted in a 

smooth transitional process, in line with planned timescales, with minimal 
disruption to service delivery.   

 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment (EIA) was undertaken as part of the ‘mixed crewing’ 
implementation project.  This EIA highlighted a number of potentially positive and 
potentially negative impacts for employees and the public.  These impacts have 
been addressed through this report and will be considered in future 
recommendations by Service management.   
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 The Service continues to support the crewing of On-Call appliances at the 
two ‘mixed crewing’ stations through a combination of management 
interventions to mitigate any impacts to our communities. 

 
8.2 The ongoing recruitment and retention of On-Call personnel is a priority for 

the Service and will continue to be supported through the Sustainability of 
On-Call Team. 

 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 352



10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
10.1 Note the contents of the report. 
 
10.2 Receive updates on the full integrated risk management planning process 

during the 2021/22 year. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 353



 

  

A REVIEW OF THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF             
THE ‘SUSTAINABILITY 
STRATEGY FOR 2020’ 

      

SLT Lead:     AM Damien West 

Lead author:    SM Chris Navin 

GIS Modelling and analysis:  Gemma Polmear 

Page 354



1 | P a g e  
 

 

CONTENTS 

 

SECTION 1:   Executive Summary     Page 02 

   Scope       Page 03 

   Background       Page 03 

 

SECTION 2:  Report       Page 04 

   Financial Information     Page 04 

   Savings Review      Page 05 

   Maintaining Availability     Page 06 

   Historical Data Analysis     Page 07 

   Modelling Analysis     Page 09 

   Appliance Availability     Page 18 

   Incident Peak Demand     Page 20 

   Working Day      Page 20 

   Prevention Activities     Page 20 

 

SECTION 3:  Areas of Assurance and Recommendations  Page 23 

   Areas of Assurance     Page 23 

   Recommendations      Page 23 

 

SECTION 4:  Appendices       Page 25  

Page 355



2 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 On the 1st April 2019, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) 
implemented a ‘mixed crewing’ response model at two of its fire stations; 
Retford and Ashfield.  

1.2 The ‘mixed crewing’ model is a wholetime response model during the day 
(between 08:00 and 18:00) and an On-Call response model overnight 
(between 18:00 and 08:00). 

1.3 One of the primary drivers for the implementation of a ‘mixed crewing’ 
approach was to deliver a more efficient response model as part of the 
Service’s ‘Sustainability Strategy for 2020’.  

1.4 ‘Mixed crewing’ was one of five strategic project areas that collectively aimed 
to deliver savings of £4.5m.  

1.5 The predicted savings from the introduction of the ‘mixed crewing’ was 
£1.12m annually. The actual savings realised were £1.18M annually.  

1.6 When implementing ‘mixed crewing’, the Service excepted that, between 
1800hrs and 0800hrs, the attendance times of appliances would be slower 
due to On-Call staff having to respond from their home or workplace to 
stations, whereas wholetime staff are immediately available on station to 
respond.  The typical ‘turn in’ time for On-Call stations is five minutes from the 
time of alert. 

1.7 Data shows that the mixed crew stations have been successful in limiting the 
expected increase in response times to below the predicted five-minute 
increase.  In fact, the response times of Ashfield’s appliance is notable as 
there has only been a 2 minute and 18 second difference in incident 
attendance times1 between the current overnight On-Call model and the 
previous wholetime response model.  

1.8 At Retford station, the period of time covered by On-Call personnel has seen 
an average increase in attendance times of 4 minutes and 54 seconds; in line 
with the forecasted increase.  

1.9 Despite an increase in average attendance times at these stations, modelled 
data shows the average attendance time, for all incidents across the Service, 
remained below the Service’s response standard2 of 8 minutes, at 7 minutes 
48 seconds. 

1.10 Modelled data shows that since the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, there 
has been an increase in the average attendance time for all incident types, 
except for those incidents within ‘high-risk’ areas.   

                                                           
1 Attendance time is defined as the time taken from the first appliance being mobilised by Control, to time of 

arrival at the incident 
2 NFRS’s Strategic 2019-2022 plan makes a commitment to respond to all incidents, on average in less than 
eight minutes.  

Page 356



3 | P a g e  
 

1.11 The average modelled attendance time, for the Service as a whole, to high 
risk areas,3 has not altered and remains at 7 minutes 12 seconds.  

1.12 One of the known challenges to implementing the ‘mixed crewing’ model was 
the need to increase On-Call staffing numbers to enable the availability of two 
appliances overnight.  

1.13 Data on appliance availability shows since the implementation of ‘mixed 
crewing’ Ashfield had two appliances available 70% of the time. Specifically, 
overnight, two appliances were available 57% of the time.  

1.14 The average availability of both appliances at Retford was 45% of the time 
and, specifically overnight, two appliances were available 21% of the time. 

1.15 Overnight, for ‘mixed crewing’ stations, first appliance response times is better 
than predicted for both stations. However, due to the unavailability of the 
second appliances, the attendance times to fulfil pre-determined attendances 
(PDAs) to incidents of greater than one appliance has been increased. 

1.16 Data shows that the current peak incident demand across a typical day occurs 
between 11:00 and 22:00. The current period of wholetime cover at ‘mixed 
crewing’ stations does not optimally cover this period. 

1.17 Data shows that since the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, both stations 
have increased the number of Safe and Well Visits (SWVs) and wider 
prevention activities undertaken in communities.  This increase, however, is 
less than the average increase that has been seen across other single 
appliance stations over the same period. 

SCOPE 
 

1.18 This report will review financial data to see if the predicted savings, through 
the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, have been met.  

1.19 This report will also examine the impact on services delivered to the 
community through the implementation of the ‘mixed crewing’ duty system at 
Retford and Ashfield fire stations. It will do this by: 

• evaluating any changes to the operational response times to incidents  

• evaluating prevention activity since the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’. 

BACKGROUND 
 

1.20 A reduction in public sector funding by central government meant that the 
Service was facing a potential budget deficit of £4.5 million in forthcoming 
years.  It was therefore necessary for the Service to review its operating 
model and identify efficiencies to meet the financial pressures it was facing.  

                                                           
3 The ‘high risk’ category defines those areas within the County that are the most at risk. Further detail on the 

calculation of risk categories can be found in the appendix 

Page 357



4 | P a g e  
 

1.21 The Service detailed is efficiency plan in the ‘Sustainability Strategy for 2020’ 
report. This was presented to the Fire Authority, and endorsed, in February 
2016.  

1.22 Part of this strategy recommended changes to the Service’s response model 
to maximise resource availability at times of peak demand and implement a 
more cost-effective delivery model, to meet the forecasted financial pressures. 

1.23 It was acknowledged that there was a collective responsibility to deliver the 
most effective service to the public within the financial constraints that were 
outside the control of the Fire Authority and the Fire & Rescue Service senior 
leadership. 

1.24 When implementing this new duty system, the Service anticipated that, during 
the 1800hrs to 0800hrs period, the attendance times to incidents would be 
slower due to the fact that On-Call staff have to respond to station, whereas 
wholetime staff are typically immediately available. The ‘turn in’ standard for 
On-Call stations is five minutes from alert. It was therefore expected that there 
would be an estimated five-minute increase in response times at these 
stations during the periods of primarily On-Call crewing.  

1.25 The implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ was a new way of working for the 
Service. It was acknowledged that crews would have to work differently as 
they would not have a ‘night shift’ to cover.  The Serviced aimed to facilitate 
the new ways of working through voluntary agreements with personnel to 
undertake the new crewing model.    

1.26 The work pattern of ‘mixed crewing’ stations, as with wholetime stations, is 
defined by the Service’s ‘working day’ procedure.  

1.27 As there is no night shift, crews would have to undertake all core activities 
during the day. This includes training, equipment checks and prevention and 
protection activities.  

1.28 It was anticipated that there would be a reduction in prevention activities due 
to activities normally undertaken after 18:00, such as Safe and Well Visits 
(SWVs), bring delivered by On-Call staff who, traditionally, have less 
forecastable availability than wholetime crews.   

1.29 The introduction of a ‘mixed crewing’ model at Retford and Ashfield stations 
was introduced on the 1st April 2019 at 08:00.  

SECTION 2: REPORT 
 

Financial Information 
 

2.1 One of the primary drivers for the implementation of the ‘mixed crewing’ 
model was to make financial savings as part of the Service’s ‘Sustainability 
Strategy for 2020’.  

2.2 This requirement to make savings was due to the Service forecasting a 
reduction in central Government funding which meant it was facing a potential 
budget shortfall of £4.5 million.  

Page 358



5 | P a g e  
 

2.3 The introduction of the ‘mixed crewing’ model enabled the Service to maintain 
the same total number of fire appliances but, during periods of lower demand, 
staff them using an On-Call model as opposed to a wholetime crewing model.  

2.4 This model would see financial savings generated through a decrease in the 
wholetime establishment. Once fully implemented there would be a reduction 
of 28 wholetime operational posts.  

2.5 The forecasted savings from the introduction of the ‘mixed crewing’ staffing 
model at Retford and Ashfield stations were exceeded. Predicted savings 
from the implementation of this model were £1.12M. Actual savings realised 
were £1.18M.  This is mainly related to a lower than forecasted increase in 
On-Call costs at Retford station and an increased saving against associated 
wholetime costs.   

2.6 Of note; when implementing ‘mixed crewing’ no jobs were put ‘at risk’ and no 
redundancies were required. The Service reduced its establishment figure 
through workforce planning using the retirement profile, not filling existing 
vacancies, and not recruiting new staff.  

2.7 The implementation of the ‘mixed crewing’ model meant that the Service did 
not have to remove any appliances, or close any fire stations, to meet 
efficiency targets.  

 

SAVINGS REVIEW 
 

2.8 Retford:  

• The estimated Wholetime savings were -£586,935. This was based on the 
reduction of 10 Firefighters(FF), two Crew Managers (CM) and two Watch 
Manager (WM) posts. 

• The estimated increase in On-Call costs were between £20,081 and 
£33,039. 

• The estimated net saving was between £553,896 and £566,855. 

• The actual wholetime saving was £611,725 (19/20 compared with average 
of 17/18 and 18/19). 

• The actual increase in On-Call costs was £3,002 (19/20 compared with 
average of 17/18 and 18/19). 

• The actual net saving at Retford station was £608,723. 
 

2.9 Ashfield: 

• The estimated Wholetime savings were -£586,935. This was based on the 
reduction of 10 FF, two CM and two WM posts. 

• The estimated increase in on-call costs were between £41,639 and 
£62,588. 

• The estimated net saving was between £524,347 and £545,297. 

• The actual wholetime saving was £634,182 (19/20 compared with average 
of 17/18 and 18/19). 

Page 359



6 | P a g e  
 

• The actual increase in On-Call costs was £66,746 (19/20 compared with 
average of 17/18 and 18/19). 

• The actual net saving at Ashfield station was £567,436. 
 

2.10 When reviewing financial data, it was identified that the project code assigned 
for the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ does not appear to have been 
utilised correctly. Only seven items were reported against the project code, 
totalling £346.91.  This omission has meant that accurate reporting against 
the project costs has not been possible in all areas. 

 

MAINTAINING AVAILABILITY 
 

2.11 Although financial information has not been kept centrally by the Service, from 
information maintained locally by the District Managers at Ashfield and 
Retford, it has been possible to estimate the associated costs of maintaining 
appliance availability.  

2.12 The following costs have been estimated assuming an On-Call appliance 
would consist of four Firefighters and one Watch Manager.  The overtime rate 
was at time-and-a-half and the overtime was not pensionable. 

2.13 Additional staffing support was required at Ashfield for a total of 150 hours 
and 30 minutes within the first year: 

 

Ashfield 

On-Call crew costs: £3,294.06 

Individual crew members: £1,095.12 

Total: £4,389.18 

Figure 1: A table showing the estimated additional cost of maintaining appliance availability at 

Ashfield station. 

 

2.14 Additional staffing support was required at Retford for a total of 662 hours and 

45 minutes within the first year: 

   
Retford 

On-Call crew costs: £14,345.10 

Individual crew 
members: £5,698.68 

Overtime costs: £4,235.12 

Total: £24,278.90 

Figure 2: A table showing the estimated additional cost of maintaining appliance availability at Retford 
station. 

2.15 The above data shows that the costs for maintaining appliance availability at 
Retford are over four times that which was required at Ashfield with costs 
totalling £24,278.90.  

Page 360



7 | P a g e  
 

2.16 Although this data shows that the costs to maintain appliance availability at 
both stations was £28,668.08, the Service realised savings of over £600k 
more than was originally forecast through the implementation of ‘mixed 
crewing’.  

 

HISTORICAL DATA ANALYSIS 
 

2.17 The historical analysis contained within this report compares the operational 
activity within a nine-month period before the implementation of ‘mixed 
crewing’ (01/04/18 – 31/12/18) with the same nine-month period after ‘mixed 
crewing’ was implemented (01/04/19 – 31/12/19).  

2.18 The data taken from this period presents information for analysis but does not 
allow a causal relationship to be drawn in relation to the implementation of the 
‘mixed crewing’ duty system. This is due to the number of other variables 
which may have influenced the data. 

2.19 The table below (Fig 3) shows that station mobilisations decreased for the 

majority of stations between the two periods. Only five stations saw an 

increase in mobilisations during this time:   

Station 
Name 

Mobs Before 
MC 

Mobs After 
MC 

Difference % Change 

Stapleford 116 171 55 47.41 

Tuxford 71 100 29 40.85 

Bingham 116 142 26 22.41 

Misterton 43 48 5 11.63 

Southwell 33 34 1 3.03 

Eastwood 127 123 -4 -3.15 

Mansfield 787 722 -65 -8.26 

Carlton 486 430 -56 -11.52 

East Leake 52 46 -6 -11.54 

London Road 1831 1617 -214 -11.69 

Collingham 67 53 -14 -20.90 

Arnold 981 776 -205 -20.90 

Highfields 798 626 -172 -21.55 

Edwinstowe 380 296 -84 -22.11 

West Bridgford 689 536 -153 -22.21 

Blidworth 229 175 -54 -23.58 

Stockhill 2045 1535 -510 -24.94 

Newark 615 444 -171 -27.80 

Worksop 824 592 -232 -28.16 

Hucknall 242 171 -71 -29.34 

Harworth 212 138 -74 -34.91 

Ashfield 846 513 -333 -39.36 

Retford 462 264 -198 -42.86 

Page 361



8 | P a g e  
 

Warsop 128 68 -60 -46.88 

 

Figure 3: A table detailing the historic difference in station mobilisations for nine months before and 

nine months after the implementation of mixed crewing.  

2.20 Ashfield station saw a 39% decrease in mobilisations in the nine months after 
the ‘mixed crewing’ model was implemented (a decrease of 333 
mobilisations). Over the same period, Retford station saw a 43% decrease in 
mobilisations (a decrease of 198 mobilisations). These decreases are greater 
than the baseline change, across all stations, of -21%. 

2.21 It can also be seen from the information within Figure 3 that all but five 
stations saw a decrease in the number of mobilisations over the time periods 
which were analysed. Of those five stations, Tuxford and Misterton are 
geographically closest to the ‘mixed crewing’ stations and could therefore 
have reasonably been expected to be impacted by changes. 

2.22 The graph below (Figure 4) shows that the attendance times across the 
Service to high risk areas (12 secs), primary fires (6 secs) and secondary fires 
(12 secs) all decreased over the period analysed. Attendance times to low risk 
areas (6 secs), road traffic collisions (6 secs) and other special services (12 
secs) all increased.  

 

Figure 4: A graph showing the historic changes in average send to arrive times for all risk categories 

and incident types for the service. 

2.23 It can also be seen in Figure 4 that the attendance times, for all stations, to 
high and medium risk incidents are under the Service’s attendance target of 8 
minutes. 

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

9.5

10

High Risk
Areas

Medium Risk
Areas

Low Risk
Areas

Primary Fires Secondary
Fires

RTC Other Special
Service

All Inc

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 T
im

e,
 M

in
u

te
s

9m Before Mixed Crewing 9m After Mixed Crewing

Page 362



9 | P a g e  
 

2.24 Analysis of the attendance time information relating to the ‘likely turn out 
areas’4 of Ashfield and Retford appliances shows that both stations have been 
quicker in attending an average of all incidents since the implementation of 
‘mixed crewing’.  

2.25 Retford’s average attendance time during the day has improved from 8 
minutes 48 seconds to 8 minutes 36 seconds. Whilst Ashfield’s average 
attendance time during the day has improved from 7 minutes 54 seconds to 7 
minutes 6 seconds. 

2.26 The average attendance time within Retford’s ‘likely turn out area’ at night has 
increased from 8 minutes 6 seconds to 13 minutes. This is an increase of 4 
minutes and 54 seconds is under the anticipated increase of 5 minutes. 

2.27 The average attendance time within Ashfield’s likely turn out area at night has 
increased from 8 minutes to 10 minutes 18 seconds. This is an increase of 2 
minutes and 18 seconds and is significantly under the anticipated increase of 
5 minutes. 

2.28 The overall average attendance time within Retford’s ‘likely turnout area’ has 
increased from 8 minutes 30 seconds to 10 minutes 48 seconds since the 
implementation of ‘mixed crewing’.  

2.29 The overall average attendance time within Ashfield’s ‘likely turnout area’ has 
increased from 8 minutes to 8 minutes 48 seconds since the implementation 
of ‘mixed crewing’. 

MODELLING ANALYSIS 
 
2.30 Modelling and analysis was undertaken using data over a period of three 

years (01/01/2017 – 31/12/2019).  
 
2.31 These models included ‘mixed crewing’ with two appliances being staffed 24 

hours a day, a model with two appliances available during the day and a 
single appliance at night and a further model with a single appliance available 
during the day and night.  

 
2.32 A model was also undertaken to compare the ‘mixed crewing’ model of two 

appliances being available 24 hours a day and a model of a single appliance 
available 24 hours a day. 

 
2.33 The nature of the modelling undertaken has removed any other variables as a 

potential factor for change. Any changes in the modelling outputs can 
therefore be said to be caused solely by the implementation of ‘mixed 
crewing’ at Ashfield and Retford fire stations and any subsequent effect due of 
concurrent incidents. 

 

                                                           
4 The ‘likely turn out area’ is defined within this report as the geographical area which would be covered by 
Retford and Ashfield appliances given that they were available at station and being crewed by the day shift. 
These areas can be seen in the ‘day’ section of map 1. 

Page 363



10 | P a g e  
 

2.34 Modelling was undertaken by the Service’s GIS Team using ‘Workload 
Modeller’. Analysis has assumed that all appliances were available at home 
station if they were not at an incident.  

 
2.35 The modelling used has not reflected any cover-moves which may have 

occurred but does reflect the concurrent nature of some of the incidents which 
occurred during the selected time frame. 

 
2.36 For the purposes of this modelling, it has been assumed that all attending 

appliances will be from Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service and not 
utilising over-border support.   

2.37 Analysis shows a reduction of 307 mobilisations (-21%) at Retford and a 
reduction of 581 mobilisations (-23%) at Ashfield over three years has been 
caused by the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’. This is due to the reduction 
in the station’s ‘likely turnout area’ overnight. This reduction is due to the 
mobilising system identifying the fastest response, which factors in the 
anticipated five-minute response to station by On-Call crews. 

2.38 It can also be seen from the table below (Figure 5) that those stations which 
are local to the ‘mixed crewing’ stations have received mobilisations to 
incidents which would previously have been attended by Ashfield and Retford, 
when operating as a traditional wholetime response model.  

Station 
Name Mobs Without 

MC 

Mobs with 
MC1 

Difference % Change 

Misterton 171 198 27 15.79 

Tuxford 418 472 54 12.92 

Collingham 211 236 25 11.85 

Mansfield 2686 2967 281 10.46 

Hucknall 742 819 77 10.38 

Blidworth 744 813 69 9.27 

Eastwood 568 614 46 8.10 

Edwinstowe 1260 1353 93 7.38 

Worksop 2578 2714 136 5.28 

Warsop 389 405 16 4.11 

Harworth 747 773 26 3.48 

Southwell 237 238 1 0.42 

Stockhill 7213 7233 20 0.28 

Arnold 3257 3266 9 0.28 

Newark 1763 1767 4 0.23 

West Bridgford 2743 2745 2 0.07 

Highfields 2212 2213 1 0.05 

London Road 6642 6643 1 0.02 

Bingham 609 609 0 0.00 

Carlton 1821 1821 0 0.00 

East Leake 253 253 0 0.00 

Stapleford 693 693 0 0.00 

Page 364



11 | P a g e  
 

Retford 1483 1176 -307 -20.70 

Ashfield 2505 1924 -581 -23.19 

 

Figure 5: A table detailing the modelled difference in station mobilisations over a three-year period 

(single appliance available 24 hours). 

2.39 It can be seen from Figure 5 that the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ has 
caused a reduction in mobilisations at Ashfield and Retford stations only.  
Almost all other stations are modelled to be impacted by the introduction of 
‘mixed crewing’ to some degree due to the nature of concurrent incidents. 

2.40 The graph below, (Figure 6), shows that the implementation of ‘mixed 
crewing’, with only a single appliance available, has caused an increase in the 
average modelled attendance time for all incident types, with the exception of 
those incidents within ‘high risk’ areas. The average modelled attendance 
time to ‘high risk’ areas has not altered. 

 

Figure 6: A graph showing the modelled changes in average ‘send to arrive’ times for all risk 

categories and incident types (single appliance available - 24 hours). 

2.41 It can also be seen that attendance times to incidents within ‘low risk’ areas 
and to road traffic collisions (RTCs) has risen further above the Service’s 
attendance target of 8 minutes.  

2.42 Average attendance times to ‘primary fires’ and ‘secondary fires’ have been 
modelled to rise above 8 minutes from the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, 
with a single appliance available.  

2.43 The average attendance time for the Service to all incidents remains below 
the attendance target of 8 minutes, at 7 minutes 48 seconds. 

2.44 It can be seen from Map 1, below, that the modelled ‘likely turn out areas’ for 
Retford and Ashfield are reduced overnight where ‘mixed crewing’ has been 
implemented. The ‘likely turn out areas’ for the surrounding stations reach 

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

High Risk
Areas

Medium Risk
Areas

Low Risk
Areas

Primary Fires Secondary
Fires

RTC Other Special
Service

All Inc

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 T
im

e,
 M

in
u

te
s

No Mixed Crewing With MC1

Page 365



12 | P a g e  
 

further during the night due to the extended ‘turnout’ times at Retford and 
Ashfield.  

 

Map1: A comparison of the modelled first appliance attendance to where mixed crewing has been 

implemented and all appliances are available at Retford and Ashfield. 

2.45 It can be seen from Map 2 (below) that there is an increased attendance time 

at night due to the extended turn out time of the on-call crews.  

 

Page 366



13 | P a g e  
 

Map 2: A modelled comparison of the first pump attendance times where mixed crewing was 

implemented and all appliances are available at Retford and Ashfield. 

2.46 Below, maps 3 and 4 show the increase in the time required to achieve a two 
appliance pre-determined attendance (PDA) during the night with ‘mixed 
crewing’. It can also be seen that the time to achieve that PDA is extended 
further when only a single appliance is available at Retford or Ashfield.  

 

Map 3: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a two-pump predetermined attendance (PDA) 

where mixed crewing has been implemented and all appliances are available at Retford and Ashfield. 

 

Page 367



14 | P a g e  
 

Map 4: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a two-pump predetermined attendance (PDA) 

where mixed crewing has been implemented and a single appliance is available at Retford and 

Ashfield at night. 

2.47 Maps 5 and 6, below, show the increase in the time required to achieve a 
three appliance pre-determined attendance (PDA). It can be seen that the 
time to achieve that PDA is also extended further when only a single 
appliance is available.  

 

Map 5: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a three-pump predetermined attendance 

(PDA) where mixed crewing has been implemented and all appliances are available at Retford and 

Ashfield. 

 

Page 368



15 | P a g e  
 

Map 6: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a three-pump predetermined attendance 

(PDA) where mixed crewing has been implemented and a single appliance is available at Retford and 

Ashfield at night. 

2.48 The table below (Figure 7) shows that there is a reduction in the modelled 
mobilisations of Retford and Ashfield appliances when both appliances are 
available. However, when compared to the changes in mobilisations 
demonstrated in Figure 4, it can be seen that having both appliances available 
at Retford and Ashfield reduces the number of additional mobilisations for 
other stations and limits the reductions for the mixed crewing stations. 

Station 
Name 

Mobs with 
MC 2 pump 

Mobs with 
MC 1 pump 

Difference 
% 

Change 

Collingham 210 236 26 12.4% 

Tuxford 449 472 23 5.1% 

Blidworth 778 813 35 4.5% 

Misterton 190 198 8 4.2% 

Worksop 2635 2714 79 3.0% 

Mansfield 2891 2967 76 2.6% 

Hucknall 800 819 19 2.4% 

Warsop 399 405 6 1.5% 

Edwinstowe 1337 1353 16 1.2% 

Eastwood 608 614 6 1.0% 

Harworth 769 773 4 0.5% 

Arnold 3263 3266 3 0.1% 

Stockhill 7228 7233 5 0.1% 

Bingham 609 609 0 0.0% 

Carlton 1821 1821 0 0.0% 

East Leake 253 253 0 0.0% 

Highfields 2213 2213 0 0.0% 

London Road 6643 6643 0 0.0% 

Newark 1767 1767 0 0.0% 

Southwell 238 238 0 0.0% 

Stapleford 693 693 0 0.0% 

West Bridgford 2745 2745 0 0.0% 

Ashfield 2079 1924 -155 -7.5% 

Retford 1327 1176 -151 -11.4% 

 

Figure 7: A table detailing the modelled difference in station mobilisations over a three-year period 

between a mixed crewing model utilising 2 pump availability against single pump availability. 

2.49 The graph below, (Figure 8) shows that there is an average six second 
decrease in the modelled attendance time to high risk areas when the second 
appliance is available against only a single appliance being available at 
Ashfield and Retford.  

Page 369



16 | P a g e  
 

2.50 There are no other modelled average attendance time changes when 
comparing two appliance availability against single appliance availability at 
Retford and Ashfield.    

 

Figure 8: A graph showing the modelled changes in average send to arrive times for all risk 

categories and incident types comparing a mixed crewing model utilising 2 pump availability against 

single pump availability. 

2.51 The map below (Map 7) shows that there has been an increase in the 

average attendance time to areas around Retford. This includes some areas 

which are categorised as ‘high risk’.  

2.52 During the compilation of this report it has become apparent that the Lower 

Super Output Area (LSOA) containing HMP Ranby is the second highest ‘risk 

area’ within Nottinghamshire. This has been attributed to the increase in the 

number of deliberate fires at HMP Ranby in recent years.  

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

High Risk
Areas

Medium
Risk Areas

Low Risk
Areas

Primary
Fires

Secondary
Fires

RTC Other
Special
Service

All Inc

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 T
im

e,
 M

in
u

te
s

With MC2 With MC1

Page 370



17 | P a g e  
 

 

Map 7: The area around Retford which has had an increase in average attendance time of one minute 

or more overlaid with a risk categorisation. 

2.53 The map below (Map 8) shows that there has been an increase in the 

average attendance time to the area around Ashfield. This includes one area 

which is categorised as ‘high risk’.   

 

Map 8: The area around Ashfield which has had an increase in average attendance time of one 

minute or more overlaid with a risk categorisation. 

Page 371



18 | P a g e  
 

 

APPLIANCE AVAILABILITY 

 

2.54 Centrally available, historical On-Call availability data was only available to 
inform this report from August 2020.  

2.55 The graph below (Figure 9) shows that the average availability of both 
appliances at Ashfield from April 2019 to March 2020 was 70%. The average 
time the second appliance was unavailable was 24%. Both appliances were 
unavailable for 6% of the time. 

Figure 9: A chart showing the overall appliance availability at Ashfield.  

2.56 It can be seen from Figure 10, below, that both appliances are available for an 
average of 57% of the time during the night at Ashfield from April 2019 to 
March 2020. Both appliances are available for 41% of the time during the 
night. Both appliances were unavailable for 2% of the time during the night. 

 

 

Figure 10: A chart showing the availability of appliances during the night at Ashfield. 

 

Page 372



19 | P a g e  
 

2.57 The graph below, (Figure 11) shows that the average availability of both 
appliances at Retford from April 2019 to March 2020 was 45.3%. The average 
time the second appliance was unavailable was 43.3%. Both appliances were 
unavailable for 11.4% of the time. 

Figure 11: A chart showing the overall appliance availability at Retford. 

2.58 The graph below (Figure 12) shows that a single appliance is available for an 
average of 74% of the time during the night at Ashfield from April 2019 to 
March 2020. Both appliances are available for 21% of the time during the 
night. Both appliances were unavailable for 5% of the time during the night. 

 

Figure 12: A chart showing the availability of appliances during the night at Retford. 

2.59 Ensuring the availability of the On-Call appliance has required support from 
the Sustainability of On-Call (SoOC) team, On-Call and wholetime personnel 
providing cover and appliance ‘cover moves’. 

2.60 The Day Shift Crewing Procedural Document provides detail on the pre-
planning of On-Call support through the SoOC team and the hierarchy of 
control measures for the purpose of maintaining appliance availability. 

 

Page 373



20 | P a g e  
 

 

INCIDENT PEAK DEMAND 

 

2.61 It can be seen from the graph below (Figure 13) that the peak times for 
operational demand between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019 follow the 
previous trends of being between 11:00 and 22:00.  Appendix 15 shows that 
this pattern has remained constant for the last four years. 

 

Figure 13: A graph showing the distribution of incidents by the hour of the day between 1/4/2018 and 

31/12/2019 

2.62 The working day for wholetime staff on mixed crewing stations is 08:00 until 
18:00. This work pattern does not align to the known peak incident demand 
period. Data shows that the wholetime shift ends before the peak demand 
period. 

2.63 Aligning the wholetime cover period to peak demand periods would decrease 
the response times to incidents, however, On-Call cover can be more difficult 
during the daytime due to primary employment commitments. Additionally, the 
provision of a wholetime crewing model to cover the ‘peak hours’ is 
anticipated to present challenge from the workforce and representative 
groups.  

 

WORKING DAY 
 

2.64 The implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ was a new way of working for the 
Service. It was acknowledged that wholetime crews would have to work 
differently as they would not have a night shift.   

2.65 As there is no night shift, crews would have to undertake all core activities 
during the day. This includes training, equipment checks and prevention and 
protection activities.  

2.66 It was anticipated that there would be a reduction in prevention activities due 
to activities normally undertaken after 18:00, such as Safe and Well Visits 
(SWVs), bring delivered by On-Call staff who, traditionally, have less 
forecastable availability than wholetime crews.   

Page 374



21 | P a g e  
 

2.67 Day shift crewing staff work under the Service’s Collective agreement. 
However, whereas whole time staff work an annualised time of 2190 hours. 
Staff on mixed crewing stations work 2034 hours per year. 156 hours less per 
year. 

2.68 The work pattern of mixed crewing stations is defined by the series ‘working 
day’ procedure.  

2.69 A review of Procedure 2144 (Wholetime Duty System Operational Stations – 
Working Day) was carried out to ascertain the amount of time allocated to 
different activities depending on the shift pattern being worked.  

2.70 The information contained within the table below is taken from the appendix of 
Procedure 2144 and assumes that the breaks for WDS are taken at the times 
contained within the appendix. Recommended break periods are not detailed 
within the Day-Shift Crewing standard working day, so those times reflect the 
fullest possible amount of time allocated to a category, without the inclusion of 
discretionary break times (recorded as zero).  

2.71 It can be seen from the table below (Figure 14) that number of hours available 
to the Day Shift Crewing (DSC) personnel, compared to wholetime working, is 
reduced in all aspects, with the exception of ‘Business Safety Checks’.  

Activity 

Wholetime 42 

Hr week 

Day Shift 

Crewing Change 

Parade, Handover, Checks 732 274.5 -457.5 

PT 732 366 -366 

Directed/Target Led Activities 1830 915 -915 

Break 640.5 0 -640.5 

Meal 732 366 -366 

Community Safety 732 427 -305 

Built Environment/Training for Risk 457.5 244 -213.5 

Business Safety Checks 366 427 61 

Station Routines and Standard Tests 366 152.5 -213.5 

Station Admin and Personal 

References 366 152.5 -213.5 

Station Admin/Self Study/NCAT 1464 152.5 -1311.5 

Cleaning 366 183 -183 

TOTAL 8784 3660 -5124 

 

Figure 14: A table showing the annual allocation of hours for categories of station activities. 

  

Page 375



22 | P a g e  
 

PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 

 

2.72 Prevention activity is key to delivering the Service’s commitment of ‘Creating 
Safer Communities’.    

2.73 As referenced previously, the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’ means that 
crews would have to work differently. Not only does ‘mixed crewing’ effect the 
station’s response model, it also directly effects how they deliver prevention 
activities.  

2.74 The ‘mixed crewing’ model means that the majority of prevention activity has 
to be completed during the day with On-Call staff undertaking some 
prevention activities during the evening. 

2.75 Figure 9, above, shows that with a wholetime staffing model, 732 hours per 
year are dedicated to prevention activity (183 hours per Watch).  

2.76 With ‘mixed crewing’ there are 427 hours dedicated to prevention activity per 
year (213.5 hours per watch).  

2.77 Therefore, there are 305 hours less per year of time dedicated to prevention 
activities at ‘mixed crewing’ stations. 

2.78 The primary prevention activity for the Service is the delivery of Safe and Well 
Visits (SWVs).  

2.79 The graph below (Figure 15) shows the increase in the amount of prevention 
activities undertaken at both Ashfield and Retford.  

  

 

Figure 15: A chart showing the prevention work undertaken by Ashfield and Retford compared against 
a baseline average of single appliance stations. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020

Asfield Retford Baseline

SWV's Prevention activities

Page 376



23 | P a g e  
 

2.80 Data shows that since the implementation of ‘mixed crewing’, the number of 
Safe and Well visits (SWVs) and wider prevention activities has increased. 
Specifically, there has been a 12.5% increase in prevention activities at 
Ashfield and a 34% increase at Retford.  

2.81 Although an increase is noted at both stations, across the Service there has 
been a drive to increase prevention activity under the ‘Safer Communities 
Strategy’. As a result, all stations have increased productivity in this area. The 
baseline rise, on average, across all wholetime, one appliance stations areas 
has been a 47% increase in productivity.  

2.82 Referring to allocated time for prevention activities (Figure 14 -WT stations 
allocated 732 prevention hours per year and mixed crewing allocated 427 
hours) it can be seen that mixed crewing stations have 42% less dedicated 
time to deliver prevention activities.  

2.83 Using this formula shows that the increase in baseline performance was 
greater than should be expected for Retford station, and less than should be 
expected for Ashfield.  

SECTION 3:  

AREAS OF ASSURANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Areas of assurance: 
 

• The Service was able to introduce a significant change to its operational 
response model and exceed the amount of savings required. 

• Stations have been successful in limiting the predicted five-minute increase 
in attendance times at Ashfield and Retford between 1800 and 0800.  

• Despite an increase in attendance times, the Service is still able to 
respond, on average, to all incident types within its target of eight minutes. 

• Despite an increase in attendance times overall, there has not been an 
increase in the average attendance times to ‘high risk’ areas. 

• Retford station has shown a proportionate increase in prevention activities 
in line with the baseline increase of wholetime one appliance stations.  

 

3.2 Recommendations: 
 

• The Service should review the requirement of second appliances at ‘mixed 
crewing’ stations, especially during periods of lower demand. 
 

• The Service should ensure that the start and finish times for wholetime 
shifts at ‘mixed crewing’ stations still align to Service needs. 
 

Page 377



24 | P a g e  
 

• The Service should consider a review of Procedure 2144 (Wholetime Duty 
System Operational Stations – Working Day) to ensure that it facilitates all 
core activities for ‘mixed crewing’ stations. 
 

• The Service should ensure that all future costs associated with a project 
are attributed to the relevant code within Agresso to ensure accurate 
financial implications can be monitored and evaluated. 

  

Page 378



25 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 4: APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1: A table showing the number of annual hours allocated to the different categories of 

activities at Wholetime (day and night shifts) and Day Shift Crewing. 

 

 

Appendix 2: A graph comparing the historic number of mobilisations per station. 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Before Mixed Crewing After Mixed Crewing

Page 379



26 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 3: A table showing the average attendance times to different risk categories and incident 

types for nine months before and nine months after the implementation of mixed crewing. 

 

Before Mixed 
Crewing 

After Mixed 
Crewing 

High Risk Areas 7 6.8 

Medium Risk Areas 7.8 7.8 

Low Risk Areas 9.5 9.6 

Primary Fires 8.5 8.4 

Secondary Fires 9 8.8 

RTC 8.9 9 

Other Special Service 8 8.2 

All Inc 8 8 

 

Appendix 4: Table showing the percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes to different 

risk categories and incident types for nine months before and nine months after the implementation of 

mixed crewing. 

  
Before Mixed 

Crewing 
After Mixed 
Crewing 

High Risk Areas 76.6% 78.3% 

Medium Risk Areas 63.5% 62.3% 

Low Risk Areas 46.4% 45.5% 

Primary Fires 59.8% 57.5% 

Secondary Fires 50.2% 51.6% 

RTC 53.6% 51.2% 

Other Special Service 62.3% 61.0% 

All Inc 62.2% 61.9% 

 

Appendix 5: A graph comparing the modelled number of mobilisations over a three-year period. 

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

No Mixed Crewing With MC1

Page 380



27 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 6: A table showing the modelled average attendance times to different risk categories and 

incident types for a three-year period. 

  
No Mixed 
Crewing 

With MC1 

High Risk Areas 7.2 7.2 

Medium Risk Areas 7.4 7.7 

Low Risk Areas 8.4 8.6 

Primary Fires 7.8 8.1 

Secondary Fires 7.8 8.1 

RTC 8.1 8.3 

Other Special 
Service 7.2 7.4 

All Inc 7.6 7.8 

 

Appendix 7:  Table showing the modelled percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes to 

different risk categories and incident types for a three-year period.  

  
No Mixed 
Crewing With MC1 

High Risk Areas 66.9% 65.8% 

Medium Risk Areas 60.0% 55.7% 

Low Risk Areas 50.3% 48.3% 

Primary Fires 56.3% 53.1% 

Secondary Fires 55.4% 51.7% 

RTC 51.4% 48.6% 

Other Special 
Service 64.2% 60.6% 

All Inc 59.1% 56.1% 

 

Appendix 8: A graph comparing the modelled number of mobilisations over a three-year period 

between a mixed crewing model utilising 2 pump availability against single pump availability. 

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

With MC2 With MC1

Page 381



28 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 9:  A table showing the modelled average attendance times to different risk categories 

and incident types for a three-year period between a mixed crewing model utilising 2 pump availability 

against single pump availability. 

  With MC2 With MC1 

High Risk Areas 7.3 7.2 

Medium Risk Areas 7.7 7.7 

Low Risk Areas 8.6 8.6 

Primary Fires 8.1 8.1 

Secondary Fires 8.1 8.1 

RTC 8.3 8.3 

Other Special Service 7.4 7.4 

All Inc 7.8 7.8 

 

Appendix 10: Table showing the modelled percentage of incidents attended within eight minutes to 

different risk categories and incident types for a three-year period between a mixed crewing model 

utilising 2 pump availability against single pump availability. 

  With MC2 With MC1 

High Risk Areas 65.8% 65.8% 

Medium Risk Areas 55.7% 55.7% 

Low Risk Areas 48.4% 48.3% 

Primary Fires 53.1% 53.1% 

Secondary Fires 51.8% 51.7% 

RTC 48.6% 48.6% 

Other Special Service 60.6% 60.6% 

All Inc 56.1% 56.1% 
 

Appendix 11: A comparison of the modelled first appliance attendance to where mixed crewing 

has not been implemented. 

 

Page 382



29 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 12: A modelled comparison of the first pump attendance times where mixed crewing 

has not been implemented. 

 

 

Appendix 13: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a two-pump predetermined 

attendance (PDA) where mixed crewing has not been implemented. 

 

 

Page 383



30 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 14: A modelled comparison of the time taken to fulfil a three-pump predetermined 

attendance (PDA) where mixed crewing has not been implemented 

.  

 

Appendix 15: A graph showing the distribution of incidents by the hour of the day between 

1/4/2015 and 31/3/2019. 

 

 

 

  

Page 384



31 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 16: Detail showing the use of the  Agresso mixed crewing project code. 

 

Appendix 17: Notes in relation to the calculation of the financial cost and savings. 

1. Estimated savings and increases have been adjusted for pay awards in order to 

be comparable with 19/20 pay rates        

2. 2017/18 and 2018/19 actual costs have been adjusted for pay awards in order to 

be comparable with 19/20 pay rates        

3. 2019/20 actuals have been adjusted to remove the impact of the increase in 

pension contributions        

4. Payroll numbers are based on the number of people receiving basic pay 

(wholetime) or retaining fee (on-call), OR sick pay or parental leave pay in each 

period. No attempt has been made to analyse any other changes that would impact 

payroll costs, e.g. the number at each rank, pension membership, number in receipt 

of CPD payments, number at development rate etc.      

5. Payroll costs charged to project codes have been excluded (this will exclude 

activities such as HVP training, attendance at major cross-border incidents)  

Appendix 18: Definition and calculation of Risk categories. 

Risk areas are determined using the scoring system detailed below and using 

historical data combined with indicators of deprivation levels. The ‘high risk’ category 

defines those areas within the County that are the most at risk. 

A risk score for each Lower Level Super Output Area (LSOA) is calculated by 

combining six factors, each of which impact on Fire Service delivery. These factors 

include: 

Incidents we have attended (data from the past five years): 

- Dwelling Fires (“DwF”) 

- Property fires at which injuries to members of the public have occurred (“Inj”) 

- Deliberate non-domestic building fires (“DelB”) 

- Special services incidents at which there is a risk to life (“SSC”) 

Historic fatalities (data from the past five years): 

- Deaths caused by property fires (“Fat”) 

Deprivation Indicators Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 

- IMD Score  

Page 385



32 | P a g e  
 

These factors are weighted according to their importance and combined to give an 

overall Risk Score for each LSOA.  

Weightings: 

DwF: 1.9 

Inj: 0.46 

DelB: 0.05 

SSC: 0.35 

Fat: 0.04 

IMD: 1.5 

The top 8.5% of LSOAs become “High Risk”, the bottom 42.5% become “Low Risk” 

and those in between become “Medium Risk”. Examination of these risk scores 

allows us to see the relative distribution of risk throughout the County and City. 

The Service Risk Map is updated annually, to include the most recent five years of 

data and most up to date IMD figures, and allows us to identify how the distribution 

of our highest risk areas may be changing. 

 

Page 386



 
 
 

 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

COMMITTEE OUTCOMES 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 26 February 2021 
  
Purpose of Report: 

 
To report to Members the business and actions of the Fire Authority committee 
meetings which took place in January 2021. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 
Name : John Buckley  

Chief Fire Officer 
 

Tel : 0115 967 0880 
 

Email : john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Corporate Communications Team  
0115 967 0880  corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 387

Agenda Item 15

mailto:john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk


 
 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
As part of the revised governance arrangements the Authority has delegated key 
responsibilities to specific committees of the Authority.  As part of those delegated 
responsibilities, the chairs of committees and the management leads report to the 
Authority on the business and actions as agreed at Fire and Rescue Authority 
meeting on 1 June 2007.  
 

2. REPORT 

 
The minutes of the following meetings are attached at Appendix A for the 
information of all Fire Authority Members: 
 
Community Safety Committee  08 January 2021 
Finance and Resources Committee 15 January 2021 
Human Resources Committee  22 January 2021 
 
(The Policy and Strategy Committee due to take place on 29 January 2021 was 
subsequently cancelled). 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
All financial implications were considered as part of the original reports submitted to 
the committees. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
All human resources and learning and development implications were considered as 
part of the original reports submitted to the committees. 
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not 
associated with a policy, function or service.  Its purpose is to update the Fire 
Authority on the outcomes of committee business. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.       LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 

Page 388



 
 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Service’s performance in relation to matters addressed through the committee 
structure is scrutinised through a range of audit processes. The Service needs to 
continue to perform well in these areas as external scrutiny through Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment and auditors’ judgement is key to future Service delivery.  

 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no collaboration implications arising from this report, as the report seeks 
to provide Members with an update on the business and actions of Fire Authority 
committee meetings which have taken place in the last quarter.  

 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 
 
 
  

Page 389



 

1 

 

 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
Community Safety Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held remotely and streamed to YouTube on 8 January 2021 from 
10.02 am - 10.53 am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Nick Raine (Chair) 
Councillor Stephen Garner 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Sue Saddington  
Councillor Parry Tsimbiridis 
Councillor Jason Zadrozny 

 
 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Craig Parkin - Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
Damien West - Area Manager for Prevention and Protection 
Mick Sharman - Area Manager for Response. 
Gavin Harris - Head of Digital Transformation 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor - Governance Officer 
 
 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
None. 
 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
 
3  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2020 were confirmed as a true record and will 
be signed by the Chair. 

Page 390



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Community Safety - 8.01.21 

2 

 
4  SERVICE DELIVERY PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report for the period between 1 
September and 30 November 2020, with updates delivered by Damien West, Area Manager 
for Prevention and Protection, and Mick Sharman, Area Manager for Response. 
 
It is noted that performance comparisons are to non-covid affected periods so are not a similar 
comparison. 
 
Mick Sharman, Area Manager for Response, provided an outline of incidents. 
 
The following points were highlighted and responses provided to member’s questions: 
 
a) 2,238 incidents were attended, a decrease of 106 incidents which is within the expected 

fluctuation range; 
 
b) the attendance target average of within 8 minutes continued to be achieved and 

averaged 7.42 minutes;  
 
c) the on-call availability target is 85% but during this period availability was 91.75%; 
 
d) targets for the Joint Fire Control Centre were exceeded and system availability 

maintained; 
 
e) in-person operational exercises with partners have had to cease but alternative 

methods, such as table-top exercises have been implemented to ensure training 
standards are maintained; 

 
f) partnership work to support communities has delivered 11,000 food parcels. This 

activity including delivery of medication, has reflected well against the activity of other 
Fire and Rescue Services; 

 
g) the food parcels were gathered from a variety of different sources, including food banks, 

and some fire stations are even drop-off points for food banks. Partners identified those 
in need and the Service assisted with deliveries; 

 
h) with regard to on-call availability, the Ashfield and Rufford Stations are assessed 

separately due to the different day shift crewing model operating at these sites. An 
update report will be submitted, to the Authority, including the proposal of a pilot 
whereby the Service will offer an area specific on-call offer to help recruit local 
residents; 

  
i) the Service also performed well in the Thematic HMI COVID-19 Response Inspection, 

for which the Service was commended and only 2 minor points for consideration 
identified. 

 
Damien West, Area Manager for Prevention and Protection, provided the following summary 
and responded to committee members’ questions: 
 
j) safe and well visits by operational crews were initially paused in the first lockdown but 

are now being undertaken for the most vulnerable people in community by the Persons 

Page 391



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Community Safety - 8.01.21 

3 

at Risk Team with a triage process against the ‘CHARLIE’ matrix, targeting those most 
at risk, primarily with telephone contact, and where possible, visits in person. 4 
additional personnel have been temporarily engaged to address the backlog of 
referrals; 
 

k) there have been 2 incidents involving loss of life, one in Top Valley and one in Costock. 
Community reassurance activity was undertaken in each area following the incidents 
but it is of great concern that there continues to be a lack of adequate smoke alarm 
installation (40% of the homes visited in Costock had inadequate smoke detection 
alarms) so this remains a focus for prevention work; 
 

l) with regard to Fire Protection work, 6 enforcement notices have been issued and 5 
prohibition notices; 
 

m) the Service continues to work in partnership with the City Council’s Joint Audit and 
Inspection Team (JAIT) to inspect higher risk premises. Over 100 premises were 
inspected with 47% having fire compartmental issues identified. Many 
compartmentation issues arise on properties which have been adapted for residential 
use. Examples have included the installation of hard wired fire alarms where the holes 
drilled for the cabling have not been sealed. The methodology on determining which 
properties to assess is agreed with the City Council and higher risk based properties 
(following patterns of size/ownership/signing-off officer) are prioritised for assessment. 
There are a range of options to follow depending on the severity of the issues, including 
initially encouraging the owner to undertake the necessary work, but legislation can be 
enforced where there is resistance or urgent action is required. The approach is being 
recognised nationally as good/best practice.  
 

n) 33 fire investigations were undertaken across commercial, domestic and the fatal fires;  
 

o) organised public bonfire events were cancelled due to COVID-19 socialising restrictions 
and whilst the Service discouraged citizens from holding their own displays, safety 
advice was offered where events continued. There is nothing to stop people having 
bonfires and fireworks on their own land as formal permission is not required. The 
Service worked with the Police, particularly in the Gedling area where a communal 
bonfire was held, but overall there was no significant increase in bonfire night related 
incidents;  
 

p) it is acknowledged that Councillors have expressed concern that there had been reports 
of industrial waste and plastics being burned during the bonfire night period. The 
Service works hard to initially liaise and educate people, alongside the Local Authority 
Environmental Health Teams which are the regulatory body, but if people are 
determined, then it’s generally very difficult to prevent but any information gathered 
around such behaviours can be passed to the Local Authority and the Police. 
 

Members of the Committee expressed concern at the 47% fire compartmental issues identified 
in the JAIT work, but were assured by the response of the Service and commended the 
Service on taking on additional community support duties whilst still maintaining the expected 
standards during this particularly difficult period. 
 
Resolved to note the report. 
 
 

Page 392



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Community Safety - 8.01.21 

4 

5  HER MAJESTY'S INSPECTORATE OF CONSTABULARY AND FIRE & 
RESCUE SERVICES UPDATE 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates the committee on 
progress on addressing the 25 areas identified for improvement (AFI) during Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services Inspection. 
 
Overall, there are only four AFIs remaining to be fully addressed, but members should be 
assured that work continues to embed improvements into the culture of the Service. 
 
Resolved to note the progress made against the Areas For Improvement (AFI) action 
plan. 
 
 
6  UNWANTED FIRE SIGNALS UPDATE 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates the committee on 
the Tri-Service (Nottinghamshire, Derbyshire and Leicestershire) Unwanted Fire Signals (UFS) 
and provides an overview of unwanted fire signals during the past 12 months. 
 
The report sets out the key elements of the Tri-service policy, including premises types that 
are exempt from call challenging. 
 
The following points were highlighted and responses provided to members questions: 
 
a) good progress has been made in reducing the number of UFSs by 9.5%, but there is 

further work to be done as they continue to have a significant impact on occupying the 
time of the Service, counting as one third of all call-outs; 
 

b) the most prolific offenders are a small number of complex premises such as the major 
hospitals but work is ongoing to ensure that the responsible person actively takes 
responsibility to comply to legislation, good practice and keeping their buildings safe;  
 

c) there will be a further review of exempt premises to reflect the results of a risk based 
inspection programme; 
 

d) it is noted that some Fire and Rescue Services have taken the decision not to respond 
to Automatic Fire Detection (AFD) systems, which is an approach the Service will 
monitor, although is currently not a proposed approach to adopt; 
 

e) there are occasions where access to premises is challenging due to on-street parking. It 
can be difficult to enforce with legislation but where apparent, the Service initially takes 
an engagement approach to educate and appeal to people’s moral responsibilities not 
to prevent emergency vehicle access. It is a complex issue with the Local Authorities 
willing to assist, but their policies are to pursue changes through a consultation process 
with residents. Historically the layout of some residential areas were not designed for 
multiple car ownership households and whilst the instances of blockages may be rare, 
the implications can be very significant, including risk to life, so members are requested 
to support the Service at a local level with access issues wherever they occur, including 
in the planning process. 

  

Page 393



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Community Safety - 8.01.21 

5 

Some members of the Committee suggested that with regard to roads blocked by 
inconsiderate parking, further legislative powers should be sought to address these issues. It is 
acknowledged that some parking issues in the City are as a result of commuter parking which 
is also an issue for residents, although less so since the introduction of COVID-19 restrictions, 
so this may change again as businesses adapt after the pandemic.  
 
Resolved to 
 
1) note the progress made in addressing unwanted fire signals;  
 
2) support the exploration of developing the Tri-Service Unwanted Fire Signals 

Policy;   
 
3) receive a further report with recommendations within six months. 
 

Page 394



1 

 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
Finance and Resources Sub-Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held remotely via Zoom and live-streamed on YouTube on 
Friday 15 January 2021 from 10:04am to 11:42am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Toby Neal (Chair, items 10-11) 
Councillor Andrew Brown 
Councillor Mike Quigley MBE 
Councillor Nick Raine 
 
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair, items 1-
9, substitute for Councillor John Clarke) 
 

Councillor John Clarke 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
John Buckley - Chief Fire Officer 
Phil Dent - Internal Auditor, Nottinghamshire County Council 
Rob Disney - Internal Auditor, Nottinghamshire County Council 
Gavin Harris - Head of Digital Transformation 
Helen Henshaw - External Auditor, Ernst and Young 
Adrian Mann - Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
Ian Pritchard - Joint Head Quarters Programme Support Manager 
Terry Scott - Head of Procurement and Resources 
Becky Smeathers - Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority 
 

• Chair 
 
As Councillor John Clarke, Chair of the Finance and Resources Sub-Committee, was 
absent, Councillor Michael Payne chaired the meeting. 
 
1  Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor John Clarke 
 
2  Declarations of Interests 

 
Councillor Michael Payne declared an Other Interest in agenda item 11 because he is a 
Councillor of Gedling Borough Council, and because the Fire and Rescue Service 
Headquarters are located within his Gedling Borough Council ward. He left the room prior to 
discussion and voting on this item. 

Page 395



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

2 

 
3  Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2020 as a correct 
record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
4  Revenue, Capital and Prudential Code Monitoring Report to 30 

November 2020 
 

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority, presented a report 
on the financial performance of the Service in 2020/21 and the Prudential Code monitoring 
to the end of November 2020. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the latest revenue budget monitoring position shows very little change in expenditure 

since November. Currently, it shows a forecast outturn position of £43.967 million, which 
represents a £1.398 million underspend against the revised budget of £45.365 million. 
Of this, £748,000 will be allocated to the general reserves, and £274,000 will be 
earmarked for the Transformation and Collaboration reserve, to be used in future years; 

 
(b) the level of reserves at the end of the year is anticipated to be £10.7 million, which will 

put the Service in a strong position to respond effectively to the high degree of 
uncertainty about the future, in the context of Coronavirus. It is probable that the funds 
held in the reserves will be needed to support the Service in future years, which are 
likely to be challenging; 

 
(c) £376,000 of grants have also been received during this financial year, and the funding 

will roll forward to the next financial year. All current borrowing and investments are 
compliant with the requirements of the Prudential Code; 

 
(d) the current capital budget is £5.873 million, and the forecast outturn position is £4.107 

million. Much of the current capital budget relates to the move to a combined 
headquarters with Nottinghamshire Police, and this project is still progressing well; 

 
(e) the following amendments to the 2020/21 capital programme are proposed: the addition 

of a conference room sound system project, costing £57,000, which will be funded from 
the Covid-19 grant; an increase of £24,000 for the migration of the SharePoint system to 
a cloud-based product; and an increase of £14,000 for air bag replacement in Service 
vehicles; 

 
(f) the investment of £57,000 in new conferencing facilities does represent a high cost but, 

in response to the current circumstances, it has is being designed to include both 
individual and group microphones to improve audio quality in meetings held under social 
distancing requirements, and to be fully integrated with video-conferencing systems, so 
that meetings can support both in-person and remote participation at the same time. It is 
anticipated that the provision for socially distanced and remote attendance of meeting 
will be required for some time in the future. However, due to the intended relocation of 
the Service headquarters, it is proposed to install the new conferencing system at the 
Highfields Fire Station, and an appropriate site survey is being organised; 

 
(g) the Committee noted the report and thanked the Service’s Finance Team for their hard 

work in steering the organisation though a very difficult year. 

Page 396



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

3 

 
Resolved to approve the following amendments to the 2020/21 capital programme: 
 
(1) the addition of a conference room sound system project, costing £57,000, which 

will be funded from the Covid-19 grant; 
 
(2) an increase of £24,000 for the migration of the SharePoint system to a cloud-

based product; 
 
(3) an increase of £14,000 for air bag replacement in Fire and Rescue Service 

vehicles. 
 
5  Budget Proposals for 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Options for Council Tax 

2021/22 
 

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority, presented a report 
on the budget proposals for 2021/22 to 2024/25, and the options for Council Tax rates for 
2021/22. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) there have been a number of areas of change since the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy was approved in November 2020, as budgets have been developed and 
actualised. Further grant support from Government has also been confirmed, to alleviate 
some funding pressures. Budgets have been reduced by up to £600,000 in some areas 
but, due to the strong performance of on-call firefighters during the Coronavirus period 
and the wide range of support provided to communities by on-call staff (a number of 
whom have been more available to work during the Coronavirus period, due to being 
furloughed from their primary employment), further investment is being put in place to 
roll this work through to next year and enhance on-call provision. Additional investment 
is being made for new IT systems, and the schedule of planned fleet and property 
maintenance is being increased, to reduce costs in the long term; 

 
(b) due to the severe economic hardship imposed by Coronavirus, there are concerns about 

Councils’ ability to collect the full amount of Council Tax in the current crisis, and 
forecasts of a potentially reduced Council Tax base have been produced. There is still 
also significant uncertainty in the area of potential income from Business Rates. The 
Government has been providing financial support to businesses, and the Service has 
been compensated by the Government to offset the reduction in the collection of 
Business Rates. Currently, it is unclear for how long this support will continue, so this 
uncertainty does represent a significant risk to future budgets; 

 
(c) the Government has indicated its preference to freeze public sector pay increases. 

However, as the salaries of firefighters and Service support staff are set by independent 
bodies, a 1% pay award has been allocated (which is slightly greater than inflation), in 
the interests of responsible budgeting. If the pay award is set a 2%, sufficient reserves 
are in place to cover these costs. However, due to the uncertainties still present in the 
budget, a nil increase of the Council Tax rates would contribute to a large shortfall in the 
budget, which would have a significant impact on the reserves position – meaning that 
£5.3 million would be required from reserves to achieve a balanced budget for 2024/25. 
As such, it is proposed to increase the Council Tax requirement by 1.95% (of a possible 
increase of up to 2%) to achieve a more sustainable deficit of £65,000, and this increase 
has been used for the current budget forecasts; 

Page 397



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

4 

 
(d) the Committee thanked the Finance Team for their substantial work over the last four 

years in securing savings in the budget and building the reserves. It commended the 
outstanding work of Service staff during the Coronavirus period, and regretted that the 
current emergency could result in a pay freeze; 

 
(e) the Committee noted that, ultimately, it did not wish to increase the Council Tax burden 

on citizens struggling during a period of economic hardship – though Councils do have 
various schemes in place to protect the most vulnerable. It recognised, however, that the 
Service provides a vital service at good value for money, and does require a suitable 
level of funding to maintain these services and value. Given the substantial impact on 
the budget deficit that a nil increase would cause, it considered that a 1.95% increase in 
Council Tax was a prudent and sensible step to take; 

 
(f) Councillor Michael Payne moved that, on the basis of the report and following 

discussion, the Committee should recommend a Council Tax increase of 1.95% to the 
Fire Authority. Councillor Andrew Brown seconded this motion. 

 
Resolved to recommend to the Fire Authority that, in order to achieve a sustainable 
funding position for the Fire and Rescue Service, Council Tax is increased by 1.95%. 
 
6  Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority, and Rob Disney, 
Internal Auditor from Nottinghamshire County Council, presented a report on the results of 
the 2019/20 annual internal audit, including the internal audit plan for 2020/21 to 2022/23. 
The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the internal audit report reviewing 2019/20 would normally have been presented much 

earlier in the financial year, but was delayed due to the Committee not meeting as a 
consequence of the Coronavirus emergency. The report establishes the key lines of 
enquiry used to gather evidence and provide a combined opinion for positive assurance 
that appropriate processes are in place in the organisation for effective governance, risk 
management and control, across the three ‘lines of defence’ of front-line management, 
corporate functions and internal audit. The plan for the Service’s next audit is also being 
established; 

 
(b) as part of the audit process, the ‘Cardiff Checks’ methodology was used, which identifies 

a random invoice from a given batch, so that the whole process that lead to the creation 
and payment of that invoice can then be reviewed for the effectiveness of its controls. 
However, the Cardiff Checks are a relatively old system, so a much greater level of data 
analytics is now being used to gain an overview of the full spread of payment, with 
focused work following in certain areas. As such, it is possible to achieve a greater level 
of assurance across a 100% sample size; 

 
(c) the recharge system for the use of Service fuel depots by Nottinghamshire Police is a 

new service development. An audit of the recharging considered the potentially high risk 
areas such as fuel security, consumption recording, recharges, debt recovery and the 
maintenance of fuel stocks, but effective controls were found to be in place for the 
mitigation of these risks. 

 

Page 398



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

5 

The Committee noted the report. 
 
 
 
7  External Audit Plan 2019/20 

 
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority, and Helen 
Henshaw, External Auditor from Ernst and Young, presented a report on the external 
auditors’ audit plan for the intended work on the Service’s 2019/20 financial statements and 
value for money arrangements. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) normally, members would have approved the external audit plan following its preparation 

in March 2020 and prior to the audit commencing, but this was not possible for the 
2019/20 audit, due to Coronavirus. It was intended for the audit to be completed by the 
statutory deadline of the end of November 2020, but this was not achieved due the 
current challenging audit environment, where less than 50% of Public Sector audits had 
been signed off by this deadline. The audit is now in its latter stages of completion, and it 
is expected that the final report will be submitted to the February meeting of the Fire 
Authority – though work is still ongoing; 

 
(b) the external audit assesses areas of significant risk in the Service’s financial statements, 

including the potential for misstatements due to error or fraud, mistakes in the 
statements such as capital expenditure being accounted for within the fixed assets, and 
the up-to-date valuation of land and buildings. For example, identifying accurately the 
value of a fire station to the organisation in the context of the financial statements (which 
is not the same as identifying its realisable value through a sale) can be a complex 
issue, and errors in accounting can occur due to this complexity. Pension scheme 
liabilities remain a substantial risk and, due to the results of recent court cases, are 
subject currently to a high degree of estimate and uncertainty; 

 
(c) the audit also addresses value for money within the organisation, reviewing financial 

resilience across the next few years (where the current strong reserves position is 
positive), the establishment of a joint headquarters with Nottinghamshire Police and the 
associated governance implications for decision-making and finances, and the response 
to the 2019 Service inspection; 

 
(d) materiality has been set at £1.34 million, which represents 2% of the prior year’s gross 

expenditure on the provision of services. Performance materiality has been set at 
£670,000, which represents 50% of materiality, to achieve the right level of detail at the 
accounts level; 

 
(e) the duty to prescribe fees for external audit is a statutory function delegated to Public 

Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities 
and Local Government, and the PSAA will approve the final fee charged to the Authority. 
However, this final fee is yet to be confirmed, and will be affected by a range of factors; 

 
(f) the Committee noted that the Chair of the Fire Authority had written to the external 

auditor on 6 January to raise concerns about the delay to the completion of the audit, 
and to seek assurance that it would be completed by February, and as to the proposed 
final fees. It recognised the unusual difficulties caused by Coronavirus for the carrying 
out of the audit, but felt that the delay was contributed to by staffing shortages at Ernst 

Page 399



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

6 

and Young, which could have been mitigated more effectively. It remained concerned 
and disappointed that full assurance has not been provided in response to the letter 
regarding the completion date of the audit and the final costs. It considered that, given 
the significant public interest in the performance of the Service, better assurance should 
have been provided, and it requested that these comments are fed back to Ernst and 
Young appropriately. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
8  Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services Update 
 

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on the Service’s response to the 
outcomes of the latest inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the 2019 inspection highlighted 25 areas for improvement (AFI) for the Service to 

consider. Each improvement area was allocated to a lead officer, with clear milestones 
and expected outcomes to deliver the improvement required. In relation to the Finance 
and Resources Sub-Committee, the remaining AFI to be completed is number 15, where 
“The Service needs to accelerate its plans to improve ICT so that it makes best use of 
available technology to support operational effectiveness and efficiency”; 

 
(b) this action is now largely complete, as a great deal of work has been carried out to 

improve IT systems, which provided a substantial benefit during the Coronavirus 
pandemic. Remote working processes have been implemented successfully, and 
improvements have been achieved in effective data management. A dedicated staff 
trainer for IT is in place, and it is intended to develop full cloud working within the next 
three years; 

 
(c) unfortunately, the action relating to the recording of competency and training through an 

integrated learning management system has been delayed, as no single, standard 
system is available that meets all of the Service’s requirements. As such, work is 
underway to reduce the three systems in use currently down to two, within 2021/22; 

 
(d) the Committee thanked the Service personnel for their impressive work in addressing 

the recommendations of the inspection, and the effective reporting mechanisms that had 
been put in place to keep the members of the Fire Authority informed as to progress. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
9  Exclusion of the Public 

 
The Committee decided to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining agenda items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing the information, as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act. 
 

• Chair 

Page 400



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Finance and Resources – 
15.01.21 

7 

 
Councillor Michael Payne declared an Other Interest in agenda item 11 because he is a 
Councillor of Gedling Borough Council, and because the Fire and Rescue Service 
headquarters are located within his Gedling Borough Council ward. He left the room prior to 
discussion and voting on this item. 
 
As Councillor Michael Payne, Chair of the Finance and Resources Sub-Committee, was 
absent, Councillor Toby Neal chaired the meeting. 
 
10  Exempt Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2020 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
11  Land and Legal Title of the Headquarters at Bestwood Lodge 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, and Ian Pritchard, Joint Head Quarters Programme 
Support Manager, presented a report on the land and legal title of the Service’s 
headquarters at Bestwood Lodge. 
 
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the exempt report. 

Page 401



1 

 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 

Human Resources Sub-Committee  

 
Minutes of the meeting held remotely via Zoom and live-streamed on YouTube on 
Friday 22 January 2021 from 10:04am to 11:33am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos (Chair) 
Councillor Vaughan Hopewell 
Councillor Jawaid Khalil 
Councillor John Longdon 
Councillor Salma Mumtaz 
 

None 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Tracy Crump - Head of People and Organisational Development 
Gavin Harris - Head of Digital Transformation 
Adrian Mann - Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
Craig Parkin - Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
Matt Sismey - Organisational Development and Inclusion Manager 
Tracey Stevenson - Assistant Head of Finance 
 
1  Apologies for Absence 

 
None. 
 
2  Declarations of Interests 

 
None. 
 
3  Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2020 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
4  Human Resources Update 

 
Tracy Crump, Head of People and Organisational Development, presented a report on 
the key Human Resources metrics for the period of 1 April to 31 December 2020. The 
following points were discussed: 
 

Page 402



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

2 

(a) sickness absence in Quarters 1 and 2 (1 April to 30 September 2020) has seen a 
significant decrease in comparison to previous years, even taking into account 
absence in the period as a direct result of Coronavirus. This decrease in sickness 
may be attributed to a reduction in social contact and an increase in personal 
hygiene during the Coronavirus period, lowering the transmission of regular 
illnesses. In addition, staff working from home may have continued to work in a 
flexible way.  Absence relating to Coronavirus is recorded specifically, and there is a 
requirement to report on cases at the national level. A full analysis of the sickness 
trends due to Coronavirus is underway, to improve planning and support; 

 
(b) there has been a small increase in sickness absence towards the end of Quarter 2, 

and numbers are likely to rise slightly due to seasonal factors. However, it seems 
probable that absence will continue to remain lower than normal – though instances 
of long-term sickness still remain a factor. The Service’s absence figures are below 
the national average, which represents a good performance, and strong support 
structures remain in place for staff; 

 
(c) many support staff are now working remotely, and structures are in place from 

Occupational Health and HR to assist staff working in the new circumstances arising 
from the Coronavirus pandemic. Online workshops addressing mental health in 
yourself and others have been commissioned, and sessions have been run for 
managers on how to identify and approach mental ill health amongst staff; 

 
(d) the Committee thanked Service staff for their exceptional work during the 

Coronavirus period, and for the substantial improvement in sickness absence in the 
context of significant pressures. It requested that its written thanks are passed on to 
staff as part of the Chief Fire Officer’s regular feedback to employees, to 
acknowledge their hard work during the Coronavirus period; 

 
(e) between 1 April and 31 December 2020, 33 new employees started work at the 

Service. The current whole-time staffing is 3 below the establishment level. A 
recruitment campaign (carried out completely online and with a strong focus on 
positive action) has been completed, resulting in 28 offers of employment, so the 
Service should be at a full establishment by April. Apprentice firefighters are starting 
their training programmes in April and September; 

 
(f) two recruitment campaigns for on-call firefighters have been carried out, with 20 new 

trainees coming in, and the next training course is now being advertised. The 
recruitment and retention of on-call firefighters remains a national challenge, and 
work is underway to try to develop local agreements that are as sustainable as 
possible. Work is also underway to seek to mitigate staffing issues arising from 
sickness absence amongst dual-contract staff, where a firefighter has both a whole-
time and on-call role; 

 
(g) there have been a number of new starters amongst the support staff, though many 

of these are on fixed-term contracts funded through the Transformation Budget. 
Ultimately, the recruitment team have been working hard on various campaigns, 
despite the difficulties caused by the Coronavirus pandemic; 

 

Page 403



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

3 

(h) one redundancy occurred due to the restructuring of the Equipment Section, and 
preparation is taking place for an Employment Tribunal case scheduled for later in 
the year. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
5  Equalities Monitoring Report 

 
Matt Sismey, Organisational Development and Inclusion Manager, presented a report 
on the breakdown of the workforce by protected characteristic between 1 January and 
31 December 2020, and the work being done to improve diversity within the Service. 
The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) since 2018, the Service has seen an increasing number of both female and Black, 

Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) employees. The increase in the last 12 months 
has not been large, but the recruitment campaigns that took place during the 
summer were preceded by an early period of positive action, and this should have 
an impact on the workforce from later in 2021; 

 
(b) as part of the role of HR and Service Delivery functions in engaging with 

communities more effectively, a Community Engagement Manager has been 
appointed to provide support, engage with positive action to bring greater 
representation into the Service, and lead consultations with BAME communities on 
service delivery for their areas. The post-holder will also work closely with the 
current BAME staff, including in the context of the Future Leaders programme. 
Training is in place to assist managers with talent-spotting and supporting staff 
progression; 

 
(c) a BAME forum was brought together in response to the Black Lives Matter 

movement, and a BAME Action Plan is being developed, including processes to 
increase representation on interview panels. The learning from this forum will be 
applied more broadly to other areas of inclusion. The forum continues to meet in an 
informal style every other month, with the Action Plan now integrated into the 
Service’s formal reporting; 

 
(d) the Committee felt that the appointment of the Community Engagement Manager 

was a positive step forward, and that this would be important in promoting 
organisational engagement with BAME staff and communities; 

 
(e) a great deal of inclusion training is now online. A pilot course has taken place as part 

of the development of e-learning relating to faith training, and the feedback from this 
is being used to make improvements for the delivery of more sessions in the future. 
Staff podcasts on faith are being developed, and greater engagement with places of 
worship is being planned; 

 
(f) the rates of declaration of disabilities remain level. Training is underway for 

managers on supporting mental health needs and on ensuring that reasonable 
adjustments are made to create a suitable work environment for staff with a 
disability. The number of employees who declare as identifying as LGBTQ+ also 
remains level, so development work is underway with staff to enhance awareness 

Page 404



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

4 

and understanding. However, of the new intake of staff for 2021, 18% identify as 
LGBTQ+. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
6  Apprenticeship Update 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on apprenticeships within the 
Service. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the Service pays into a national levy for apprenticeships in the Public Sector. It can 

then draw down funding from this apprenticeship levy to provide training, which is 
regulated and inspected by Ofsted, and this counts toward the Public Sector 
apprenticeship target of 2.3% of the workforce. Currently, the Service has eight 
apprentices in support roles, who have passed their courses with good scores. 
Managers are encouraged to recognise the value of apprenticeships in recruitment, 
as a great deal of work has been put into establishing a strong scheme that results 
in a level 3 qualification; 

 
(b) consideration has been given to apprenticeships for on-call roles, but creating a 

suitable scheme is proving to be complex and difficult, so this is not being 
progressed further at this time. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
7  Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services Update 
 

Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on the Service’s response to 
the outcomes of its 2019 inspection report. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the 2019 inspection of the Service raised 25 headline areas for improvement (AFIs). 

Of the eight AFIs falling under the remit of the Committee, only two remain to be 
signed off, relating to the creation of a training plan that clearly aligns and supports 
the workforce plan, and the introduction of processes for the development and 
support of high-potential staff and aspiring leaders; 

 
(b) a new leadership and behavioural framework is in place to help staff advance 

through progression opportunities via a number of training routes, including formal 
qualification development programmes. This approach has seen good engagement 
from staff, and has aided actual progression. The framework is robust and has a 
number of strands for growing potential, including an aspiring leaders programme, 
and staff are being supported actively in moving forward. Diagnostic work is carried 
out with staff on an individual basis to establish their best training and progression 
approach, and work has been carried out to ensure that as many potential pathways 
are in place as possible; 

 
(c) due to the relatively small size of the organisation, it is difficult to implement a viable 

high potential development scheme. Nevertheless, mentoring and coaching 
provision is being brought in and embedded. Clear progression pathways are 
available for staff to pursue, including opportunities for temporary promotions, to try 

Page 405



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

5 

advanced roles and gain experience. Unfortunately, due to organisational size, it is 
difficult for support staff to follow a straight line of upward progression. However, 
processes are in place to develop opportunities for support staff to move laterally to 
different roles, to gain wider experience; 

 
(d) ultimately, the right building blocks are in place, but continual work is required to 

spot and nurture talent, give staff the confidence to seek progression, and achieve 
effective institutional culture change. A significant amount of work has been put into 
delivering the AFI targets, including across the Coronavirus period, to take these 
AFIs to a point where they can be signed off. Following a very strong effort, the 
Service has responded well to the AFIs. It has a good relationship with the 
Inspectorate, and has been able to maintain positive relations with staff unions and 
communities while making improvements in a very difficult period. However, the 
Service cannot afford to be complacent, and must continue to work hard to maintain 
the current standards and deliver on the remaining AFIs; 

 
(e) the Committee was heartened by the establishment of these progression 

opportunities for staff at all levels within the Service, and considered that it is vital to 
ensure that diversity is embedded within the organisation through effective and 
proactive support. It noted that close attention must be given to ensuring that the 
opportunities established are fully accessible to all staff; 

 
(f) the Inspectorate carried out a thematic inspection of the Service’s response to 

Coronavirus at the end of 2020, and the report will be published later today. During 
the inspection, the response from the inspectors was positive. A date for the next 
inspection has not yet been confirmed, but the Service has alerted the Inspectorate 
to the planned timetable for its relocation to a joint headquarters with Nottingham 
Police, and requested that this is taken into account when setting the next inspection 
date. 

 
Resolved to approve the closure of Area for Improvement (AFI) 20 and 25, within 
the overall AFI Action Plan. 
 
8  People Strategy 2020-22 

 
Tracy Crump, Head of People and Organisational Development, presented a report on 
the Service’s People Strategy for 2020 to 2022. The following points were discussed: 
 
(a) the People Strategy has been reviewed and updated for the period of 2020 to 2022, 

to set out and address the current priorities, workplace matters and new issues that 
have arisen since the creation of the previous plan. The People Strategy is key to 
the delivery of the 2019-22 Strategic Plan, and the People Strategy will be updated 
again when a new Strategic Plan comes into effect from 2022. The People Strategy 
is intended to be owned by all managers and departments as a fully-encompassing 
workforce strategy that needs to be embraced by everyone. The strategy is 
ambitious and will be reviewed regularly, with clear measures of what success looks 
like in place; 

 
(b) the Strategy continues to focus on the key priority areas of: Delivering our Services; 

Shaping our Workforce; Inclusion; Outstanding Leadership; Workforce Development; 
Workforce Engagement; Positive Workplace and Culture; and Employee Well-Being. 

Page 406



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

6 

These priority areas are to help ensure that the workforce is effective and 
sustainable; that the organisation can work differently to provide a better service; 
that the workplace is founded on respect and the acceptance of individuals; that the 
Service understands the needs of its communities; that the Service grows its own 
future leaders; that accessible development opportunities are available to all staff 
and that staff are confident to access them; that there is a strong relationship 
between the organisation and its workforce and stakeholders; that there is a strong 
set of core values and behaviours of acceptance, inclusion and involvement that are 
lived by staff; and that staff have available and accessible support in the workplace; 

 
(c) the Committee noted that the move to a joint headquarters with Nottinghamshire 

Police will have a significant impact on staff and their working environment, and that 
this should be given full consideration in the Service’s strategic planning; 

 
(d) ultimately, the joint headquarters project is a major priority in the overall Strategic 

Plan. Engagement with staff will be carried out under the People Strategy to give 
them the opportunity to contribute to planning, and to address any concern or 
anxiety. Consultation is underway with staff representative bodies, and a formal 
process will start shortly to work with them on how the workforces will come together 
at the new headquarters; 

 
(e) as the Coronavirus pandemic has changed the world of work considerably, and has 

brought forward changes to ways of working that will have benefits going forward, 
the People Strategy will be used to consider agile working, and what form flexible 
working will take in the future organisational culture. The move to the new 
headquarters represents a significant opportunity to re-think how people can work in 
the future, and the learning generated during the Coronavirus period will be given full 
consideration as part of this. 

 
Resolved to endorse the People Strategy 2020-22, and to receive six-monthly 
updates on the progress made against it. 
 
9  Exclusion of the Public 

 
The Committee decided to exclude the public from the meeting during 
consideration of the remaining agenda items in accordance with Section 100A(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing the information, as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 
10  Exempt Minutes 

 
The Committee confirmed the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2020 
as a correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
11  Changes to the Permanent Establishment 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on proposed changes to the 
current permanent establishment. 
 

Page 407



Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Human Resources 
– 22.01.21 

7 

Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the exempt report. 
 
12  Regrading of Posts 

 
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on the outcomes of the latest 
job evaluation process. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 

Page 408



Document is Restricted

Page 409

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR CAPITAL FINANCE 2021/22
	6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2021/22
	7 FINAL ACCOUNTS 2019/20
	F_2021_CFA_4_February FINAL Final Accounts
	F_APPENDIX PDF Version of V6 Statement of Accounts 12-02-2021

	8 BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL TAX 2021/22
	9 EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REPORT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 2019/20
	E_2021_CFA_4_February FINAL External Auditors Report to Those Charge with Governance
	E_APPENDIX Local Government Audit Results Report

	10 STRATEGIC PLAN - YEAR THREE STRATEGIC ACTIONS
	11 THE SERVICE'S RESPONSE TO COVID - INSPECTION REPORT AND UPDATE
	B_2021_CFA_4_February FINALCB NFRS Response to Covid, Inspection Report and Update
	B_HMICFRS Covid Report Appendix A
	COVID-19 INSPECTION: Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service
	COVID-19 INSPECTION: Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service
	Preparing for the pandemic
	Preparing for the pandemic
	Fulfilling statutory functions
	Fulfilling statutory functions
	Response
	Response
	Prevention
	Prevention
	Prevention
	Protection
	Protection

	Staff health and safety and wellbeing
	Staff health and safety and wellbeing
	Staff absence
	Staff absence
	Staff engagement
	Staff engagement

	Working with others, and making changes locally
	Working with others, and making changes locally
	Local resilience forum
	Local resilience forum

	Use of resources
	Use of resources
	Ways of working
	Ways of working
	Staffing
	Staffing

	Governance of the service’s response
	Governance of the service’s response
	Governance of the service’s response
	Looking to the future
	Looking to the future
	Next steps
	Next steps


	B_HMICFRS Covid Report Appendix B

	12 EMERGENCY SERVICES NETWORK UPDATE
	13 EVALUATION OF THE CENTRAL FIRE STATION RELOCATION TO LONDON ROAD
	A_2021_CFA_4_February FINALCB Evaluation of Move to London Road
	A_2021_CFA_4_February FINALCB Evaluation of Move to London Road APPENDIX

	14 IMPLEMENTATION REVIEW OF THE 'SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY FOR 2020'
	C_2021_CFA_4_February FINALCB Implementation Review SS2020
	C_2021_CFA_4_February FINALCB Implementation Review SS2020 APPENDIX

	15 COMMITTEE OUTCOMES
	D_A_Committee Outcomes
	D_B_CS Mins
	D_C_Finance Mins
	D_D_HR Mins

	17 PERMANENT CHANGES TO THE ESTABLISHMENT

